#### **RESOLUTION NO. 2021-006**

A meeting of the Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida was held at 5:30 p.m. on May 19, 2021, at the offices of the Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida, 110 Northeast Third Street, Suite 201, in the City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida.

Present: Daniel D. Reynolds, Scott Ehrlich, Donna Jarrett-Mays, Colleen LaPlant, Ruth T. Cyrus,

John G. Primeau

Absent: Milette Manos, Jose Lopez

\* \* \* \* \* \*

Thereupon, Daniel D. Reynolds introduced the following resolution

which was read:

A RESOLUTION OF THE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA (THE "HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY") AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF ITS NOT TO EXCEED \$14,000,000 MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE NOTE, SERIES 2021 (PEMBROKE TOWER II) (THE "NOTE") FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING THE ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPPING OF PEMBROKE TOWER II LOCATED IN BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA (THE "PROJECT"); ESTABLISHING PARAMETERS FOR THE AWARD OF THE SALE THEREOF AND ESTABLISHING CRITERIA FOR DETERMINING THE TERMS THEREOF, INCLUDING INTEREST RATES, INTEREST PAYMENT DATES, MATURITY SCHEDULE AND OTHER TERMS OF SUCH NOTE; APPROVING THE FORMS OF AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF (I) A FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT BY AND AMONG THE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, STI INSTITUTIONAL & GOVERNMENT, INC., AS INITIAL FUNDING LENDER (THE "FUNDING LENDER"), AND THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., AS FISCAL AGENT (THE "FISCAL AGENT"); (II) A PROJECT LOAN AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY AND SP BROWARD LLC (THE "BORROWER"); (III) A LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT BY AND AMONG THE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, THE FISCAL AGENT AND THE BORROWER; (IV) AN ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE AND LOAN DOCUMENTS BY THE HOUSING FINANCE

AUTHORITY TO THE FISCAL AGENT; (V) A PLACEMENT AGENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE HOUSING FINANCE **AUTHORITY** AND **RAYMOND JAMES** ASSOCIATES, INC. AND RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC, AS PLACEMENT AGENTS; AND (VI) A FISCAL AGENT FEE AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY AND THE FISCAL AGENT; APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF CERTAIN ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS NECESSARY OR DESIRABLE IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF THE **AUTHORIZING NOTE:** THE HOUSING **FINANCE** AUTHORITY TO CONSENT TO THE BORROWER PLACING SUBORDINATE FINANCING ON THE PROJECT AND APPROVING THE EXECUTION OF SUCH AGREEMENTS AS MAY BE NECESSARY IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH CONSENT; WAIVING THE FEE FOR SERVICES RELATED TO THE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY'S ANNUAL AUDIT OF THE PROJECT; AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICERS OF THE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY TO DO ALL THINGS NECESSARY OR ADVISABLE IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF THE NOTE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE FOR THIS RESOLUTION.

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida (the "Housing Finance Authority") is empowered under (i) the laws of the State of Florida, including the Florida Housing Finance Authority Law, Florida Statutes, Sections 159.601 through 159.623, as amended (the "Act"), and (ii) Ordinance 79-41 enacted by the Board of County Commissioners (the "Board") of Broward County, Florida (the "County") on June 20, 1979 (the "Ordinance"), as amended, to issue multifamily housing revenue bonds; and

**WHEREAS**, the Housing Finance Authority is authorized under the Act to issue its revenue bonds for the purpose of paying the cost of a "qualifying housing development" within the meaning of the Act which includes the acquisition and construction of multifamily housing developments; and

**WHEREAS**, the Housing Finance Authority desires to issue a multifamily housing revenue note in an amount not to exceed \$14,000,000 (the "Note") for the purpose of financing the acquisition,

construction and equipping of an 88-unit multifamily residential rental housing development in Pembroke Pines, Broward County, Florida, known as Pembroke Tower II (the "Project"); and

WHEREAS, SP Broward LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the "Borrower"), has requested the Housing Finance Authority to issue its Note to provide funds with which STI Institutional & Government, Inc., a Delaware corporation, as initial funding lender (the "Funding Lender"), will make a loan to the Housing Finance Authority (the "Funding Loan"), and which Funding Loan proceeds will be used by the Housing Finance Authority to make a loan to the Borrower (the "Project Loan") to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project; and

WHEREAS, upon the satisfaction of various conditions to conversion of the Funding Loan from construction to permanent, the Funding Lender will deliver, and Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (the "Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer"), will purchase, the Funding Loan; and

WHEREAS, upon the issuance of the Note, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, a shareholder-owned government-sponsored enterprise ("Freddie Mac") will enter into a commitment with the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer, whereby Freddie Mac will commit, subject to the satisfaction of various conditions to conversion of the Funding Loan from construction to permanent, to facilitate the permanent financing of the Project by purchasing the Funding Loan from the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer following the conversion of the Project from construction to permanent; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority desires to enter into a Funding Loan Agreement by and among the Housing Finance Authority, the Funding Lender and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as fiscal agent (the "Fiscal Agent") (the "Funding Loan Agreement"), in substantially the form attached hereto as <a href="Exhibit "A"</a>, for the purpose of setting forth the terms, conditions and covenants (i) upon which the Funding Lender will make the Funding

Loan to or on the account of the Housing Finance Authority, which proceeds shall be used in order for the Housing Finance Authority to make the Project Loan to Borrower to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project, and (ii) that are necessary to secure the Note and protect the rights of the holder of the Note; and

**WHEREAS,** the Housing Finance Authority desires to enter into a Project Loan Agreement, between the Housing Finance Authority and the Borrower (the "Project Loan Agreement"), in substantially the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit "B"</u>, to evidence the terms and conditions of the Project Loan; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority desires to enter into a Land Use Restriction Agreement among the Housing Finance Authority, the Borrower and the Fiscal Agent (the "Land Use Restriction Agreement"), in substantially the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit "C"</u>, to evidence the terms and conditions upon which the Borrower shall maintain and operate the Project; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority desires to enter into an Assignment of Mortgage and Loan Documents made by the Housing Finance Authority to and in favor of the Fiscal Agent (the "Assignment of Loan Documents"), in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit "D", pursuant to which the Housing Finance Authority will assign to the Fiscal Agent its rights in the mortgage securing the Project and various other loan documents securing and evidencing the Project Loan, including the promissory note to be executed by the Borrower; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority desires to enter into a Placement Agent Agreement between the Housing Finance Authority and Raymond James & Associates, Inc. and RBC Capital Markets, LLC, as placement agents (collectively, the "Placement Agents") (the "Placement Agent Agreement"), in substantially the form attached hereto as <a href="Exhibit "E"</a>, to evidence the Placement Agents' responsibilities and obligations to the Housing Finance Authority in connection with the issuance of the Note; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority desires to enter into a Fiscal Agent Fee Agreement by and between the Housing Finance Authority and the Fiscal Agent (the "Fiscal Agent Fee Agreement"), in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit "F", to evidence the Fiscal Agent's obligations and responsibilities in connection with the issuance of the Note and the fees payable to Fiscal Agent for its performance thereunder; and

WHEREAS, within the County there is a shortage of housing available at prices or rentals which many persons and families can afford and a shortage of capital for investment in such housing. This shortage constitutes a threat to the health, safety, morals and welfare of the residents of the County, deprives the County of an adequate tax base, and causes the County to make excessive expenditures for crime prevention and control, public health, welfare and safety, fire and accident protection, and other public services and facilities; and

WHEREAS, the shortage of capital and housing cannot be relieved except through the encouragement of investment by private enterprise and the stimulation of construction of housing through the use of public financing; and

WHEREAS, the Project and the financing thereof will assist in alleviating the shortage of housing in the County and of capital for investment therein, will serve the purposes of the Act and the Project will constitute a "qualified housing development" under the Act; and

**WHEREAS**, the Housing Finance Authority desires to authorize the execution and delivery of any other documents, instruments, certificates and affidavits to be executed in connection with the issuance of the Note; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority is not obligated to pay the Note except from the proceeds derived from the repayment of the Project Loan and other payments received from the Borrower or from other security pledged therefor pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Housing Finance Authority, the County or the State of

Florida (the "State") or any other political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of or the interest on the Note; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority intends to negotiate the sale of the Note with the Funding Lender as hereinafter provided. Additionally, prior to the sale of the Note, the Funding Lender shall provide to the Fiscal Agent an executed investor letter in the form required by and attached to the Funding Loan Agreement; and

**WHEREAS**, a notice of public hearing inviting written and oral comments and discussions concerning the issuance of the Note was published in the *Sun Sentinel*, a newspaper of general circulation, on April 30, 2021, at least 7 days prior to the date of such hearing, all as required by Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"); and

**WHEREAS**, on May 12, 2021, a public hearing concerning the issuance of the Note in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed \$14,000,000 to finance the Project was held by the Housing Finance Authority as required by Section 147(f) of the Code; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority received from the State of Florida Division of Bond Finance an allocation of (i) 2018 private activity bond volume cap in the amount of \$56,326,275 (the "2018 Volume Cap"), and (ii) 2019 private activity bond volume cap in the amount of \$97,397,445 (the "2019 Volume Cap"), each of which has been carried forward pursuant to Section 145(f) of the Code and designated for the issuance of bonds or notes for qualified residential rental projects; and

**WHEREAS**, \$30,229,274 of the 2018 Volume Cap remains available to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project; and

WHEREAS, the Housing Finance Authority plans to use up to \$14,000,000 of such remaining 2018 Volume Cap to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project, but will use 2019 Volume Cap in the event 2018 Volume Cap is no longer available; and

**WHEREAS**, the Ordinance requires that all contracts of the Housing Finance Authority in connection with the issuance of the Note be approved by the Board.

## NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA:

Section I. <u>Authorization of the Note</u>. The Housing Finance Authority hereby authorizes, under the authority of the Act and the Ordinance, and subject to the terms as hereinafter set forth, the issuance of the Note to be designated "Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida Multifamily Housing Revenue Note, Series 2021 (Pembroke Tower II)" in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed \$14,000,000.

Section 2. <u>Details of the Note</u>. The Note shall be issued under and secured by the Funding Loan Agreement, by which reference is hereby incorporated into this Resolution as if set forth in full herein. The proceeds of the Note, together with any commitment fees, shall be applied as provided in the Funding Loan Agreement, and the Note shall mature in the years and in the amounts, bear interest at such rates, be subject to redemption and shall have such other characteristics as shall be provided in the Funding Loan Agreement.

Section 3. The Note is a Special Obligation of the Housing Finance Authority. The Note is a special obligation of the Housing Finance Authority which is payable solely from moneys derived under the Funding Loan Agreement and the Project Loan Agreement. The Note, together with the interest thereon, is a limited obligation of the Housing Finance Authority and neither the Housing Finance Authority, the County, the State, nor any political subdivision thereof, shall be obligated to pay the Note or the interest thereon or other costs or payments incident thereto, except from the aforementioned revenues and receipts and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the County or the State or any political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the Note or the interest thereon or other costs or payments incident thereto. The Housing Finance Authority has no

taxing power. The Note and obligations arising thereunder do not create or reflect liability of the Housing Finance Authority or any member, official or employee thereof, except as otherwise described in this Section 3 with respect to the Housing Finance Authority.

Section 4. <u>Execution of Note</u>. The Chair or Vice Chair and Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Housing Finance Authority are hereby authorized and directed to execute by manual or facsimile signature, and place the seal of the Housing Finance Authority, in manual or facsimile form, on the Note. The Note shall be in substantially the form set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement, with such changes, modifications and deletions as the officers executing the Note, with the advice of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. ("Note Counsel") and the County Attorney's Office of Broward County (the "County Attorney"), may deem necessary and appropriate and as are not inconsistent with the Funding Loan Agreement and this Resolution. The execution and delivery of the Note by the aforementioned persons shall be conclusive evidence of the Housing Finance Authority's approval and authorization thereof.

Section 5. <u>Authentication and Delivery of Note</u>. Upon the execution of the Note, the Housing Finance Authority shall deliver the Note to the Fiscal Agent for authentication, and the Fiscal Agent is hereby authorized and directed to authenticate and deliver said Note to the Funding Lender, subject to the terms for delivery set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement.

Section 6. Approval of Funding Loan Agreement. The form and content of the Funding Loan Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit "A", is hereby authorized and approved by the Housing Finance Authority, and the Chair or Vice Chair of the Housing Finance Authority is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Funding Loan Agreement and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary is authorized to place the Housing Finance Authority's seal thereon and attest thereto, in the form presented at this meeting, together with such changes, modifications and deletions as they, with the advice of Note Counsel and the County Attorney, may deem necessary and appropriate. Such execution

and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the approval and authorization thereof by the Housing Finance Authority.

Section 7. <u>Approval of Project Loan Agreement</u>. The form and content of the Project Loan Agreement, attached hereto as <u>Exhibit "B"</u>, is hereby authorized and approved by the Housing Finance Authority, and the Chair or Vice Chair of the Housing Finance Authority is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Project Loan Agreement and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary is authorized to place the Housing Finance Authority's seal thereon and attest thereto, in the form presented at this meeting, together with such changes, modifications and deletions as they, with the advice of Note Counsel and the County Attorney, may deem necessary and appropriate. Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the approval and authorization thereof by the Housing Finance Authority.

Section 8. <u>Approval of the Land Use Restriction Agreement.</u> The form and content of the Land Use Restriction Agreement, attached hereto as <u>Exhibit "C"</u>, is hereby authorized and approved by the Housing Finance Authority, and the Chair or Vice Chair of the Housing Finance Authority is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Land Use Restriction Agreement and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary is authorized to place the Housing Finance Authority's seal thereon and attest thereto, in the form presented at this meeting, together with such changes, modifications and deletions as they, with the advice of Note Counsel and the County Attorney, may deem necessary and appropriate. Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the approval and authorization thereof by the Housing Finance Authority.

Section 9. <u>Approval of Assignment of Loan Documents</u>. The form and content of the Assignment of Loan Documents, attached hereto as <u>Exhibit "D"</u>, is hereby authorized and approved by the Housing Finance Authority, and the Chair or Vice Chair of the Housing Finance Authority is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Assignment of Loan Documents and the Secretary or Assistant

Secretary is authorized to place the Housing Finance Authority's seal thereon and attest thereto, in the form presented at this meeting, together with such changes, modifications and deletions as they, with the advice of Note Counsel and the County Attorney, may deem necessary and appropriate. Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the approval and authorization thereof by the Housing Finance Authority.

Section 10. <u>Approval of Placement Agent Agreement</u>. The form and content of the Placement Agent Agreement, attached hereto as <u>Exhibit "E"</u>, is hereby authorized and approved by the Housing Finance Authority, and the Chair or Vice Chair of the Housing Finance Authority is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Placement Agent Agreement and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary is authorized to place the Housing Finance Authority's seal thereon and attest thereto, in the form presented at this meeting, together with such changes, modifications and deletions as they, with the advice of Note Counsel and the County Attorney, may deem necessary and appropriate. Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the approval and authorization thereof by the Housing Finance Authority.

Section 11. Appointment of Fiscal Agent. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., having its designated corporate trust office in Jacksonville, Florida, is hereby appointed Fiscal Agent under the Funding Loan Agreement, and the Housing Finance Authority approves the form and content of the Fiscal Agent Fee Agreement attached hereto as <a href="Exhibit">Exhibit "F"</a>. The Chair or Vice Chair of the Housing Finance Authority is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Fiscal Agent Fee Agreement, and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary is authorized to place the Housing Finance Authority's seal thereon and attest thereto, in substantially the form presented at this meeting, with such changes, modifications, deletions and insertions as the Chair or Vice Chair, with the advice of Note Counsel and the County Attorney, may deem necessary and appropriate. Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the approval thereof by the Housing Finance Authority.

Section 12. Subordinate Financing. The Housing Finance Authority hereby acknowledges that the Borrower intends to secure subordinate financing for the Project in the form of a loan from (i) Broward County of funds from the Broward County Affordable Housing Trust Fund in the approximate principal amount of \$3,860,000 (the "County Loan"), and (ii) Florida Housing Finance Corporation of (a) State Apartment Incentive Loan (SAIL) Program funds in the approximate principal amount of \$2,000,000 (the "SAIL Loan"), (b) Extended Low Income (ELI) funds in the approximate principal amount of \$600,000 (the "ELI Loan"), and (c) National Housing Trust Fund (NHTF) funds in the approximate principal amount of \$1,041,200 (the "NHTF Loan" and, together with the County Loan, the SAIL Loan and the ELI Loan, the "Subordinate Financing"). Given the need for additional affordable rental units in the County, the high development costs associated with the Project and the favorable financing terms of the Subordinate Financing, the Housing Finance Authority hereby determines that it is in the public interest to consent to such Subordinate Financing in this instance. Accordingly, the Housing Finance Authority (i) authorizes the Chair or Vice Chair of the Housing Finance Authority to consent to such Subordinate Financing and to execute and deliver any agreements that may be necessary in connection with such consent, with the advice of and in such form as Note Counsel and the County Attorney may deem necessary and appropriate, and (ii) directs the Fiscal Agent to, as necessary, consent to such Subordinate Financing and to execute and deliver any agreements that may be necessary in connection with such consent, with the advice of and in such form as Note Counsel and the County Attorney may deem necessary and appropriate.

Section 13. <u>Waiver of Audit Fee</u>. The Ordinance no longer requires an audit of multifamily developments. Accordingly, the Borrower has requested a waiver of the fee required to be paid by the Borrower for the services of the Housing Finance Authority's auditor to audit the Project and the Note annually. The Housing Finance Authority waives such audit fee in connection with the Project.

Section 14. <u>Sale of Note</u>. It is hereby found and determined that due to the characteristics of the financing and the prevailing and anticipated market conditions, it is in the best interest of the Housing Finance Authority to negotiate the sale of the Note. The negotiated sale of the Note to the Funding Lender, or its affiliates, at a price of par pursuant to the Term Sheet attached hereto as <u>Exhibit</u> "G", is hereby approved. The Chair or Vice Chair and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary are authorized to make any and all changes to the form of the Note which shall be necessary to conform the same to the Term Sheet. The Chair or Vice Chair and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary are also authorized to permit modifications to the Term Sheet as they, with the advice of Note Counsel and the County Attorney, may deem necessary and appropriate. The purchase of such Note shall constitute a "loan to a lending institution" within the meaning of Section 159.608(5), Florida Statutes. Additionally, the Note shall constitute "Bonds" for purposes of, and as defined under, the Act.

Section 15. <u>Certificated Note</u>. It is in the best interest of the Housing Finance Authority and the Borrower that the Note be issued utilizing a certificated form and not utilizing a book-entry system of registration.

Section 16. Further Actions and Ratification of Prior Actions. The officers, agents and employees of the Housing Finance Authority and the officers, agents and employees of the Fiscal Agent are hereby authorized and directed to do all acts and things required of them by the provisions of the Note, the Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Assignment of Loan Documents, the Placement Agent Agreement, the Fiscal Agent Fee Agreement (collectively, the "Funding Loan Documents") and this Resolution and to execute and deliver any and all additional documents necessary or advisable to effectuate the foregoing. All actions heretofore undertaken by the officers, agents and employees of the Housing Finance Authority with respect to (i) the provisions of the Note and the Funding Loan Documents, and (ii) the issuance of the Note are hereby ratified and approved.

Exhibit 3 Page 13 of 233

Section 17. <u>Definitions</u>. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein

shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Funding Loan Agreement and the Project Loan

Agreement.

Section 18. Resolution Effective. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its

adoption.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

Upon	motion of $\underline{R}$	auth T. Cyrus, seco	onded by	John G. Prin	meau, the fo	regoin	g Reso	lution	n was
adopted by the	e following v	votes:							
AYES:	_5	_							
NAYS:	_ 0	-							
			Approve	ed on April	29, 2021	as to	form	and	legal
			Nahors	Giblin &	Nickerson	РА	Bono	l Co	unsel

STATE OF FLORIDA ) ss: COUNTY OF BROWARD )

I, JOHN G. PRIMEAU, Secretary of the Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is an accurate copy of the Resolution of the Housing Finance Authority adopted at a meeting held on May 19, 2021, as set forth in the official minutes of the Housing Finance Authority, related to approval of certain actions to be taken in connection with the proposed issuance of that certain Multifamily Housing Revenue Note, Series 2021 (Pembroke Tower II) of the Housing Finance Authority.

I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY that said meeting was duly called and held in accordance with Chapter 286, Florida Statutes.

WITNESS my hand and the corporate seal of said Housing Finance Authority, this 19th day of May, 2021.

HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

By:

JOHN G. PRIMEAU, Secretary



# EXHIBIT "A" FORM OF FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT [ATTACHED]

#### **FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT**

#### among

## STI INSTITUTIONAL & GOVERNMENT, INC., as Initial Funding Lender

### HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, as Governmental Lender

and

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

#### Relating to

Pembroke Tower II [2201 North University Drive], Pembroke Pines, Florida 33024

Maximum Funding Loan Principal Amount: \$14,000,000

Dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_1, 2021

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
	ARTICLE I	
	DEFINITIONS	
Section 1.01 Section 1.02	Definitions	
	ARTICLE II	
	THE FUNDING LOAN	
Section 2.01	Terms	18
Section 2.02	Pledged Security	20
Section 2.03	Limited Obligations	21
Section 2.04	Funding Loan Agreement Constitutes Contract.	21
Section 2.05	Form and Execution	21
Section 2.06	Authentication	22
Section 2.07	Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Governmental Note	22
Section 2.08	Registration; Transfer of Funding Loan; Transferee Representations Letter	22
Section 2.09	[Reserved]	23
Section 2.10	Funding Loan Closing Conditions; Delivery of Governmental Note	23
Section 2.11	Establishment of Project Loan Fund; Application of Funding Loan Proceeds and Other Money	24
Section 2.12	Direct Loan Payments to Funding Lender; Servicer Disbursement of Fees	25
Section 2.13	Conversion	
	ARTICLE III	
	PREPAYMENT OF THE FUNDING LOAN	
Section 3.01	Prepayment of the Funding Loan Prior to Maturity	27
	Notice of Prepayment	
	ARTICLE IV	
	REVENUES AND FUNDS	
Section 4.01	Pledge of Revenues and Assets; Establishment of Funds	28
Section 4.02	Project Loan Fund	
Section 4.03	Application of Revenues	
Section 4.04	Application of Loan Payment Fund	
Section 4.05	Application of Loan Prepayment Fund	
Section 4.06	Administration Fund	
Section 4.07	Governmental Lender Fee Fund.	
Section 4.08	Investment of Funds	
Section 4.09	[Reserved]	

Section 4.10	Accounting Records	35
Section 4.11	Amounts Remaining in Funds	
Section 4.12	Rebate Fund; Compliance with Tax Certificates	
Section 4.13	Cost of Issuance Fund	
Section 4.14	Reports From the Fiscal Agent	37
	ARTICLE V	
	GENERAL COVENANTS AND REPRESENTATIONS	
Section 5.01	Payment of Principal and Interest	38
Section 5.02	Performance of Covenants	
Section 5.03	Instruments of Further Assurance	38
Section 5.04	Inspection of Project Books	39
Section 5.05	No Modification of Security; Additional Indebtedness	
Section 5.06	Damage, Destruction or Condemnation	39
Section 5.07	Tax Covenants	
Section 5.08	Representations and Warranties of the Governmental Lender	41
	ARTICLE VI	
	DEFAULT PROVISIONS AND REMEDIES OF FISCAL AGENT AND FUNDING LENDER	
Section 6.01	Events of Default	42
Section 6.01	Acceleration; Other Remedies Upon Event of Default	
Section 6.02 Section 6.03	Funding Lender Representative Control of Proceedings	
Section 6.03	Waiver by Governmental Lender	
Section 6.05	Application of Money After Default	
Section 6.06	Remedies Not Exclusive	
Section 6.07	Fiscal Agent May Enforce Rights Without Governmental Note	
Section 6.08	[Reserved]	
Section 6.09	Termination of Proceedings	
Section 6.10	Waivers of Events of Default	
Section 6.11	Interest on Unpaid Amounts and Default Rate for Nonpayment	
Section 6.12	Assignment of Project Loan; Remedies Under the Project Loan	
Section 6.13	Substitution	
	ARTICLE VII	
	CONCERNING THE FISCAL AGENT	
Section 7.01	Standard of Care	47
Section 7.01 Section 7.02	Reliance Upon Documents	
Section 7.03	Use of Proceeds.	
Section 7.03	[Reserved] Error! Bookmark no	
Section 7.05	Trust Imposed	
Section 7.06	Compensation of Fiscal Agent.	

Section 7.07	Qualifications of Fiscal Agent	53
Section 7.08	Merger of Fiscal Agent	
Section 7.09	Resignation by the Fiscal Agent	53
Section 7.10	Removal of the Fiscal Agent	
Section 7.11	Appointment of Successor Fiscal Agent	
Section 7.12	Concerning Any Successor Fiscal Agent	
Section 7.13	Successor Fiscal Agent	
Section 7.14	Appointment of Co-Fiscal Agent or Separate Fiscal Agent	55
Section 7.15	Notice of Certain Events	
Section 7.16	[Reserved]	
Section 7.17	Filing of Financing Statements	57
Section 7.18	USA Patriot Act Requirements of the Fiscal Agent	57
	ARTICLE VIII	
	AMENDMENTS OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS	
Section 8.01	Amendments to this Funding Loan Agreement	58
Section 8.02	Amendments to Financing Documents Require Consent of Funding	
	Lender Representative	58
Section 8.03	Opinion of Bond Counsel Required	58
	ARTICLE IX	
SATIS	SFACTION AND DISCHARGE OF FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT	
Section 9.01	Discharge of Lien	58
Section 9.02	Discharge of Liability on Funding Loan	
Section 9.03	Payment of Funding Loan After Discharge of Funding Loan Agreement	60
	ARTICLE X	
	INTENTIONALLY OMITTED	
	ARTICLE XI	
	MISCELLANEOUS	
Section 11.01	Servicing of the Loans	60
Section 11.01	Servicing of the Loans	60 60
	Construction of Conflicts; Severability	
	Notices	
Section 11.04	Funding Lender Representative	65
	Payments Due on Non-Business Days	
	Counterparts	
	Laws Governing Funding Loan Agreement	
	No Recourse	
	Successors and Assigns	

EXHIBIT A	FORM OF GOVERNMENTAL NOTE
EXHIBIT B	FORM OF NOTICE OF APPOINTMENT OF FUNDING LENDER
	REPRESENTATIVE
EXHIBIT C	FORM OF TRANSFEREE REPRESENTATIONS LETTER
EXHIBIT D	COST OF ISSUANCE REQUISITION
EXHIBIT E	PROJECT LOAN FUND REQUISITION

#### **FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT**

#### **RECITALS**

- **A.** The Governmental Lender is a public body corporate and politic duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, and pursuant to Part II and Part IV, Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, as amended and supplemented from time to time, and Ordinance No. 79-41, enacted on June 20, 1979, by the Board of County Commissioners of Broward County, Florida (the "**Act**").
- **B.** The Governmental Lender has been created for the purpose, inter alia, of enabling the financing of safe and sanitary multifamily dwelling units for persons with low or moderate income; and the Act empowers the Governmental Lender to issue its revenue bond obligations in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act, in furtherance of the public purposes for which it was created.
- **D.** The Governmental Lender is making the Project Loan to the Borrower with the proceeds received from the separate loan made to the Governmental Lender pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement in the maximum aggregate principal amount of \$14,000,000 (the "**Funding Loan**" and together with the Project Loan, the "**Loans**"). The Funding Loan is evidenced by the Multifamily Note designated as Multifamily Housing Revenue Note (Pembroke Tower II), Series 2021, dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021, in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> (together with all riders and addenda thereto, the "**Governmental Note**") delivered by the Governmental Lender to the Initial Funding Lender.
- **E.** The Initial Funding Lender, pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of this Funding Loan Agreement, the Construction Phase Financing Agreement and the

Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, has agreed to originate and fund the Funding Loan to the Governmental Lender on a draw-down basis, which proceeds of the Funding Loan will be used by the Governmental Lender to fund the Project Loan to the Borrower in corresponding installments pursuant to the Project Loan Agreement. The Initial Funding Lender will administer the Loans during the Construction Phase in accordance with the Construction Phase Financing Agreement and the other Financing Documents.

- **F.** The Borrower has agreed to use the proceeds of the Project Loan to finance the acquisition, construction, equipping and development of the Project, to pay certain costs with respect to the Loan and to pay interest on the Governmental Note during the period of construction of the Project.
- **G.** The Borrower's repayment obligations in respect of the Project Loan will be evidenced by a Promissory Note, dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021 (together with all riders and modifications thereto, the "**Project Note**"), delivered by the Borrower to the Governmental Lender, which Project Note will be endorsed by the Governmental Lender to the Fiscal Agent as security for the Funding Loan.
- **H.** To secure the Borrower's obligations under the Project Note, the Borrower will execute and deliver to the Governmental Lender a Mortgage, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of the Delivery Date (the "Security Instrument") with respect to the Project, which Security Instrument will be assigned by the Governmental Lender to the Fiscal Agent as security for the Funding Loan.
- I. The Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, a shareholder-owned government-sponsored enterprise ("Freddie Mac") has entered into a commitment with Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (the "Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer"), dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021 (the "Freddie Mac Commitment"), whereby Freddie Mac has committed, subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions to Conversion set forth in the Construction Phase Financing Agreement on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date, to facilitate the financing of the Project in the Permanent Phase by purchasing the Funding Loan from the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer following the Conversion Date.
- J. If the Conditions to Conversion are satisfied on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date as provided for in the Freddie Mac Commitment and the Construction Phase Financing Agreement, the Project Loan will convert from the Construction Phase to the Permanent Phase on the Conversion Date and, on such Conversion Date, the Initial Funding Lender shall deliver, and the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer shall purchase, the Funding Loan, as evidenced by the Governmental Note. If the Conditions to Conversion are not satisfied on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date, the Project Loan will not convert from the Construction Phase to the Permanent Phase, and neither the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer nor Freddie Mac will have any obligation with respect to the purchase of the Funding Loan and the Initial Funding Lender will remain the owner of the Funding Loan as the holder of the Governmental Note.
- **K.** As a Condition to Conversion, the Project Note and the Security Instrument are required to be amended and restated and the Borrower is required to enter into a Continuing Covenant Agreement with the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer (the "**Freddie Mac Continuing**"

**Covenant Agreement**"), in each case pursuant to the forms attached to the Construction Phase Financing Agreement.

- L. If the Conditions to Conversion are satisfied and the Funding Loan is purchased by the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer on the Conversion Date as set forth above, the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer shall deliver the Funding Loan to Freddie Mac for purchase pursuant to the terms of the Freddie Mac Commitment and the Guide (such date of purchase by Freddie Mac being referred to as the "Freddie Mac Purchase Date").
- **M.** Upon the occurrence of the Freddie Mac Purchase Date, the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer will assign to Freddie Mac all of its rights and interest in the Funding Loan, the Governmental Note, this Funding Loan Agreement, the Freddie Mac Continuing Covenant Agreement and the other Financing Documents. The Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer will act as Servicer for the Loans on behalf of Freddie Mac, as Funding Lender, on and after the Freddie Mac Purchase Date.
- N. The Governmental Lender has determined that all things necessary to incur the Funding Loan and to execute and deliver the Governmental Note, when executed by the Governmental Lender and authenticated by the Fiscal Agent and issued in accordance with this Funding Loan Agreement, as the valid, binding and legal limited obligation of the Governmental Lender and to constitute this Funding Loan Agreement as a valid lien on the properties, interests, revenues and payments herein pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, the Governmental Note, have been duly taken, and the creation, execution and delivery of this Funding Loan Agreement and the execution and delivery of the Governmental Note, subject to the terms of this Funding Loan Agreement, have been duly authorized by the Governmental Lender.
- **O.** The Fiscal Agent has the power and authority to enter into this Funding Loan Agreement, including corporate trust powers to accept the trusts hereunder and to accept and assume its other responsibilities hereunder as Fiscal Agent as evidenced by its execution of this Funding Loan Agreement.
- **NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the premises and of the origination and funding of the Funding Loan by the Initial Funding Lender, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

#### **ARTICLE I**

#### **DEFINITIONS**

**Section 1.01** *Definitions*. The terms used in this Funding Loan Agreement (except as herein otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires) for all purposes of this Funding Loan Agreement and of any amendment or supplement hereto shall have the respective meanings specified below. Terms used herein not otherwise defined shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Project Loan Agreement.

"Act" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals above.

"Actual Project Loan Amount" has the meaning set forth in the Construction Phase Financing Agreement.

"Administration Fund" means the Administration Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"Advance Request" shall mean a request by the Borrower to the Initial Funding Lender that the Initial Funding Lender disburse proceeds of the Funding Loan to the Fiscal Agent as provided hereunder, which request shall be in the form prescribed by the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement.

"Advance Termination Date" means the earliest to occur of (i) the date when the sum of the aggregate advances of the Funding Loan made by the Initial Funding Lender equals the Authorized Amount, (ii) the date that is three years after the Delivery Date, (iii) the Conversion Date, (iv) the date of a Determination of Taxability or (v) the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder.

"Assignment" means the Assignment of Mortgage and Loan Documents, dated its date of execution by the Governmental Lender, assigning its interest in the Security Instrument to the Fiscal Agent.

"Authorized Amount" shall mean \$14,000,000, the maximum principal amount of the Funding Loan authorized under this Funding Loan Agreement.

"Authorized Officer" means (a) when used with respect to the Governmental Lender, the Chair or any Vice Chair of the Governmental Lender and such additional Person or Persons, if any, duly designated by the Governmental Lender in writing to act on its behalf, (b) when used with respect to the Borrower, any officer or manager of the manager of Borrower and such additional Person or Persons duly designated by the Borrower in writing to act on its behalf, (c) when used with respect to the Fiscal Agent, any authorized signatory of the Fiscal Agent, or any Person who is authorized in writing to take the action in question on behalf of the Fiscal Agent, (d) when used with respect to the Servicer, any Person or Persons duly designated by the Servicer in writing to act on its behalf, and (e) when used with respect to the Funding Lender Representative, any Person who is authorized in writing to take the action in question on behalf of the Funding Lender Representative.

"Bankruptcy Code" means Title 11 of the United States Code entitled "Bankruptcy," as now and hereafter in effect, or any successor federal statute.

"Bond Counsel" means (a) on the Delivery Date, Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., or (b) any other firm of attorneys selected by the Governmental Lender that is experienced in matters relating to the issuance of obligations by states and their political subdivisions that is listed as municipal bond attorneys in The Bond Buyer's Municipal Marketplace and is acceptable to the Governmental Lender and the Funding Lender Representative.

"Borrower" means SP Broward LLC, a limited liability company duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, or any of its permitted successors or assigns, as owner of the Project.

"Borrower Equity Account" means the Borrower Equity Account of the Project Loan Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 2.11 hereof.

"Borrower Equity Deposit" means \$\_\_\_\_\_, which shall be comprised of sources other than the proceeds of the Project Loan.

"Borrower Operating Agreement" means that certain Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of the Borrower, as amended from time to time.

"Business Day" means any day other than (a) a Saturday or a Sunday, or (b) a day on which (i) banking institutions in the City of New York or in the city in which the Principal Office of the Fiscal Agent is located are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to be closed or (ii) the New York Stock Exchange is closed.

"Certificate of the Governmental Lender" and "Request of the Governmental Lender" mean, respectively, a written certificate or request signed in the name of the Governmental Lender by an Authorized Officer of the Governmental Lender or such other Person as may be designated and authorized to sign for the Governmental Lender. Any such instrument and supporting opinions or representations, if any, may, but need not, be combined in a single instrument with any other instrument, opinion or representation, and the two or more so combined shall be read and construed as a single instrument.

"Closing Memorandum" means the Closing Memorandum signed by the Initial Funding Lender, the Borrower and the Fiscal Agent with respect to the initial disbursement of Funding Loan proceeds and other amounts specified therein.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Conditions to Conversion" has the meaning given to that term in the Construction Phase Financing Agreement.

"Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement" means the Construction Loan Agreement dated \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021, by and between the Borrower and the Initial Funding Lender, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

"Construction Loan Documents" means the Construction Phase Financing Agreement, the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, and all other documents to be executed and delivered by Borrower to the Initial Funding Lender in connection with the Project.

"Construction Phase" means the construction phase of the Project Loan, which time period shall commence on the Delivery Date and remain in effect to, but not including, the Conversion Date.

"Construction Phase Financing Agreement" means the Construction Phase Financing Agreement dated as of the date hereof, by and among the Initial Funding Lender, Freddie Mac, and the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer, and acknowledged and agreed to by the Borrower, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

"Construction Phase Interest Rate" means the "Applicable Interest Rate," as defined in Section 1.1 of the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement.

"Continuing Covenant Agreement" means (i) prior to the Conversion Date, the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, and (ii) from and after the Conversion Date, the Freddie Mac Continuing Covenant Agreement.

"Conversion" means conversion of the Project Loan from the Construction Phase to the Permanent Phase on the Conversion Date.

"Conversion Date" means the date the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer purchases the Funding Loan from the Initial Funding Lender upon the satisfaction of the Conditions to Conversion, as such Conversion Date is specified by the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer in the Notice of Conversion, which date shall be at least ten (10) days following the date on which the Notice of Conversion is delivered.

"Cost," "Costs" or "Costs of the Project" means costs paid with respect to the Project that (i) are properly chargeable to capital account (or would be so chargeable with a proper election by the Borrower or but for a proper election by the Borrower to deduct such costs) in accordance with general federal income tax principles and in accordance with United States Treasury Regulations Section 1.103-8(a)(1), (ii) are paid with respect to a qualified residential rental project or projects within the meaning of Section 142(d) of the Code, (iii) are paid after the earlier of (A) 60 days prior to the date of a resolution of the Governmental Lender to reimburse costs of the Project with proceeds of the Loans or (B) the Delivery Date, and (iv) if the Costs of the Project were previously paid and are to be reimbursed with proceeds of the Loans such costs were (A) Costs of Issuance of the Governmental Note, (B) preliminary capital expenditures (within the meaning of United States Treasury Regulations Section 1.150-2(f)(2)) with respect to the Project (such as architectural, engineering and soil testing services) incurred before commencement of acquisition or construction of the Project that do not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the issue price of the Governmental Note (as defined in United States Treasury Regulations Section 1.148-1), or (C) were capital expenditures with respect to the Project that are reimbursed no later than eighteen (18) months after the later of the date the expenditure was paid or the date the Project is placed in service (but no later than three (3) years after the expenditure is paid); provided however, that if any portion of the Project is being constructed or developed by the Borrower or an affiliate (whether as a developer, a general contractor or a subcontractor), "Cost," "Costs" or "Costs of the Project" shall include only (a) the actual out-of-pocket costs incurred by the Borrower or such affiliate in developing or constructing the Project (or any portion thereof), (b) any reasonable fees for supervisory services actually rendered by the Borrower or such affiliate (but excluding any profit component) and (c) any overhead expenses incurred by the Borrower or such affiliate which are directly attributable to the work performed on the Project, and shall not include, for example, intercompany profits resulting from members of an affiliated group (within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code) participating in the acquisition, construction or development of the Project or payments received by such affiliate due to early completion of the Project (or any portion thereof).

"Cost of Issuance Fund" means the Cost of Issuance Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"Costs of Issuance" means, as applicable, (i) the fees (excluding ongoing fees), costs and expenses of (a) the Governmental Lender, the Governmental Lender's counsel and the Governmental Lender's financial advisor, (b) Bond Counsel, (c) the Fiscal Agent and the Fiscal Agent's counsel, (d) the Initial Funding Lender and the Initial Funding Lender's counsel (e) the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer and the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer's counsel, (f) Freddie Mac and Freddie Mac's counsel, and (g) the Borrower's counsel attributable to the funding of the Loans and the Borrower's financial advisor, if any, and (ii) all other fees, costs and expenses directly associated with the Funding Loan and the Project Loan, including, without limitation, printing costs, costs of reproducing documents, filing and recording fees.

"Costs of Issuance Deposit" means the deposit of \$\_\_\_\_\_ to be made by the Borrower with the Fiscal Agent on the Delivery Date in an amount sufficient to pay the Costs of Issuance and shall be comprised of sources other than the proceeds of the Project Loan.

"County" means Broward County, Florida.

"County Loan" means the loan made to Borrower by the County in the principal amount of \$[3,860,000] pursuant to the County Loan Documents.

"County Loan Account" means the County Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"County Loan Documents" means any loan agreement, financing agreement, security agreement and all other documents pursuant to which the County Loan is funded or secured.

"County Loan Servicer" means Seltzer Management Group, Inc., a Florida corporation, and its permitted successors and assigns, as servicer of the County Loan.

"Default Rate" means (a) during the Construction Phase, the Default Rate as that term is defined in the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, and (b) during the Permanent Phase, an interest rate equal to the lower of (i) the Permanent Phase Interest Rate plus 4.0% or (ii) the Maximum Interest Rate.

"Delivery Date" means \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021, the date of funding of the initial advance of the Funding Loan and the delivery of the Governmental Note by the Governmental Lender to the Initial Funding Lender.

"Determination of Taxability" means, (a) a determination by the Commissioner or any District Director of the Internal Revenue Service, (b) a private ruling or Technical Advice Memorandum issued by the National Office of the Internal Revenue Service in which Governmental Lender and Borrower were afforded the opportunity to participate, (c) a determination by any court of competent jurisdiction, (d) the enactment of legislation or (e) receipt by the Fiscal Agent or Funding Lender Representative, at the request of the Governmental Lender, Borrower, Fiscal Agent or Funding Lender Representative, of an opinion of Bond Counsel, in each case to the effect that the interest on the Governmental Note is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes of the Funding Lender or any former Funding Lender other than a Funding Lender who is a "substantial user" of the Project or a "related person" (as such terms are defined in Section 147(a) of the Code); provided, however, that no such Determination of Taxability under clause (a) or (c) shall be deemed to have occurred

if the Governmental Lender (at the sole expense of the Borrower) or the Borrower is contesting such determination, has elected to contest such determination in good faith and is proceeding with all applicable dispatch to prosecute such contest until the earliest of (i) a final determination from which no appeal may be taken with respect to such determination, (ii) abandonment of such appeal by the Governmental Lender or the Borrower, as the case may be, or (iii) one year from the date of initial determination.

"Electronic Notice" means the following communications methods: e-mail, facsimile transmission, secure electronic transmission containing applicable authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys issued by the Fiscal Agent, or another method or system specified by the Fiscal Agent as available for use in connection with its services hereunder to the electronic mail addresses listed in Section 11.04 hereof; provided, that if a sender receives notice that the electronic mail is undeliverable, notice must be sent as otherwise required by Section 11.04 hereof.

"ELI Loan" means the loan made to Borrower by Florida Housing in the principal amount of \$[600,000] pursuant to the ELI Loan Documents.

*"ELI Loan Account"* means the ELI Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"ELI Loan Documents" means any loan agreement, financing agreement, security agreement and all other documents pursuant to which the ELI Loan is funded or secured.

"Event of Default" or "event of default" means any of those events specified in and defined by the applicable provisions of Article VI hereof to constitute an event of default or "Event of Default" (as therein defined).

"Extraordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses" means all those fees, expenses and reimbursements earned or incurred by the Fiscal Agent as described under Section 7.06 hereof during any Rebate Year for Extraordinary Services, as set forth in a detailed invoice to the Borrower, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative.

"Extraordinary Services" means and includes, but not by way of limitation, services, actions and things carried out and all expenses incurred by the Fiscal Agent, in respect of or to prevent default under this Funding Loan Agreement or the Project Loan Documents, including any reasonable attorneys' or agents' fees and expenses and other litigation costs that are entitled to reimbursement under the terms of the Project Loan Agreement, and other actions taken and carried out by the Fiscal Agent which are not expressly set forth in this Funding Loan Agreement or the Project Loan Documents.

"Fair Market Value" means the price at which a willing buyer would purchase the investment from a willing seller in a bona fide, arm's length transaction (determined as of the date the contract to purchase or sell the investment becomes binding) if the investment is traded on an established securities market (within the meaning of Section 1273 of the Code) and, otherwise, the term "Fair Market Value" means the acquisition price in a bona fide arm's length transaction (as referenced above) if (a) the investment is a certificate of deposit that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations under the Code, (b) the investment is an agreement with specifically negotiated withdrawal or reinvestment provisions and a specifically negotiated

interest rate (for example, a guaranteed investment contract, a forward supply contract or other investment agreement) that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations under the Code, (c) the investment is a United States Treasury Security--State and Local Government Series that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations of the United States Bureau of Public Debt, or (d) any commingled investment fund in which the Governmental Lender and related parties do not own more than a ten percent (10%) beneficial interest therein if the return paid by the fund is without regard to the source of investment.

"Fee Component" has the meaning set forth in the Project Loan Agreement.

"Financing Documents" means, collectively, this Funding Loan Agreement, the Governmental Note, the Tax Certificates, the Project Loan Documents, the Construction Loan Documents (during the Construction Phase) and all other documents or instruments evidencing, securing or relating to the Loans.

"Fiscal Agent" means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., and its successors hereunder, in its capacity as fiscal agent.

*"Florida Housing"* means the Florida Housing Finance Corporation, a public corporation and a public body corporate and politic duly created and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, as lender of the SAIL Loan, the ELI Loan and the NHTF Loan.

"Forward Commitment Maturity Date" means [February] 1, 2024, subject to extension by Freddie Mac as provided in the Construction Phase Financing Agreement.

"Freddie Mac" means the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, a shareholder-owned government-sponsored enterprise organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, and its successors and assigns.

"Freddie Mac Commitment" means the commitment from Freddie Mac to the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer pursuant to which Freddie Mac has agreed to purchase the Funding Loan following the Conversion Date, subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, as such commitment may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

"Freddie Mac Continuing Covenant Agreement" means the Continuing Covenant Agreement to be delivered on the Conversion Date in the form attached to the Construction Phase Financing Agreement by and between the Borrower and the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

"Freddie Mac Purchase Date" means the date on which Freddie Mac purchases the Funding Loan from the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the Construction Phase Financing Agreement and the Freddie Mac Commitment.

"Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer" means Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company, as Freddie Mac's seller/servicer under the Freddie Mac Commitment, or any of its successors or assigns under the Freddie Mac Commitment.

"Funding Lender" means any Person who is the holder of the Governmental Note.

"Funding Lender Representative" means the Funding Lender or any Person designated by the Funding Lender to act on behalf of the Funding Lender as provided in Section 11.05, or an assignee of such Person as provided in Section 11.05. The initial Funding Lender Representative shall be the Initial Funding Lender. The Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer shall become the Funding Lender Representative upon the occurrence of the Conversion Date, and Freddie Mac shall become the Funding Lender Representative upon the occurrence of the Freddie Mac Purchase Date.

"Funding Loan" means the loan in the maximum aggregate principal amount of \$14,000,000 made to the Governmental Lender pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement by the Initial Funding Lender.

"Funding Loan Amortization Schedule" means the Funding Loan Amortization Schedule attached as Schedule 1 to the Governmental Note.

"Government Obligations" means investments meeting the requirements of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of "Qualified Investments" herein.

"Governmental Lender" means the Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida, a public body corporate and politic created, organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida.

"Governmental Lender Closing Fee" means the (i) Governmental Lender's one (1) time initial issuance fee in the amount equal to fifty basis points (0.50%) of the original principal amount of the Funding Loan, as evidenced by the Governmental Note, for a total of \$70,000, (ii) Governmental Lender's indemnification fee of \$20,000, and (iii) Governmental Lender's counsel fee of \$5,000, all of which shall be payable by the Borrower to the Governmental Lender on the Delivery Date pursuant to Section 4.02 of the Project Loan Agreement from money contributed by or on behalf of the Borrower and deposited with the Fiscal Agent for payment to the Governmental Lender pursuant to the Closing Memorandum.

"Governmental Lender Fee" means, collectively, the Governmental Lender Closing Fee and the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee.

"Governmental Note" means the Multifamily Note designated as Multifamily Housing Revenue Note (Pembroke Tower II), Series 2021, dated the Delivery Date, executed by the Governmental Lender and authenticated by the Fiscal Agent in favor of the Initial Funding Lender, in the form attached hereto as <a href="Exhibit A">Exhibit A</a>, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, or any mortgage note executed in substitution therefor, as such substitute note may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

"Guide" means the Freddie Mac Multifamily Seller/Servicer Guide, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

"Initial Debt Service Deposit" means an amount equal to the sum of (i) the interest payable on the Funding Loan, and (ii) the ongoing fees payable with respect to the Project Loan (as provided in Section 4.02 of the Project Loan Agreement), in each case for the period

commencing on the Delivery Date to but not including the first day of the calendar month immediately succeeding the Delivery Date.

"Initial Funding Lender" means STI Institutional & Government, Inc., a Delaware corporation, as initial holder of the Governmental Note, together with its permitted successors and assigns.

"Interest Payment Date" means (i) (a) during the Construction Phase, the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) day of each calendar month, commencing \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ 5, 2021, and (b) during the Permanent Phase, the first (1<sup>st</sup>) day of each calendar month, (ii) the date of any prepayment of the Funding Loan, but only with respect to the portion of the Funding Loan subject to prepayment, (iii) the Conversion Date, with respect to the payment of accrued interest at the Construction Phase Interest Rate to but not including the Conversion Date and (iv) the Maturity Date.

"Investor Member" has the meaning stated in the Borrower Operating Agreement.

"Investment Income" means the earnings and profits derived from the investment of money pursuant to Section 4.08 hereof.

"Loan Payment Fund" means the Loan Payment Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"Loan Prepayment Fund" means the Loan Prepayment Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"Loans" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals above.

"Maturity Date" means the maturity date of the Funding Loan set forth in Section 2.01(e) hereof.

"Maximum Interest Rate" means the rate of interest which results in the maximum amount of interest allowed by applicable law.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc., its successors and assigns, if such successors and assigns continue to perform the services of a securities rating agency.

"Net Proceeds" when used with respect to any insurance or condemnation award, means the proceeds from the insurance or condemnation award with respect to which that term is used remaining after payment of all reasonable expenses incurred in the collection of such insurance proceeds or condemnation award, including reasonable attorneys' fees.

"NHTF Loan" means the loan made to Borrower by Florida Housing in the principal amount of \$[1,041,200] pursuant to the NHTF Loan Documents.

"NHTF Loan Account" means the NHTF Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"NHTF Loan Documents" means any loan agreement, financing agreement, security agreement and all other documents pursuant to which the NHTF Loan is funded or secured.

"Notes" means, together, the Project Note and the Governmental Note.

"Notice of Conversion" means a written notice to be delivered not less than ten (10) days prior to the Conversion Date by the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Borrower, the Initial Funding Lender and Freddie Mac (i) stating that the Conditions to Conversion have been satisfied on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date or, if any Condition to Conversion has not been satisfied on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date, stating that such Condition to Conversion has been waived in writing by Freddie Mac (if a waiver is permitted and is granted by Freddie Mac, in its sole and absolute discretion) on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date, (ii) confirming the Conversion Date and (iii) providing for updated amortization schedules for the Project Note and the Governmental Note in the event the Borrower makes a Pre-Conversion Loan Equalization Payment at Conversion.

"Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee" means the annual program administration fee of the Governmental Lender, payable in advance by the Borrower to the Fiscal Agent for payment to the Governmental Lender in the amount of eighteen basis points (0.18%) per annum of the outstanding principal amount of the Funding Loan (calculated on the Business Day prior to any principal reduction of the Funding Loan). The first payment of the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee shall be payable on the Delivery Date for the period beginning on the Delivery Date and ending on December 31, 2021. Thereafter, the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee shall be payable in semi-annual installments on each \_\_\_\_\_ 1 and \_\_\_\_ 1, with the first semi-annual payment due and payable on \_\_\_\_\_\_ 1, 2021; provided, however, that such fee does not include amounts due, if any, for extraordinary services and expenses of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, Bond Counsel, the Governmental Lender's counsel, or the Fiscal Agent's counsel to be paid by the Borrower pursuant to the Project Loan Agreement. "Ordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses" shall mean the Fiscal Agent's initial acceptance fee of \$2,500 plus fees and expenses of its counsel in conjunction with the issuance of the Governmental Note and the ongoing compensation and expenses payable to the Fiscal Agent as follows: (a) the annual administration fees of the Fiscal Agent, for the ordinary services

"Paying Agent" means the Person designated to make payments of principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Funding Loan, to the Funding Lender pursuant to Section 2.12 hereof. Commencing at Conversion, the initial Paying Agent shall be the Servicer.

of the Fiscal Agent rendered under this Funding Loan Agreement during each twelve-month period shall be \$3,750 per annum, with the initial annual fee of \$3,750 payable in advance on the Delivery Date and subsequent annual fees payable in semiannual installments of \$1,875 in

advance on each \_\_\_\_\_\_1 and \_\_\_\_\_1 thereafter commencing \_\_\_\_\_\_1, 2021.

"Permanent Phase" means the permanent phase of the Project Loan, which time period shall commence on the Conversion Date and remain in effect through the remaining term of the Project Loan.

"Permanent Phase Interest Rate" means, during the Permanent Phase, the fixed interest rate of \_\_\_\_\_% per annum; provided during the continuance of any Event of Default hereunder,

the Permanent Phase Interest Rate shall be the Default Rate, in each case computed on the basis of a 360-day year and the actual number of days elapsed.

"Person" means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock company, a joint venture, a trust, an unincorporated association, a limited liability company or a government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, or any other organization or entity (whether governmental or private).

"Pledged Security" has the meaning given to that term in Section 2.02 hereof.

"Pre-Conversion Loan Equalization Payment" means a prepayment of the Project Loan by the Borrower (and corresponding prepayment of the Funding Loan hereunder) prior to the Forward Commitment Maturity Date in order to equalize the principal amount of the Project Loan and the Funding Loan to the Actual Project Loan Amount.

"Prepayment Premium" means any premium payable hereunder in connection with a prepayment of the Funding Loan, which premium shall be in an amount equal to (i) during the Construction Phase, the amount of premium payable by the Borrower under the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, and (ii) during the Permanent Phase, the amount of premium payable by the Borrower under the Project Note, in each case in connection with a prepayment of the Project Loan.

"Principal Office of the Fiscal Agent" means the office of the Fiscal Agent referenced in Section 11.04(a) hereof, or such other office or offices as the Fiscal Agent may designate in writing from time to time, or the office of any successor Fiscal Agent where it principally conducts its business of serving as Fiscal Agent under indentures pursuant to which municipal or governmental obligations are issued.

"Project" means, collectively, the land and the 88-unit residential rental apartment project, and related fixtures, equipment, furnishings and site improvements to be known as Pembroke Tower II, located at [2201 North University Drive], Pembroke Pines, Florida, including the real estate described in the Security Instrument.

"Project Account" means the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 2.11 hereof.

"Project Loan" means the loan made by the Governmental Lender to the Borrower pursuant to the Project Loan Agreement in the maximum aggregate principal amount of \$14,000,000 as evidenced by the Project Note.

"Project Loan Agreement" means the Project Loan Agreement dated as of the date hereof among the Borrower, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.

"*Project Loan Documents*" means the Security Instrument, the Project Note, the Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Regulatory Agreement, the Assignment, the Continuing Covenant Agreement, any Subordination Agreement(s) and any and all other instruments and other documents evidencing, securing, or otherwise relating to the Project Loan or any portion thereof.

"Project Loan Fund" means the Project Loan Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 2.11 hereof.

"Project Note" means the Promissory Note dated the Delivery Date from the Borrower, including all riders and addenda thereto, evidencing the Borrower's obligation to repay the Project Loan, which Project Note will be delivered to the Governmental Lender and endorsed by the Governmental Lender to the Fiscal Agent as security for the Funding Loan, as the same will be amended and restated into the form attached to the Construction Phase Financing Agreement upon the occurrence of the Conversion Date, as the same may be further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, or any note executed in substitution therefor, as such substitute note may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

"Qualified Investments" means any of the following if and to the extent permitted by law: (a) direct and general obligations of the United States of America; (b) obligations of any agency or instrumentality of the United States of America the payment of the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America; (c) senior debt obligations of Freddie Mac; (d) senior debt obligations of Fannie Mae; (e) demand deposits or time deposits with, or certificates of deposit issued by, the Fiscal Agent or its affiliates or any bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any state or the District of Columbia which has combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than \$50,000,000; provided that the Fiscal Agent or such other institution has been rated at least "VMIG-1"/"A-1+" (or the equivalent non-municipal rating) by Moody's or S&P which deposits or certificates are fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or collateralized pursuant to the requirements of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency; (f) investment agreements with a bank or any insurance company or other financial institution which has a rating assigned by Moody's or S&P to its outstanding long-term unsecured debt which is the highest rating (as defined below) for long-term unsecured debt obligations assigned by Moody's or S&P, and which are approved by the Funding Lender Representative; (g) shares or units in any money market mutual fund rated "Aaa"/"AAA" by Moody's or S&P (or if a new rating scale is implemented, the equivalent rating category given by the Rating Agency for that general category of security) (including mutual funds of the Fiscal Agent or its affiliates or for which the Fiscal Agent or an affiliate thereof serves as investment advisor or provides other services to such mutual fund receives reasonable compensation therefor) registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, whose investment portfolio consists solely of (A) direct obligations of the government of the United States of America, or (B) tax exempt obligations; (h)(i) tax-exempt obligations rated in the highest short term rating category by Moody's or S&P, or (ii) shares of a tax-exempt municipal money market mutual fund or other collective investment fund registered under the federal Investment Company Act of 1940, whose shares are registered under the federal Securities Act, having assets of at least \$100,000,000, and having a rating of "Aaa"/"AAA" by Moody's or S&P (or if a new rating scale is implemented, the equivalent rating category given by the Rating Agency for that general category of security), for which at least 95% of the income paid to the holders on interest in such money market fund will be excludable from gross income under Section 103 of the Code, including money market funds for which the Fiscal Agent or its affiliates receive a fee for investment advisory or other services to the fund; or (i) any other investments approved in writing by the Funding Lender Representative. For purposes of this definition, the "highest rating" means a rating of at least "VMIG-1"/"A-1+" (or the equivalent non-municipal rating) for obligations with less than a one year maturity; at least "Aaa"/"VMIG-1"/"AAA"/"A-1+" (or the equivalent non-municipal rating) for obligations with a maturity of one year or greater but less than three years; and at least "Aaa"/"AAA" for obligations with a maturity of three years or greater. Qualified Investments must be limited to instruments that have a predetermined fixed-dollar amount of principal due at maturity that cannot vary or change and interest, if tied to an index, shall be tied to a single interest rate index plus a single fixed spread, if any, and move proportionately with such index. Ratings of Qualified Investments shall be determined at the time of purchase of such Qualified Investments and without regard to ratings subcategories, and the Fiscal Agent shall have no responsibility to monitor the ratings of Qualified Investments after the initial purchase of such Qualified Investments.

"Rating Agency" means Moody's or S&P, as applicable, or any successor rating service thereof.

"Rebate Analyst" means a certified public accountant, financial analyst or bond counsel, or any firm of the foregoing, or financial institution (which may include the Fiscal Agent) experienced in making the arbitrage and rebate calculations required pursuant to Section 148 of the Code, selected and retained by the Borrower at the expense of the Borrower, and with the prior written consent of the Governmental Lender, to make the rebate computations required under this Funding Loan Agreement and the Project Loan Agreement. The initial Rebate Analyst will be GNP Services CPA, P.A.

"Rebate Fund" means the Rebate Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"Rebate Year" means each one-year period that ends at the close of business on the day in the calendar year that is selected by Borrower as indicated in the Tax Certificates. The first and last Rebate Years may be short periods. If no day is selected by Borrower before the earlier of the Maturity Date or the date that is five years after the Delivery Date, each Rebate Year ends on each anniversary of the Delivery Date and on the Maturity Date or date of earlier payment in full of the Governmental Note.

"Requisition" means, with respect to (i) the Project Loan Fund, the requisition in the form of <u>Exhibit E-1</u> to this Funding Loan Agreement required to be submitted in connection with disbursements from (a) the Project Account, and (b) the Borrower Equity Account, each of the Project Loan Fund, (ii) the Subordinate Loan Fund, the requisition in the form of <u>Exhibit E-2</u> to this Funding Loan Agreement required to be submitted in connection with disbursements from (a) the County Loan Account, (b) the SAIL Loan Account, and (c) the ELI Loan Account, each of the Subordinate Loan Fund, (iii) the Cost of Issuance Fund, the requisition in the form of <u>Exhibit D</u> to this Funding Loan Agreement required to be submitted in connection with disbursements from the Cost of Issuance Fund.

"Resolution" means the resolution adopted by the Governmental Lender on May 19, 2021 authorizing the Funding Loan, the Project Loan and the execution and delivery of the Financing Documents to which it is a party.

"Responsible Officer" means any officer of the Fiscal Agent employed within or otherwise having regular responsibility within the corporate trust department of the Fiscal Agent

specified in the recitals of this Agreement and customarily performing functions similar to those performed by the persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to whom any corporate trust matter is referred at the designated corporate trust office because of such person's knowledge and familiarity with the particular subject and having direct responsibility for the administration of this Funding Loan Agreement.

"Revenue Fund" means the Revenue Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"Revenues" means (a) all payments made with respect to the Project Loan pursuant to the Project Loan Agreement, the Project Note or the Security Instrument, including but not limited to all casualty or other insurance benefits and condemnation awards paid in connection therewith and all payments obtained through the exercise of remedies under the Financing Documents, and (b) all money and securities held by the Fiscal Agent in the funds and accounts established pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement (excluding money or securities designated for deposit into and held in the Cost of Issuance Fund, the Administration Fund and the Rebate Fund), together with all investment earnings thereon.

"SAIL Loan" means the loan made to Borrower by Florida Housing in the principal amount of \$[2,000,000] pursuant to the SAIL Loan Documents.

*"SAIL Loan Account"* means the SAIL Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund established by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"SAIL Loan Documents" means any loan agreement, financing agreement, security agreement and all other documents pursuant to which the SAIL Loan is funded or secured.

"Securities Act" means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as in effect on the Delivery Date.

"Security Instrument" means the Mortgage, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of the Delivery Date, by the Borrower, granting a first priority mortgage and security interest in the Project to the Governmental Lender to secure the repayment of the Project Loan and related obligations, which Security Instrument has been assigned by the Governmental Lender to the Fiscal Agent pursuant to the Assignment as security for the Funding Loan, as the same will be amended and restated into the form attached to the Construction Phase Financing Agreement upon the occurrence of the Conversion Date, as the same may be further amended, supplemented or restated.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business, and its successors and assigns, if such successors and assigns continue to perform the services of a securities rating agency.

"Servicer" means any entity appointed by the Funding Lender Representative to service the Loans and any successor in such capacity as appointed by the Funding Lender Representative pursuant to Section 3.02 of the Project Loan Agreement. During the Construction Phase, the Servicer shall be (i) STI Institutional & Government, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or (ii) Truist Bank, a North Carolina banking corporation. During the Permanent Phase, the Servicer shall be the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer.

"State" means the State of Florida.

"Subordinate Loan Documents" means, collectively, the County Loan Documents, the SAIL Loan Documents, the ELI Loan Documents and the NHTF Loan Documents.

"Subordinate Loan Fund" means the fund of that name created pursuant to Section 4.01 hereof.

"Subordinate Loan Deposit" means the deposit to the Subordinate Loan Fund on the Delivery Date in the amount of \$\_\_\_\_\_, which shall be comprised of proceeds of (i) [the SAIL Loan in the amount of \$\_\_\_\_\_], and (ii) [the ELI Loan in the amount of \$\_\_\_\_\_].

"Subordinate Loans" means, collectively, the County Loan, the SAIL Loan, the ELI Loan and the NHTF Loan.

"Subordination Agreement" means any subordination or intercreditor agreement(s) entered into with respect to any subordinate financing related to the Project, as the same may be amended, supplemented or restated.

"Tax Certificates" means (i) the Borrower's Tax Certificate, executed by the Borrower on the Delivery Date and (ii) the Governmental Lender's Certificate as to Arbitrage and Certain Other Tax Matters, executed by the Governmental Lender on the Delivery Date.

"Tax Regulatory Agreement" means the Land Use Restriction Agreement, dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_1, 2021, among the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Borrower.

"Title Company" means First American Title Insurance Company or agent therefor.

"Transferee Representations Letter" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08 hereof.

"Unassigned Rights" means all of the rights of the Governmental Lender and its directors, officers, commissioners, elected officials, attorneys, accountants, employees, agents and consultants to be held harmless and indemnified, to be paid its fees and expenses, to give or withhold consent to amendments, changes, modifications and alterations, to receive notices and the right to enforce such rights.

"Window Period" means the three (3) consecutive month period prior to the Maturity Date.

**Section 1.02** *Interpretation*. The words "hereof," "herein," "hereunder," and other words of similar import refer to this Funding Loan Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other subdivision. Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders. Words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa unless the context shall otherwise indicate. All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time. References to Articles, Sections, and other subdivisions of this Funding Loan Agreement are to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this Funding Loan

Agreement as originally executed. The headings of this Funding Loan Agreement are for convenience only and shall not define or limit the provisions hereof.

#### **ARTICLE II**

#### THE FUNDING LOAN

#### Section 2.01 Terms.

- (a) The total principal amount of the Funding Loan is hereby expressly limited to the Authorized Amount. The Funding Loan shall be originated and funded by the Initial Funding Lender to the Governmental Lender in accordance with Section 2.01(b) below. The proceeds of the Funding Loan shall be deposited with the Fiscal Agent and disbursed in accordance with this Funding Loan Agreement and subject to the terms and conditions of the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement. The Funding Loan shall be evidenced by the Governmental Note and shall bear interest and be paid in accordance with the payment terms set forth in the Governmental Note and this Funding Loan Agreement.
- The Funding Loan shall be originated by the Initial Funding Lender on a draw-(b) down basis. The proceeds of the Funding Loan shall be advanced by the Initial Funding Lender in installments directly to the Fiscal Agent for deposit to the Project Account upon receipt of an Advance Request and the satisfaction of the conditions to such advance set forth in the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement and the form of requisition attached as Exhibit E hereto. Upon the advancement of the proceeds of the Funding Loan in accordance with the terms hereof, the outstanding principal amount of the Governmental Note in a principal amount equal to the amount so advanced shall be deemed to be increased automatically and without further acts on the part of the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent. The initial installment of the Funding Loan shall be in the amount of \$50,001, which amount shall be advanced by the Initial Funding Lender and deposited in the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund on the Delivery Date for application as provided in Section 2.11 and Section 4.02. Notwithstanding anything in this Funding Loan Agreement to the contrary, no additional amounts of the Funding Loan may be drawn down and funded hereunder after the Advance Termination Date. Any extension of the Advance Termination Date shall be subject to the receipt by the Fiscal Agent of (i) the prior written consent of the Initial Funding Lender and Freddie Mac and (ii) if required by Freddie Mac, an opinion of Bond Counsel (which shall also be addressed to the Funding Lender Representative) to the effect that such extension will not adversely affect the tax exempt status of the Governmental Note.
- (c) The Fiscal Agent shall maintain in its books a log which shall reflect the principal amount of the Funding Loan advanced by the Initial Funding Lender from time to time in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.01(b) above (the "Record of Advances"). The principal amount due on the Governmental Note shall be only such amount as has been advanced by the Initial Funding Lender as reflected in the Record of Advances and not otherwise prepaid pursuant to the terms of this Funding Loan Agreement. The records maintained by the Fiscal Agent in such regard will be conclusive evidence of the principal amount of the Funding Loan (absent manifest error). The Fiscal Agent shall notify the Governmental Lender, the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer, Freddie Mac and the Borrower if any advance of the proceeds of the Funding Loan is not made by the Initial Funding Lender when due hereunder.

- (d) The Funding Loan shall bear interest payable on each Interest Payment Date at (i) the Construction Phase Interest Rate during the Construction Phase and (ii) the Permanent Phase Interest Rate during the Permanent Phase. Interest shall accrue on the principal amount of the Funding Loan which has been advanced hereunder and is outstanding as reflected on the Record of Advances.
- (e) The Funding Loan shall mature on [February] 1, 2039, subject to scheduled monthly principal payments, and to optional and mandatory prepayment prior to maturity as provided in Article III hereof. The unpaid principal balance of the Funding Loan shall be paid on the dates and in the amounts set forth on the initial Funding Loan Amortization Schedule provided on the Delivery Date and attached as Schedule 1 to the Governmental Note if the Conversion Date occurs on or prior to the initial Forward Commitment Maturity Date. If the Forward Commitment Maturity Date is extended by Freddie Mac in accordance with the Freddie Mac Commitment and the Construction Phase Financing Agreement, the first principal payment date under the Funding Loan Amortization Schedule shall automatically be extended (i) to the first day of the month immediately succeeding the Conversion Date if the Conversion Date occurs on the first calendar day of a month or (ii) the first day of the second month immediately succeeding the Conversion Date if the Conversion occurs on a day other than the first calendar day of the month (in either case with the succeeding principal installments remaining consistent with the original schedule but for them occurring on later dates). Additionally, in the event the outstanding amount of the Funding Loan on the Conversion Date is greater than or less than the starting principal amount set forth in the initial Funding Loan Amortization Schedule, a new Funding Loan Amortization Schedule will be generated on the Conversion Date at such greater or lesser outstanding principal amount based on the parameters set forth in the Freddie Mac Commitment. In the event the initial Funding Loan Amortization Schedule is modified in accordance with this Section 2.01(e), a replacement Funding Loan Amortization Schedule will be provided by the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer which will be attached to the Governmental Note on the Conversion Date. All unpaid principal and all accrued and unpaid interest outstanding under the Funding Loan shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date.
- (f) Payment of principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Funding Loan shall be paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account within the United States of America designated by such Funding Lender (unless otherwise directed by the Funding Lender).
- (g) Subject to Section 2.12 hereof, on or before the date fixed for payment, money shall be deposited with the Fiscal Agent to pay, and the Fiscal Agent is hereby authorized and directed to apply such money to the payment of, the Funding Loan, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of payment.
- (h) In no contingency or event whatsoever shall the aggregate of all amounts deemed interest hereunder and charged or collected pursuant to the terms of this Funding Loan Agreement exceed the highest rate permissible under any law which a court of competent jurisdiction shall, in a final determination, deem applicable hereto. In the event that such court determines the Funding Lender has charged or received interest hereunder in excess of the highest applicable rate, the Funding Lender shall apply, in its sole discretion, and set off such excess interest received by the Funding Lender against other obligations due or to become due

under the Financing Documents and such rate shall automatically be reduced to the Maximum Interest Rate.

Section 2.02 *Pledged Security*. To secure the payment of the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Funding Loan according to its tenor and effect, and the performance and observance by the Governmental Lender of all the covenants expressed or implied herein and in the Governmental Note, and the payment and performance of all amounts and obligations under the Continuing Covenant Agreement, the Governmental Lender does hereby grant, bargain, sell, convey, pledge and assign a security interest, unto the Fiscal Agent, and its successors in such capacity and its and their assigns in and to the following (said property being herein referred to as the "**Pledged Security**") for the benefit of the Funding Lender:

- (a) All right, title and interest of the Governmental Lender in and to all Revenues;
- (b) All right, title and interest of the Governmental Lender in and to the Project Loan Agreement, the Project Note, the Security Instrument and the other Project Loan Documents (other than the Unassigned Rights), including all extensions and renewals of the terms thereof, if any, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the present and continuing right to receive, receipt for, collect or make claim for any of the money, income, revenues, issues, profits and other amounts payable or receivable thereunder (including all casualty insurance benefits or condemnation awards), whether payable under the above referenced documents or otherwise, to bring actions and proceedings thereunder or for the enforcement thereof, and to do any and all things which the Governmental Lender or any other Person is or may become entitled to do under said documents; and
- (c) Except for funds, money or securities in the Cost of Issuance Fund, the Administration Fund, the Rebate Fund and the Subordinate Loan Fund, all funds, money and securities and any and all other rights and interests in property whether tangible or intangible from time to time hereafter by delivery or by writing of any kind, conveyed, mortgaged, pledged, assigned or transferred as and for additional security hereunder for the Funding Loan by the Governmental Lender or by anyone on its behalf or with its written consent to the Fiscal Agent, which is hereby authorized to receive any and all such property at any and all times and to hold and apply the same subject to the terms hereof.

The foregoing notwithstanding, if the Governmental Lender or its successors or assigns shall pay or cause to be paid to the Funding Lender in full the principal, interest and Prepayment Premium, if any, to become due with respect to the Funding Loan at the times and in the manner provided in Article IX hereof, and if the Governmental Lender shall keep, perform and observe, or cause to be kept, performed and observed, all of its covenants, warranties and agreements contained herein, then these presents and the estate and rights hereby granted shall, at the option of the Governmental Lender, cease, terminate and be void, and thereupon the Fiscal Agent shall cancel and discharge the lien of this Funding Loan Agreement and execute and deliver to the Governmental Lender such instruments in writing as shall be requisite to satisfy the lien hereof, and, subject to the provisions of Sections 4.11 and 4.12 hereof and Article IX hereof, reconvey to the Governmental Lender the estate hereby conveyed, and assign and deliver to the

Governmental Lender any property at the time subject to the lien of this Funding Loan Agreement which may then be in its possession, except for the Rebate Fund and cash held by the Fiscal Agent for the payment of interest on and principal of the Governmental Note; otherwise this Funding Loan Agreement to be and shall remain in full force and effect.

**Section 2.03** *Limited Obligations*. The Governmental Note is not and never shall become a general obligation of the Governmental Lender, but to the extent provided in and except as otherwise permitted by this Funding Loan Agreement, the Governmental Note shall be a special limited obligation of the Governmental Lender, and the payments thereon shall be payable equally and ratably solely from and secured solely by the Pledged Security.

THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER SHALL NOT IN ANY EVENT BE LIABLE FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE GOVERNMENTAL NOTE, OR FOR THE PERFORMANCE OF ANY PLEDGE, MORTGAGE, OBLIGATION OR AGREEMENT OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER WHICH MAY BE UNDERTAKEN BY THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER EXCEPT FROM THE SOURCES SPECIFICALLY PLEDGED THERETO PURSUANT TO THIS FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT, AND NEITHER THE GOVERNMENTAL NOTE NOR ANY OF THE AGREEMENTS OR OBLIGATIONS OF THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER SHALL BE CONSTRUED TO CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION WHATSOEVER. THE GOVERNMENTAL NOTE AND THE INTEREST THEREON SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE OR TO CREATE IN ANY MANNER A DEBT, LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER, THE STATE, THE COUNTY OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OR A PLEDGE OR A GRANT OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER, THE STATE, THE COUNTY OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE, BUT SHALL BE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE PLEDGED SECURITY AND OTHER FUNDS PLEDGED THEREFOR AND SHALL NOT BE PAYABLE FROM ANY OTHER ASSETS OR FUNDS OF THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER, AND NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE, THE COUNTY OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE GOVERNMENTAL NOTE. THE GOVERNMENTAL LENDER HAS NO TAXING POWER.

**Section 2.04** Funding Loan Agreement Constitutes Contract. In consideration of the origination and funding of the Funding Loan by the Initial Funding Lender, the provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement shall be part of the contract of the Governmental Lender with the Initial Funding Lender and any successors or assigns thereof in such capacity from time to time.

**Section 2.05** *Form and Execution.* The Governmental Note shall be in substantially the form attached as *Exhibit A*. The Governmental Note shall be executed on behalf of the Governmental Lender by the manual or facsimile signature of the Chair or any Vice-Chair of the Governmental Lender, and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Governmental Lender and sealed with an impression or a facsimile of the seal of the Governmental Lender. Any facsimile signatures shall have the same force and effect as if said officers had manually signed the Governmental Note. Any reproduction of the official seal of the Governmental Lender on the Governmental Note shall have the same force

and effect as if the official seal of the Governmental Lender had been impressed on the Governmental Note.

**Section 2.06** *Authentication*. The Governmental Note shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or entitled to any security or benefit under this Funding Loan Agreement unless a certificate of authentication on the Governmental Note, substantially in the form set forth in *Exhibit A*, shall have been duly executed by an Authorized Officer of the Fiscal Agent; and such executed certificate of authentication upon the Governmental Note shall be conclusive evidence that the Governmental Note has been duly executed, registered, authenticated and delivered under this Funding Loan Agreement.

Section 2.07 Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Governmental Note. In the event the Governmental Note is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Governmental Lender shall execute and the Fiscal Agent shall authenticate a new Governmental Note substantially in the form set forth in <u>Exhibit A</u> in exchange and substitution for and upon cancellation of the mutilated Governmental Note or in lieu of and in substitution for such lost, stolen or destroyed Governmental Note, upon payment by the Funding Lender of any applicable tax or governmental charge and the reasonable expenses and charges of the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent in connection therewith, and in the case where the Governmental Note is lost, stolen or destroyed, the filing with the Fiscal Agent of evidence satisfactory to it that the Governmental Note was lost, stolen or destroyed, and of the ownership thereof, and furnishing the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent with indemnity satisfactory to each of them. In the event where the Governmental Note shall have matured, instead of delivering a new Governmental Note the Governmental Lender may pay the same without surrender thereof.

# Section 2.08 Registration; Transfer of Funding Loan; Transferee Representations Letter.

- (a) The Funding Loan shall be fully registered as to principal and interest in the manner and with any additional designation as the Fiscal Agent deems necessary for the purpose of identifying the registered owner thereof. The Funding Loan shall be transferable only on the registration books of the Fiscal Agent. The Fiscal Agent shall maintain books or other records showing the name and date of registration, address and employer identification number of the registered owner of the Funding Loan and any transfers of the Funding Loan as provided herein. The Funding Loan shall initially be registered to the Initial Funding Lender, upon the Conversion Date shall be registered to the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer, and upon the Freddie Mac Purchase Date, shall be registered to Freddie Mac.
- (b) The Funding Lender shall have the right to sell, assign or otherwise transfer in whole its interest in the Funding Loan or to grant a participation interest in the Funding Loan in a percentage of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the outstanding principal amount of the Funding Loan; provided that the Funding Loan may be transferred, or any participation interest therein granted, only to an "accredited investor" as that term is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act or a "qualified institutional buyer" as that term is defined under Rule 144A of the Securities Act (such "accredited investor" or "qualified institutional buyer" a "Qualified Transferee") that delivers a letter to the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender substantially in the form attached hereto as *Exhibit C* setting forth certain representations with respect to such Qualified Transferee (the "Transferee Representations Letter"). Notwithstanding

the preceding sentence, no Transferee Representations Letter shall be required for the Funding Lender Representative to (i) transfer the Funding Loan to any affiliate or other party related to the Funding Lender that is a Qualified Transferee or (ii) sell or transfer the Funding Loan to a special purpose entity, a trust or a custodial or similar pooling arrangement from which the Funding Loan or securitized interests therein are not expected to be sold or transferred except to (x) owners or beneficial owners thereof that are Qualified Transferees or (y) in circumstances where secondary market credit enhancement is provided for such securitized interests resulting in a rating thereof of at least "A" or better. In connection with any sale, assignment or transfer of the Funding Loan, the Funding Lender shall give notice of such sale, assignment or transfer to the Fiscal Agent, and the Fiscal Agent shall record such sale, assignment or transfer on its books or other records maintained for the registration of transfer of the Funding Loan. In connection with any such transfer (A) it shall not be necessary to present, exchange, or re-authenticate the Governmental Note, and (B) the Funding Lender shall provide the Fiscal Agent with the name and date of registration, address and employer identification number of the assignee or transferee, together with a copy of the endorsement to the Governmental Note or assignment of the Funding Loan, so that the Fiscal Agent may maintain the registration records. The transferor shall also provide or cause to be provided to the Fiscal Agent all information necessary to allow the Fiscal Agent to comply with any applicable tax reporting obligations, including without limitation any cost basis reporting obligations under Section 6045 of the Code. The Fiscal Agent may rely on the information provided to it and shall have no responsibility to verify or ensure the accuracy of such information.

Section 2.09 [TEL Securitization; Allocation of Funding Loan Interest. In accordance with the provisions of Section 2.08 hereof, the Funding Lender may transfer the Funding Loan to a Qualified Transferee in connection with the securitization of the Funding Loan, in which event the Funding Lender Representative may direct the Fiscal Agent to make all future payments with respect to the Funding Loan to the appointed master servicer for that securitization (or an account designated by such master servicer), and the Fiscal Agent shall accept such direction from the Funding Lender Representative. In the event that the Funding Lender transfers the Funding Loan to a Qualified Transferee in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.08 hereof, the Funding Lender Representative may also give notice to the Fiscal Agent that the Funding Lender has agreed to allow the Servicer to retain a portion of the monthly interest payable on the Funding Loan as additional compensation for the servicing of the Funding Loan ("Additional Servicing Fee"), which Additional Servicing Fee will equal no more than an annual 2 basis points with respect to the unpaid principal balance of the Governmental Note, in which event the Fiscal Agent shall accept and pay to the Funding Lender such lesser amount of interest received from the Servicer and shall consider such payment to be in full compliance with the terms of the Governmental Note, the Project Note and all other Financing Documents with regard to the interest owed on the Funding Loan.]

Section 2.10 Funding Loan Closing Conditions; Delivery of Governmental Note. Closing of the Funding Loan on the Delivery Date shall be conditioned upon, and the Governmental Lender shall only execute and deliver to the Fiscal Agent, and the Fiscal Agent shall only authenticate the Governmental Note and deliver the Governmental Note to the Initial Funding Lender upon, receipt by the Fiscal Agent of the following:

(a) executed counterparts of this Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Tax Certificates;

- (b) an opinion of Bond Counsel or counsel to the Governmental Lender to the effect that the Governmental Lender is duly organized and existing under the laws of the State and has duly authorized, executed and delivered this Funding Loan Agreement, the Governmental Note and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and such documents are valid and binding special, limited obligations of the Governmental Lender enforceable in accordance with their terms, subject to customary exceptions;
- (c) the initial advance of the proceeds of the Funding Loan by the Initial Funding Lender in the amount set forth in Section 2.01(b) hereof;
- (d) the executed Project Note and an endorsement of the Project Note by the Governmental Lender in favor of the Fiscal Agent;
- (e) a copy of the executed Security Instrument, the Assignment, the Construction Phase Financing Agreement and the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement;
- (f) an opinion of counsel to the Borrower to the effect that the Borrower is duly organized and validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state in which it has been organized and in good standing under the laws of each other state in which the Borrower transacts business and has full power and authority to enter into the Financing Documents to which it is a party, that its execution and delivery of and performance of its covenants in such documents do not contravene law or any provision of any other documents to which it is a party or by which it or such property is bound or affected, and that all such agreements have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower, and are legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their respective terms;
- (g) a customary approving opinion of Bond Counsel, including but not limited to an opinion to the effect that the interest on the Governmental Note, under laws in effect on the date of such opinion, is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and, where applicable, for State income tax purposes;
  - (h) a certified copy of the Resolution;
- (i) the written request and authorization to the Fiscal Agent by the Governmental Lender to authenticate and deliver the Governmental Note to the Initial Funding Lender upon funding to the Fiscal Agent of the initial advance of proceeds of the Funding Loan;
- (j) receipt by the Fiscal Agent of the amounts specified in Section 2.11 of this Funding Loan Agreement and Section 3.03 of the Project Loan Agreement; and
- (k) receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a Transferee Representations Letter from the Initial Funding Lender substantially in the form attached hereto as *Exhibit C*.

# Section 2.11 Establishment of Project Loan Fund; Application of Funding Loan Proceeds and Other Money.

- (a) The Fiscal Agent shall establish, maintain and hold in trust and there is hereby established with the Fiscal Agent a Project Loan Fund and therein a Project Account and a Borrower Equity Account. No amount shall be charged against the Project Loan Fund except as expressly provided in this Section 2.11 and Section 4.02 hereof.
- (b) Upon compliance by the Borrower with all applicable conditions in the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, the proceeds of the Funding Loan shall be delivered by the Initial Funding Lender to the Fiscal Agent on behalf of the Governmental Lender in the initial installment of \$50,001 on the Delivery Date and thereafter on a drawdown basis as provided for in Section 2.01(b) hereof. Upon receipt of such funds and an executed Requisition in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E-1, the Fiscal Agent shall deposit such proceeds to the credit of the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund. Amounts in the Project Loan Fund shall be disbursed as provided in subparagraph (d) below, subject to the conditions set forth in Section 3.01 of the Project Loan Agreement. Upon the final disbursement of all amounts in the Project Loan Fund, the Fiscal Agent shall close the Project Loan Fund.
- (c) Pursuant to the terms and provisions of the Project Loan Agreement, the Borrower has covenanted to deliver from sources other than the Loans, (i) to the Fiscal Agent, on or prior to the Delivery Date, (1) the Costs of Issuance Deposit, if any, for deposit to the credit of the Cost of Issuance Fund, (2) the Borrower Equity Deposit, if any, for deposit to the credit of the Borrower Equity Account, (3) the first payment of the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee for deposit to the credit of the Administration Fund, and [(4) the Subordinate Loan Deposit], and (ii) to the Servicer the Initial Debt Service Deposit. The Fiscal Agent shall also deposit in the Borrower Equity Account any additional amounts delivered from time to time to the Fiscal Agent and directed by the Borrower or Servicer to be deposited therein, excluding any proceeds of the Loans. The Fiscal Agent shall deposit in the Subordinate Loan Fund proceeds of the County Loan, the SAIL Loan, the ELI Loan and the NHTF Loan received from the County, Florida Housing or the Borrower from time to time pursuant to Section 4.07 hereof.
- (d) Upon the making of the initial deposits described above in this Section 2.11, the Governmental Lender shall originate the Project Loan pursuant to the Project Loan Agreement and the Fiscal Agent shall make the initial disbursements of amounts in the Project Loan Fund as directed pursuant to a Project Loan Fund Requisition submitted to the Fiscal Agent. Additionally, the Fiscal Agent shall make the initial disbursements of amounts in the Subordinate Loan Fund as directed pursuant to a Requisition submitted to the Fiscal Agent.

# Section 2.12 Direct Loan Payments to Funding Lender; Servicer Disbursement of Fees.

(a) Notwithstanding any provision in this Funding Loan Agreement to the contrary, during any period that a Servicer is engaged with respect to the Loans, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent agree that all payments of principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Funding Loan and all fees due hereunder and under the Project Loan Agreement shall be paid by the Borrower to the Servicer; provided, however, the Fiscal Agent shall be responsible for making the debt service and fee payments out of the Project Loan Fund as required under Section 4.02 hereof during the Construction Phase. The Servicer shall remit all payments collected from the Borrower of principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Funding Loan, together with other amounts due to the Funding Lender, directly to the

Funding Lender (without payment through the Fiscal Agent) per the instructions of the Funding Lender Representative. The Servicer shall be entitled to retain its Servicing Fee (if any) collected from the Borrower and shall annually remit to the Fiscal Agent the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee for disbursement to the Governmental Lender, and shall remit the Ordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses to the Fiscal Agent, together with any other amounts due to the Governmental Lender (which amounts due to the Governmental Lender shall be remitted to the Fiscal Agent for disbursement to the Governmental Lender) and the Fiscal Agent collected by the Servicer from the Borrower, in each case in accordance with their respective instructions. Any payment made in accordance with the provisions of this Section shall be accompanied by sufficient information to identify the source and proper application of such payment. The Servicer shall promptly notify the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative and the Governmental Lender in writing of any failure of the Borrower to make any payment of principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Funding Loan when due or to pay any fees due hereunder or under the Project Loan Agreement, and the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender shall not be deemed to have any notice of such failure unless it has received such notice in writing.

- (b) If the Governmental Note is sold or transferred as provided in Section 2.08, the Funding Lender Representative shall notify the Fiscal Agent and the Borrower in writing of the name and address of the transferee and as applicable, the identity of the new Funding Lender Representative and Servicer.
- (c) So long as payments of principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Governmental Note and all fees due hereunder and under the Project Loan Agreement are being made to the Servicer in accordance with this Section 2.12 and no Event of Default has occurred of which the Fiscal Agent has been given, or been deemed to have, notice thereof pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement, the Fiscal Agent shall have no obligation to collect loan payments with respect to the Funding Loan, nor shall it be obligated to collect loan payments or fee payments pursuant to the Project Loan Agreement, except at the express written direction of the Funding Lender Representative; provided, however, the Fiscal Agent shall be responsible for making the debt service and fee payments out of the Project Loan Fund as required under Section 4.02 hereof during the Construction Phase. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if there is no Servicer servicing the Funding Loan, then the Funding Lender Representative may elect to have the Fiscal Agent collect and remit loan payments and fee payments hereunder and under the Project Loan Agreement upon written notice of such election to the Fiscal Agent, the Borrower and the Governmental Lender. The Fiscal Agent shall not be construed to be the Servicer except if the Fiscal Agent accepts such appointment in writing.

**Section 2.13** *Conversion*. If the Notice of Conversion is issued in the timeframe required under the Construction Phase Financing Agreement, Conversion will occur on the Conversion Date indicated in such Notice of Conversion. If the Notice of Conversion is not so issued, Conversion will not occur, and neither the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer nor Freddie Mac will have any obligations with respect to the purchase of the Funding Loan or otherwise with respect to the Loans or the Project.

#### ARTICLE III

#### PREPAYMENT OF THE FUNDING LOAN

### Section 3.01 Prepayment of the Funding Loan Prior to Maturity.

- (a) <u>Optional Prepayment</u>. The Funding Loan, together with accrued interest thereon, is subject to optional prepayment in whole upon optional prepayment of the Project Loan in accordance with the notice and other prepayment provisions set forth in the Project Note.
- (b) <u>Mandatory Prepayment</u>. The Funding Loan, together with accrued interest thereon, and together with Prepayment Premium (to the extent payable under the Project Note), is subject to mandatory prepayment on any Business Day, in whole or in part as indicated below, at the earliest practicable date upon the occurrence of any of the following:
  - (i) in whole or in part, upon the occurrence of a mandatory prepayment of the Project Loan pursuant to the Project Note or, during the Construction Phase, pursuant to the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, and receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a written direction by the Funding Lender Representative that the Funding Loan shall be subject to mandatory prepayment as a result thereof;
  - (ii) in part, on the Interest Payment Date next following the completion of the construction and equipping of the Project, to the extent amounts remaining in the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund are transferred to the Loan Prepayment Fund pursuant to Section 4.02(e) hereof;
  - (iii) in part, in the event the Borrower elects to make a Pre-Conversion Loan Equalization Payment; or
  - (iv) in whole, on or after the Forward Commitment Maturity Date, at the written direction of the Initial Funding Lender, if the Notice of Conversion is not issued by the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer prior to the Forward Commitment Maturity Date.

**Section 3.02** *Notice of Prepayment.* Notice of the intended prepayment of the Funding Loan shall be given by the Fiscal Agent by first class mail, postage prepaid, or by overnight delivery service, to the Funding Lender and to the Governmental Lender. All such prepayment notices shall be given not less than ten (10) days (not less than thirty (30) days in the case of optional prepayment) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for prepayment. Notices of prepayment shall state (i) the prepayment date, (ii) the prepayment amount, and (iii) the place or places where amounts due upon such prepayment will be payable.

Notice of such prepayment shall also be sent by first class mail, postage prepaid, or by overnight delivery service, to the Servicer, not later than the time of mailing of notices required by the first paragraph above, and in any event no later than simultaneously with the mailing of notices required by the first paragraph above; provided, that neither failure to receive such notice nor any defect in any notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for the prepayment of the Funding Loan.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Fiscal Agent is not collecting and remitting loan payments hereunder, the Fiscal Agent shall have no obligation to send prepayment notices pursuant to this Section 3.02.

#### **ARTICLE IV**

# **REVENUES AND FUNDS**

Section 4.01 Pledge of Revenues and Assets; Establishment of Funds. The pledge and assignment of and the security interest granted in the Pledged Security pursuant to Section 2.02 hereof shall attach, be perfected and be valid and binding from and after the time of the closing of the Funding Loan and delivery of the Governmental Note by the Fiscal Agent or by any Person authorized by the Fiscal Agent to deliver the Governmental Note. The Pledged Security so pledged and then or thereafter received by the Fiscal Agent shall immediately be subject to the lien of such pledge and security interest without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of such pledge and security interest shall be valid and binding and prior to the claims of any and all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the Governmental Lender irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof.

In addition to the Project Loan Fund established pursuant to Section 2.11 hereof, the Fiscal Agent shall establish, maintain and hold in trust the following funds and accounts, each of which is hereby established and each of which shall be disbursed and applied only as herein authorized:

- (a) Revenue Fund:
- (b) Loan Payment Fund;
- (c) Loan Prepayment Fund;
- (d) Administration Fund;
- (e) Cost of Issuance Fund;
- (f) Subordinate Loan Fund; and
- (g) Rebate Fund.

The funds and accounts established pursuant to Section 2.11 and this Section 4.01 shall be maintained in the corporate trust department of the Fiscal Agent as segregated trust accounts, separate and identifiable from all other funds held by the Fiscal Agent. The Fiscal Agent shall, at the written direction of an Authorized Officer of the Governmental Lender, and may, in its discretion, establish such additional accounts within any Fund, and subaccounts within any of the accounts, as the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent may deem necessary or useful for the purpose of identifying more precisely the sources of payments into and disbursements from that Fund and its accounts, or for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Code relating to arbitrage, but the establishment of any such account or subaccount shall not alter or modify any of the requirements of this Funding Loan Agreement with respect to a deposit or use

of money in the funds established hereunder, or result in commingling of funds not permitted hereunder.

# Section 4.02 Project Loan Fund.

- (a) <u>Deposit</u>. The Fiscal Agent shall deposit the proceeds of the Funding Loan into the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund upon receipt of each advance thereof as provided in Section 2.11(b) hereof. The Fiscal Agent shall deposit the Borrower Equity Deposit, if any, into the Borrower Equity Account of the Project Loan Fund, as well as any additional amounts delivered from time to time to the Fiscal Agent and directed by the Borrower or Servicer to be deposited therein (excluding any proceeds of the Governmental Note), as provided in Section 2.11(c) hereof.
- (b) <u>Disbursements</u>. Amounts on deposit in the Project Loan Fund shall be disbursed from time to time by the Fiscal Agent in accordance with this Funding Loan Agreement and the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement for the purpose of (i) paying interest on the Funding Loan and the Fee Component in each case when due during the Construction Phase, and (ii) paying Costs of the Project. In addition, amounts in the Project Loan Fund shall be transferred to the Loan Prepayment Fund, the Rebate Fund and the Borrower at the times and in the manner provided in subsection (e) of this Section 4.02.
- (c) Transfers and Requisitions. The Fiscal Agent shall automatically transfer amounts from the Borrower Equity Account of the Project Loan Fund to the Administration Fund to pay to the appropriate party its accrued fees that are included in the Fee Component that are due and payable as set forth herein or upon receipt of an invoice, without any need for a Requisition or other written direction. Unless the Fiscal Agent is instructed otherwise by the Initial Funding Lender, the Fiscal Agent shall automatically transfer amounts in the Project Loan Fund or the Borrower Equity Account of the Project Loan Fund to the Loan Payment Fund to pay interest on the Project Loan and Funding Loan without any need for a Requisition or other written direction. The Fiscal Agent shall make disbursements from the respective accounts of the Project Loan Fund for purposes described in subsection (b)(ii) of this Section 4.02 only upon the receipt of Requisitions signed by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower and countersigned by an Authorized Officer of the Servicer (signifying the consent to the Requisition by the Servicer). The Fiscal Agent shall have no right or duty to determine whether any requested disbursement from the Project Loan Fund complies with the terms, conditions and provisions of the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement. The countersignature of the Authorized Officer of the Servicer on a Requisition shall be deemed a certification and, insofar as the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender are concerned, constitute conclusive evidence, that all of the terms, conditions and requirements of the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement applicable to such disbursement have been fully satisfied or waived. The Fiscal Agent shall, immediately upon each receipt of a completed Requisition signed by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower and countersigned by an Authorized Officer of the Servicer, initiate procedures with the provider of a Qualified Investment to make withdrawals as necessary to fund the Requisition.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no signature of an Authorized Officer of the Borrower shall be required during any period in which a default has occurred and is then continuing under the Loans or any Financing Document (notice of which default has been

given in writing by the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer to the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender, and the Fiscal Agent shall be entitled to conclusively rely on any such written notice as to the occurrence and continuation of such a default).

- (d) If a Requisition signed by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower and countersigned by an Authorized Officer of the Servicer or (as permitted hereunder) solely by an Authorized Officer of the Servicer, is received by the Fiscal Agent, the requested disbursement shall be paid by the Fiscal Agent as directed therein as soon as practicable, but in no event later than three (3) Business Days following receipt thereof by the Fiscal Agent. Upon final disbursement of all amounts on deposit in the Project Loan Fund, including all interest accrued therein, the Fiscal Agent shall close the Project Loan Fund.
- Immediately prior to any mandatory prepayment of the Funding Loan pursuant to Section 3.01(b)(i) hereof, any amount then remaining in the Project Loan Fund shall, at the written direction of the Funding Lender Representative, be transferred to the Loan Prepayment Fund to pay amounts due on the Funding Loan, if any. In addition, any amount remaining in the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund following completion of the construction and equipping of the Project in accordance with the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, evidenced by an instrument signed by the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer, shall be transferred to the Loan Prepayment Fund and used to prepay the Funding Loan in accordance with Section 3.01(b)(ii) hereof, unless the Fiscal Agent receives an opinion of Bond Counsel (which shall also be addressed to the Funding Lender Representative) to the effect that a use of such money for other than prepayment of the Funding Loan will not adversely affect the tax exempt status of the Governmental Note; provided, that any amounts in the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund in excess of the amount needed to fund the related prepayment of the Funding Loan shall be transferred to the Rebate Fund. In the event there are funds remaining in the Borrower Equity Account following completion of the construction and equipping of the Project in accordance with the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement and the Conversion Date has occurred, and provided no default by the Borrower exists under this Funding Loan Agreement or any Project Loan Document, such funds shall be paid by the Fiscal Agent to the Borrower at the written direction of the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer.
- (f) Amounts on deposit in the Project Loan Fund shall be invested as provided in Section 4.08 hereof. All Investment Income on amounts on deposit in the Project Loan Fund shall be retained in and credited to and become a part of the amounts on deposit in the Project Loan Fund, and shall constitute part of any transfers required by subsection (b) or (e) of this Section 4.02.

# Section 4.03 Application of Revenues.

(a) All Revenues received by the Fiscal Agent shall be deposited by the Fiscal Agent, promptly upon receipt thereof, to the Revenue Fund, except (i) the proceeds of the Funding Loan received by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 2.01(b), which shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.11 hereof; (ii) as otherwise specifically provided in subsection (c) of this Section 4.03 with respect to certain deposits into the Loan Prepayment Fund; (iii) as otherwise required by Section 2.12; (iv) with respect to Investment Income to the extent required under the terms hereof to be retained in the funds and accounts to which they are attributable;

and (v) with respect to amounts required to be transferred between funds and accounts as provided in this Article IV.

(b) Subject to Section 2.11 and Section 2.12 hereof, on each Interest Payment Date or any other date on which payment of principal of or interest on the Funding Loan becomes due and payable, the Fiscal Agent, out of money in the Revenue Fund, shall credit the following amounts to the following funds, but in the order and within the limitations hereinafter indicated with respect thereto, as follows:

<u>FIRST</u>: to the Loan Payment Fund, an amount equal to the principal of and interest due on the Funding Loan on such date (including scheduled principal pursuant to the Funding Loan Amortization Schedule); and

**SECOND**: to the Loan Prepayment Fund, an amount equal to the principal and interest due on the Funding Loan on such date with respect to a mandatory prepayment of all or a portion of the Funding Loan pursuant to Section 3.01(b) hereof (other than any extraordinary mandatory prepayment as described in Section 4.03(c)(i) or (iii) below).

- (c) Promptly upon receipt, the Fiscal Agent shall deposit directly to the Loan Prepayment Fund (i) Net Proceeds representing casualty insurance proceeds or condemnation awards paid as a prepayment of the Project Loan, such amount to be applied to provide for the extraordinary mandatory prepayment of all or a portion of the Funding Loan pursuant to Section 3.01(b)(i) hereof; (ii) funds paid to the Fiscal Agent to be applied to the optional prepayment of all or a portion of the Funding Loan pursuant to Section 3.01(a); and (iii) amounts transferred to the Loan Prepayment Fund from the Project Loan Fund pursuant to Section 4.02(e) hereof.
- (d) Subject to Section 2.11 and Section 2.12 hereof, should the amount in the Loan Payment Fund be insufficient to pay the amount due on the Funding Loan on any given Interest Payment Date, the Fiscal Agent shall credit to the Loan Payment Fund the amount of such deficiency by charging the following funds and accounts in the following order of priority: (1) the Revenue Fund; and (2) the Loan Prepayment Fund, except no such charge to the Loan Prepayment Fund shall be made from money to be used to effect a prepayment for which notice of prepayment has been provided for hereunder.

Section 4.04 Application of Loan Payment Fund. The Fiscal Agent shall charge the Loan Payment Fund, on each Interest Payment Date, an amount equal to the unpaid interest and principal due on the Funding Loan on such Interest Payment Date as provided in Section 4.03(a) and (b), and shall cause the same to be applied to the payment of such interest and principal when due. Any money remaining in the Loan Payment Fund on any Interest Payment Date after application as provided in the preceding sentence may, to the extent there shall exist any deficiency in the Loan Prepayment Fund to prepay the Funding Loan if called for prepayment on such Interest Payment Date, be transferred to the Loan Prepayment Fund to be applied for such purpose.

Any Investment Income on amounts on deposit in the Loan Payment Fund shall be deposited by the Fiscal Agent upon receipt thereof in the Revenue Fund.

No amount shall be charged against the Loan Payment Fund except as expressly provided in this Article IV and in Section 6.05 hereof.

**Section 4.05** *Application of Loan Prepayment Fund.* Subject to Section 2.12 hereof, any money credited to the Loan Prepayment Fund shall be applied as set forth in Sections 4.03(b) and 4.03(c) hereof; provided, however, that to the extent any money credited to the Loan Prepayment Fund is in excess of the amount necessary to effect the prepayments described in Sections 4.03(b) and 4.03(c) hereof, it shall be applied to make up any deficiency in the Loan Payment Fund on any Interest Payment Date, to the extent money then available in accordance with Section 4.03(d) hereof in the Revenue Fund is insufficient to make up such deficiency; provided that no money to be used to effect a prepayment for which a notice of prepayment has been provided shall be so transferred to the Loan Payment Fund.

On or before each Interest Payment Date, any Investment Income on amounts on deposit in the Loan Prepayment Fund shall be credited by the Fiscal Agent to the Revenue Fund.

No amount shall be charged against the Loan Prepayment Fund except as expressly provided in this Article IV and in Section 6.05 hereof.

**Section 4.06** Administration Fund. Subject to Section 2.12 hereof, the Fiscal Agent shall deposit into the Administration Fund, promptly upon receipt thereof, all amounts received from the Servicer (or the Borrower if no Servicer exists for the Loans) designated for deposit into such fund, together with amounts transferred by the Fiscal Agent from the Project Loan Fund for deposit to the Administration Fund pursuant to Section 4.02. Amounts in the Administration Fund shall be withdrawn or maintained, as appropriate, by the Fiscal Agent and used **FIRST**, to pay to the Fiscal Agent when due the Ordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses; SECOND, to pay to the Governmental Lender when due the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee; THIRD, to pay when due the reasonable fees and expenses of a Rebate Analyst in connection with the computations relating to arbitrage rebate required under this Funding Loan Agreement and the Project Loan Agreement, upon receipt of an invoice from the Rebate Analyst; FOURTH, to pay to the Fiscal Agent any Extraordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses due and payable from time to time, as set forth in an invoice submitted to the Borrower and the Servicer; FIFTH, to pay to the Governmental Lender any extraordinary expenses it may incur in connection with the Loans or this Funding Loan Agreement from time to time, as set forth in an invoice submitted to the Fiscal Agent and the Servicer; SIXTH, to pay to the Funding Lender Representative any unpaid amounts due under the Continuing Covenant Agreement, as certified in writing by the Funding Lender Representative to the Fiscal Agent; **SEVENTH**, to make up any deficiency in the Loan Prepayment Fund on any prepayment date of the Funding Loan, to the extent money then available in accordance with Section 4.03(d) hereof in the Loan Prepayment Fund is insufficient to prepay the Funding Loan scheduled for prepayment on such prepayment date; and **EIGHTH**, to transfer any remaining balance after application as aforesaid to the Revenue Fund.

In the event that the amounts on deposit in the Administration Fund are not equal to the amounts payable from the Administration Fund as provided in the preceding paragraph on any date on which such amounts are due and payable, the Fiscal Agent shall give notice to the Borrower, the Governmental Lender and the Servicer of such deficiency and of the amount of such deficiency and request payment within two (2) Business Days to the Fiscal Agent of the

amount of such deficiency. Upon payment by the Borrower or the Servicer of such deficiency, the amounts for which such deficiency was requested shall be paid by the Fiscal Agent.

On or before each Interest Payment Date, any Investment Income on amounts on deposit in the Administration Fund not needed to pay the foregoing amounts shall be credited by the Fiscal Agent to the Revenue Fund.

No amount shall be charged against the Administration Fund except as expressly provided in this Article IV and Section 6.05 hereof.

#### Section 4.07 Subordinate Loan Fund.

- (a) <u>Deposit</u>. The Fiscal Agent shall, promptly upon receipt thereof from time to time, deposit the proceeds of the following subordinate loans into the following accounts of the Subordinate Loan Fund: (i) proceeds of the County Loan received from the County or the Borrower shall be deposited into the County Loan Account, (ii) proceeds of the SAIL Loan received from Florida Housing or the Borrower shall be deposited into the SAIL Loan Account, (iii) proceeds of the ELI Loan received from Florida Housing or the Borrower shall be deposited into the ELI Loan Account, and (iv) proceeds of the NHTF Loan received from Florida Housing or the Borrower shall be deposited into the NHTF Loan Account.
- (b) <u>Disbursements</u>. Amounts on deposit in the Subordinate Loan Fund shall be disbursed from time to time by the Fiscal Agent for the purposes set forth in the applicable Subordinate Loan Documents.
- Requisitions. The Fiscal Agent shall make disbursements from the respective accounts of the Subordinate Loan Fund for the purposes described in subsection (b)(i) of this Section 4.07 only upon the receipt of Requisitions signed by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower [and countersigned by an Authorized Officer of the Servicer (signifying the consent to the Requisition by the Servicer), and in the case of a disbursement from the County Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund, signed by the County Loan Servicer. The Fiscal Agent shall have no right or duty to determine whether any requested disbursement from the Subordinate Loan Fund complies with the terms, conditions and provisions of the Subordinate Loan Documents. The signature of the Authorized Officer of the Borrower on a Requisition shall be deemed a certification and, insofar as the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender are concerned, constitute conclusive evidence, that all of the terms, conditions and requirements of the Subordinate Loan Documents applicable to such disbursement have been fully satisfied. The Fiscal Agent shall, immediately upon each receipt of a completed Requisition signed by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower [and countersigned by an Authorized Officer of the Servicer, and if require, signed by the County Loan Servicer, initiate procedures with the provider of a Qualified Investment to make withdrawals as necessary to fund the Requisition.
- (d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the Project Loan Agreement, or in any of the other Financing Documents, (i) funds disbursed by the Fiscal Agent from the County Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund shall be used only for the purposes set forth in the County Loan Documents, and (ii) any County Loan funds deposited with the Fiscal Agent pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement and not drawn within six (6) months after the

completion of the Project shall be returned to the County upon the written direction of the County or the County Loan Servicer to the Fiscal Agent.

- (e) Upon the final disbursement of all amounts in the Subordinate Loan Fund, or upon the written direction of the Borrower, the Fiscal Agent shall close the Subordinate Loan Fund.
- (f) Amounts on deposit in the Subordinate Loan Fund shall be held by the Fiscal Agent uninvested. All Investment Income on amounts on deposit in the Subordinate Loan Fund shall be retained in and credited to and become a part of the amounts on deposit in the Subordinate Loan Fund.

Section 4.08 Investment of Funds. The money held by the Fiscal Agent shall constitute trust funds for the purposes hereof. Any money attributable to each of the funds and accounts hereunder shall be, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, invested by the Fiscal Agent, at the written direction of the Borrower (or, in the case of the Rebate Fund, as provided in Section 5.07(b)), in Qualified Investments which mature or shall be subject to prepayment or withdrawal at par without penalty on or prior to the earlier of (i) six months from the date of investment and (ii) the date such money is needed; provided, that if the Fiscal Agent shall have entered into any investment agreement requiring investment of money in any fund or account hereunder in accordance with such investment agreement and if such investment agreement constitutes a Qualified Investment, such money shall be invested in accordance with such requirements. The Fiscal Agent may conclusively rely upon the Borrower's written instructions as to both the suitability and legality of the directed investments. In the absence of written direction from the Borrower, the Fiscal Agent shall hold all amounts on deposit in the funds and accounts established under this Funding Loan Agreement uninvested. Investments may be made through the investment or securities department of the Fiscal Agent. The Fiscal Agent may purchase from or sell to itself or an affiliate, as principal or agent, securities herein authorized. The Fiscal Agent shall be entitled to assume, absent receipt by the Fiscal Agent of written notice to the contrary, that any investment which at the time of purchase is a Qualified Investment remains a Qualified Investment thereafter.

Qualified Investments representing an investment of money attributable to any fund or account shall be deemed at all times to be a part of said fund or account, and, except as otherwise may be provided expressly in other Sections hereof, the interest thereon and any profit arising on the sale thereof shall be credited to the Revenue Fund, and any loss resulting on the sale thereof shall be charged against the Revenue Fund. Such investments shall be sold at the current market price (but not less than par) whenever it shall be necessary so to do in order to provide money to make any transfer, withdrawal, payment or disbursement from said fund or account. In the case of any required transfer of money to another such fund or account, such investments may be transferred to that fund or account in lieu of the required money if permitted hereby as an investment of money in that fund or account. The Fiscal Agent shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from any investment made in accordance herewith.

The Governmental Lender acknowledges that to the extent that regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency or other applicable regulatory agency grant the Governmental Lender the right to receive brokerage confirmations of the security transactions as they occur, to the extent permitted by law, the Governmental Lender specifically waives compliance with 12

C.F.R. 12 and hereby notifies the Fiscal Agent hereunder, that no brokerage confirmations need be sent relating to the security transactions as they occur.

In computing for any purpose hereunder the amount in any fund or account on any date, obligations so purchased shall be valued at Fair Market Value.

#### Section 4.09 [Reserved].

**Section 4.10** *Accounting Records.* The Fiscal Agent shall maintain accurate books and records for all funds and accounts established hereunder.

Section 4.11 Amounts Remaining in Funds. After full payment of the Funding Loan (or provision for payment thereof having been made in accordance with Section 9.01 hereof) and full payment of the fees, charges and expenses of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Rebate Analyst, the Funding Lender and the Servicer and other amounts required to be paid hereunder or under any Project Loan Document, including, but not limited to, the Continuing Covenant Agreement (as certified in writing to the Fiscal Agent by the Governmental Lender with respect to amounts due to the Governmental Lender, and by the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer on its behalf with respect to amounts owed under the Continuing Covenant Agreement and by the Rebate Analyst with respect to amounts due to the Rebate Analyst), any amounts remaining in any fund or account hereunder other than the Rebate Fund or the County Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund shall be paid to the Borrower.

Section 4.12 Rebate Fund; Compliance with Tax Certificates. The Rebate Fund shall be established by the Fiscal Agent and held and applied as provided in this Section 4.12. On any date on which any amounts are required by applicable federal tax law to be rebated to the federal government, amounts shall be deposited into the Rebate Fund by the Borrower for such purpose. All money at any time deposited in the Rebate Fund shall be held by the Fiscal Agent in trust, to the extent required to satisfy the rebate requirement (as set forth in the Tax Certificates) and as calculated by the Rebate Analyst, for payment to the government of the United States of America, and neither the Governmental Lender, the Borrower nor the Funding Lender shall have any rights in or claim to such money. All amounts deposited into or on deposit in the Rebate Fund shall be governed by this Section 4.12 and by the Tax Certificates. The Fiscal Agent shall conclusively be deemed to have complied with such provisions if it follows the written instructions of the Governmental Lender, Bond Counsel or the Rebate Analyst, including supplying all necessary information in the manner set forth in the Tax Certificates, and shall not be required to take any actions under the Tax Certificates in the absence of written instructions from the Governmental Lender, Bond Counsel or the Rebate Analyst.

Within 55 days of the end of the fifth Rebate year and each fifth Rebate Year thereafter, the Borrower shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender a certificate that it has determined no Rebatable Arbitrage (as defined below) is due or shall cause the Rebate Analyst to calculate the amount of rebatable arbitrage, in accordance with Section 148(f)(2) of the Code and Section 1.148-3 of the Treasury Regulations (taking into account any exceptions with respect to the computation of the rebatable arbitrage, described, if applicable, in the Tax Certificates (e.g., the temporary investments exceptions of Section 148(f)(4)(B) and (C) of the Code)), for this purpose treating the last day of the applicable Rebate Year as a (computation) date, within the meaning of Section 1.148-1(b) of the Treasury Regulations (the "**Rebatable**")

**Arbitrage**"). Pursuant to Section 2.04 of the Project Loan Agreement, the Borrower shall cause the Rebate Analyst to provide such calculations to the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender. In the event that the Borrower fails to provide such information to the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender within 55 days of the end of the fifth Rebate Year and each fifth Rebate Year thereafter, the Fiscal Agent, at the expense of the Borrower, shall select the Rebate Analyst, with the prior written approval of the Governmental Lender, and shall cause the Rebate Analyst to calculate the amount of rebatable arbitrage as required herein.

Within 55 days of the end of the fifth Rebate Year and each fifth Rebate Year thereafter, upon the written direction of the Governmental Lender, Bond Counsel or the Rebate Analyst, an amount shall be deposited to the Rebate Fund by the Fiscal Agent from amounts provided by the Borrower, if and to the extent required so that the balance in the Rebate Fund shall equal the amount of Rebatable Arbitrage so calculated in accordance with the preceding paragraph.

The Fiscal Agent shall pay, as directed by the Governmental Lender, Bond Counsel or the Rebate Analyst, to the United States Department of the Treasury, out of amounts in the Rebate Fund:

- (i) Not later than 60 days after the end of (A) the fifth Rebate Year, and (B) each applicable fifth Rebate Year thereafter, an amount equal to at least 90% of the Rebatable Arbitrage calculated as of the end of such Rebate Year; and
- (ii) Not later than 60 days after the payment in whole of the Funding Loan, an amount equal to 100% of the Rebatable Arbitrage calculated as of the end of such applicable Rebate Year, and any income attributable to the Rebatable Arbitrage, computed in accordance with Section 148(f) of the Code.

Each payment required to be made under this Section shall be made to the Internal Revenue Service Center, Ogden, Utah 84201 (or such other address provided in such direction), on or before the date on which such payment is due, and shall be accompanied by Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-T, which shall be prepared by the Rebate Analyst and provided to the Fiscal Agent.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Funding Loan Agreement to the contrary, the obligation to remit payment of the Rebatable Arbitrage to the United States of America and to comply with all other requirements of Sections 2.04 and 4.03 of the Project Loan Agreement and this Section 4.12, and the requirements of the Tax Certificates shall survive the defeasance or payment in full of the Funding Loan.

Any funds remaining in the Rebate Fund after payment in full of the Funding Loan and payment and satisfaction of any Rebate Requirement, or provision made therefor satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent, shall be withdrawn and remitted to the Borrower.

The Fiscal Agent shall obtain and keep such records of the computations made pursuant to this Section 4.12 as are required under Section 148(f) of the Code to the extent furnished to the Fiscal Agent. The Borrower shall or shall cause the Rebate Analyst to provide to the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent copies of all rebate computations made pursuant to this Section 4.12. The Fiscal Agent shall keep and make available to the Borrower such records concerning the investments of the gross proceeds of the Funding Loan and the investments of

earnings from those investments made by the Fiscal Agent as may be requested by the Borrower in order to enable the Borrower to cause the Rebate Analyst to make the aforesaid computations as are required under Section 148(f) of the Code.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the computations and payments of Rebatable Arbitrage need not be made to the extent that neither the Governmental Lender nor the Borrower will thereby fail to comply with any requirements of Section 148(f) of the Code based on an opinion of Bond Counsel, to the effect that such failure will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Governmental Note, a copy of which shall be provided to the Fiscal Agent and the Funding Lender Representative, at the expense of the Borrower.

**Section 4.13** *Cost of Issuance Fund*. The Fiscal Agent shall use money on deposit to the credit of the Cost of Issuance Fund to pay the Costs of Issuance on the Delivery Date or as soon as practicable thereafter in accordance with a Requisition in the form of Exhibit D to be given to the Fiscal Agent by the Borrower on the Delivery Date, along with appropriate invoices for such expenses. Amounts in the Cost of Issuance Fund funded with proceeds of the Funding Loan, if any, shall be expended prior to the application of the Costs of Issuance Deposit. Investment Income on amounts on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund shall be retained in such fund. Amounts remaining on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund six (6) months after the Delivery Date shall be transferred to the Borrower. Upon such final disbursement, the Fiscal Agent shall close the Cost of Issuance Fund.

**Section 4.14** *Reports From the Fiscal Agent*. The Fiscal Agent shall, on or before the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) day of each month, file with the Funding Lender Representative, the Servicer, the Governmental Lender (at its written request) and the Borrower a statement setting forth in respect of the preceding calendar month:

- (a) the amount withdrawn or transferred by it, and the amount deposited within or on account of each fund and account held by it under the provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement, including the amount of investment income on each fund and account;
- (b) the amount on deposit with it at the end of such month to the credit of each fund and account;
- (c) a brief description of all obligations held by it as an investment of money in each such fund and account; and
- (d) any other information which the Funding Lender Representative or the Governmental Lender may reasonably request and to which the Fiscal Agent has access in the ordinary course of its operations.

Upon the written request of the Funding Lender, the Fiscal Agent, at the cost of the Borrower, shall provide a copy of such statement to Funding Lender. All records and files pertaining to the Pledged Security shall be open at all reasonable times to the inspection of the Governmental Lender and the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer and their agents and representatives upon reasonable prior notice during normal business hours.

# **ARTICLE V**

#### GENERAL COVENANTS AND REPRESENTATIONS

**Section 5.01** *Payment of Principal and Interest.* The Governmental Lender covenants that it will promptly pay or cause to be paid, but only from the sources identified herein, sufficient amounts to provide for the payment of the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Funding Loan at the place, on the dates and in the manner provided herein and in the Governmental Note, according to the true intent and meaning thereof.

**Section 5.02** *Performance of Covenants*. The Governmental Lender covenants that it will faithfully perform at all times any and all of its covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained in this Funding Loan Agreement, in the Governmental Note and in all proceedings pertaining thereto.

Section 5.03 Instruments of Further Assurance. The Governmental Lender covenants that it will do, execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements hereto, and such further acts, instruments and transfers as may be reasonably required for the better assuring, transferring, conveying, pledging, assigning and confirming unto the Fiscal Agent all and singular its interest in the property herein described and the revenues, receipts and other amounts pledged hereby to the payment of the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Funding Loan. Any and all interest in property hereafter acquired which is of any kind or nature herein provided to be and become subject to the lien hereof shall and without any further conveyance, assignment or act on the part of the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent, become and be subject to the lien of this Funding Loan Agreement as fully and completely as though specifically described herein, but nothing in this sentence contained shall be deemed to modify or change the obligations of the Governmental Lender under this Section 5.03. The Governmental Lender covenants and agrees that, except as herein otherwise expressly provided, it has not and will not sell, convey, mortgage, encumber or otherwise dispose of any part of its interest in the Pledged Security or the revenues or receipts therefrom.

The Governmental Lender will promptly notify the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer in writing of the occurrence of any of the following:

- (a) the submission of any claim or the initiation of any legal process, litigation or administrative or judicial investigation against the Governmental Lender with respect to the Loans of which the Governmental Lender has actual knowledge;
- (b) any change in the location of the Governmental Lender's principal office or any change in the location of the Governmental Lender's books and records relating to the transactions contemplated hereby;
- (c) the occurrence of any default or Event of Default of which the Governmental Lender has actual knowledge;
- (d) the commencement of any proceedings or any proceedings instituted by or against the Governmental Lender in any federal, state or local court or before any

governmental body or agency, or before any arbitration board, relating to the Notes of which the Governmental Lender has actual knowledge; or

- (e) the commencement of any proceedings by or against the Governmental Lender under any applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, liquidation, rehabilitation, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or of any proceeding in which a receiver, liquidator, conservator, trustee or similar official shall have been, or may be, appointed or requested for the Governmental Lender or any of its assets relating to the Loans of which the Governmental Lender has actual knowledge.
- **Section 5.04** *Inspection of Project Books*. The Governmental Lender covenants and agrees that all books and documents, if any, in its possession relating to the Project shall, upon reasonable prior written notice, during normal business hours, be open to inspection and copying by such accountants or other agents as the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender Representative may from time to time reasonably designate.
- **Section 5.05** *No Modification of Security; Additional Indebtedness.* The Governmental Lender covenants to and for the benefit of the Funding Lender that it will not, without the prior written consent of the Funding Lender Representative, take any of the following actions:
  - (a) alter, modify or cancel, or agree to consent to alter, modify or cancel any agreement to which the Governmental Lender is a party, or which has been assigned to the Governmental Lender, and which relates to or affects the security for the Loans or the payment of any amount owed under the Financing Documents; or
  - (b) create or suffer to be created any lien upon the Pledged Security or any part thereof other than the lien created hereby and by the Security Instrument.
- **Section 5.06** *Damage, Destruction or Condemnation*. Net Proceeds resulting from casualty to or condemnation of the Project shall be applied as provided in Exhibit [5.5] of the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement (during the Construction Phase) and the Continuing Covenant Agreement and, to the extent consistent therewith, Section 3.01(b)(i) hereof.

#### Section 5.07 Tax Covenants.

- (a) Governmental Lender's Covenants. The Governmental Lender covenants to and for the benefit of the Funding Lender that it will:
  - (i) neither make or use nor cause to be made or used any investment or other use of the proceeds of the Funding Loan or the money and investments held in the funds and accounts in any manner which would cause the Governmental Note to be an "arbitrage bond" under Section 148 of the Code and the Regulations issued under Section 148 of the Code (the "**Regulations**") or which would otherwise cause the interest payable on the Governmental Note to be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes;

- (ii) enforce or cause to be enforced all obligations of the Borrower under the Tax Regulatory Agreement in accordance with its terms;
- (iii) not take or cause to be taken any other action or actions, or fail to take any action or actions, if the same would cause the interest payable on the Governmental Note to be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes;
- (iv) at all times do and perform all acts and things permitted by law and necessary or desirable in order to assure that interest paid by the Governmental Lender on the Funding Loan will be excluded from the gross income for federal income tax purposes, of the Funding Lender pursuant to the Code, except in the event where the Funding Lender is a "substantial user" of the facilities financed with the Loans or a "related person" within the meaning of the Code; and
- (v) not take any action or permit or suffer any action to be taken if the result of the same would be to cause the Governmental Note to be "federally guaranteed" within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code and the Regulations.

In furtherance of the covenants in this Section 5.07, the Governmental Lender and the Borrower shall execute, deliver and comply with the provisions of the Tax Certificates, which are by this reference incorporated into this Funding Loan Agreement and made a part of this Funding Loan Agreement as if set forth in this Funding Loan Agreement in full, and by its acceptance of this Funding Loan Agreement the Fiscal Agent acknowledges receipt of the Tax Certificates and acknowledges its incorporation into this Funding Loan Agreement by this reference and agrees to comply with the terms specifically applicable to it.

Fiscal Agent's Covenants. The Fiscal Agent agrees that it will invest funds held under this Funding Loan Agreement in accordance with the covenants and terms of this Funding Loan Agreement and the Tax Certificates and in accordance with the written direction of the Borrower (this covenant shall extend through the term of the Funding Loan, to all funds and accounts created under this Funding Loan Agreement and all money on deposit to the credit of any such fund or account). The Fiscal Agent covenants to and for the benefit of the Funding Lender that, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement or of any other Financing Document, it will not knowingly make or cause to be made any investment or other use of the money in the funds or accounts created hereunder which would cause the Governmental Note to be classified as an "arbitrage bond" within the meaning of Sections 103(b) and 148 of the Code or would cause the interest on the Governmental Note to be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes; provided that the Fiscal Agent shall be deemed to have complied with such requirements and shall have no liability to the extent it reasonably follows the written directions of the Borrower, the Governmental Lender, the Funding Lender Representative, Bond Counsel or the Rebate Analyst. This covenant shall extend, throughout the term of the Funding Loan, to all funds created under this Funding Loan Agreement and all money on deposit to the credit of any such fund. Pursuant to this covenant, with respect to the investments of the funds and accounts under this Funding Loan Agreement, the Fiscal Agent obligates itself to comply throughout the term of the Funding Loan with the requirements of Sections 103(b) and 148 of the Code; provided that the Fiscal Agent shall be deemed to have complied with such requirements and shall have no liability to the extent it reasonably follows the written directions of the Borrower, the Governmental Lender, Bond Counsel or the Rebate Analyst. The Fiscal Agent further covenants that should the Governmental Lender or the Borrower file with the Fiscal Agent (it being understood that neither the Governmental Lender nor the Borrower has an obligation to so file), or should the Fiscal Agent receive, an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that any proposed investment or other use of proceeds of the Funding Loan would cause the Governmental Note to become an "arbitrage bond," then the Fiscal Agent will comply with any written instructions of the Governmental Lender, the Borrower, the Funding Lender Representative or Bond Counsel regarding such investment (which shall, in any event, be a Qualified Investment) or use so as to prevent the Governmental Note from becoming an "arbitrage bond," and the Fiscal Agent will bear no liability to the Governmental Lender, the Borrower, the Funding Lender or the Funding Lender Representative for investments made in accordance with such instructions.

# **Section 5.08** *Representations and Warranties of the Governmental Lender*. The Governmental Lender hereby represents and warrants as follows:

- (a) The Governmental Lender is a public body corporate and politic duly created, organized and validly existing under the laws of the State.
- (b) The Governmental Lender has all necessary power and authority to issue the Governmental Note and to execute and deliver this Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and to perform its duties and discharge its obligations hereunder and thereunder.
- (c) The revenues and assets pledged for the repayment of the Funding Loan are and will be free and clear of any pledge, lien or encumbrance prior to, or equal with, the pledge created by this Funding Loan Agreement, and all action on the part of the Governmental Lender to that end has been duly and validly taken.
- (d) The Financing Documents to which the Governmental Lender is a party have been validly authorized, executed and delivered by the Governmental Lender, and assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto, constitute valid and binding obligations of the Governmental Lender, enforceable against the Governmental Lender in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and the application of equitable principles.
- (e) The Governmental Lender is not in default under or in violation of, and the execution and delivery of the Financing Documents to which it is a party, and its compliance with the terms and conditions thereof, will not conflict or constitute a default under or a violation of, (i) the Act, (ii) to its knowledge, any other existing laws, rules, regulations, judgments, decrees and orders applicable to it, or (iii) to its knowledge, the provisions of any agreements and instruments to which the Governmental Lender is a party, a default under or violation of which would prevent it from entering into this Funding Loan Agreement, executing and delivering the Governmental Note, financing the Project, executing and delivering the other Financing Documents to which it is a party or consummating the transactions contemplated thereby, and, to its knowledge, no event has occurred and is continuing under the provisions of any such agreement or instrument

or otherwise that with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute such a default or violation (it being understood, however, that the Governmental Lender is making no representations as to the necessity of registering the Governmental Note or the Project Note pursuant to any securities laws or complying with any other requirements or securities laws).

#### **ARTICLE VI**

# DEFAULT PROVISIONS AND REMEDIES OF FISCAL AGENT AND FUNDING LENDER

**Section 6.01** *Events of Default*. Each of the following shall be an event of default with respect to the Funding Loan (an "Event of Default") under this Funding Loan Agreement:

- (a) failure to pay the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, or interest on the Funding Loan when due, whether on an Interest Payment Date, at the stated maturity thereof, by proceedings for prepayment thereof, by acceleration or otherwise; or
  - (b) failure to observe the covenants set forth in Section 5.05 hereof; or
- (c) failure to observe or perform any of the covenants, agreements or conditions on the part of the Governmental Lender (other than those set forth in Sections 5.01 and 5.05 hereof) set forth in this Funding Loan Agreement or in the Governmental Note and the continuance thereof for a period of thirty (30) days (or such longer period, if any, as is specified herein for particular defaults) after written notice thereof to the Governmental Lender from the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender Representative specifying such default and requiring the same to be remedied; provided that if such default cannot be cured within such thirty (30) day period through the exercise of diligence and the Governmental Lender commences the required cure within such thirty (30) day period and continues the cure with diligence and the Governmental Lender reasonably anticipates that the default could be cured within sixty (60) days, the Governmental Lender shall have sixty (60) days following receipt of such notice to effect the cure; or
- (d) receipt by the Fiscal Agent of written notice from the Funding Lender Representative of the occurrence of an "Event of Default" under the Project Loan Agreement or the Continuing Covenant Agreement.

The Fiscal Agent will promptly notify the Governmental Lender, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative in writing after a Responsible Officer obtains actual knowledge of the occurrence of an Event of Default or obtains actual knowledge of the occurrence of an event which would become an Event of Default with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both.

# Section 6.02 Acceleration; Other Remedies Upon Event of Default.

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Fiscal Agent shall, upon the written request of the Funding Lender Representative, by notice in writing delivered to the Governmental Lender, declare the principal of the Funding Loan and the interest accrued thereon

immediately due and payable, and interest shall continue to accrue thereon until such amounts are paid.

At any time after the Funding Loan shall have been so declared due and payable, and before any judgment or decree for the payment of the money due shall have been obtained or entered, the Fiscal Agent may, but only if directed in writing by the Funding Lender Representative, by written notice to the Governmental Lender and the Borrower, rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences if the Governmental Lender or the Borrower shall pay to or deposit with the Fiscal Agent a sum sufficient to pay all principal on the Funding Loan then due (other than solely by reason of such declaration) and all unpaid installments of interest (if any) on the Funding Loan then due, with interest at the rate borne by the Funding Loan on such overdue principal and (to the extent legally enforceable) on such overdue installments of interest, and the reasonable fees and expenses of the Fiscal Agent (including its counsel) shall have been made good or cured or adequate provision shall have been made therefor, and all outstanding amounts then due and unpaid under the Financing Documents (collectively, the "Cure Amount") shall have been paid in full, and all other defaults hereunder shall have been made good or cured or waived in writing by the Funding Lender Representative; but no such rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default, nor shall it impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Fiscal Agent in its own name and as trustee of an express trust, on behalf and for the benefit and protection of the Funding Lender, may also proceed to protect and enforce any rights of the Fiscal Agent and, to the full extent that the Funding Lender itself might do, the rights of the Funding Lender under the laws of the State or under this Funding Loan Agreement by such of the following remedies as the Fiscal Agent shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce such rights; provided that, the Fiscal Agent may undertake any such remedy only upon the receipt of the prior written consent of the Funding Lender Representative (which consent may be given in the sole discretion of the Funding Lender Representative):

- (a) by mandamus or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, to enforce the payment of the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, or interest on the Funding Loan and to require the Governmental Lender to carry out any covenants or agreements with or for the benefit of the Funding Lender and to perform its duties under the Act, this Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement or the Tax Regulatory Agreement (as applicable) to the extent permitted under the applicable provisions thereof;
- (b) by pursuing any available remedies under the Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Regulatory Agreement or any other Financing Document;
- (c) by realizing or causing to be realized through sale or otherwise upon the security pledged hereunder; and
- (d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things that may be unlawful or in violation of the rights of the Funding Lender and execute any other papers and documents and do and perform any and all such acts and things as may be necessary or

advisable in the opinion of the Fiscal Agent in order to have the claim of the Funding Lender against the Governmental Lender allowed in any bankruptcy or other proceeding.

No remedy by the terms of this Funding Loan Agreement conferred upon or reserved to the Fiscal Agent or to the Funding Lender is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given to the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender hereunder or under the Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Regulatory Agreement, the Continuing Covenant Agreement or any other Financing Document, as applicable, or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Event of Default or acquiescence therein, and every such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. No waiver of any Event of Default hereunder, whether by the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender, shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default or event of default or shall impair any rights or remedies consequent thereto. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default under Section 6.01(c) hereof, the Borrower and each of its members shall have the same rights to notice and cure as those conferred upon the Governmental Lender pursuant to Section 6.01(c) and this Section 6.02.

Section 6.03 Funding Lender Representative Control of Proceedings. If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Funding Lender Representative shall have the sole and exclusive right at any time to direct the time, method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Funding Loan Agreement, or for the appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings hereunder, in accordance with the provisions of law and of this Funding Loan Agreement. In addition, subject to Section 7.06 of the Project Loan Agreement, the Funding Lender Representative shall have the sole and exclusive right at any time to directly enforce all rights and remedies hereunder and under the other Financing Documents with or without the involvement of the Fiscal Agent or the Governmental Lender (and in connection therewith the Fiscal Agent shall transfer or assign to the Funding Lender Representative all of its interest in the Pledged Security at the request of the Funding Lender Representative). In no event shall the exercise of any of the foregoing rights result in an acceleration of the Funding Loan without the express direction of the Funding Lender Representative.

Section 6.04 Waiver by Governmental Lender. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, to the extent that such right may then lawfully be waived, neither the Governmental Lender nor anyone claiming through or under it shall set up, claim or seek to take advantage of any appraisal, valuation, stay, extension or prepayment laws now or hereinafter in force, in order to prevent or hinder the enforcement of this Funding Loan Agreement; and the Governmental Lender, for itself and all who may claim through or under it, hereby waives, to the extent that it lawfully may do so, the benefit of all such laws and all right of appraisement and prepayment to which it may be entitled under the laws of the State and the United States of America.

**Section 6.05** Application of Money After Default. All money collected by the Fiscal Agent at any time pursuant to this Article shall, except to the extent, if any, otherwise directed by a court of competent jurisdiction, be credited by the Fiscal Agent to the Revenue Fund. Such money so credited to the Revenue Fund and all other money from time to time credited to the

Revenue Fund shall at all times be held, transferred, withdrawn and applied as prescribed by the provisions of Article IV hereof and this Section 6.05.

In the event that at any time the money credited to the Revenue Fund, the Loan Payment Fund and the Loan Prepayment Fund available for the payment of interest or principal then due with respect to the Governmental Note shall be insufficient for such payment, such money shall be applied as follows and in the following order of priority:

- (a) For payment of all amounts due to the Fiscal Agent incurred in performance of its duties under this Funding Loan Agreement, including, without limitation, the payment of all reasonable fees and expenses of the Fiscal Agent incurred in exercising any remedies under this Funding Loan Agreement.
- (b) To the extent directed in writing by the Funding Lender Representative, to the reimbursement of any unreimbursed advances made by or on behalf of the Funding Lender pursuant to the Continuing Covenant Agreement or the Security Instrument.
- (c) Unless the full principal amount of the Funding Loan shall have become or have been declared due and payable:

**<u>FIRST</u>**: to the Funding Lender, all installments of interest then due on the Funding Loan in the order of the maturity of such installments; and

**SECOND**: to the Funding Lender, unpaid principal of and premium, if any, on the Funding Loan which shall have become due, whether at maturity or by call for prepayment, in the order in which they became due and payable.

(d) If the full principal amount of the Governmental Note shall have become or have been declared due and payable, to the Funding Lender for the payment of the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest then due and unpaid on the Funding Loan without preference or priority of principal over interest or of interest over principal, or of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest.

**Section 6.06** *Remedies Not Exclusive*. No right or remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender or the Funding Lender Representative by the terms of this Funding Loan Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other right or remedy given to the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender or the Funding Lender Representative under this Funding Loan Agreement or existing at law or in equity or by statute (including the Act).

Section 6.07 Fiscal Agent May Enforce Rights Without Governmental Note. All rights of action and claims, including the right to file proof of claims, under this Funding Loan Agreement may be prosecuted and enforced by the Fiscal Agent at the written direction of the Funding Lender Representative without the possession of the Governmental Note or the production thereof in any trial or other proceedings relating thereto. Subject to the rights of the Funding Lender Representative to direct proceedings hereunder, any such suit or proceeding instituted by the Fiscal Agent shall be brought in its name as Fiscal Agent without the necessity

of joining as plaintiffs or defendants any Funding Lender, and any recovery or judgment shall be for the benefit as provided herein of the Funding Lender.

### Section 6.08 [Reserved].

**Section 6.09** *Termination of Proceedings*. In case the Fiscal Agent (at the direction of the Funding Lender Representative) or the Funding Lender Representative shall have proceeded to enforce any right under this Funding Loan Agreement by the appointment of a receiver, by entry or otherwise, and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined adversely, then and in every such case the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative, the Borrower and the Funding Lender shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder with respect to the Pledged Security herein conveyed, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Fiscal Agent and the Funding Lender Representative shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken.

Section 6.10 Waivers of Events of Default. The Fiscal Agent shall waive any Event of Default hereunder and its consequences and rescind any declaration of maturity of principal of and interest on the Funding Loan upon the written direction of the Funding Lender Representative. In case of any such waiver or rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the Fiscal Agent on account of any such Event of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely, then and in every such case the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Borrower, the Servicer, the Funding Lender Representative and the Funding Lender shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend to any subsequent or other default, or impair any right consequent thereto.

Section 6.11 Interest on Unpaid Amounts and Default Rate for Nonpayment. In the event that principal of or interest payable on the Funding Loan is not paid when due, there shall be payable on the amount not timely paid, on each Interest Payment Date, interest at the Default Rate, to the extent permitted by law. Interest on the Funding Loan shall accrue at the Default Rate until the unpaid amount, together with interest thereon, shall have been paid in full.

# Section 6.12 Assignment of Project Loan; Remedies Under the Project Loan.

(a) The Funding Lender Representative shall have the right, with respect to the Project Loan, in its sole and absolute discretion, without directing the Fiscal Agent to effect an acceleration of the Funding Loan, to instruct the Fiscal Agent in writing to assign the Project Note, the Security Instrument and the other Project Loan Documents to the Funding Lender Representative, in which event the Fiscal Agent shall (i) endorse and deliver the Project Note to the Funding Lender Representative and assign (in recordable form) the Security Instrument, (ii) execute and deliver to the Funding Lender Representative all documents prepared by the Funding Lender Representative necessary to assign (in recordable form) all other Project Loan Documents to the Funding Lender Representative and (iii) execute all such documents prepared by the Funding Lender Representative as are necessary to legally and validly effectuate the assignments provided for in the preceding clauses (i) and (ii). The Fiscal Agent's assignments to the Funding Lender Representative pursuant to this Section 6.12 shall be without recourse or warranty except that the Fiscal Agent shall represent and warrant in connection therewith (A) that the Fiscal Agent has not previously endorsed or assigned any such documents or instruments

and (B) that the Fiscal Agent has the corporate authority to endorse and assign such documents and instruments and such endorsements and assignments have been duly authorized.

(b) The Funding Lender Representative shall have the right, in its own name or on behalf of the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent, to declare any default and exercise any remedies under the Project Loan Agreement, the Project Note or the Security Instrument, whether or not the Governmental Note has been accelerated or declared due and payable by reason of an Event of Default or the occurrence of a mandatory prepayment.

Section 6.13 Substitution. Upon receipt of written notice from the Funding Lender Representative and the approval and consent of the Governmental Lender as and to the extent permitted under the Tax Regulatory Agreement, the Fiscal Agent shall exchange the Project Note and the Security Instrument for a new Project Note and Security Instrument, evidencing and securing a new loan, as assumed (the "New Project Loan"), which may be executed by a person other than the Borrower (the "New Borrower"), provided that if the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender or a nominee of the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender has acquired the Project through foreclosure, by accepting a deed in lieu of foreclosure or by comparable conversion of the Project, no approval from the Governmental Lender of such exchange shall be required. Prior to accepting a New Project Loan, the Fiscal Agent shall have received (i) written evidence that the New Borrower shall have executed and recorded a document substantially in the form of the Tax Regulatory Agreement (or executed and recorded an assumption of all of the Borrower's obligations under the Tax Regulatory Agreement in form and substance acceptable to the Governmental Lender and approved by its governing body) and that the Project Loan Documents have been modified as necessary to be applicable to the New Project Loan, and (ii) an opinion of Bond Counsel, to the effect that such exchange and modification, in and of itself, shall not affect the exclusion, from gross income, for federal income tax purposes of the interest payable on the Governmental Note.

#### **ARTICLE VII**

#### CONCERNING THE FISCAL AGENT

Section 7.01 Standard of Care. The Fiscal Agent, prior to an Event of Default as defined in Section 6.01 hereof and after the curing or waiver of all such events which may have occurred, shall perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Funding Loan Agreement and no implied covenants or obligations should be read into this Funding Loan Agreement against the Fiscal Agent. The permissive right of the Fiscal Agent to do things enumerated in this Funding Loan Agreement or the Project Loan Agreement shall be construed as a duty. The Fiscal Agent, during the existence of any such Event of Default (which shall not have been cured or waived), shall exercise such rights and powers vested in it by this Funding Loan Agreement and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise as a prudent Person would exercise or use under similar circumstances in the conduct of such Person's own affairs.

No provision of this Funding Loan Agreement shall be construed to relieve the Fiscal Agent from liability for its breach of trust, own negligence or willful misconduct, except that:

- (a) prior to an Event of Default hereunder, and after the curing or waiver of all such Events of Default which may have occurred:
  - (i) the duties and obligations of the Fiscal Agent shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement, and the Fiscal Agent shall not be liable except with regard to the performance of such duties and obligations as are specifically set forth in this Funding Loan Agreement; and
  - (ii) in the absence of bad faith on the part of the Fiscal Agent, the Fiscal Agent may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon any certificate or opinion furnished to the Fiscal Agent by the Person or Persons authorized to furnish the same;
- (b) at all times, regardless of whether or not any such Event of Default shall exist:
  - (i) the Fiscal Agent shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a responsible officer of the Fiscal Agent except for willful misconduct or negligence by the responsible officer of the Fiscal Agent as the case may be; and
  - (ii) the Fiscal Agent shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of the Funding Lender Representative relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Fiscal Agent, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Fiscal Agent under this Funding Loan Agreement.

# **Section 7.02** *Reliance Upon Documents.* Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.01 hereof:

- (a) the Fiscal Agent may rely upon the authenticity or truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed in, and shall be protected in acting and relying upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion (including an opinion of independent counsel), report, notice, notarial seal, stamp, affidavit, letter, telegram acknowledgment, verification, request, consent, order, bond or other paper or document in good faith deemed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper party or parties, including any Electronic Notice as permitted hereunder or under the Project Loan Agreement;
- (b) any notice, request, direction, election, order or demand of the Governmental Lender mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by an instrument signed in the name of the Governmental Lender by an Authorized Officer of the Governmental Lender (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed), and any resolution of the Governmental Lender may be evidenced to the Fiscal Agent by a copy of such resolution duly certified by an Authorized Officer of the Governmental Lender:

- (c) any notice, request, certificate, statement, requisition, direction, election, order or demand of the Borrower mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by an instrument purporting to be signed in the name of the Borrower by any Authorized Officer of the Borrower (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed), and any resolution or certification of the Borrower may be evidenced to the Fiscal Agent by a copy of such resolution duly certified by a secretary or other authorized representative of the Borrower;
- (d) any notice, request, certificate, statement, requisition, direction, election, order or demand of the Servicer mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by an instrument signed in the name of the Servicer by an Authorized Officer of the Servicer (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed);
- (e) any notice, request, direction, election, order or demand of the Funding Lender Representative mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by an instrument purporting to be signed in the name of the Funding Lender Representative by any Authorized Officer of the Funding Lender Representative (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed);
  - (f) [Intentionally Omitted];
  - (g) [Intentionally Omitted];
- (h) in the administration of the trusts of this Funding Loan Agreement, (i) the Fiscal Agent may execute any of the trusts or powers hereby granted directly or through its agents, custodians, nominees, receivers or attorneys appointed with due care and (ii) the Fiscal Agent may consult with counsel (who may be counsel for the Governmental Lender, the Servicer or the Funding Lender Representative) concerning all matters of trusts hereof and duties hereunder, and the opinion or advice of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with the opinion of such counsel;
- (i) whenever in the administration of the trusts of this Funding Loan Agreement, the Fiscal Agent shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or permitting any action hereunder, such matters (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed), may in the absence of negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Fiscal Agent, be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a certificate of an officer or authorized agent of the Governmental Lender or the Borrower and such certificate shall in the absence of bad faith on the part of the Fiscal Agent be full warrant to the Fiscal Agent for any action taken or permitted by it under the provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement, but in its discretion the Fiscal Agent may in lieu thereof accept other evidence of such matter or may require such further or additional evidence as it may deem reasonable;
- (j) the recitals herein and in the Governmental Note (except the Fiscal Agent's certificate of authentication thereon) shall not be considered as made by or imposing any obligation or liability upon the Fiscal Agent. The Fiscal Agent makes no

representations as to the value or condition of the Pledged Security or any part thereof, or as to the title of the Governmental Lender or the Borrower to the Pledged Security, or as to the security of this Funding Loan Agreement, or of the Governmental Note issued hereunder, and the Fiscal Agent shall incur no liability or responsibility in respect of any of such matters;

- (k) the Fiscal Agent shall not be personally liable for debts contracted or liability for damages incurred in the management or operation of the Pledged Security except for its own willful misconduct or negligence; and every provision of this Funding Loan Agreement relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Fiscal Agent shall be subject to the provisions of this Section 7.02(k);
- (1) the Fiscal Agent shall not be required to ascertain or inquire as to the performance or observance of any of the covenants or agreements (except to the extent they obligate the Fiscal Agent) herein or in any contracts or securities assigned or conveyed to or pledged with the Fiscal Agent hereunder, except Events of Default that are evident under Section 6.01(a) hereof. The Fiscal Agent shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have notice or actual knowledge of any default or Event of Default specified in Section 6.01 hereof (except defaults under Section 6.01(a) hereof to the extent they are collecting loan payments hereunder) unless the Fiscal Agent shall receive from the Governmental Lender or the Funding Lender Representative written notice stating that a default or Event of Default has occurred and specifying the same, and in the absence of such notice the Fiscal Agent may conclusively assume that there is no such default. Every provision contained in this Funding Loan Agreement or related instruments or in any such contract or security wherein the duty of the Fiscal Agent depends on the occurrence and continuance of such default shall be subject to the provisions of this Section 7.02(1);
- (m) the Fiscal Agent shall be under no duty to confirm or verify any financial or other statements or reports or certificates furnished pursuant to any provisions hereof, except to the extent such statement or reports are furnished by or under the direction of the Fiscal Agent, and shall be under no other duty in respect of the same except to retain the same in its files and permit the inspection of the same at reasonable times by the Funding Lender; and
- (n) the Fiscal Agent shall be under no obligation to exercise those rights or powers vested in it by this Funding Loan Agreement, other than such rights and powers which it shall be obliged to exercise in the ordinary course of acting as Fiscal Agent under the terms and provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement and as required by law, at the request or direction of the Funding Lender Representative pursuant to Section 6.03 hereof, unless the Funding Lender Representative shall have offered to the Fiscal Agent security or indemnity satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent against the costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred by it in the compliance with such request or direction.
- (o) the Fiscal Agent shall have no responsibility with respect to any information, statement or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure material prepared or distributed with respect to the Governmental Note, except for any information provided by the Fiscal Agent, and shall have no responsibility

for compliance with any state or federal securities laws in connection with the Governmental Note.

None of the provisions contained in this Funding Loan Agreement shall require the Fiscal Agent to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur personal financial liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers.

The Fiscal Agent is authorized and directed to execute in its capacity as Fiscal Agent, the Project Loan Agreement and the Tax Regulatory Agreement and shall have no responsibility or liability with respect to any information, statement or recital in any offering memorandum or other disclosure material prepared or distributed with respect to the delivery of the Governmental Note. In acting or omitting to act pursuant to the Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Regulatory Agreement or any other documents executed in connection herewith, the Fiscal Agent shall be entitled to all of the rights, immunities and indemnities accorded to it under this Funding Loan Agreement, including, but not limited to, this Article VII.

The Fiscal Agent or any of its affiliates may act as advisor or sponsor with respect to any Qualified Investments.

The Fiscal Agent agrees to accept and act upon Electronic Notice of written instructions and/or directions pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement.

Any resolution, certification, notice, request, direction, election, order or demand delivered to the Fiscal Agent pursuant to this Section 7.02 shall remain in effect until the Fiscal Agent receives written notice to the contrary from the party that delivered such instrument accompanied by revised information for such party.

The Fiscal Agent shall have no responsibility for the value of any collateral or with respect to the perfection or priority of any security interest in any collateral except as otherwise provided in Section 7.17 hereof.

**Section 7.03** *Use of Proceeds*. The Fiscal Agent shall not be accountable for the use or application of the Governmental Note authenticated or delivered hereunder or of the proceeds of the Funding Loan except as provided herein.

Section 7.04 Escrowed Funds. In connection with the issuance of the Governmental Note, certain moneys may be deposited with the Fiscal Agent before the Delivery Date pursuant to one or more letters of instruction from the provider or providers of such moneys. Such moneys, if any, will be held by the Fiscal Agent subject to the terms and conditions of this Funding Loan Agreement in addition to terms provided in such letter(s) of instruction. For such purpose the standards of care, provisions regarding responsibilities, and indemnification and other sections relating to the Fiscal Agent contained in this Funding Loan Agreement (the "Effective Provisions") shall be effective as of the first date of receipt by the Fiscal Agent of such moneys. The Effective Provisions shall be deemed incorporated into such letter(s) of instructions.

**Section 7.05** *Trust Imposed.* All money received by the Fiscal Agent shall, until used or applied as herein provided, be held in trust for the purposes for which it was received.

**Section 7.06** Compensation of Fiscal Agent. The Fiscal Agent shall be entitled to its Ordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses in connection with the services rendered by it in the execution of the trusts hereby created and in the exercise and performance of any of the powers and duties of the Fiscal Agent hereunder or under any Financing Document to the extent money is available therefor, in accordance with Section 4.06 hereof, exclusive of Extraordinary Services. The Fiscal Agent shall be entitled to Extraordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses in connection with any Extraordinary Services performed consistent with the duties hereunder or under any of the Financing Documents; provided the Fiscal Agent shall not incur any Extraordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses without the consent of the Funding Lender Representative. If any property, other than cash, shall at any time be held by the Fiscal Agent subject to this Funding Loan Agreement, or any supplement hereto, as security for the Funding Loan, the Fiscal Agent, if and to the extent authorized by a receivership, bankruptcy, or other court of competent jurisdiction or by the instrument subjecting such property to the provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement as such security for the Funding Loan, shall be entitled to make advances for the purpose of preserving such property or of discharging tax liens or other liens or encumbrances thereon. Payment to the Fiscal Agent for its services and reimbursement to the Fiscal Agent for its expenses, disbursements, liabilities and advances, shall be limited to the sources described in the Project Loan Agreement and in Sections 4.06, 4.11 and 6.05 hereof. The Governmental Lender shall have no liability for Fiscal Agent's fees, costs or expenses. Subject to the provisions of Section 7.09 hereof, the Fiscal Agent agrees that it shall continue to perform its duties hereunder and under the Financing Documents even in the event that money designated for payment of its fees shall be insufficient for such purposes or in the event that the Borrower fails to pay the Ordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses or, if applicable, the Extraordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses as required by the Project Loan Agreement.

The Borrower shall indemnify and hold harmless the Fiscal Agent and its officers, directors, officials, employees, agents, receivers, attorneys, accountants, advisors, consultants and servants, past, present or future, from and against (a) any and all claims by or on behalf of any person arising from any cause whatsoever in connection with this Funding Loan Agreement or transactions contemplated hereby, the Project, or the delivery of the Governmental Note or the Loans; (b) any and all claims arising from any act or omission of the Borrower or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees in connection with the Project, or the delivery of the Governmental Note or the Loans; and (c) all costs, counsel fees, expenses or liabilities incurred in connection with any such claim or proceeding brought thereon; except that the Borrower shall not be required to indemnify any person for damages caused by the gross negligence, willful misconduct or unlawful acts of such person or which arise from events occurring after the Borrower ceases to own the Project. In the event that any action or proceeding is brought or claim made against the Fiscal Agent, or any of its officers, directors, officials, employees, agents, receivers, attorneys, accountants, advisors, consultants or servants, with respect to which indemnity may be sought hereunder, the Borrower, upon written notice thereof from the indemnified party, shall assume the investigation and defense thereof, including the employment of counsel and the payment of all expenses. The indemnified party shall have the right to approve a settlement to which it is a party and to employ separate counsel in any such action or proceedings and to participate in the investigation and defense thereof, and the Borrower shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of such separate counsel. The provisions of this Section 7.06 shall survive the termination of this Funding Loan Agreement.

Section 7.07 *Qualifications of Fiscal Agent*. There shall at all times be a Fiscal Agent hereunder which shall be an association or a corporation organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof, authorized under such laws to exercise corporate trust powers. Any successor Fiscal Agent shall have a combined capital and surplus of at least \$50,000,000 (or shall be a wholly-owned subsidiary of an association or corporation that has such combined capital and surplus), and be subject to supervision or examination by federal or state authority, or shall have been appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to Section 7.11 hereof. If such association or corporation publishes reports of condition at least annually, pursuant to law or to the requirements of any supervising or examining authority referred to above, then for the purposes of this Section 7.07, the combined capital and surplus of such association or corporation shall be deemed to be its combined capital and surplus as set forth in its most recent report of condition so published. In case at any time the Fiscal Agent shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7.07 and another association or corporation is eligible, the Fiscal Agent shall resign immediately in the manner and with the effect specified in Section 7.09 hereof.

**Section 7.08** *Merger of Fiscal Agent*. Any association or corporation into which the Fiscal Agent may be converted or merged, or with which it may be consolidated, or to which it may sell or transfer its corporate trust business and assets as a whole or substantially as a whole, or any association or corporation resulting from any such conversion, sale, merger, consolidation or transfer to which it is a party shall, <u>ipso facto</u>, be and become successor Fiscal Agent hereunder and vested with all the title to the whole property or Pledged Security and all the trusts, powers, discretions, immunities, privileges and all other matters as was its predecessor, without the execution or filing of any instruments or any further act, deed or conveyance on the part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, and shall also be and become successor Fiscal Agent in respect of the legal interest of the Fiscal Agent in the Loans.

**Section 7.09** *Resignation by the Fiscal Agent.* The Fiscal Agent may at any time resign from the trusts hereby created by giving written notice to the Governmental Lender, the Borrower, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative. Such notice to the Governmental Lender, the Borrower, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative may be served personally or sent by certified mail or overnight delivery service. The resignation of the Fiscal Agent shall not be effective until a successor Fiscal Agent has been appointed as provided herein and such successor Fiscal Agent shall have agreed in writing to be bound by the duties and obligations of the Fiscal Agent hereunder.

Section 7.10 Removal of the Fiscal Agent. The Fiscal Agent may be removed at any time, either with or without cause, with the consent of the Funding Lender Representative (which consent of the Funding Lender Representative shall not be unreasonably withheld), by a written instrument signed by the Governmental Lender and delivered to the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer and the Borrower. The Fiscal Agent may also be removed by a written instrument signed by the Funding Lender Representative and delivered to the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer, the Governmental Lender and the Borrower. In each case written notice of such removal shall be given to the Servicer, the Borrower, the Governmental Lender and to the Funding Lender. Any such removal shall take effect on the day specified in such written instrument(s), but the Fiscal Agent shall not be discharged from the trusts hereby created until a successor Fiscal Agent has

been appointed and has accepted such appointment and has agreed in writing to be bound by the duties and obligations of the Fiscal Agent hereunder.

## Section 7.11 Appointment of Successor Fiscal Agent.

- (a) In case at any time the Fiscal Agent shall resign or be removed, or be dissolved, or shall be in course of dissolution or liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of acting hereunder, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or if a receiver of the Fiscal Agent or of its property shall be appointed, or if a public supervisory office shall take charge or control of the Fiscal Agent or of its property or affairs, a vacancy shall forthwith and ipso facto be created in the office of such Fiscal Agent hereunder, and the Governmental Lender shall, as soon as practicably possible, appoint a successor Fiscal Agent. Any such appointment shall be made by a written instrument executed by an Authorized Officer of the Governmental Lender. If the Governmental Lender fails to appoint a successor Fiscal Agent within ninety (90) days following receipt of notice of the resignation or removal of the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 7.09 or Section 7.10 hereunder, as applicable, the Funding Lender Representative may appoint a successor Fiscal Agent.
- (b) If, in a proper case, no appointment of a successor Fiscal Agent shall be made pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section 7.11 within sixty (60) days following delivery of all required notices of resignation given pursuant to Section 7.09 hereof or of removal of the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 7.10 hereof, the retiring Fiscal Agent may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor Fiscal Agent. The court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such court may deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor Fiscal Agent.

Section 7.12 Concerning Any Successor Fiscal Agent. Every successor Fiscal Agent appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and also to the Governmental Lender a written instrument accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the Pledged Security and the rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor; but such predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the written request of the Governmental Lender, the Borrower or the Funding Lender Representative, or of its successor, and upon payment of all amounts due such predecessor, including but not limited to fees and expenses of counsel, execute and deliver such instruments as may be appropriate to transfer to such successor Fiscal Agent all the Pledged Security and the rights, powers and trusts of such predecessor hereunder; and every predecessor Fiscal Agent shall deliver all securities and money held by it as Fiscal Agent hereunder to its successor. Should any instrument in writing from the Governmental Lender be required by a successor Fiscal Agent for more fully and certainly vesting in such successor the Pledged Security and all rights, powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be vested in the predecessor, any and all such instruments in writing shall, on request, and at the expense of the Borrower, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the Governmental Lender. resignation of any Fiscal Agent and the instrument or instruments removing any Fiscal Agent and appointing a successor hereunder, together with all other instruments provided for in this Article, shall be filed and/or recorded by the successor Fiscal Agent in each recording office where this Funding Loan Agreement shall have been filed and/or recorded. Each successor Fiscal Agent shall mail notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, at least once within 30 days of such appointment, to the Funding Lender.

**Section 7.13** *Successor Fiscal Agent.* In the event of a change in the office of Fiscal Agent, the predecessor Fiscal Agent which shall have resigned or shall have been removed shall cease to be Fiscal Agent with respect to the Governmental Note, and the successor Fiscal Agent shall become such Fiscal Agent.

Section 7.14 Appointment of Co-Fiscal Agent or Separate Fiscal Agent. It is the intent of the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent that there shall be no violation of any law of any jurisdiction (including particularly the laws of the State) denying or restricting the right of banking corporations or associations to transact business as Fiscal Agent in such jurisdiction. It is recognized that in case of litigation under or connected with this Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents, and, in particular, in case of the enforcement of any remedies on default, or in case the Fiscal Agent deems that by reason of any present or future law of any jurisdiction it may not exercise any of the powers, rights or remedies herein or therein granted to the Fiscal Agent or hold title to the properties in trust, as herein granted, or take any other action which may be desirable or necessary in connection therewith, it may be necessary that the Fiscal Agent, with the written consent of the Governmental Lender and the Funding Lender Representative, appoint an additional individual or institution as a co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent.

In the event that the Fiscal Agent appoints an additional individual or institution as a co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent, in the event of the incapacity or lack of authority of the Fiscal Agent, by reason of any present or future law of any jurisdiction, to exercise any of the rights, powers, trusts and remedies granted to the Fiscal Agent herein or to hold title to the Pledged Security or to take any other action that may be necessary or desirable in connection therewith, each and every remedy, power, right, obligation, claim, demand, cause of action, immunity, estate, title, interest and lien expressed or intended by this Funding Loan Agreement to be imposed upon, exercised by or vested in or conveyed to the Fiscal Agent with respect thereto shall be imposed upon, exercisable by and vest in such separate fiscal agent or co-fiscal agent, but only to the extent necessary to enable such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent to exercise such powers, rights, trusts and remedies, and every covenant and obligation necessary to the exercise thereof by such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent shall run to and be enforceable by either of them, subject to the remaining provisions of this Section 7.14. Such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent shall deliver an instrument in writing acknowledging and accepting its appointment hereunder to the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent.

Should any instrument in writing from the Governmental Lender be required by the co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent so appointed by the Fiscal Agent for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to him or it such properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations, any and all such instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Borrower. If the Governmental Lender shall fail to deliver the same within thirty (30) days of such request, the Fiscal Agent is hereby appointed attorney-in-fact for the Governmental Lender solely for the purpose of executing, acknowledging and delivering such instruments in the Governmental Lender's name and stead. In the event Fiscal Agent is appointed attorney-in-fact for the Governmental Lender solely for the limited purposes described in the immediately preceding sentence, such appointment shall not extend to or be deemed to apply to any subsequent failure of Governmental Lender to execute, acknowledge and deliver such written instruments described above in this Section 7.14 within the thirty (30) day time period provided herein. In case any

co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent, or a successor to either, shall die, become incapable of acting, resign or be removed, all the estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent, so far as permitted by law, shall vest in and be exercised by the Fiscal Agent until the appointment of a new Fiscal Agent or successor to such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent.

Every co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent shall, to the extent permitted by law, but to such extent only, be appointed subject to the following terms, namely:

- (a) the Governmental Note shall be authenticated and delivered, and all rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations by this Funding Loan Agreement conferred upon the Fiscal Agent in respect of the custody, control or management of money, papers, securities and other personal property shall be exercised solely by the Fiscal Agent;
- (b) all rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations conferred or imposed upon the Fiscal Agent shall be conferred or imposed upon or exercised or performed by the Fiscal Agent, or by the Fiscal Agent and such co-fiscal agent, or separate fiscal agent jointly, as shall be provided in the instrument appointing such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent, except to the extent that under the law of any jurisdiction in which any particular act or acts are to be performed the Fiscal Agent shall be incompetent or unqualified to perform such act or acts, in which event such act or acts shall be performed by such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent;
- (c) any request in writing by the Fiscal Agent to any co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent to take or to refrain from taking any action hereunder shall be sufficient warrant for the taking or the refraining from taking of such action by such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent;
- (d) any co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent to the extent permitted by law shall delegate to the Fiscal Agent the exercise of any right, power, trust, duty or obligation, discretionary or otherwise;
- (e) the Fiscal Agent at any time by an instrument in writing with the concurrence of the Governmental Lender evidenced by a certified resolution may accept the resignation of or remove any co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent appointed under this Section 7.14 and in case an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Fiscal Agent shall have power to accept the resignation of or remove any such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent without the concurrence of the Governmental Lender, and upon the request of the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender shall join with the Fiscal Agent in the execution, delivery and performance of all instruments and agreements necessary or proper to effectuate such resignation or removal. A successor to any co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent so resigned or removed may be appointed in the manner provided in this Section 7.14;
- (f) no Fiscal Agent or co-fiscal agent hereunder shall be personally liable by reason of any act or omission of any other Fiscal Agent hereunder;
- (g) any demand, request, direction, appointment, removal, notice, consent, waiver or other action in writing executed by the Funding Lender Representative and/or

the Governmental Lender and delivered to the Fiscal Agent shall be deemed to have been delivered to each such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent; and

(h) any money, papers, securities or other items of personal property received by any such co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent hereunder shall forthwith, so far as may be permitted by law, be turned over to the Fiscal Agent.

The total compensation of the Fiscal Agent and any co-fiscal agent or separate fiscal agent shall be as, and may not exceed the amount, provided in Section 7.06 hereof.

**Section 7.15** *Notice of Certain Events.* The Fiscal Agent shall give written notice to the Governmental Lender, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative of any failure by the Borrower to comply with the terms of the Tax Regulatory Agreement or any Determination of Taxability of which a Responsible Officer has actual knowledge.

### Section 7.16 [Reserved].

Section 7.17 Filing of Financing Statements. The Fiscal Agent shall cause to be filed a continuation statement with respect to each Uniform Commercial Code financing statement relating to the Funding Loan on which it is listed as a secured party, and which was filed at the time of the issuance thereof, in such manner and in such places as the initial filings (copies of which shall be provided to the Fiscal Agent by the Governmental Lender) were made. Upon the filing of any such continuation statements the Fiscal Agent shall immediately notify the Governmental Lender, the Borrower, the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer that the same has been done. The Borrower shall be responsible for all costs incurred by the Fiscal Agent in the preparation and filing of all such continuation statements hereunder.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Fiscal Agent shall not be responsible for any initial filings of any financing statements or the information contained therein (including the exhibits thereto), the perfection of any such security interests, or the accuracy or sufficiency of any description of collateral in such initial filings or for filing any modifications or amendments to the initial filings required by any amendments to Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code and unless the Fiscal Agent shall have been notified by the Funding Lender that any such initial filing or description of collateral was or has become defective, the Fiscal Agent shall be fully protected in relying on such initial filing and descriptions in filing any continuation statements or modifications thereto pursuant to this Section 7.17 and in filing any continuation statements in the same filing offices as the initial filings were made.

Section 7.18 USA Patriot Act Requirements of the Fiscal Agent. To help the government of the United States of America fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each person who opens an account. For a non-individual Person such as a business entity, a charity, a trust, or other legal entity, the Fiscal Agent may request documentation to verify such Person's formation and existence as a legal entity. The Fiscal Agent may also request financial statements, licenses, identification and authorization documents from individuals claiming authority to represent such Person or other relevant documentation.

#### ARTICLE VIII

#### AMENDMENTS OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS

**Section 8.01** *Amendments to this Funding Loan Agreement.* Any of the terms of this Funding Loan Agreement and the Governmental Note may be amended or waived only by an instrument signed by the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender, and with the prior written consent of the Funding Lender Representative.

Section 8.02 Amendments to Financing Documents Require Consent of Funding Lender Representative. Neither the Governmental Lender nor the Fiscal Agent shall consent to any amendment, change or modification of any Financing Document without the prior written consent of the Funding Lender Representative. The Fiscal Agent shall enter into such amendments to the Financing Documents as shall be directed by the Funding Lender Representative, including entering into the amendments attached as exhibits to the Construction Phase Financing Agreement on the Conversion Date.

Section 8.03 Opinion of Bond Counsel Required. No amendment to this Funding Loan Agreement, the Governmental Note, the Project Loan Agreement, the Project Note, the Security Instrument or the Tax Regulatory Agreement shall become effective unless and until (i) the Funding Lender Representative shall have consented to the same in writing in its sole discretion, (ii) the Funding Lender Representative, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent shall have received, at the expense of the Borrower, (A) an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such amendment, change or modification will not, in and of itself, cause interest on the Governmental Note to be includable in gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes, and (B) an opinion of counsel acceptable to the Funding Lender Representative to the effect that any such proposed such amendment, change or modification is authorized and complies with the provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement and is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the parties thereto, subject to normal exceptions relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and equitable principles limitations, and (iii) to the extent the Borrower is not in default under the Financing Documents and such amendment would change the essential economic terms of the Project Loan or impose upon Borrower greater liability under the Financing Documents, the Borrower has consented thereto.

#### ARTICLE IX

## SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE OF FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT

**Section 9.01** *Discharge of Lien.* If the Governmental Lender shall pay or cause to be paid to the Funding Lender the principal, interest and Prepayment Premium, if any, to become due with respect to the Funding Loan at the times and in the manner stipulated herein and in the Governmental Note, in any one or more of the following ways:

- (a) by the payment of all unpaid principal of (including Prepayment Premium, if any) and interest on the Funding Loan; or
- (b) after the Conversion Date (or, if the Conversion Date does not occur, the latest date on which Conversion was permitted to occur under the Construction Phase

Financing Agreement) and prior to the Window Period, by the deposit to the account of the Fiscal Agent, in trust, of money or securities in the necessary amount to pay the principal, Prepayment Premium and interest to the Maturity Date; or

(c) by the delivery of the Governmental Note by the Funding Lender to the Fiscal Agent for cancellation;

and shall have paid all amounts due and owing under the other Financing Documents, and shall have paid all fees and expenses of and any other amounts due to the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer and the Rebate Analyst, and if the Governmental Lender shall keep, perform and observe all and singular the covenants and promises in the Governmental Note and in this Funding Loan Agreement expressed as to be kept, performed and observed by it or on its part, then these presents and the estates and rights hereby granted shall cease, determine and be void, and thereupon the Fiscal Agent shall cancel and discharge the lien of this Funding Loan Agreement and execute and deliver to the Governmental Lender such instruments in writing as shall be requisite to satisfy the lien hereof, and reconvey to the Governmental Lender the estate hereby conveyed, and assign and deliver to the Governmental Lender any interest in property at the time subject to the lien of this Funding Loan Agreement which may then be in its possession, except amounts held by the Fiscal Agent for the payment of principal of, interest and Prepayment Premium, if any, on the Governmental Note, the payment of any amounts owed to the United States of America pursuant to Section 4.12 hereof.

After the Conversion Date (or, if the Conversion Date does not occur, the latest date on which Conversion was permitted to occur under the Construction Phase Financing Agreement) and prior to the Window Period and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 4.04(c) of the Project Loan Agreement, the Funding Loan shall, prior to the Maturity Date, be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in the first paragraph of this Section 9.01 based on a deposit of moneys or securities with the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 9.01(b) if, under circumstances which do not cause interest on the Governmental Note to become includable in the holders' gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, the following conditions shall have been fulfilled: (a) there shall be on deposit with the Fiscal Agent either money or noncallable and nonprepayable direct obligations of the United States of America (or other defeasance securities constituting Qualified Investments approved in writing by the Funding Lender Representative) in an amount, together with anticipated earnings thereon (but not including any reinvestment of such earnings), which will be sufficient to pay, when due, the principal and interest due and to become due on the Funding Loan up to and on the Maturity Date; (b) the Fiscal Agent shall have received a verification report of a firm of certified public accountants or financial analyst reasonably acceptable to the Fiscal Agent and the Funding Lender Representative as to the adequacy of the amounts or securities so deposited to fully pay the Funding Loan; (c) the Fiscal Agent and the Funding Lender Representative shall have received a written opinion of nationally recognized counsel experienced in bankruptcy matters to the effect that if the Borrower, any general partner, member or guarantor of the Borrower, or the Governmental Lender were to become a debtor in a proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code (x) payment of such money to the Funding Lender would not constitute a voidable preference under Section 547 of the Bankruptcy Code and (y) the automatic stay provisions of Section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code would not prevent application of such money to the payment of the Funding Loan; (d) the Fiscal Agent and the Funding Lender Representative shall have received an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that

the defeasance of the Funding Loan is in accordance with the provisions of the Funding Loan Agreement and that such defeasance will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Governmental Note from gross income for federal income tax purposes; and (e) the Fiscal Agent shall have received written confirmation that all fees, expenses or reimbursement of any advances due to the Funding Lender and the Servicer under the Financing Documents have been fully paid.

**Section 9.02** *Discharge of Liability on Funding Loan.* Upon the deposit with the Fiscal Agent, in trust, at or before maturity, of money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in Section 9.01 above) to pay or prepay the Funding Loan (whether upon or prior to their maturity or the prepayment date of the Funding Loan) provided that, if the Funding Loan is to be prepaid prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such prepayment shall have been given as in Article III provided or provision satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent shall have been made for the giving of such notice, all liability of the Governmental Lender in respect of the Funding Loan shall cease, terminate and be completely discharged, except only that thereafter the Funding Lender shall be entitled to payment by the Governmental Lender, and the Governmental Lender shall remain liable for such payment, but only out of the money or securities deposited with the Fiscal Agent as aforesaid for their payment, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 9.03 hereof.

Section 9.03 Payment of Funding Loan After Discharge of Funding Loan Agreement. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement, and subject to applicable unclaimed property laws of the State, any money deposited with the Fiscal Agent or any paying agent in trust for the payment of the principal of, interest or Prepayment Premium on the Governmental Note remaining unclaimed for five (5) years after the maturity or earlier payment date: (a) shall be reported and disposed of by the Fiscal Agent in accordance with applicable unclaimed property laws; or (b) to the extent permitted by applicable law, shall be paid to the Borrower, whereupon all liability of the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent with respect to such money shall cease, and the Funding Lender shall thereafter look solely to the Borrower for payment of any amounts then due. All money held by the Fiscal Agent and subject to this Section 9.03 shall be held uninvested and without liability for interest thereon.

## ARTICLE X

#### INTENTIONALLY OMITTED

#### **ARTICLE XI**

#### **MISCELLANEOUS**

**Section 11.01** *Servicing of the Loans.* The Funding Lender Representative may appoint a Servicer (which may be the Funding Lender Representative if the Funding Lender Representative elects to service the Loans) to service the Loans as provided in Section 3.02 of the Project Loan Agreement.

**Section 11.02** *Limitation of Rights.* With the exception of rights herein expressly conferred, nothing expressed or to be implied from this Funding Loan Agreement or the Governmental Note is intended or shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Parties

hereto, the Funding Lender, the Funding Lender Representative, the Servicer and the Borrower, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect to this Funding Loan Agreement or any covenants, conditions and provisions hereof.

Section 11.03 Construction of Conflicts; Severability. Notwithstanding anything provided herein, or in any of the documents referred to herein, in the event that any contracts or other documents executed by the Borrower or any other arrangements agreed to by the Borrower in order to finance or refinance the Project with the proceeds of the Funding Loan, the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103(a) of the Code are inconsistent with the Project Loan Documents, then the Project Loan Documents shall be controlling in all respects. If any provision of this Funding Loan Agreement shall be held or deemed to be, or shall in fact be inoperative or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any jurisdiction or jurisdictions or in all jurisdictions, or in all cases because it conflicts with any other provision or provisions hereof or any constitution, statute, rule of law or public policy, or for any other reason, such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable to any extent whatever.

The invalidity of any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses or sections in this Funding Loan Agreement contained, shall not affect the remaining portions of this Funding Loan Agreement, or any part thereof.

## Section 11.04 Notices.

(a) Whenever in this Funding Loan Agreement the giving of notice by mail or otherwise is required, the giving of such notice may be waived in writing by the Person entitled to receive such notice and in any such case the giving or receipt of such notice shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any action taken in reliance upon such waiver.

Any notice, request, complaint, demand, communication or other paper required or permitted to be delivered to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative, the Borrower or the Servicer shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given (unless another form of notice shall be specifically set forth herein) on the Business Day following the date on which such notice or other communication shall have been delivered to a national overnight delivery service (receipt of which to be evidenced by a signed receipt from such overnight delivery service) addressed to the appropriate party at the addresses set forth below or as may be required or permitted by this Funding Loan Agreement by Electronic Notice. The Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative, the Borrower or the Servicer may, by notice given as provided in this paragraph, designate any further or different address to which subsequent notices or other communication shall be sent.

The Governmental Lender: Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida

110 N.E. 3rd Street, Suite 300 Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Attention: Executive Director Telephone: (954) 357-5320

The Fiscal Agent: The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.

4655 Salisbury Road, Suite 300 Jacksonville, Florida 32256

Attention: Corporate Trust Department

Telephone: (904) 645-1985

E-mail: thomas.radicioni@bnymellon.com

The Borrower: SP Broward LLC

5403 W. Gray Street Tampa, Florida 33609 Attention: Scott Seckinger

Email: <a href="mailto:sseckinger@sphome.com">sseckinger@sphome.com</a>
Telephone: (813) 288-6988

with a copy to: Jameson Pepple Cantu PLLC

2430 Estancia Boulevard, Suite 114

Clearwater, Florida 33761 Attention: David Cantu, Esq. Email: <u>dcantu@jpclaw.com</u> Telephone: (727) 724-3222

with a copy to: RJ MT SP Broward L.L.C.

c/o Raymond James Tax Credit Funds, Inc.

880 Carillon Parkway

St. Petersburg, Florida 33716

Email Address: Steve.Kropf@RaymondJames.com

Attention: Steven J. Kropf, President

with a copy to: Nixon Peabody LLP

53 State Street Exchange Place

Boston, Massachusetts 02109 Attention: Nathan A. Bernard, Esq.

Telephone: (617) 345-1236

Email: <a href="mailto:nbernard@nixonpeabody.com">nbernard@nixonpeabody.com</a>

The County: Broward County Attorney's Office

115 South Andrews Avenue, Room 423

Ft. Lauderdale Florida 33301 Attention: Annika Ashton, Esq. Telephone: (954) 357-5728

The County Loan Servicer: Seltzer Management Group, Inc.

17633 Ashley Drive

Panama city Beach, Florida 32413

Attention: Brian Barth Facsimile: (850) 233-1429

Funding Lender Representative (during the Construction Phase):

STI Institutional & Government, Inc. c/o Truist Bank
CRE Loan Administration/CIG Loan Operations
303 Peachtree Street N.E., 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor
Mail Code 803-05-25-60
Atlanta, Georgia 30308

and

STI Institutional & Government, Inc. c/o Truist Bank
333 S. Garland Avenue, 16<sup>th</sup> Floor
Orlando, Florida 32801
Attention: Lesli Carroll
Telephone: (352) 874-4375
Email: lesli.carroll@truist.com

and

with a copy to (for information purposes only):

Holland & Knight LLP

1180 West Peachtree Street NW, Suite 1800

Atlanta, Georgia 30309

Attention: Woodrow W. Vaughan III Email: Woody. Vaughan@hklaw.com

Funding Lender (from Conversion Date To Freddie Mac Purchase Date) and Servicer (as of Freddie Mac Purchase Date):

Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC 200 South College Street, Suite 2100 Charlotte, North Carolina 28202

Attention: Head of Loan Servicing

Funding Lender Representative (as of Freddie Mac Purchase Date):

> Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 8100 Jones Branch Drive, MS B4P McLean, Virginia 22102

Attention: Multifamily Operations - Loan Accounting

Email: mfla@freddiemac.com Telephone: (703) 714-4177

with a copy to: Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

8200 Jones Branch Drive, MS 210

McLean, Virginia 22102

Attention: Managing Associate General Counsel –

Multifamily Legal Division

Email: guy\_nelson@freddiemac.com

Telephone: (703) 903-2000

A duplicate copy of each notice or other communication given hereunder by any party to the Servicer shall also be given to the Funding Lender Representative and by any party to the Funding Lender Representative to the Servicer.

The Fiscal Agent shall have the right to accept and act upon instructions, including funds transfer instructions ("Instructions") given pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement and related financing documents and delivered using Electronic Means; provided, however, that the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable, shall provide to the Fiscal Agent an incumbency certificate listing officers with the authority to provide such Instructions ("Authorized Officers") and containing specimen signatures of such Authorized Officers, which incumbency certificate shall be amended by the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable, whenever a person is to be added or deleted from the listing. If the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable, elects to give the Fiscal Agent Instructions using Electronic Means and the Fiscal Agent in its discretion elects to act upon such Instructions, the Fiscal Agent's understanding of such Instructions shall be deemed controlling. Governmental Lender and the Borrower understand and agree that the Fiscal Agent cannot determine the identity of the actual sender of such Instructions and that the Fiscal Agent shall conclusively presume that directions that purport to have been sent by an Authorized Officer listed on the incumbency certificate provided to the Fiscal Agent have been sent by such Authorized Officer. The Governmental Lender and the Borrower shall be responsible for ensuring that only Authorized Officers transmit such Instructions to the Fiscal Agent and that the Governmental Lender, the Borrower and all Authorized Officers are solely responsible to safeguard the use and confidentiality of applicable user and authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys upon receipt by the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable. The Fiscal Agent shall not be liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Fiscal Agent's reliance upon and compliance with such Instructions notwithstanding such directions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written instruction. The Governmental Lender and the Borrower agree: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of Electronic Means to submit Instructions to the Fiscal Agent, including without limitation the risk of the Fiscal Agent acting on unauthorized Instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated with the various methods of transmitting Instructions to the Fiscal Agent and that there may be more secure methods of transmitting Instructions than the method(s) selected by the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable; (iii) that the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of Instructions provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and circumstances; and (iv) to notify the Fiscal Agent immediately upon learning of any compromise or unauthorized use of the security procedures.

(b) The Fiscal Agent shall provide to the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer (i) prompt notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default pursuant to Section 6.01 hereof and (ii) any written information or other written communication received by the Fiscal Agent hereunder within ten (10) Business Days of receiving a written request from the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer for any such information or other communication.

### Section 11.05 Funding Lender Representative.

- (a) The Initial Funding Lender is the initial Funding Lender Representative with respect to the Governmental Note. Upon the Conversion Date, the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer shall become the Funding Lender Representative and upon the Freddie Mac Purchase Date, Freddie Mac shall become the Funding Lender Representative. The Funding Lender Representative shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges of the Funding Lender hereunder and under the other Financing Documents.
- (b) The Funding Lender Representative may provide written notice to the Fiscal Agent designating particular individuals or Persons authorized to execute any consent, waiver, approval, direction or other instrument on behalf of the Funding Lender Representative, and such notice may be amended or rescinded by the Funding Lender Representative at any time by subsequent written notice. The Funding Lender Representative may be removed and a successor appointed by a written notice in the form of Exhibit B hereto given by the Funding Lender to the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender, the Servicer and the Borrower. The removal and reappointment shall be effective immediately upon receipt of such notice by the Fiscal Agent.

The Funding Lender may appoint any Person to act as Funding Lender Representative, including, without limitation, the Servicer. If, for any reason, a Funding Lender Representative resigns by written notice provided to the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender, the Governmental Lender, the Servicer and the Borrower, all references to Funding Lender Representative herein and in the other Financing Documents shall be deemed to refer to the Funding Lender until a successor Funding Lender Representative is appointed by the Funding Lender.

- (c) Whenever pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement or any other Financing Document, the Funding Lender Representative exercises any right given to it to approve or disapprove, any arrangement or term hereof, the decision of the Funding Lender Representative to approve or disapprove or to decide whether arrangements or terms are acceptable or not acceptable shall be in the sole discretion of the Funding Lender Representative, except as otherwise specifically indicated.
- (d) Each Funding Lender, by its purchase or other acquisition of the Funding Loan, shall be deemed to have acknowledged and agreed to the provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents with respect to the Funding Lender Representative and the rights and privileges thereof, including but not limited to the right to control all remedies in respect of the Governmental Note and the Loans.

Section 11.06 Payments Due on Non-Business Days. In any case where a date of payment with respect to the Funding Loan shall be a day other than a Business Day, then such

payment need not be made on such date but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on such date, and no interest shall accrue for the period after such date provided that payment is made on such next succeeding Business Day.

**Section 11.07** *Counterparts.* This Funding Loan Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

**Section 11.08** *Laws Governing Funding Loan Agreement.* The effect and meanings of this Funding Loan Agreement and the rights of all parties hereunder shall be governed by, and construed according to, the internal laws of the State without regard to conflicts of laws principles.

Section 11.09 No Recourse. No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant, warranty or agreement contained in this Funding Loan Agreement or in the Governmental Note, or under any judgment obtained against the Governmental Lender, or the enforcement of any assessment, or any legal or equitable proceedings by virtue of any constitution or statute or otherwise, or under any circumstances under or independent of this Funding Loan Agreement, shall be had against any of the members, officers, commissioners, directors, agents or employees of the Governmental Lender (past, present or future), either directly or through the Governmental Lender or otherwise, for the payment for or to the Governmental Lender or any receiver of the Governmental Lender, or for or to the owner of the Governmental Note, or otherwise, of any sum that may be due and unpaid by the Governmental Lender upon the Governmental Note. Any and all personal liability of every nature whether at common law or in equity or by statute or by constitution or otherwise of any such member, officer, commissioner, director, agent or employee, as such, by reason of any act of omission on his or her part or otherwise, for the payment for or to the owner of the Governmental Note or otherwise of any sum that may remain due and unpaid upon the Governmental Note secured by this Funding Loan Agreement or any of them is, by the acceptance of the Governmental Note, expressly waived and released as a condition of and in consideration for the execution of this Funding Loan Agreement and the execution, delivery and placement of the Governmental Note. Anything in this Funding Loan Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, it is expressly understood by the parties to this Funding Loan Agreement that (a) the Governmental Lender may rely exclusively on the truth and accuracy of any certificate, opinion, notice or other instrument furnished to the Governmental Lender by the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer, the Borrower, the Initial Funding Lender or the Funding Lender Representative as to the existence of any fact or state of affairs, (b) the Governmental Lender shall not be under any obligation under this Funding Loan Agreement to perform any record keeping or to provide any legal services, it being understood that such services shall be performed or caused to be performed by the Fiscal Agent, the Borrower or the Servicer and its respective counsel, as applicable, and (c) none of the provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement shall require the Governmental Lender to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise to incur financial liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers under this Funding Loan Agreement, unless it shall first have been adequately indemnified to its satisfaction against any costs, expenses and liability which it may incur as a result of taking such action. No recourse for the payment of any part of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Governmental Note or for the satisfaction of any liability arising from, founded upon or existing by reason of the execution, delivery and placement, purchase or ownership of the Governmental Note shall be had against any officer, member,

commissioner, director, agent or employee of the Governmental Lender, as such, all such liability being expressly released and waived as a condition of and as a part of the consideration for the execution of this Funding Loan Agreement and the execution, delivery and placement of the Governmental Note. No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of the Governmental Lender contained in this Funding Loan Agreement shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any present or future member, officer, commissioner, director, agent or employee of the Governmental Lender in other than that person's official capacity. No member, officer, commissioner, director, agent or employee of the Governmental Lender shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the principal or redemption price of or interest on the Governmental Note or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the execution, delivery and placement of the Governmental Note.

It is recognized that notwithstanding any other provision of this Funding Loan Agreement, none of the Borrower, the Fiscal Agent or any holder of the Governmental Note shall look to the Governmental Lender for damages suffered by the Borrower, the Fiscal Agent or such owner as a result of the failure of the Governmental Lender to perform any covenant, undertaking or obligation under this Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement, the Governmental Note or any of the other documents referred to herein, or as a result of the incorrectness of any representation made by the Governmental Lender in any of such documents, or for any other reason. Although this Funding Loan Agreement recognizes that such documents shall not give rise to any pecuniary liability of the Governmental Lender, nothing contained in this Funding Loan Agreement shall be construed to preclude in any way any action or proceeding (other than that element of any action or proceeding involving a claim for monetary damages against the Governmental Lender) in any court or before any governmental body, agency or instrumentality or otherwise against the Governmental Lender or any of its officers or employees to enforce the provisions of any of such documents which the Governmental Lender is obligated to perform and the performance of which the Governmental Lender has not assigned to the Fiscal Agent or any other person.

**Section 11.10** *Successors and Assigns*. All the covenants and representations contained in this Funding Loan Agreement by or on behalf of the parties hereto shall bind and inure to the benefit of their successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not.

[COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW]

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the Governmental Lender, the Initial Funding Lender and the Fiscal Agent have caused this Funding Loan Agreement to be executed and delivered by duly authorized officers thereof as of the day and year first written above.

# HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

By:	
	Daniel D. Reynolds, Chairman
	•
Attest	:
By:	
	John G. Primeau, Secretary
	·
SEAL	_

INC	, a Delaware corporation
By:	
	Lesli D. Carroll
	Authorized Agent

STI INSTITUTIONAL & GOVERNMENT,

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

By:		
Name:		
Title: _		

\_\_\_\_\_, 2021

#### **EXHIBIT A**

## FORM OF GOVERNMENTAL NOTE

## MULTIFAMILY NOTE DESIGNATED AS MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE NOTE (PEMBROKE TOWER II), SERIES 2021

US not to exceed \$14,000,000

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, the HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY
OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA (the "Obligor"), promises to pay (but solely from the
sources and in the manner provided for in the Funding Loan Agreement referenced below) to the
order of STI INSTITUTIONAL & GOVERNMENT, INC. (the "Funding Lender"), and its
assigns, the maximum principal sum of FOURTEEN MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS (US
\$14,000,000), plus Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest thereon and to pay the other

amounts owing from time to time hereunder, all as set forth below.

- 1. **Defined Terms**. As used in this Note, (i) the term "Funding Lender" means the holder of this Note, and (ii) the term "Indebtedness" means the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on or any other amounts due at any time under this Note or the Funding Loan Agreement. "Event of Default" and other capitalized terms used but not defined in this Note shall have the meanings given to such term in the Funding Loan Agreement.
- 2. **Payments of Principal and Interest**. The Obligor shall pay (but solely from the sources and in the manner provided for in the Funding Loan Agreement) (a) during the Construction Phase, the fifth day of each calendar month, commencing \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021 and (b) during the Permanent Phase, the first day of each calendar month, interest on this Note at (i) the Construction Phase Interest Rate during the Construction Phase and (ii) the Permanent Phase Interest Rate during the Permanent Phase, and shall also pay interest on this Note at the foregoing rates on the date of any optional or mandatory prepayment or acceleration of all or part of the Funding Loan pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement, in an amount equal to the accrued and unpaid interest to the date of prepayment on the portion of this Note subject to prepayment

(each such date for payment an "Interest Payment Date"). Interest shall accrue on the principal amount of the Funding Loan which has been advanced under the Funding Loan Agreement and is outstanding as reflected on the Record of Advances.

The Obligor shall pay (but solely from the sources and in the manner provided for in the Funding Loan Agreement) the outstanding principal of this Note in full on [February] 1, 2039 (the "Maturity Date") and in monthly installments on each date set forth on the Funding Loan Amortization Schedule attached as <a href="Schedule 1">Schedule 1</a> hereto in an amount equal to the corresponding amounts set forth thereon (as such Schedule 1 may be replaced by a new Funding Loan Amortization Schedule provided by the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer on the Conversion Date as provided in Section 2.01(e) of the Funding Loan Agreement) or at such earlier times and in such amounts as may be required, in the event of an optional or mandatory prepayment or acceleration of the Funding Loan pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement. The outstanding principal hereof is subject to acceleration at the time or times and under the terms and conditions, and with notice, if any, as provided under the Funding Loan Agreement.

- 3. **Manner of Payment**. All payments under this Note shall be made in lawful currency of the United States and in immediately available funds as provided for herein and in the Funding Loan Agreement.
- 4. **Application of Payments**. If at any time the Funding Lender receives any amount applicable to the Indebtedness which is less than all amounts due and payable at such time, the Funding Lender may apply that payment to amounts then due and payable in any manner and in any order determined by the Funding Lender, in the Funding Lender's discretion. Neither the Funding Lender's acceptance of a payment in an amount that is less than all amounts then due and payable nor the Funding Lender's application of such payment shall constitute or be deemed to constitute either a waiver of the unpaid amounts or an accord and satisfaction.
- 5. **Security**. The Indebtedness is secured by, among other things, the Pledged Security pledged pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement.
- 6. **Acceleration**. If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the entire unpaid principal balance, any accrued interest, and all other amounts payable under this Note shall at once become due and payable, at the option of the Funding Lender, as governed by the Funding Loan Agreement, without any prior notice to the Obligor (unless required by applicable law). The Funding Lender may exercise this option to accelerate regardless of any prior forbearance.
- 7. **Prepayment; Prepayment Premium**. This Note is subject to prepayment as specified in the Funding Loan Agreement. Prepayment Premium shall be payable as specified in the Funding Loan Agreement.
- 8. **Forbearance**. Any forbearance by the Funding Lender in exercising any right or remedy under this Note or any other document evidencing or securing the Funding Loan or otherwise afforded by applicable law, shall not be a waiver of or preclude the exercise of that or any other right or remedy. The acceptance by the Funding Lender of any payment after the due date of such payment, or in an amount which is less than the required payment, shall not be a waiver of the Funding Lender's right to require prompt payment when due of all other payments

or to exercise any right or remedy with respect to any failure to make prompt payment. Enforcement by the Funding Lender of any security for the obligations under this Note shall not constitute an election by the Funding Lender of remedies so as to preclude the exercise of any other right or remedy available to the Funding Lender.

- 9. **Waivers**. Presentment, demand, notice of dishonor, protest, notice of acceleration, notice of intent to demand or accelerate payment or maturity, presentment for payment, notice of nonpayment, grace and diligence in collecting the Indebtedness are waived by the Obligor and all endorsers and guarantors of this Note and all other third-party obligors.
- 10. Loan Charges. Neither this Note nor any of the other Financing Documents will be construed to create a contract for the use, forbearance, or detention of money requiring payment of interest at a rate greater than the rate of interest which results in the maximum amount of interest allowed by applicable law (the "Maximum Interest Rate"). If any applicable law limiting the amount of interest or other charges permitted to be collected from Obligor in connection with the Funding Loan is interpreted so that any interest or other charge provided for in any Financing Document, whether considered separately or together with other charges provided for in any other Financing Document, violates that law, and Obligor is entitled to the benefit of that law, that interest or charge is hereby reduced to the extent necessary to eliminate that violation. The amounts, if any, previously paid to Funding Lender in excess of the permitted amounts will be applied by Funding Lender to reduce the unpaid principal balance of this Note. For the purpose of determining whether any applicable law limiting the amount of interest or other charges permitted to be collected from Obligor has been violated, all indebtedness that constitutes interest, as well as all other charges made in connection with the indebtedness that constitute interest, will be deemed to be allocated and spread ratably over the stated term of this Note. Unless otherwise required by applicable law, such allocation and spreading will be effected in such a manner that the rate of interest so computed is uniform throughout the stated term of this Note.
- 11. **Governing Law**. This Note shall be governed by the internal law of the State of Florida (the "**Property Jurisdiction**").
- 12. **Captions**. The captions of the paragraphs of this Note are for convenience only and shall be disregarded in construing this Note.
- 13. **Address for Payment**. All payments due under this Note shall be payable at the principal office of the Funding Lender as designated by the Funding Lender in writing to the Fiscal Agent and the Servicer.
- 14. **Default Rate**. So long as (a) any monthly installment under this Note remains past due, or (b) any other Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, interest under this Note shall accrue on the unpaid principal balance from the earlier of the due date of the first unpaid monthly installment or the occurrence of such other Event of Default, as applicable, at a rate (the "**Default Rate**") equal to the lesser of (i) the Construction Phase Interest Rate or Permanent Phase Interest Rate, as applicable, otherwise in effect notwithstanding the default plus four percent (4%) per annum or (ii) the Maximum Interest Rate. If the unpaid principal balance and all accrued interest are not paid in full on the Maturity Date, the unpaid principal balance and all accrued interest shall bear interest from the Maturity Date at the Default Rate.

Limited Obligation. THIS NOTE IS A LIMITED OBLIGATION OF THE OBLIGOR, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE PLEDGED SECURITY AND OTHER FUNDS AND MONEYS AND SECURITY PLEDGED AND ASSIGNED UNDER THE FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT. NONE OF THE OBLIGOR, BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE (EXCEPT THE OBLIGOR, TO THE LIMITED EXTENT SET FORTH HEREIN) NOR ANY PUBLIC AGENCY SHALL IN ANY EVENT BE LIABLE FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREPAYMENT PREMIUM (IF ANY) OR INTEREST ON THE FUNDING LOAN OR THIS NOTE, OR FOR THE PERFORMANCE OF ANY PLEDGE, OBLIGATION OR AGREEMENT OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER WITH RESPECT THERETO EXCEPT AS SET FORTH HEREIN AND IN THE FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT, AND NONE OF THE FUNDING LOAN OR THIS NOTE OR ANY OF THE OBLIGOR'S AGREEMENTS OR OBLIGATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE FUNDING LOAN OR THIS NOTE SHALL BE CONSTRUED TO CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OR A PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF OR A LOAN OF THE CREDIT OF OR A MORAL OBLIGATION OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION WHATSOEVER. THE OBLIGOR HAS NO TAXING POWER. NEITHER THE MEMBERS OF THE OBLIGOR NOR ANY PERSON EXECUTING THIS NOTE SHALL BE LIABLE PERSONALLY ON THIS NOTE BY REASON OF THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY THEREOF.

NO OFFICER, DIRECTOR, MEMBER, AGENT OR EMPLOYEE OF THE OBLIGOR, INCLUDING ANY PERSON EXECUTING THE FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT OR THIS NOTE, SHALL BE LIABLE PERSONALLY ON THIS NOTE OR FOR ANY REASON RELATING TO THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS NOTE. NO RECOURSE SHALL BE HAD FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR THE INTEREST ON THIS NOTE, OR FOR ANY CLAIM BASED ON THIS NOTE, OR OTHERWISE IN RESPECT OF THIS NOTE, OR BASED ON OR IN RESPECT OF THE FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT OR ANY SUPPLEMENT THERETO, AGAINST ANY OFFICER, DIRECTOR, MEMBER, AGENT OR EMPLOYEE, AS SUCH, OF THE OBLIGOR OR ANY SUCCESSOR, WHETHER BY VIRTUE OF ANY CONSTITUTION, STATUTE OR RULE OF LAW, OR BY THE ENFORCEMENT OF ANY ASSESSMENT OR PENALTY OR OTHERWISE, ALL SUCH LIABILITY BEING, BY THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS NOTE AND AS PART OF THE CONSIDERATION FOR THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS NOTE, EXPRESSLY WAIVED AND RELEASED.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Obligor has caused this Note to be duly executed by the manual or facsimile signature of its Chair and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its Secretary.

[SEAL]	HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
ATTEST:	ByChairman
By Secretary	

# CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This Note is issued under the provisions Funding Loan Agreement.	of and described in the within-mentioned
Date of Authentication:, 2021	
	THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.
	By:Authorized Signer

# SCHEDULE 1

## FUNDING LOAN AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE

[see attached]

## **EXHIBIT B**

# FORM OF NOTICE OF APPOINTMENT OF FUNDING LENDER REPRESENTATIVE

P BROWARD LLC Campa, Florida	
Iousing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida ort Lauderdale, Florida	
TI Institutional & Government, Inc. Orlando, Florida	
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. acksonville, Florida	
Re: Pembroke Tower II located in Pembroke Pines, Florida	
adies and Gentlemen:	
Revenue Note (Pembroke Tower II), Series 2021, dated, 2021 (the "Government Note"), delivered pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement, dated as of1, 2021 (the "Funding Loan Agreement"), among STI Institutional & Government, Inc., in its capacity initial Funding Lender (the "Initial Funding Lender"), the Housing Finance Authority forward County, Florida (the "Governmental Lender") and The Bank of New York Mello Trust Company, N.A. (the "Fiscal Agent"). Pursuant to Section 11.05 of the Funding Loan Agreement, you are hereby notified that, effective immediately upon receipt of this notice by the siscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative appointed under Section 11.05 of the Funding Loan Agreement shall be [The person or entity previous propointed as Funding Lender Representative shall upon the effectiveness of this notice no long ave any further rights or obligations as Funding Lender Representative.]  The following individual or individuals shall have the authority to execute any conservations.	he as of on an he ng ly
vaiver, approval, direction or other instrument on behalf of the Funding Lender Representative and the signature(s) set forth next to his/her (their) name(s) is (are) his/her (their) true and correspond to the signature(s).	ve
NAME SIGNATURE	

Additional individuals may be given such authority by written notice to you from the Funding Lender Representative or from the Funding Lender.

This notice is dated as of the	day of	·
	STI INSTITUTIONAL & INC.	& GOVERNMENT,
	By: Lesli D. Carroll Authorized Agent	

#### **EXHIBIT C**

### FORM OF TRANSFEREE REPRESENTATIONS LETTER

[To be prepared on letterhead of transferee]

[Date]

Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida Fort Lauderdale, Florida

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. Jacksonville, Florida

**Re:** Pembroke Tower II located in Pembroke Pines, Florida

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned (the "Funding Lender") hereby acknowledges receipt of the Multifamily Housing Revenue Note (Pembroke Tower II), Series 2021, dated \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021 (the "Governmental Note"), delivered pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement, dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_ 1, 2021 (the "Funding Loan Agreement"), among STI Institutional & Government, Inc., in its capacity as Initial Funding Lender (the "Initial Funding Lender"), the Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida (the "Governmental Lender") and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the "Fiscal Agent"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meanings given to such terms in the Funding Loan Agreement.

In connection with the [origination/purchase] of the Funding Loan by the Funding Lender, the Funding Lender hereby makes the following representations upon which you may rely:

- 1. The Funding Lender has authority to [originate/purchase] the Funding Loan and to execute this letter, and any other instruments and documents required to be executed by the Funding Lender in connection with the [origination/purchase] of the Funding Loan.
- 2. The Funding Lender is an "accredited investor" under Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Act") or a "qualified institutional buyer" under Rule 144(a) of said Act (such "accredited investor" or "qualified institutional buyer", a "Qualified Transferee"), and therefore, has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters (i) in general, and the purchase and ownership of municipal and tax-exempt obligations in particular, and (ii) with respect to the evaluation of residential real estate developments such as the Project, and the Funding Lender is capable of evaluating the risks and merits of its investment represented by the Funding Loan.
- 3. The Funding Lender acknowledges that it is [originating/purchasing] the Funding Loan for investment for its own account and not with a present view toward resale or the distribution thereof (except as set forth below), in that it does not now intend to resell or otherwise dispose of all or any part of its interests in the Funding Loan (except as set forth below). The Funding Lender understands that it may need to bear the risks of this investment for

an indefinite time, including the total loss of such investment, since any sale prior to maturity may not be possible. The Funding Lender is able to bear such risks. Notwithstanding the foregoing and the terms of Paragraph 4 below, the Funding Lender may (i) transfer the Funding Loan to any affiliate or other party related to the Funding Lender that is a Qualified Transferee or (ii) sell or transfer the Funding Loan to a special purpose entity, a trust or a custodial or similar pooling arrangement from which the Funding Loan or securitized interests therein are not expected to be sold except to (x) owners or beneficial owners thereof that are Qualified Transferees or (y) in circumstances where secondary market credit enhancement is provided for such securitized interests resulting in a rating thereof of at least "A" or better [INSERT FOR INITIAL FUNDING LENDER TRANSFEREE REPRESENTATION LETTER; provided, further, however, the Funding Lender has originated and funded the Funding Loan with the expectation that the Funding Loan will be sold to Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC on the Conversion Date and thereafter delivered to the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") pursuant to the forward commitment dated , 20 (the "Freddie Mac Commitment")] [INSERT FOR FREDDIE MAC SELLER/SERVICER TRANSFEREE REPRESENTATION LETTER; provided, further, however, the Funding Lender is purchasing the Funding Loan with the expectation that the Funding Loan will be sold to the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") pursuant to the forward commitment dated \_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_\_ (the "Freddie Mac Commitment")].

- In addition to the right to sell or transfer the Funding Loan as set forth in Paragraph 3 above, the Funding Lender further acknowledges its right to sell or transfer the Funding Loan, subject, as required under the Funding Loan Agreement, to the delivery to the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent of a transferee representations letter from the transferee to substantially the same effect as this Transferee Representations Letter or in such other form authorized by the Funding Loan Agreement with no revisions except as may be approved in writing by the Governmental Lender. The Funding Lender will not utilize any offering memorandum, placement memorandum or any other similar document in connection with any sale or transfer solely of the Funding Loan (or any interest therein) without providing the Governmental Lender with a draft of any such offering memorandum, placement memorandum or other similar document to be provided to any subsequent transferee, buyer or beneficial owner of the Funding Loan (or any interest therein), and the Governmental Lender shall have the right to approve any description of the Governmental Lender and the Funding Loan therein (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld). The Funding Lender acknowledges that any costs associated with any such approval by the Governmental Lender shall be paid or caused to be paid by the Funding Lender or any such transferee.
- 5. The Funding Lender understands that the Governmental Note is not registered under the Act and that such registration is not legally required as of the date hereof; and further understands that the Governmental Note (a) is not being registered or otherwise qualified for sale under the "Blue Sky" laws and regulations of any state, (b) will not be listed in any stock or other securities exchange, (c) will not carry a rating from any rating service and (d) will be delivered in a form which may not be readily marketable.
- 6. The Funding Lender understands that (a) the Governmental Note and the Funding Loan are limited obligations of the Governmental Lender, (b) the Funding Loan is not secured by any pledge of any moneys received or to be received from taxation by the State of Florida or any political subdivision thereof (including Broward County, Florida (the "County")) and that the

Governmental Lender has no taxing power, (c) the Funding Loan does not and will not represent or constitute a general obligation or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Governmental Lender, the State of Florida or any political subdivision thereof (including the County); and (d) the liability of the Governmental Lender with respect to the Funding Loan is limited to the Pledged Security as set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement.

- The Funding Lender has either been supplied with or been given access to information, including financial statements and other financial information, to which a reasonable investor would attach significance in making investment decisions, and which information the Funding Lender considers necessary to make an informed decision in connection with the [origination/purchase] of the Funding Loan, and the Funding Lender has had the opportunity to ask questions and receive answers from knowledgeable individuals concerning the Borrower, the Project, the Funding Loan, the use of proceeds of the Funding Loan and the security therefor so that, as a reasonable investor, the Funding Lender has been able to make its decision to purchase the Funding Loan. The Funding Lender acknowledges that it has made the decision to purchase the Funding Loan based on its own independent investigation regarding the Funding Loan, the Borrower and the Project and has not relied upon either of the addressees hereof for any information in connection with the Funding Lender's purchase of the Funding Loan. In addition, the Funding Lender has not relied upon the use of any offering memorandum, placement memorandum or any other similar document with regards to its decision to purchase the Funding Loan. The Funding Lender is making its decision to purchase the Funding Loan directly through its credit review and due diligence concerning the Project and the Borrower. The undersigned is acquiring the Funding Loan directly from the Governmental Lender and not through a placement of the Funding Loan with the Funding Lender through any financial institution acting as an intermediary between the Governmental Lender and the Funding Lender. The Funding Lender has not relied upon the Governmental Lender for any information in connection with its purchase of the Funding Loan, except as set forth in the Financing Documents and representations and covenants.
- 8. The Funding Lender has made its own inquiry and analysis with respect to the Funding Loan and the security therefor, and other material factors affecting the security and payment of the Funding Loan. The Funding Lender is aware that the business of the Borrower involves certain economic variables and risks that could adversely affect the security for the Funding Loan.
- 9. The Funding Lender acknowledges and understands that the addressees to this Transferee Representations Letter are relying and will continue to rely on the statements made herein.

All agreements, representations and warranties made herein shall survive the execution and delivery of this letter agreement and, notwithstanding any investigation heretofore or hereafter, shall continue in full force and effect.

#### [FUNDING LENDER SIGNATURE BLOCK]

By:	
Name:	
Title:	

# **EXHIBIT D**

# COSTS OF ISSUANCE REQUISITION (Cost of Issuance Fund)

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

Re:	Pembroke To	ower II located in Pembroke Pines, Florida
Fiscal	Agent:	
purpo shall I <b>Loan</b> Gover Housi Trust	on 4.13 of the se(s) set forth have the mear <b>Agreement</b> ") rnment, Inc., in ng Finance At Company, N	ruested to disburse funds from the Cost of Issuance Fund pursuant to Funding Loan Agreement in the amount(s), to the person(s) and for the in this requisition (the " <b>Requisition</b> "). The terms used in this requisitioning given to those terms in the Funding Loan Agreement (the " <b>Funding</b> , dated as of
	AMOUNT T	ON NO.: DUE TO: See attached schedule. O BE DISBURSED: \$ OUNT DISBURSED TO DATE: \$ gned, on behalf of SP Broward LLC, a limited liability company duly
organi		ng under the laws of the State of Florida (the "Borrower"), certifies that:
	any previous	the expenditures for which money is requisitioned by this Requisition oper charges against the Cost of Issuance Fund, have not been included in requisition and are set forth in the Schedule attached to this Requisition attached for any sums for which reimbursement is requested;
	•	the money requisitioned is not greater than those necessary to mee lue and payable or to reimburse the applicable party for funds actually Costs of Issuance; and
	(c)	total disbursements made to date do not exceed \$
		[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

Attached to this Requisit covering all items for which pay	tion is a Schedule, together with copies of invoices or bills of sale ment is being requested.
Date of Requisition:	
	SP BROWARD LLC, a Florida limited liability company
	By: SP Broward Manager LLC, a Florida limited liability company, its Manager
	By:  J. David Page, its Manager

#### **EXHIBIT E-1**

# PROJECT LOAN FUND REQUISITION (Project Loan Fund)

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

Re: Pembroke Tower II located in Pembroke Pines, Florida

You are requested to disburse funds from the Project Loan Fund pursuant to Section 4.02
of the Funding Loan Agreement in the amount(s), to the person(s) and for the purpose(s) set
forth in this Project Loan Fund Requisition (Project Loan Fund) (the "Requisition"). The terms
used in this requisition shall have the meaning given to those terms in the Funding Loan
Agreement (the "Funding Loan Agreement"), dated as of 1, 2021, by and among STI
Institutional & Government, Inc., in its capacity as Initial Funding Lender (the "Initial Funding
Lender"), the Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida (the "Governmental
Lender") and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Fiscal Agent (the "Fiscal
Agent"), securing the Multifamily Housing Revenue Note (Pembroke Tower II), Series 2021,
dated, 2021 (the "Governmental Note").
REQUISITION NO.:
PAYMENT DUE TO: See attached schedule.
AMOUNT(S) TO BE DISBURSED: \$ from the Project Account
\$ from the Borrower Equity Account
TOTAL AMOUNT DISBURSED TO DATE: \$

The undersigned Borrower hereby represents and warrants that the following information and certifications provided in connection with this Requisition are true and correct as of the date hereof and authorizes Servicer to submit this Requisition to the Fiscal Agent on behalf of Borrower:

- 1. Purposes for which disbursement is requested are specified in the **attached Schedule**.
- 2. Party or parties to whom the disbursements shall be made are specified in the **attached Schedule** (may be the undersigned in the case of reimbursement for advances and payments made or cost incurred for work done by the undersigned); provided, that no reimbursement shall be made for advances and payments made prior to February 21, 2021 (which is the date that is 60 days prior to the date that the Governmental Lender declared its official intent to reimburse expenditures related to the Project).
  - 3. The undersigned certifies that:
    - a. the conditions precedent to disbursement set forth in the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement have been satisfied;

- b. the disbursement requested pursuant to this Requisition will be used solely to pay a cost or costs allowable under the Funding Loan Agreement and the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement;
- c. none of the items for which disbursement is requested pursuant to this Requisition has formed the basis for any disbursement previously made from the Project Loan Fund and all such items have been properly recorded in Borrower's books and are set forth on the Schedule attached hereto, along with paid invoices attached for any sum for which reimbursement is requested and invoices or bills of sales for all other items;
- d. except as provided in Section 3.1(d) of the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, all labor and materials for which disbursements have been requested have been incorporated into the Project in accordance with reasonable and standard building practices, the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement and all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of any governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Project;
- e. the materials, supplies and equipment furnished or installed for the Improvements are not subject to any lien or security interest or that the funds to be disbursed pursuant to this Requisition are to be used to satisfy any such lien or security interest;
- f. all of the funds being requisitioned are being used in compliance with all tax covenants set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Tax Certificates, including that none of the proceeds of the Funding Loan (including investment earnings thereon) will be used to provide an airplane, a skybox or any other private luxury box, any facility primarily used for gambling, health club facility or any store the principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises;
- g. with respect to amounts from the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund, not less than 95% of the sum of:
  - (A) the amounts requisitioned by this Requisition; plus
  - (B) all amounts previously requisitioned and disbursed from the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund;

have been or will be applied by Borrower to pay the Costs of the Project;

- h. Borrower is not in default under the Project Loan Agreement, the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement or any other Project Loan Document to which it is a party and nothing has occurred to the knowledge of Borrower that would prevent the performance of its obligations under such documents;
- i. no amounts being requisitioned hereby will be used to pay, or reimburse, any Costs of Issuance incurred in connection with the delivery of the Governmental Note or pay debt service with respect to the Loans; and

j.	Funds deposited with Borrower for further disbursement to third parties shall be
	paid to such third parties by check dated the date of such deposit and Borrower
	reasonably expects such funds will be disbursed from its account within five
	Business Days of such deposit.

[Following items may not be required for Initial Disbursement]

	Estimated costs of completing the uncompleted construction as of the date of this on:
5.	Percent of construction completed as of the date this request:%
6.	The total amount of disbursements to date does not exceed \$
IN	WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Requisition as of
	SP BROWARD LLC, a Florida limited liability company
	By: SP Broward Manager LLC, a Florida limited liability company, its Manager
	By: J. David Page, its Manager
APPROV	ED:
[SERVIC	EER SIGNATURE BLOCK]
Nam Title	

#### **EXHIBIT E-2**

# SUBORDINATE LOAN FUND REQUISITION (Subordinate Loan Fund)

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

Re: Pembroke Tower II located in Pembroke Pines, Florida

You are requested to disburse funds from the Section 4.07 of the Funding Loan Agreement in the a	mount(s), to the person(s) and for the
purpose(s) set forth in this Subordinate Loan Fund Rec	juisition (Subordinate Loan Fund) (the
"Requisition"). The terms used in this requisition shall h	ave the meaning given to those terms in
the Funding Loan Agreement (the "Funding Loan Agree	<b>ement</b> "), dated as of1, 2021, by
and among STI Institutional & Government, Inc., in its	capacity as Initial Funding Lender (the
"Initial Funding Lender"), the Housing Finance Auth	1 0
"Governmental Lender") and The Bank of New York	•
Agent (the "Fiscal Agent"), securing the Multifamily Ho	1 0
II), Series 2021, dated, 2021 (the "Government	`
REQUISITION NO.:	
PAYMENT DUE TO: See attached schedule.	
AMOUNT(S) TO BE DISBURSED: \$	from the County Loan Account
\$	from the SAIL Loan Account
\$	from the ELI Loan Account
\$	from the NHTF Loan Account
TOTAL AMOUNT DISDURGED TO DATE (	
TOTAL AMOUNT DISBURSED TO DATE: \$	

The undersigned Borrower hereby represents and warrants that the following information and certifications provided in connection with this Requisition are true and correct as of the date hereof and authorizes Servicer or the County Loan Servicer, as applicable, to submit this Requisition to the Fiscal Agent on behalf of Borrower:

- 1. Purposes for which disbursement is requested are specified in the **attached Schedule**.
- 2. Party or parties to whom the disbursements shall be made are specified in the **attached Schedule** (may be the undersigned in the case of reimbursement for advances and payments made or cost incurred for work done by the undersigned).
  - 3. The undersigned certifies that:
    - a. the conditions precedent to disbursement set forth in the applicable Subordinate Loan Documents have been satisfied;

- b. the disbursement requested pursuant to this Requisition will be used solely to pay a cost or costs allowable under the Funding Loan Agreement and the applicable Subordinate Loan Documents:
- c. none of the items for which disbursement is requested pursuant to this Requisition has formed the basis for any disbursement previously made from the Subordinate Loan Fund and all such items have been properly recorded in Borrower's books and are set forth on the Schedule attached hereto, along with paid invoices attached for any sum for which reimbursement is requested and invoices or bills of sales for all other items;
- d. all labor and materials for which disbursements have been requested have been incorporated into the Project in accordance with reasonable and standard building practices, the applicable Subordinate Loan Documents and all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of any governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Project;
- e. the materials, supplies and equipment furnished or installed for the Improvements are not subject to any lien or security interest or that the funds to be disbursed pursuant to this Requisition are to be used to satisfy any such lien or security interest:
- f. all of the funds being requisitioned are being used in compliance with all tax covenants set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Regulatory Agreement and the Tax Certificates, including that none of the proceeds of the Subordinate Loan (including investment earnings thereon) will be used to provide an airplane, a skybox or any other private luxury box, any facility primarily used for gambling, health club facility or any store the principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises;
- g. Borrower is not in default under the Project Loan Agreement, the Subordinate Loan Documents or any other Project Loan Document to which it is a party and nothing has occurred to the knowledge of Borrower that would prevent the performance of its obligations under such documents;
- h. no amounts being requisitioned hereby will be used to pay, or reimburse, any Costs of Issuance incurred in connection with the delivery of the Governmental Note or pay debt service with respect to the Loans; and
- i. Funds deposited with Borrower for further disbursement to third parties shall be paid to such third parties by check dated the date of such deposit and Borrower reasonably expects such funds will be disbursed from its account within five Business Days of such deposit.

[Following items may not be required for Initial Disbursement]

4.	Estimated	costs of	completing	the	uncompleted	construction	as	of	the	date	of	this
Requisitio	n:											

5. Percent of construction c	ompleted as of the date this request:%
6. The total amount of disb	ursements to date does not exceed \$
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, t	he undersigned has executed this Requisition as of
<u> </u>	SP BROWARD LLC, a Florida limited liability company
	By: SP Broward Manager LLC, a Florida limited liability company, its Manager
	Ву:
	By: J. David Page, its Manager
APPROVED:	
[SERVICER SIGNATURE BLOC	CK1
	<b></b> ]
By:	
Name: Title:	
APPROVED:	
[COUNTY LOAN SERVICER SI	GNATURE BLOCK]
	•
By:	
Name: Title:	

# EXHIBIT "B" FORM OF PROJECT LOAN AGREEMENT

[ATTACHED]

#### PROJECT LOAN AGREEMENT

#### among

# HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, as Governmental Lender

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

and

SP BROWARD LLC, as Borrower

## Relating to

Pembroke Tower II [2201 North University Drive], Pembroke Pines, Florida 33024

Maximum Project Loan Principal Amount: \$14,000,000

Dated as	of	1,	, 20	2	

All of the right, title and interest of the HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA (except for its Unassigned Rights) in and to this Project Loan Agreement are being assigned to THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Fiscal Agent, as security for the Funding Loan made pursuant to that certain Funding Loan Agreement dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_1, 2021, by and among the Governmental Lender, the Initial Funding Lender named therein and the Fiscal Agent.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
	ARTICLE I
	DEFINITIONS
Section 1.01	Definitions
Section 1.01 Section 1.02	Interpretation 4
Section 1.02	merpretation
	ARTICLE II
	REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS
Section 2.01	Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Governmental Lender 4
Section 2.02	Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Borrower
Section 2.03	Representations and Warranties of the Fiscal Agent
Section 2.04	Arbitrage and Rebate Fund Calculations
Section 2.05	Tax Covenants of the Borrower
	ARTICLE III
	THE PROJECT LOAN
C4: 2 01	Conditions to Founding the Design I and
Section 3.01	Conditions to Funding the Project Loan
Section 3.02	Terms of the Project Loan; Servicing
Section 3.03	Deposits
Section 3.04	Pledge and Assignment to Fiscal Agent
Section 3.05	Investment of Funds
Section 3.06	Damage; Destruction and Eminent Domain
Section 3.07	Enforcement of Financing Documents
Section 3.08	Advances
	A D'TICLE IV
	ARTICLE IV LOAN PAYMENTS
	LOAN PAIMENTS
Section 4.01 Section 4.02	Payments Under the Project Note; Independent Obligation of Borrower
500000 4.02	Agreement
Section 4.03	Payments to Rebate Fund
Section 4.04	Prepayment
Section 4.05	Borrower's Obligations Upon Prepayment
Section 4.06	Limits on Personal Liability
	ADTICLE V
	ARTICLE V SPECIAL COVENANTS OF BORROWER
Section 5.01	Performance of Obligations
Section 5.02	Compliance With Applicable Laws
Section 5.03	Funding Loan Agreement Provisions

Section 5.04	Reserved	21
Section 5.05	Borrower to Maintain Its Existence; Certification of No Default	21
Section 5.06	Borrower to Remain Qualified in State and Appoint Agent	
Section 5.07	Sale or Other Transfer of Project	22
Section 5.08	Right to Perform Borrower's Obligations	22
Section 5.09	Notice of Certain Events	
Section 5.10	Survival of Covenants	22
Section 5.11	Access to Project; Records	22
Section 5.12	Tax Regulatory Agreement	23
Section 5.13	Damage, Destruction and Condemnation	23
Section 5.14	Obligation of the Borrower To Construct the Project	23
Section 5.15	Filing of Financing Statements	
	ARTICLE VI	
	INDEMNIFICATION	
Section 6.01	Indemnification	24
Section 6.02	Limitation With Respect to the Funding Lender	26
	ARTICLE VII	
	EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES	
Section 7.01	Events of Default	27
Section 7.02	Remedies on Default	28
Section 7.03	No Remedy Exclusive	
Section 7.04	Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses	
Section 7.05	No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver	29
Section 7.06	Control of Proceedings	29
Section 7.07	Assumption of Obligations	31
	ARTICLE VIII	
	MISCELLANEOUS	
Section 8.01	Notices	
Section 8.02	Concerning Successors and Assigns	
Section 8.03	Governing Law	33
Section 8.04	Modifications in Writing	33
Section 8.05	Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments	33
Section 8.06	Captions	33
Section 8.07	Severability	
Section 8.08	Counterparts	
Section 8.09	Amounts Remaining in Loan Payment Fund or Other Funds	
Section 8.10	Effective Date and Term	
Section 8.11	Cross References.	
Section 8.12	Funding Lender Representative and Servicer as Third-Party Beneficiaries	
Section 8.13	ReservedError! Bookmark not de	
Section 8.14	Non-Liability of Governmental Lender	34

Section 8.15	No Liability of Officers	35	
	Capacity of the Fiscal Agent		
Section 8.17	Reliance	35	

#### PROJECT LOAN AGREEMENT

## **RECITALS**

- **A.** The Governmental Lender is a public body corporate and politic duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida and pursuant to Part II and Part IV, Chapter 159, Florida Statutes (the "**Act**"), and pursuant to action of Broward County, Florida.
- **B.** Pursuant to the Act, the Board of County Commissioners of Broward County, Florida (the "**County**"), enacted Ordinance No. 79-41 on June 20, 1979, creating the Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida to carry out and exercise all powers and public and governmental functions set forth in and contemplated by the Act.
- **C.** Pursuant to the laws of the State of Florida, particularly the Act, the Governmental Lender is authorized to carry out the public purposes described in the Act by issuance of its revenue bonds to provide funds for the financing of the acquisition, construction, equipping and development of multifamily housing facilities located in Pembroke Pines, Florida.
- **D.** The Act defines "bonds" as any bonds, notes, interim certificates, debentures, or other obligations authorized to be issued by any housing finance authority pursuant to the Act.
- **E.** Pursuant to the Act and this Project Loan Agreement, the Governmental Lender is agreeing to make a mortgage loan to the Borrower in the maximum aggregate principal amount of \$14,000,000 (the "**Project Loan**") to provide for the financing of the acquisition and construction of a multifamily rental housing development located at [2201 North University Drive], Pembroke Pines, Florida, to be known as Pembroke Tower II (the "**Project**").
- F. The Governmental Lender is making the Project Loan to the Borrower with the proceeds received from the loan in the maximum aggregate principal amount of \$14,000,000 (the "Funding Loan" and together with the Project Loan, the "Loans") made to the Governmental Lender pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement (the "Funding Loan Agreement"), by and among STI Institutional & Government, Inc., a Delaware corporation, in its capacity as Initial Funding Lender (the "Initial Funding Lender"), the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent. The Funding Loan is evidenced by the Governmental Lender's Multifamily Note designated the "Multifamily Housing Revenue Note (Pembroke Tower II Project), Series 2021", dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021 (together with all riders and addenda thereto, the "Governmental Note"), delivered by the Governmental Lender to the Initial Funding Lender.

- G. The Initial Funding Lender, pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of the Funding Loan Agreement, the Construction Phase Financing Agreement and the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, has agreed to originate and fund the Funding Loan to the Governmental Lender on a draw-down basis, which proceeds of the Funding Loan will be used by the Governmental Lender to fund the Project Loan to the Borrower in corresponding installments pursuant to this Project Loan Agreement. The Initial Funding Lender will administer the Loans during the Construction Phase in accordance with the Financing Documents.
- **H.** The Borrower has agreed to use the proceeds of the Project Loan to finance the acquisition and construction of the Project, to pay certain closing costs with respect to the Loan, and to pay interest on the Governmental Note during the period of construction of the Project.
- I. The Borrower's repayment obligations in respect of the Project Loan will be evidenced by a Promissory Note, dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021 (together with all riders and modifications thereto, the "**Project Note**"), delivered to the Governmental Lender, which Project Note will be endorsed by the Governmental Lender to the Fiscal Agent as security for the Funding Loan.
- **J.** To secure the Borrower's obligations under the Project Note, the Borrower will execute and deliver to the Governmental Lender a Mortgage, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of the Delivery Date (the "**Security Instrument**") with respect to the Project, which Security Instrument will be assigned by the Governmental Lender to the Fiscal Agent as security for the Funding Loan.
- K. The Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, a shareholder-owned government-sponsored enterprise ("Freddie Mac") has entered into a commitment with Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (the "Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer"), dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021 (the "Freddie Mac Commitment"), whereby Freddie Mac has committed, subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions to Conversion set forth in the Construction Phase Financing Agreement on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date, to facilitate the financing of the Project in the Permanent Phase by purchasing the Funding Loan from the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer following the Conversion Date.
- L. If the Conditions to Conversion are satisfied on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date as provided for in the Freddie Mac Commitment and the Construction Phase Financing Agreement, the Project Loan will convert from the Construction Phase to the Permanent Phase on the Conversion Date and, on such Conversion Date, the Initial Funding Lender shall deliver, and the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer shall purchase, the Funding Loan, as evidenced by the Governmental Note. If the Conditions to Conversion are not satisfied on or before the Forward Commitment Maturity Date, the Project Loan will not convert from the Construction Phase to the Permanent Phase, and neither the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer nor Freddie Mac will have any obligation with respect to the purchase of the Funding Loan and the Initial Funding Lender will remain the owner of the Funding Loan as the holder of the Governmental Note.

- **M.** As a Condition to Conversion, the Project Note and the Security Instrument are required to be amended and restated and the Borrower is required to enter into a Continuing Covenant Agreement with the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer (the "**Freddie Mac Continuing Covenant Agreement**"), in each case pursuant to the forms attached to the Construction Phase Financing Agreement.
- **N.** If the Conditions to Conversion are satisfied and the Funding Loan is purchased by the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer on the Conversion Date as set forth above, the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer shall deliver the Funding Loan to Freddie Mac for purchase pursuant to the terms of the Freddie Mac Commitment and the Guide (such date of purchase by Freddie Mac being referred to as the "**Freddie Mac Purchase Date**").
- O. Upon the occurrence of the Freddie Mac Purchase Date, the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer will assign to Freddie Mac all of its rights and interest in the Funding Loan, the Governmental Note, the Funding Loan Agreement, the Freddie Mac Continuing Covenant Agreement and the other Financing Documents. The Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer will act as Servicer for the Loans on behalf of Freddie Mac, as Funding Lender, on and after the Freddie Mac Purchase Date.
- **NOW, THEREFORE,** for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and representations hereinafter contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

#### **ARTICLE I**

#### **DEFINITIONS**

**Section 1.01** *Definitions*. All words and phrases (except for Event of Default) defined in the Funding Loan Agreement and the Continuing Covenant Agreement shall have the same meanings for the purposes of this Project Loan Agreement. In addition to the words and phrases defined in the Funding Loan Agreement and elsewhere herein, the following words and phrases shall have the following meanings:

"Event of Default" means any of those events specified in and defined by the applicable provisions of Article VII hereof to constitute an event of default.

"Fee Component" means the regular, ongoing fees due from time to time to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Rebate Analyst, if any, expressed as a flat, fixed amount or in terms of a percentage of the unpaid principal amount of the Funding Loan on an annual basis.

"Project Loan Agreement" means this Project Loan Agreement, together with any amendments hereto.

"Project Loan Amortization Schedule" means the Project Loan Amortization Schedule to be attached as <u>Schedule 1</u> to the Project Note on the Conversion Date.

"Project Loan Payment" means each payment of the Project Loan on each Project Loan Payment Date pursuant to the Project Note and this Project Loan Agreement.

"Project Loan Payment Date" means (A) (i) during the Construction Phase, the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) day of each calendar month, commencing \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021, and (ii) during the Permanent Phase, the first (1<sup>st</sup>) day of each calendar month, or (B) any other date on which the Project Loan is prepaid or paid, whether at scheduled maturity or upon prepayment or acceleration of the maturity thereof; provided, however, that if a Project Loan Payment Date is not a Business Day, payment shall be made on the first Business Day following such Project Loan Payment Date.

"Servicing Fee" means, (i) during the Construction Phase, the fee payable to the Servicer in connection with the servicing of the Project Loan and the Funding Loan payable monthly in an amount equal to 1/12 of [0.10]% of the outstanding principal balance of the Project Loan, computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve (12) thirty (30)-day months, and (ii) during the Permanent Phase, the ordinary fee payable to the Servicer in connection with the servicing of the Project Loan and the Funding Loan payable monthly in an amount equal to 1/12 of [0.17]% of the outstanding principal balance of the Project Loan, computed on the basis of a 360-day year and the actual number of days elapsed.

"Taxes" means all taxes, water rents, sewer rents, assessments and other governmental or municipal or public or private dues, fees, charges and levies and any liens (including federal tax liens) which are or may be levied, imposed or assessed upon the Project or any part thereof, or upon any leases pertaining thereto, or upon the rents, issues, income or profits thereof, whether any or all of the aforementioned be levied directly or indirectly or as excise taxes or as income taxes.

**Section 1.02** *Interpretation.* Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders. Words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa unless the context shall otherwise indicate. Words importing persons include firms, partnerships, limited liability companies, joint ventures, associations and corporations. References to Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this Project Loan Agreement are the Articles, sections and other subdivisions of this Project Loan Agreement as originally executed.

The terms "herein," "hereunder," "hereby," "hereto," "hereof" and any similar terms refer to this Project Loan Agreement; the term "heretofore" means before the date of execution of this Project Loan Agreement; and the term "hereafter" means after the date of execution of this Project Loan Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE II**

#### REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

Section 2.01 Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Governmental Lender. The Governmental Lender makes the following representations, warranties and covenants for the benefit of the Borrower, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender and the Servicer:

- (a) The Governmental Lender is a public body corporate and politic duly created, organized and validly existing under the laws of the State.
- (b) The Governmental Lender has all necessary power and authority to incur the indebtedness of the Funding Loan evidenced by the Governmental Note and to make the Project Loan from the proceeds thereof, and to execute and deliver this Project Loan Agreement, the Funding Loan Agreement, and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and to perform its duties and discharge its obligations hereunder and thereunder.
- (c) The Governmental Lender has taken all action on its part to incur the Funding Loan evidenced by the Governmental Note and make the Project Loan from the proceeds thereof and for the sale, execution and delivery thereof.
- (d) Each of the Financing Documents to which the Governmental Lender is a party has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by the Governmental Lender and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Governmental Lender, enforceable against the Governmental Lender in accordance with its respective terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and the application of equitable principles.
- (e) The Governmental Lender has complied with the provisions of the laws of the State, including, but not limited to, the Act, which are prerequisites to the consummation of the transactions on the part of the Governmental Lender described or contemplated in the Financing Documents. The execution and delivery of the Governmental Note and the Financing Documents to which the Governmental Lender is a party, the consummation of the transactions on the part of the Governmental Lender contemplated thereby and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions thereof do not conflict with or result in the breach of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any agreement or instrument or judgment, order or decree to which the Governmental Lender is now a party or by which it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing or result in the creation or imposition of any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature upon any property or assets of the Governmental Lender under the terms of any instrument or agreement.
- (f) No authorization, consent, approval, order, registration, declaration or withholding of objection on the part of, or filing of or with any governmental authority, other than those already obtained, is required for the due execution and delivery by the Governmental Lender of, and performance by the Governmental Lender of its obligations under, the Financing Documents.
- (g) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation pending or, to the knowledge of the Governmental Lender, threatened against the Governmental Lender by or before any court, governmental agency or public board or body, nor, to the Governmental Lender's knowledge, is there any basis therefor, which (i) affects or questions the existence or the territorial jurisdiction of the Governmental Lender or the

title to office of any member of the governing body of the Governmental Lender; (ii) affects or seeks to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the execution and delivery of any Financing Documents or the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Governmental Note; (iii) affects or questions the validity or enforceability of the Governmental Note or any Financing Document; (iv) questions the tax-exempt status of the Governmental Note; or (v) questions the power or authority of the Governmental Lender to perform its obligations under the Governmental Note or any Financing Document, or to carry out the transactions contemplated by the Governmental Note and the Financing Documents.

- (h) No officer or other official of the Governmental Lender has any personal financial interest in the Project or the Borrower or in the transactions contemplated by this Project Loan Agreement.
- (i) Upon the discovery by the Governmental Lender of any noncompliance by the Borrower with this Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Certificates or the Tax Regulatory Agreement, the Governmental Lender will promptly notify the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative of such noncompliance and will, subject to the provisions of Article VII hereof, promptly institute action, or cause the Fiscal Agent to institute action, to correct such noncompliance, will diligently pursue such action and will attempt to correct such noncompliance within sixty (60) days after such discovery, subject to the provisions of the Funding Loan Agreement, this Project Loan Agreement, the Tax Certificates and the Tax Regulatory Agreement.

It is expressly acknowledged that the Governmental Lender makes no representation as to the financial position or business condition of the Borrower and does not represent or warrant as to any of the statements, materials (financial or otherwise), representations or certifications furnished or to be made and furnished by the Borrower in connection with the issuance, sale, execution and delivery of the Governmental Note, or as to the correctness, completeness or accuracy of such statements.

Section 2.02 Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Borrower. The Borrower makes the following representations, warranties and covenants, all of which, together with the other representations and agreements of the Borrower contained in this Project Loan Agreement, are relied upon by the Governmental Lender, the Funding Lender, the Servicer and the Fiscal Agent and serve as a basis for the undertakings of the Governmental Lender, the Servicer and the Fiscal Agent contained in this Project Loan Agreement:

(a) The Borrower is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state in which it has been organized and is duly qualified to conduct its business under the laws of the State and in every other state in which the nature of its business requires such qualification, has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents, and to carry out and consummate all transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Financing Documents, and by proper action has duly authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents. All managers of the Borrower are duly organized and in good standing under the laws of their respective states of organization and are duly qualified to

transact business in the State as either domestic or foreign corporations or limited liability companies, as applicable.

- (b) The Borrower has the legal right, power and authority to (i) own its properties and assets, including, but not limited to, the Project, (ii) to carry on its business as now being conducted and the Borrower contemplates it to be conducted with respect to the Project and (iii) execute and deliver, carry out its obligations under, and close the transactions provided for in, the Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (c) Each of the Financing Documents to which the Borrower is a party has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and general principles of equity.
- (d) No authorization, consent, approval, order, registration, declaration or withholding of objection on the part of, or filing of or with any governmental authority, other than those already obtained or those necessary to be obtained during the course of construction of the Project, is required for the due execution and delivery or approval, as the case may be, by the Borrower of, and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations under, the Financing Documents.
- None of the execution and delivery of the Financing Documents to which the Borrower is a party, the consummation of the transactions provided for in the Financing Documents, or the Borrower's fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of the Financing Documents (i) violates or will violate any law, rule or regulation of any governmental agency or body having jurisdiction over the Borrower, or any of its activities or properties, or any judgment, order, writ, injunction or decree to which the Borrower is subject, or any of the organizational or other governing documents of the Borrower, (ii) conflicts or will conflict with any agreement, instrument or license to which the Borrower is now a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is bound or results or will result in a breach of, or constitutes or will constitute a default (with due notice or the passage of time or both) under, any such agreement, instrument or license, (iii) contravenes or will contravene any such law, rule or regulation or any such judgment, order, writ, injunction or decree, or (iv) result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Borrower, except for any lien, charge or encumbrance permitted under the terms of the Financing Documents.
- (f) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation pending or, to the Borrower's knowledge, threatened against or affecting the Borrower or any of its properties (including, without limitation, the Project), which, if adversely determined, would (i) impair the right of the Borrower to carry on its business substantially as now conducted and as contemplated by the Financing Documents, (ii) adversely affect the financial condition of the Borrower, (iii) prohibit, restrain or enjoin the making of the

Funding Loan or the Project Loan or the execution and delivery of any of the Financing Documents, (iv) adversely affect the validity or enforceability of any of the Financing Documents, or (v) adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Governmental Note.

- (g) The Project and the operation of the Project (in the manner contemplated by the Financing Documents) conform or are legally conforming and, following completion of the construction and equipping of the Project, will continue to conform in all material respects with the requirements of the Act as well as all applicable zoning, planning, building and environmental laws, ordinances and regulations of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project.
- (h) The Borrower has filed or caused to be filed all federal, state and local tax returns which are required to be filed or has obtained appropriate extensions therefor, and has paid or caused to be paid all taxes as shown on said returns or on any assessment received by it, to the extent that such taxes have become due.
- (i) The Borrower is not in default in the performance, observance or fulfillment of any of the obligations, covenants or conditions contained in any agreement or instrument to which it is a party which default would materially adversely affect the transactions contemplated by the Financing Documents or the operations of the Borrower or the enforceability of the Financing Documents to which the Borrower is a party or the ability of the Borrower to perform all obligations thereunder.
- (j) The Borrower agrees to pay all costs of maintenance and repair, all Taxes and assessments, insurance premiums (including public liability insurance and insurance against damage to or destruction of the Project) concerning or in any way related to the Project, or any part thereof, and any expenses or renewals thereof, and any other governmental charges and impositions whatsoever, foreseen or unforeseen, and all utility and other charges and assessments concerning or in any way related to the Project.
- (k) If the Borrower is a partnership, all of the partnership interests in the Borrower are validly issued and are fully registered, if required, with the applicable governmental authorities and/or agencies, and there are no outstanding options or rights to purchase or acquire those interests. If the Borrower is a limited liability company, all of the ownership interests in the Borrower are validly issued and are fully registered, if required, with the applicable governmental authorities and/or agencies, and there are no outstanding options or rights to purchase or acquire those interests except as may be provided pursuant to the Borrower Operating Agreement. Nothing in this Project Loan Agreement shall prevent the Borrower from issuing additional partnership interests or ownership interests if such units are issued in accordance with all applicable securities laws.
- (l) The representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in the Tax Certificates and Tax Regulatory Agreement are true and accurate in all material respects.

- (m) The information, statements or reports furnished in writing to the Governmental Lender, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative by the Borrower in connection with this Project Loan Agreement and the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and the representations and warranties of the Borrower and the statements, information and descriptions contained in the Borrower's closing certificates, as of the Delivery Date, are true and correct in all material respects, do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact, and do not omit to state a material fact necessary to make the representations, warranties, statements, information and descriptions contained therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and any estimates or assumptions contained in any certificate of the Borrower delivered as of the Delivery Date are reasonable.
- (n) To the knowledge of the Borrower, no commissioner, member, officer or employee of the Governmental Lender has been or is in any manner interested, directly or indirectly, in that person's own name or in the name of any other person, in the Financing Documents, the Borrower or the Project, in any contract for property or materials to be furnished or used in connection with the Project, or in any aspect of the transactions contemplated by the Financing Documents.
- (o) The Borrower intends to hold the Project for its own account and has no current plans to sell, and has not entered into any agreement, to sell all or any portion of the Project.
- (p) The Project is located wholly within the boundaries of Broward County, Florida.
- (q) The Borrower shall make no changes to the Project or to the operation thereof which would affect the qualification of the Project under the Act or impair the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest on the Governmental Note. The Borrower shall operate the Project as required by the Tax Regulatory Agreement.
- (r) The Funding Loan Agreement has been submitted to the Borrower for examination, and the Borrower, by execution of this Project Loan Agreement, acknowledges and agrees that it has participated in the drafting of the Funding Loan Agreement and that it is bound by, shall adhere to the provisions of, covenants and agrees to perform all obligations required of the Borrower pursuant to, and shall have the rights set forth by the applicable terms and conditions of, the Funding Loan Agreement.
- (s) The Borrower will have a fee simple interest in the land and improvements on the Project, subject only to encumbrances permitted under the Security Instrument.
- (t) The Borrower acknowledges that (i) it understands the nature and structure of the transactions relating to the financing of the Project, (ii) it is familiar with the

provisions of all of the documents and instruments relating to the financing, (iii) it understands the risks inherent in such transactions, including without limitation the risk of loss of the Project, and (iv) it has not relied on the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, Freddie Mac, the Funding Lender, the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer for any guidance or expertise in analyzing the financial or other consequences of the transactions contemplated by the Financing Documents or otherwise relied on the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, Freddie Mac, the Funding Lender, the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer in any manner.

- **Section 2.03** *Representations and Warranties of the Fiscal Agent.* The Fiscal Agent makes the following representations and warranties for the benefit of the Governmental Lender, the Borrower, the Funding Lender and the Servicer:
  - (a) The Fiscal Agent is a national banking association, duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States. The Fiscal Agent is duly authorized to act as a fiduciary and to execute the trust created by the Funding Loan Agreement, and meets the qualifications to act as Fiscal Agent under the Funding Loan Agreement.
  - (b) The Fiscal Agent has complied with the provisions of law which are prerequisite to the consummation of, and has all necessary power (including trust powers) and authority (i) to execute and deliver this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, (ii) to perform its obligations under this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and (iii) to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
  - (c) The Fiscal Agent has duly authorized (i) the execution and delivery of this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, (ii) the performance by the Fiscal Agent of its obligations under this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and (iii) the actions of the Fiscal Agent contemplated by this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
  - (d) Each of the Financing Documents to which the Fiscal Agent is a party has been duly executed and delivered by the Fiscal Agent and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Fiscal Agent, enforceable against the Fiscal Agent in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
  - (e) The Fiscal Agent meets the qualifications to act as Fiscal Agent under the Funding Loan Agreement.

- (f) The Fiscal Agent has complied with the provisions of law which are prerequisites to the consummation of the transactions on the part of the Fiscal Agent described or contemplated in the Financing Documents.
- (g) No approval, permit, consent, authorization or order of any court, governmental agency or public board or body not already obtained is required to be obtained by the Fiscal Agent as a prerequisite to (i) the execution and delivery of this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which the Fiscal Agent is a party, (ii) the authentication or delivery of the Governmental Note, (iii) the performance by the Fiscal Agent of its obligations under this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, or (iv) the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which the Fiscal Agent is a party. The Fiscal Agent makes no representation or warranty relating to compliance with any federal or state securities laws.

Section 2.04 Arbitrage and Rebate Fund Calculations. The Borrower shall (a) take or cause to be taken all actions necessary or appropriate in order to fully and timely comply with Section 4.12 of the Funding Loan Agreement, and (b) if required to do so under Section 4.12 of the Funding Loan Agreement, select at the Borrower's expense, a Rebate Analyst reasonably acceptable to the Governmental Lender for the purpose of making any and all calculations required under Section 4.12 of the Funding Loan Agreement. Such calculations, if required, shall be made in the manner and at such times as specified in Section 4.12 of the Funding Loan Agreement. The Borrower shall cause the Rebate Analyst to provide such calculations to the Fiscal Agent and the Governmental Lender at such times and with such directions as are necessary to comply fully with the arbitrage and rebate requirements set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement and to comply fully with Section 148 of the Code, including the timely payment of any arbitrage rebate owed.

**Section 2.05** *Tax Covenants of the Borrower*. The Borrower represents, warrants, covenants and agrees that:

- (a) It will at all times comply with the terms of the Tax Certificates and the Tax Regulatory Agreement;
- (b) It will not take, or permit to be taken on its behalf, any action which would cause the interest payable on the Governmental Note to be included in gross income of the Funding Lender, for federal income tax purposes, and will take such action as may be necessary in the opinion of Bond Counsel to continue such exclusion from gross income, including, without limitation, the preparation and filing of all statements required to be filed by it in order to maintain the exclusion (including, but not limited to, the filing of all reports and certifications required by the Tax Regulatory Agreement);
- (c) No changes will be made to the Project, no actions will be taken by the Borrower and the Borrower will not omit to take any actions, which will in any way adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Governmental Note;

- (d) It will comply with the requirements of Section 148 of the Code and the Regulations issued thereunder throughout the term of the Funding Loan and the Project Loan and will not make any use of the proceeds of the Funding Loan or the Project Loan, or of any other funds which may be deemed to be proceeds of the Governmental Note under the Code and the related regulations of the United States Treasury, which would cause the Governmental Note to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code; and
- (e) If the Borrower becomes aware of any situation, event or condition which would, to the best of its knowledge, result in the interest on the Governmental Note becoming includable in gross income of the Funding Lender for purposes of federal income tax purposes, it will promptly give written notice of such circumstance, event or condition to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer.
- (f) The full amount of each disbursement of proceeds of the Project Loan will be applied to pay or to reimburse the Borrower for the payment of Costs of the Project and, after taking into account any proposed disbursement, (i) at least 95% of the net proceeds of the Governmental Note (as defined in Section 150 of the Code) will be used to provide a qualified residential rental project (as defined in Section 142(d) of the Code) and (ii) less than 25% of the net proceeds of the Governmental Note will have been disbursed to pay or to reimburse the Borrower for the cost of acquiring land; none of the proceeds of the Governmental Note (as defined for purposes of Section 147(g) of the Code) will be disbursed to provide working capital;
- (g) The Borrower will cause all of the residential units in the Project to be rented or available for rental on a basis which satisfies the requirements of the Act, the Code and the Tax Regulatory Agreement;
- (h) All leases will comply with all applicable laws and the Tax Regulatory Agreement;
- (i) In connection with any lease or grant by the Borrower of the use of the Project, the Borrower will require that the lessee or user of any portion of the Project not use that portion of the Project in any manner which would violate the covenants set forth in this Project Loan Agreement or the Tax Regulatory Agreement;
- (j) No proceeds of the Funding Loan shall be used for the acquisition of any tangible property or an interest therein, other than land or an interest in land, unless the first use of such property is pursuant to such acquisition; provided, however, that this limitation shall not apply with respect to any building (and the equipment therefor) if rehabilitation expenditures (as defined in Section 147(d) of the Code) with respect to such building equal or exceed 15 percent of the portion of the cost of acquiring such building (and equipment) financed with the proceeds; and provided, further, that this limitation shall not apply with respect to any structure other than a building if rehabilitation expenditures with respect to such structure equal or exceed 100 percent of the portion of the cost of acquiring such structure financed with the proceeds;

- (k) From the proceeds of the Funding Loan and investment earnings thereon, an amount not in excess of two percent (2%) of the proceeds of the Funding Loan, will be used for Costs of Issuance of the Governmental Note, all within the meaning of Section 147(g)(1) of the Code; and
- (l) No proceeds of the Funding Loan shall be used directly or indirectly to provide any airplane, skybox or other private luxury box, health club facility, facility used for gambling or store the principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises.

In the event of a conflict between the terms and requirements of this Section 2.05 and the Tax Certificates, the terms and requirements of the Tax Certificates shall control.

#### **ARTICLE III**

#### THE PROJECT LOAN

**Section 3.01** *Conditions to Funding the Project Loan.* On the Delivery Date and thereafter, the Governmental Lender shall cause the proceeds of the Funding Loan to be deposited with the Fiscal Agent in accordance with Sections 2.01 and 2.11 of the Funding Loan Agreement and Section 3.03 hereof. The Fiscal Agent shall use such proceeds as provided in Article II of the Funding Loan Agreement to make the Project Loan, provided that no initial disbursements of proceeds shall be made until the following conditions have been met:

- (a) The Borrower shall have executed and delivered to the Governmental Lender the Project Note and the Governmental Lender shall have endorsed the Project Note to the Fiscal Agent;
- (b) The Security Instrument and the Assignment, with only such changes therein as shall be approved in writing by Funding Lender Representative, shall have been executed and delivered by the Borrower and the Governmental Lender, respectively, and delivered to the title company for recording in the appropriate office for officially recording real estate documents in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located (the "Recorder's Office");
- (c) The Tax Regulatory Agreement shall have been executed and delivered by the parties thereto and shall have been delivered to the title company for recording in the Recorder's Office, and the Fiscal Agent shall have received evidence satisfactory to it of such delivery;
- (d) All other Financing Documents not listed above shall have been executed and delivered by all parties thereto and delivered to the Fiscal Agent; and
- (e) The Borrower shall have delivered to the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender, the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer a certificate confirming, as of the Delivery Date, the matters set forth in Section 2.02 hereof and an opinion of its counsel or other counsel satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender, Bond Counsel, the Funding Lender Representative, Freddie Mac and the Servicer.

#### Section 3.02 Terms of the Project Loan; Servicing.

- (a) The Project Loan shall (i) be evidenced by the Project Note; (ii) be secured by the Security Instrument; (iii) be in the maximum aggregate principal amount of \$14,000,000; (iv) bear interest as provided in the Project Note; (v) provide for principal and interest payments in accordance with the Project Note; and (vi) be subject to optional and mandatory prepayment at the times, in the manner and on the terms, and have such other terms and provisions, as provided herein and in the Project Note. The outstanding principal balance of the Project Loan at any time shall be an amount equal to the proceeds of the Funding Loan advanced by the Funding Lender and deposited by the Fiscal Agent into the Project Loan Fund under the Funding Loan Agreement minus any amounts prepaid with respect to principal in accordance with the terms hereof and the Project Note.
- (b) The Funding Lender Representative may appoint a Servicer to service the Loans for all or a portion of the term of the Loans. The initial Servicer of the Loans will be either (i) STI Institutional & Government, Inc., or (ii) Truist Bank, either of which shall service the Loans as required by the Initial Funding Lender. On the Freddie Mac Purchase Date, the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer shall become the Servicer and shall service the Loans as required by the Freddie Mac Commitment and the Guide. The Funding Lender Representative may remove a Servicer or appoint a replacement Servicer, in its discretion, by written notice provided to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Borrower. Any successor Servicer shall signify its acceptance of the duties and obligations imposed upon it by the Funding Loan Agreement and this Project Loan Agreement by executing such instrument(s) as shall be acceptable to the Funding Lender Representative, a copy of which shall be provided to the parties hereto.
- (c) During any period that the Servicer services the Loans, the Borrower shall make all payments in connection with the Project Loan to the Servicer, and the Servicer will (i) retain the allocable portion of the monthly Servicing Fee (if any) for its own account, (ii) remit to the Funding Lender all payments of principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest due with respect to the Funding Loan, together, with any other amounts due to the Funding Lender, (iii) remit to the Fiscal Agent the Ordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses, together with any other amounts due to the Fiscal Agent, and (iv) remit to the Fiscal Agent the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee, together with any other amounts due to the Governmental Lender, all for disbursement to the Governmental Lender. During a period in which there is no Servicer, all notices to be sent to the Servicer shall be sent to the Funding Lender Representative (to the extent not already provided) and all amounts to be paid to the Servicer by the Borrower shall be paid directly to the Fiscal Agent (unless otherwise directed by the Funding Lender Representative).
- (d) The Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Borrower hereby acknowledge and agree that (i) the Funding Lender Representative has appointed the Servicer to service and administer the Project Loan, (ii) the selection or removal of any Servicer is in the sole and absolute discretion of the Funding Lender Representative; and (iii) none of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent or the Borrower shall terminate

or attempt to terminate any Servicer as the servicer for the Project Loan or appoint or attempt to appoint a substitute servicer for the Project Loan. The Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Borrower further hereby acknowledge and agree with respect to the Servicer during the Permanent Phase that: (i) the *Guide* is subject to amendment without the consent of the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender or the Borrower; and (ii) none of the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender or the Borrower shall have any rights under, or be a third party beneficiary of, the *Guide*.

**Section 3.03** *Deposits*. On the Delivery Date and each date of an advance of the proceeds of the Funding Loan, such proceeds shall be deposited in the Project Account of the Project Loan Fund. Subject to the conditions listed in Section 3.01 hereof, amounts on deposit in the Project Loan Fund are to be disbursed to the Borrower or otherwise as provided in Section 2.11(b) of the Funding Loan Agreement.

To the extent that amounts in the Cost of Issuance Fund from the above-mentioned sources are insufficient to pay all costs of closing the Loans, the Borrower shall pay or cause the payment of such additional costs of closing the Loans to be made on its behalf as such amounts become due.

**Section 3.04** *Pledge and Assignment to Fiscal Agent.* The parties hereto acknowledge, and the Borrower consents to, the pledge and assignment by the Governmental Lender to the Fiscal Agent pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement of all of the Governmental Lender's right, title and interest in this Project Loan Agreement (excluding the Unassigned Rights), the Project Loan, the Project Note, the Security Instrument, the other Project Loan Documents and the Revenues as security for the payment of the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on the Governmental Note and the payment of any other amounts due under the Financing Documents.

**Section 3.05** *Investment of Funds*. Except as otherwise provided in the Funding Loan Agreement, any money held as a part of any fund or account established under the Funding Loan Agreement shall be invested or reinvested by the Fiscal Agent as may be directed in writing by Borrower in Qualified Investments in accordance with Section 4.08 of the Funding Loan Agreement.

**Section 3.06** *Damage; Destruction and Eminent Domain*. If, prior to payment in full of the Project Loan, the Project or any portion thereof is destroyed or damaged in whole or in part by fire or other casualty, or title to, or the temporary use of, the Project or any portion thereof shall have been taken by the exercise of the power of eminent domain, and the Governmental Lender, the Borrower, the Fiscal Agent or the Servicer receives Net Proceeds from insurance or any condemnation award in connection therewith, such Net Proceeds shall be utilized as provided in the Project Loan Documents and the Funding Loan Agreement.

**Section 3.07** *Enforcement of Financing Documents*. The Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender Representative may enforce and take all reasonable steps, actions and the proceedings necessary for the enforcement of all terms, covenants and conditions of the Funding Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents as and to the extent set forth herein and therein.

Section 3.08 Advances. Subject to the Construction Loan Documents, at such time as the Borrower shall desire to obtain an advance from the Project Loan Fund, the Costs of Issuance Fund or the Subordinate Loan Fund, the Borrower shall complete, execute and deliver a Requisition to the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender and the Servicer, and solely with regard to advances from the County Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund, the County Loan Servicer, pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement; provided, however that the Borrower shall not submit more than one Requisition each calendar month. The Fiscal Agent may rely conclusively on the statements and certifications contained in any Requisition. As provided in (i) Section 4.02 of the Funding Loan Agreement, each advance from the Project Loan Fund made by the Fiscal Agent shall be subject to prior approval of the Requisition by the Borrower and the Servicer, and (ii) Section 4.07 of the Funding Loan Agreement, each advance from the County Loan Account of the Subordinate Loan Fund made by the Fiscal Agent shall be subject to prior approval of the Requisition by the Borrower [and the Servicer] and the County Loan Servicer.

#### **ARTICLE IV**

#### LOAN PAYMENTS

## Section 4.01 Payments Under the Project Note; Independent Obligation of Borrower.

(a) <u>Payment Obligations</u>. The Borrower agrees to repay the Project Loan on each Project Loan Payment Date as provided in the Project Note, and in all instances at the times and in the amounts necessary to enable the Fiscal Agent, on behalf of the Governmental Lender, or the Servicer, to pay all amounts payable with respect to the Funding Loan, when due, whether at maturity or upon prepayment (with Prepayment Premium, if applicable), acceleration or otherwise. To ensure such timely payment during the Permanent Phase, the Servicer shall collect from the Borrower, and the Borrower shall provide to the Servicer the foregoing payments not less than two (2) Business Days prior to each respective Project Loan Payment Date.

The obligation of the Borrower to make the payments set forth in this Article IV shall be an independent obligation of the Borrower, separate from its obligation to make payments under the Project Note, provided that in all events payments made by the Borrower under and pursuant to the Project Note shall be credited against the Borrower's obligations hereunder on a dollar for dollar basis. If for any reason the Project Note or any provision of the Project Note shall be held invalid or unenforceable against the Borrower by any court of competent jurisdiction, the Project Note or such provision of the Project Note shall be deemed to be the obligation of the Borrower pursuant to this Project Loan Agreement to the full extent permitted by law, and such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any of the provisions of this Article IV and shall not serve to discharge any of the Borrower's payment obligations hereunder or eliminate the credit against such obligations to the extent of payments made under the Project Note.

(b) Obligations Unconditional; No Set-Off. The obligation of the Borrower to repay the Project Loan, to perform all of its obligations under the Project Loan Documents, to provide indemnification pursuant to Section 6.01 hereof, to pay costs, expenses and charges pursuant to Section 4.02 hereof and to make any and all other payments required by this Project Loan Agreement, the Funding Loan Agreement or any other documents contemplated by this Project Loan Agreement or by the Project Loan Documents shall, subject to the limitations set

forth in Section 4.06 hereof, be absolute and unconditional, and shall be paid or performed without notice or demand, and without abatement, deduction, set-off, counterclaim, recoupment or defense or any right of termination or cancellation arising from any circumstance whatsoever, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and irrespective of whether the Borrower's title to the Project or to any part thereof is defective or nonexistent, and notwithstanding any damage due to loss, theft or destruction of the Project or any part thereof, any failure of consideration or frustration of commercial purpose, the taking by eminent domain of title to or of the right of temporary use of all or any part of the Project, legal curtailment of the Borrower's use thereof, the eviction or constructive eviction of the Borrower, any change in the tax or other laws of the United States of America, the State or any political subdivision thereof, any change in the Governmental Lender's legal organization or status, or any default of the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent hereunder or under any other Financing Document, and regardless of the invalidity of any action of the Governmental Lender or the invalidity of any portion of this Project Loan Agreement.

Borrower hereunder or under the Project Note shall be made in immediately available funds to the Servicer on each Project Loan Payment Date or such other date when such payment is due; provided, however, such Project Loan Payment shall be made directly to the Fiscal Agent if there is no Servicer or if the Borrower is so directed in writing by the Funding Lender Representative. Each such payment shall be made to the Fiscal Agent or the Servicer, as applicable, by deposit to such account as the Fiscal Agent or the Servicer may designate by written notice to the Borrower. Whenever any Project Loan Payment or any other payment under this Project Loan Agreement or under the Project Note shall be stated to be due on a day that is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the first Business Day immediately thereafter.

# Section 4.02 Additional Payments Under the Project Note and this Project Loan Agreement.

- (a) In addition to the payments set forth in Section 4.01 hereof, payments to be made by the Borrower under the Project Note include certain money to be paid in respect of, among others, the Fee Component, the Servicing Fee, and amounts required to be deposited pursuant to the Continuing Covenant Agreement and the other Project Loan Documents, as set forth in subsection (b) of this Section 4.02. To the extent that any portion of the Fee Component, the Servicing Fee, and amounts required to be deposited pursuant to the Continuing Covenant Agreement and the other Project Loan Documents remain due and owing at any time, such amounts remaining due and owing shall be payable from money on deposit in the Administration Fund as provided in Section 4.06 of the Funding Loan Agreement or from other money of the Borrower, to the extent that money in the Administration Fund is insufficient for such purposes. All other fees and expenses shall be payable from money of the Borrower as provided in subsection (b) of this Section 4.02.
- (b) In addition to the funding of the initial deposits required of the Borrower described in Section 3.03, the Borrower shall pay (or cause to be paid by the Servicer or the Fiscal Agent (to the extent paid from money on deposit in the Administration Fund or the Cost of Issuance Fund, as applicable)), in consideration of the funding of the Project Loan, the following fees, expenses and other money payable in connection with the Loans:

- (i) On the Delivery Date, from money on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund or, to the extent such money is insufficient for such purpose, from other money of the Borrower, to the Initial Funding Lender, its origination fees, together with all third-party and out-of-pocket expenses of the Initial Funding Lender (including but not limited to the fees and expenses of counsel to the Initial Funding Lender) in connection with the Loans.
- (ii) On the Delivery Date, from money on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund or, to the extent such money is insufficient for such purpose, from other money of the Borrower, to Freddie Mac, all third-party and out-of-pocket expenses of Freddie Mac (including but not limited to the fees and expenses of counsel to Freddie Mac) in connection with the Loans.
- (iii) On the Delivery Date, from money on deposit (1) in the Cost of Issuance Fund or, to the extent such money is insufficient for such purpose, from other money of the Borrower, to the Governmental Lender, an initial financing fee in an amount equal to the Governmental Lender Closing Fee, together with (to the extent not included in the Governmental Lender Closing Fee), all third-party and out-of-pocket expenses of the Governmental Lender (including but not limited to the fees and expenses of Bond Counsel and counsel to the Governmental Lender) in connection with the Loans and the issuance of the Governmental Note, and (2) in the Administration Fund or, to the extent such money is insufficient for such purpose, from other money of the Borrower, to the Governmental Lender, the first annual payment of the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee in an amount equal to \$\_\_\_\_\_\_\_. The Borrower agrees that the amounts payable to the Governmental Lender pursuant to this Section 4.02(b)(iii) shall be paid to the Fiscal Agent for disbursement to the Governmental Lender pursuant to the terms above.
- (iv) On the Delivery Date, from money on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund or, to the extent such money is insufficient for such purpose, from other money of the Borrower, to the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer, its commitment fees and application fees, together with all third-party and out-of-pocket expenses of the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer (including but not limited to the fees and expenses of counsel to the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer, if any) in connection with the Loans.
- (v) On the Delivery Date, from money on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund or, to the extent such money is insufficient for such purpose, from other money of the Borrower, to the Fiscal Agent, (1) an initial acceptance fee in an amount equal to \$3,500, and (2) the initial payment of the Ordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses in the amount of \$3,750, together with all third-party and out-of-pocket expenses of the Fiscal Agent (including but not limited to the fees and expenses of counsel to the Fiscal Agent) in connection with the Loans and the issuance of the Governmental Note.
- (vi) To the Fiscal Agent, the Ordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses and the Extraordinary Fiscal Agent's Fees and Expenses when due from time to time.
- (vii) To the Fiscal Agent, for disbursement to the Governmental Lender, the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee when due and any extraordinary expenses not

covered by the Ongoing Governmental Lender Fee the Governmental Lender may incur in connection with the Financing Documents or the Project from time to time.

- (viii) To the Rebate Analyst, the reasonable fees and expenses of such Rebate Analyst in connection with the computations relating to arbitrage rebate required under the Funding Loan Agreement and this Project Loan Agreement when due from time to time.
- (ix) To the Funding Lender Representative, any amount due and owing the Funding Lender Representative from time to time but unpaid under the Continuing Covenant Agreement.
- (x) To the Servicer, the amount of any portion of the Servicing Fee remaining unpaid and any fees, costs and expenses of the Servicer as provided in the Continuing Covenant Agreement.
- (xi) To the Servicer, the amounts required to be deposited in respect of reserves and impounds required under the Continuing Covenant Agreement and the other Project Loan Documents.
- (xii) If the Fiscal Agent is collecting and remitting loan payments under the Funding Loan Agreement, to the Fiscal Agent, within two (2) Business Days of receipt from the Fiscal Agent of a notice of deficiency in the Administration Fund as provided in Section 4.06 of the Funding Loan Agreement, the amount of any such deficiency in the Administration Fund.
- **Section 4.03** *Payments to Rebate Fund*. The Borrower shall pay when due to the Fiscal Agent at the Principal Office of the Fiscal Agent any amount required to be deposited in the Rebate Fund in accordance with Section 4.12 of the Funding Loan Agreement.

#### Section 4.04 *Prepayment*.

- (a) Optional Prepayment of the Project Loan. The Borrower shall have the option to prepay the Project Loan in whole, together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, as provided in the Project Note.
- (b) <u>Mandatory Prepayment of the Project Loan</u>. The Borrower shall be required to prepay all or a portion of the outstanding principal balance of the Project Loan, together with accrued interest thereon, and together with any Prepayment Premium due under the Project Note, as provided in the Project Note or during the Construction Phase, the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement. Additionally, the Borrower shall be required to prepay all or a portion of the outstanding principal balance of the Project Loan, together with accrued interest thereon, and together with any Prepayment Premium due under the Project Note, in connection with the following:
  - (i) in part, in the event the Borrower elects to make a Pre-Conversion Loan Equalization Payment; and

- (ii) in whole, on or after the Forward Commitment Maturity Date, at the written direction of the Initial Funding Lender, if the Conversion Notice is not issued by the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer prior to the Forward Commitment Maturity Date.
- **Defeasance of the Funding Loan.** In addition, after the Conversion Date and (c) prior to the Window Period, the Borrower may cause a defeasance of the Funding Loan resulting in a release of the Pledged Security by satisfying the conditions set forth hereunder and in Article IX of the Funding Loan Agreement. In connection therewith, the Borrower will give written notice (a "Defeasance Notice") to the Funding Lender Representative, the Servicer, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent of the date the Borrower desires to defease the Funding Loan (the "Defeasance Date"). The Defeasance Date may not be more than 60 calendar days, nor less than 30 calendar days, after the delivery of the Defeasance Notice. In connection with the delivery of the Defeasance Notice, the Borrower shall cause to be paid (i) to the Funding Lender Representative the Defeasance Fee set forth in the Continuing Covenant Agreement, and (ii) to the Governmental Lender the Issuer's Compliance Fee as defined in and provided for pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement. In addition to, and not in limitation of any other provisions of this Project Loan Agreement, the Borrower shall pay all fees, costs and expenses in connection with any defeasance whether or not such defeasance occurs. Following such defeasance in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof and the Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan shall be deemed paid in full, and the Borrower shall be entitled to the release of the Security Instrument, the Pledged Security and other security provided by it for the Project Loan, subject to the terms and conditions hereof and the other Financing Documents.

**Section 4.05** *Borrower's Obligations Upon Prepayment.* In the event of any prepayment, the Borrower will timely pay, or cause to be paid through the Servicer, an amount equal to the principal amount of the Funding Loan or portion thereof called for prepayment, together with interest accrued to the prepayment date and Prepayment Premium, if any. In addition, the Borrower will timely pay all fees, costs and expenses associated with any prepayment of the Funding Loan.

#### Section 4.06 Limits on Personal Liability.

(a) Except as otherwise set forth in the Project Note and subsection 4.06(b) below, the obligations of the Borrower under this Project Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents are non-recourse liabilities of the Borrower which shall be enforced only against the Project and other property of the Borrower encumbered by the Financing Documents and not personally against the Borrower or any member of the Borrower or any successor or assign of the Borrower. However, nothing in this Section 4.06 shall limit the right of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer or the Funding Lender Representative to proceed against the Borrower to recover any fees owing to any of them or any actual out-of-pocket expenses (including but not limited to actual out-of-pocket attorneys' fees incurred by any of them) incurred by any of them in connection with the interpretation or enforcement of any rights under this Project Loan Agreement or the other Financing Documents. Nothing in this Section 4.06 shall limit any right that the Servicer or the Funding Lender Representative may have to enforce the Project Note, the Security Instrument, or any other Financing Document in accordance with their terms.

(b) Notwithstanding anything contained in any other provision of this Project Loan Agreement to the contrary (but subject to the provisions of Section 7.06 hereof), the following obligations of the Borrower shall be and remain the joint and several full recourse obligations of the Borrower and the Borrower's manager: (i) the Borrower's obligations to the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent under subsections (b)(iii), (b)(v), (b)(vi), and (b)(vii) of Section 4.02 hereof; (ii) the Borrower's obligations under Sections 2.05 and 6.01 of this Project Loan Agreement; (iii) the Borrower's obligation to pay any and all rebate amounts that may be or become owing with respect to the Funding Loan and fees and expenses of the Rebate Analyst as provided in Sections 2.04 and 4.03 of this Project Loan Agreement and the Tax Certificates; and (iv) the Borrower's obligation to pay legal fees and expenses under Section 7.04 hereof.

#### **ARTICLE V**

#### SPECIAL COVENANTS OF BORROWER

**Section 5.01** *Performance of Obligations*. The Borrower shall keep and faithfully perform all of its covenants and undertakings contained herein and in the Financing Documents, including, without limitation, its obligations to make all payments set forth herein and therein in the amounts, at the times and in the manner set forth herein and therein.

**Section 5.02** *Compliance With Applicable Laws.* All work performed in connection with the Project shall be performed in strict compliance with all applicable federal, state, county and municipal laws, ordinances, rules and regulations now in force or that may be enacted hereafter.

Section 5.03 Funding Loan Agreement Provisions. The execution of this Project Loan Agreement shall constitute conclusive evidence of approval of the Funding Loan Agreement by the Borrower. Whenever the Funding Loan Agreement by its terms imposes a duty or obligation upon the Borrower, such duty or obligation shall be binding upon the Borrower to the same extent as if the Borrower were an express party to the Funding Loan Agreement, and the Borrower shall carry out and perform all of its obligations under the Funding Loan Agreement as fully as if the Borrower were a party to the Funding Loan Agreement.

#### Section 5.04 Reserved.

#### Section 5.05 Borrower to Maintain Its Existence; Certification of No Default.

- (a) The Borrower agrees to maintain its existence and maintain its current legal status with authority to own and operate the Project.
- (b) In addition to performing all other similar requirements under the Financing Documents to which the Borrower is a party, the Borrower shall, within 30 days after the end of each calendar year, render to the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender and the Governmental Lender a certificate executed by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower to the effect that the Borrower is not, as of the date of such certificate, in default of any of its covenants, agreements, representations or warranties under any of the Financing Documents to which the Borrower is a party and that, to the best of the Borrower's knowledge, after reasonable investigation, there has

occurred no default or Event of Default (as such terms are defined in each respective Financing Document) under any of the Financing Documents.

**Section 5.06** *Borrower to Remain Qualified in State and Appoint Agent.* The Borrower will remain duly qualified to transact business in the State and will maintain an agent in the State on whom service of process may be made in connection with any actions against the Borrower.

**Section 5.07** *Sale or Other Transfer of Project*. The Borrower may convey and transfer the Project only upon strict compliance with the provisions of the Financing Documents, and upon receipt of the prior written consent of the Governmental Lender and the Funding Lender Representative.

**Section 5.08** *Right to Perform Borrower's Obligations*. In the event the Borrower fails to perform any of its obligations under this Project Loan Agreement, the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer and/or the Funding Lender Representative, after giving requisite notice, if any, and subject to Section 5.05 of the Funding Loan Agreement, may, but shall be under no obligation to, perform such obligation and pay all costs related thereto, and all such costs so advanced shall become an additional obligation of the Borrower hereunder, secured by the applicable security instrument and payable on demand and if not paid on demand with interest thereon at the default rate of interest payable under the Project Loan Documents.

**Section 5.09** *Notice of Certain Events*. The Borrower shall promptly advise the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer in writing of the occurrence of any Event of Default hereunder and/or under any of the Financing Documents or any event which, with the passage of time or service of notice or both, would constitute an Event of Default, specifying the nature and period of existence of such event and the actions being taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto.

**Section 5.10** *Survival of Covenants*. The provisions of Sections 2.04, 2.05, 4.02, 4.03, 6.01 and 7.04 hereof shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Project Loan Agreement and, with regard to the Fiscal Agent, the resignation or removal of the Fiscal Agent.

Section 5.11 Access to Project; Records. Subject to reasonable notice and the rights of tenants at the Project, the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative, and the respective duly authorized agents of each, shall have the right (but not any duty or obligation) at all reasonable times and during normal business hours: (a) to enter the Project and any other location containing the records relating to the Borrower, the Project, the Loans and the Borrower's compliance with the terms and conditions of the Financing Documents; (b) to inspect and audit any and all of the Borrower's records or accounts pertaining to the Borrower, the Project, the Loans and the Borrower's compliance with the terms and conditions of the Financing Documents; and (c) to require the Borrower, at the Borrower's sole expense, (i) to furnish such documents to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative, as the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer or the Funding Lender Representative, as the case may be, from time to time, deems reasonably necessary in order to determine that the provisions of the Financing Documents have been complied with and (ii) to make copies of any records that the Governmental Lender, the

Fiscal Agent, the Servicer or the Funding Lender Representative or the respective duly authorized agents of each, may reasonably require. The Borrower shall make available to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer and the Funding Lender Representative, such information concerning the Project, the Security Instrument and the Financing Documents as any of them may reasonably request.

Section 5.12 Tax Regulatory Agreement. The covenants of the Borrower in the Tax Regulatory Agreement shall be deemed to constitute covenants of the Borrower running with the land and an equitable servitude for the benefit of the Governmental Lender and the Funding Lender and shall be binding upon any owners of the Project until such time as such restrictions expire as provided in the Tax Regulatory Agreement. The Borrower covenants to file of record in the Recorder's Office the Tax Regulatory Agreement and such other documents, and to take such other steps as are necessary in order to assure that the restrictions contained in the Tax Regulatory Agreement will, subject to the terms of the Tax Regulatory Agreement, be binding upon all owners of the Project. The Borrower covenants to include such restrictions or a reference to such restrictions in any documents transferring any interest in the Project to another to the end that such transferee has notice of, and is bound by, the Tax Regulatory Agreement. Subject to the provisions of Section 7.06 of this Project Loan Agreement, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent shall have the right to seek specific performance of or injunctive relief to enforce the requirements of any covenants of the Borrower contained in the Tax Regulatory Agreement.

**Section 5.13** *Damage, Destruction and Condemnation*. If prior to full payment of the Funding Loan (or provision for payment of the Funding Loan in accordance with the provisions of the Funding Loan Agreement) the Project or any portion of it is destroyed (in whole or in part) or is damaged by fire or other casualty, or title to, or the temporary use of, the Project or any portion of it shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or by any person, firm or corporation acting under governmental authority, or shall be transferred pursuant to an agreement or settlement in lieu of eminent domain proceedings, the Borrower shall nevertheless be obligated to continue to pay the amounts specified in this Project Loan Agreement and in the Project Note to the extent the Project Loan is not prepaid in full in accordance with the terms of the Project Loan Documents.

Section 5.14 Obligation of the Borrower To Construct the Project. The Borrower shall proceed with reasonable dispatch (and in no event later than required under the Financing Documents) to complete the construction and equipping of the Project as required by the Financing Documents. If amounts on deposit in the Project Loan Fund designated for the Project and available to be disbursed to the Borrower are not sufficient to pay the costs of the acquisition, construction, equipping and developing of the Project, the Borrower shall pay such additional costs from its own funds. The Borrower shall not be entitled to any reimbursement from the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer, the Funding Lender Representative or the Funding Lender in respect of any such additional costs or to any diminution or abatement in the repayment of the Project Loan. None of the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender, the Funding Lender, the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer makes any representation or warranty, either express or implied, that money, if any, which will be paid into the Project Loan Fund or otherwise made available to the Borrower will be sufficient to complete the Project, and none of the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender, the Funding

Lender, the Funding Lender Representative or the Servicer, or any of their respective successors and/or assigns, shall be liable to the Borrower or any other person if for any reason the Project is not completed.

Section 5.15 Filing of Financing Statements. The Borrower shall file or record or cause to be filed or recorded on or prior to the Delivery Date and/or the Conversion Date, as applicable, all UCC financing statements which are (i) required to be filed or recorded in order fully to protect and preserve the security interests relating to the priority of the Project Loan, the Funding Loan, the Pledged Security and the Security Instrument, and the rights and powers of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Funding Lender in connection with such security interests, and (ii) provided to Borrower for filing or recording by or on behalf of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and/or the Funding Lender. The Borrower shall cooperate with the Fiscal Agent in connection with the filing of any continuation statements for the purpose of continuing without lapse the effectiveness of such financing statements.

#### **ARTICLE VI**

#### **INDEMNIFICATION**

## Section 6.01 Indemnification.

- (a) <u>Indemnified Losses</u>. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Borrower agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Governmental Lender, Broward County, Florida, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer, the Funding Lender and each of their respective officers, governing commissioners, members, directors, officials, employees, attorneys and agents (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties" and each, an "Indemnified Party"), against any and all losses, damages (including, but not limited to, consequential and punitive damages), claims, actions, liabilities, costs and expenses of any conceivable nature, kind or character (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, litigation and court costs, amounts paid in settlement and amounts paid to discharge judgments) to which the Indemnified Parties, or any of them, may become subject under federal or state securities laws or any other statutory law or at common law or otherwise (collectively, "Losses"), to the extent arising, directly or indirectly, out of or based upon or in any way relating to:
  - (i) any breach by the Borrower of its obligations under the Financing Documents or the execution, amendment, restructuring or enforcement thereof, or in connection with transactions contemplated thereby, including the issuance, sale, transfer or resale of the Governmental Note;
  - (ii) any act or omission of the Borrower or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees in connection with the Project Loan or the Project, the operation of the Project, or the condition, environmental or otherwise, occupancy, use, possession, conduct or management of work done in or about, or from the planning, design, acquisition, installation, construction or equipping of, the Project or any part thereof;

- (iii) any accident, injury to, or death of persons or loss of or damage to property occurring in, on or about the Project or any part thereof;
- (iv) any lien (other than liens permitted under the Continuing Covenant Agreement) or charge upon payments by the Borrower to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent or the Servicer hereunder, or any Taxes (including, without limitation, all ad valorem taxes and sales taxes), assessments, impositions and other charges imposed on the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent in respect of any portion of the Project (other than income and similar taxes on fees received or earned in connection therewith);
- (v) any violation of any environmental law, rule or regulation with respect to, or the release of any hazardous materials from, the Project or any part thereof;

### (vi) [Reserved];

- (vii) the enforcement of, or any action taken by the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender Representative related to remedies under this Project Loan Agreement, the Funding Loan Agreement or any other Financing Document;
- (viii) any untrue statement of a material fact or alleged untrue statement of a material fact by the Borrower contained in any offering statement or document for the Governmental Note or any of the Financing Documents to which the Borrower is a party, or any omission or alleged omission by the Borrower of a material fact from any offering statement or document for the Governmental Note necessary to be stated therein in order to make the statements made therein by the Borrower, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
- (ix) any declaration of taxability of interest on the Governmental Note or allegations (or regulatory inquiry) that interest on the Governmental Note is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes;
- (x) any audit or inquiry by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to the Project and/or the tax-exempt status of the Governmental Note; or
- (xi) the Fiscal Agent's acceptance or administration of the trust of the Funding Loan Agreement, or the exercise or performance of any of its powers or duties thereunder or under any of the documents relating to the Governmental Note to which it is a party;

except (A) in the case of the foregoing indemnification of the Fiscal Agent, or any of its respective officers, commissioners, members, directors, officials, employees, attorneys and agents, to the extent such Losses are found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final judgement to have been caused by the breach of contractual duty, the negligence, unlawful acts or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Party; or (B) in the case of the foregoing indemnification of the Servicer, the Funding Lender or the Governmental Lender or any of their respective officers, commissioners, members, directors, officials, employees, attorneys and agents, to the extent such Losses are caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Party.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the Permanent Phase, and subject to the terms of the Project Note, nothing in this subsection (a) shall impose any recourse liability on the Borrower or its members for the payment of any principal of or interest on the Project Loan.

- In the event that any action or proceeding is brought against any Indemnified Party with respect to which indemnity may be sought hereunder, the Borrower, upon written notice from such Indemnified Party, shall assume the investigation and defense thereof, including the employment of counsel selected or approved by the Indemnified Party, and shall assume the payment of all expenses related thereto, with full power to litigate, compromise or settle the same in its sole discretion; provided that such Indemnified Party shall have the right to review and approve or disapprove any such compromise or settlement. Each Indemnified Party shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action or proceeding and to participate in the investigation and defense thereof. The Borrower shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of such separate counsel; provided, however, that such Indemnified Party may employ separate counsel at the expense of the Borrower only if, in such Indemnified Party's good faith judgment, a conflict of interest exists by reason of common representation or if all parties commonly represented do not agree as to the action (or inaction) of counsel.
- (c) <u>Borrower to Remain Obligated.</u> Notwithstanding any transfer of the Project to another owner in accordance with the provisions of this Project Loan Agreement, the Security Instrument and the Regulatory Agreement, the Borrower shall remain obligated to indemnify each Indemnified Party pursuant to this Section 6.01 for Losses with respect to any claims based on actions or events occurring prior to the date of such transfer unless (i) such subsequent owner assumed in writing at the time of such transfer all obligations of the Borrower under this Section 6.01 (including obligations under this Section 6.01 for Losses with respect to any claims based on actions or events occurring prior to the date of such transfer) and (ii) any such transfer is in compliance with the requirements of the Financing Documents.
- (d) <u>Survival</u>. The provisions of this Section 6.01 shall survive the termination of this Project Loan Agreement.

Section 6.02 Limitation With Respect to the Funding Lender. Notwithstanding anything in this Project Loan Agreement to the contrary, in the event that the Funding Lender (or its nominee) shall become the owner of the Project as a result of a foreclosure or a deed in lieu of foreclosure, or comparable conversion of the Project Loan, the Funding Lender (or its nominee) shall not be liable for any breach or default of any prior owner of the Project under this Project Loan Agreement and shall only be responsible for defaults and obligations incurred or occurring during the period that the Funding Lender (or its nominee) is the owner of the Project. Accordingly, during any period that the Funding Lender (or its nominee) owns the Project and that this Article VI is applicable to the Funding Lender (or its nominee), the Funding Lender's (or its nominee's) obligations under this Article VI shall be limited to acts and omissions of the Funding Lender (or its nominee) occurring during the period of the Funding Lender's (or its nominee's) ownership of the Project.

#### ARTICLE VII

#### EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

**Section 7.01** *Events of Default*. The following shall be "Events of Default" under this Project Loan Agreement, and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, whenever it is used in this Project Loan Agreement, one or all of the following events:

- (a) Any representation or warranty made by the Borrower in the Financing Documents or any certificate, statement, data or information furnished by the Borrower in connection therewith or included by the Borrower in its application to the Governmental Lender for assistance proves at any time to have been incorrect when made in any material respect;
- (b) Failure by the Borrower to pay any amounts due under this Project Loan Agreement, the Project Note, the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement or the Security Instrument at the times and in the amounts required by this Project Loan Agreement, the Construction Continuing Covenant Agreement, the Project Note and the Security Instrument, as applicable, subject to any applicable cure or grace period;
- The Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any other term, covenant, condition or agreement (after taking into account any applicable cure period) set forth in this Project Loan Agreement, which failure continues for a period of 30 days after notice of such failure by the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender Representative to the Borrower (unless such default cannot with due diligence be cured within 30 days but can be cured within a reasonable period and will not, in the Funding Lender Representative's sole discretion, adversely affect the Funding Lender or result in impairment of this Project Loan Agreement or any other Financing Document, in which case no Event of Default shall be deemed to exist so long as Borrower and/or the Investor Member shall have commenced to cure the default or Event of Default within 30 days after receipt of notice, and thereafter diligently and continuously prosecutes such cure to completion); provided, however, no such notice or grace periods shall apply in the case of any such failure which could, in the Funding Lender Representative's judgment, absent immediate exercise by the Funding Lender Representative of a right or remedy under this Project Loan Agreement, result in harm to the Funding Lender, impairment of this Project Loan Agreement or any other Financing Document;
- (d) The occurrence of a default under the Continuing Covenant Agreement or the Security Instrument (after taking into account any applicable notice or cure period thereunder) shall at the discretion of the Funding Lender Representative constitute an Event of Default under this Project Loan Agreement but only if the Fiscal Agent is provided written notice by the Funding Lender Representative that an Event of Default has occurred under such Financing Document and the Fiscal Agent is instructed by the Funding Lender Representative that such default constitutes an Event of Default hereunder. The occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder shall in the discretion of the Funding Lender Representative constitute a default under the other Financing Documents.

Nothing contained in this Section 7.01 is intended to amend or modify any of the provisions of the Financing Documents or to bind the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer or the Funding Lender Representative to any notice and cure periods other than as expressly set forth in the Financing Documents.

**Section 7.02** *Remedies on Default.* Subject to Section 7.06 hereof, whenever any Event of Default hereunder shall have occurred and be continuing, the Funding Lender (or the Fiscal Agent at the direction of the Funding Lender), may take any one or more of the following remedial steps:

- (a) The Funding Lender (or the Fiscal Agent at the written direction of the Funding Lender) may take such action, without notice or demand, as the Funding Lender deems advisable to protect and enforce its rights against the Borrower and in and to the Project, including declaring the Project Loan to be immediately due and payable (including, without limitation, declaring the principal of, Prepayment Premium, if any, and interest on and all other amounts due on the Project Note to be immediately due and payable).
- (b) The Funding Lender (or the Fiscal Agent at the written direction of the Funding Lender) may, without being required to give any notice (other than to the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent, as applicable), except as provided herein, pursue all remedies of a creditor under the laws of the State, as supplemented and amended, or any other applicable laws.
- (c) The Funding Lender (or the Fiscal Agent at the written direction of the Funding Lender) may take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to collect the payments under this Project Loan Agreement then due and thereafter to become due, or to enforce performance and observance of any obligation, agreement or covenant of the Borrower under this Project Loan Agreement.

In addition, subject to Section 7.06 hereof, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent may pursue remedies with respect to the Unassigned Rights.

Any amounts collected pursuant to Article IV hereof and any other amounts which would be applicable to payment of principal of and interest and any Prepayment Premium on the Funding Loan collected pursuant to action taken under this Section 7.02 shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of the Funding Loan Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Investor Member and its successors, assigns or affiliates, shall have the right, but not the obligation, to cure such default to the extent and on the same terms as the Borrower may do so hereunder, and the Governmental Lender shall accept such cure as if made on behalf of Borrower.

**Section 7.03** *No Remedy Exclusive*. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, all or any one or more of the rights, powers, privileges and other remedies available against the Borrower hereunder or under the Financing Documents or otherwise at law or in equity may be exercised by the Funding Lender (or the Fiscal Agent at the written direction of the Funding Lender), at any time and from time to time, whether or not the Funding Lender has accelerated

the Project Loan, and whether or not the Funding Lender shall have commenced any foreclosure proceeding or other action for the enforcement of its rights and remedies under any of the Financing Documents. No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Funding Lender or the Fiscal Agent by this Project Loan Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this Project Loan Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. In order to entitle the Funding Lender (or the Fiscal Agent at the direction of the Funding Lender) to exercise any remedy reserved to it in this Article, it shall not be necessary to give any notice, other than such notice as may be expressly required by this Project Loan Agreement.

Section 7.04 Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses. In the event the Borrower shall default under any of the provisions of this Project Loan Agreement and the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer or the Funding Lender Representative shall employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the collection of loan payments or the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of the Borrower contained in this Project Loan Agreement, in the Project Note or in the Tax Regulatory Agreement, the Borrower shall on demand therefor reimburse the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses so incurred.

**Section 7.05** *No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver.* In the event any agreement contained in this Project Loan Agreement shall be breached by any party and thereafter waived by the other parties, such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other breach hereunder.

### Section 7.06 Control of Proceedings.

- (a) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Funding Lender Representative shall have the sole and exclusive right at any time to direct the time, method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Project Loan Agreement, or for the appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings hereunder, in accordance with the provisions of law and of this Project Loan Agreement. In addition, the Funding Lender Representative shall have the sole and exclusive right at any time to directly enforce all rights and remedies hereunder and under the other Financing Documents with or without the involvement of the Fiscal Agent or the Governmental Lender. In no event shall the exercise of any of the foregoing rights result in an acceleration of the Project Loan without the express direction of the Funding Lender Representative.
- (b) The Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent covenant that they will not, without the prior written consent of the Funding Lender Representative, take any of the following actions:
  - (i) prosecute any action with respect to a lien on the Project; or

- (ii) initiate or take any action which may have the effect, directly or indirectly, of impairing the ability of the Borrower to timely pay the principal of, interest on, or other amounts due under, the Project Loan; or
- (iii) interfere with or attempt to influence the exercise by the Funding Lender Representative of any of its rights under the Financing Documents upon the occurrence of any event of default by the Borrower under the Financing Documents; or
- (iv) take any action to accelerate or otherwise enforce payment or seek other remedies with respect to the Project Loan or the Funding Loan.
- (c) Notwithstanding Sections 7.06(a) and 7.06(b) hereof, the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent may:
  - (i) specifically enforce the tax covenants of the Borrower specified in Section 2.04 and 2.05 hereof or seek injunctive relief against acts which may be in violation thereof; or
  - (ii) specifically enforce the Tax Regulatory Agreement or seek injunctive relief against acts which may be in violation of the Tax Regulatory Agreement or are otherwise inconsistent with the operation of the Project in accordance with applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code and state law (but in neither the case of subsection (c)(i) above or this subsection (c)(ii) may the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent seek any form of monetary damages from the Borrower in connection with such enforcement).

In addition, notwithstanding Section 7.06(a) and 7.06(b) hereof, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent may seek specific performance of the other Unassigned Rights (provided no monetary damages are sought), and nothing herein shall be construed to limit the rights of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent or any Indemnified Party related to the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent under Section 6.01 (each a "Related Indemnified Party") to enforce their respective rights against the Borrower under Sections 4.02, 4.03, 6.01 and 7.04 hereof, provided that no obligation of the Borrower to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent or any Related Indemnified Party under such sections shall be secured by or in any manner constitute a lien on, or security interest in, the Project, whether in favor of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent or any Related Indemnified Party, and all such obligations are and shall be subordinate in priority, in right to payment and in all other respects to all other obligations, liens, rights (including without limitation the right to payment) and interests arising or created under the Financing Documents (except for the Fiscal Agent's right to receive payment of reasonable fees and expenses pursuant to Section 6.05(a) of the Funding Loan Agreement after an event of default with respect to the Funding Loan, which reasonable fees and expenses of the Fiscal Agent shall be payable as provided thereunder). Accordingly, none of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent or any Related Indemnified Party shall have the right to enforce any monetary obligation arising under such sections other than directly against the Borrower, without recourse to the Project. In addition, any such enforcement must not cause the Borrower to file a petition seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of or in respect of the Borrower under any applicable liquidation, insolvency,

bankruptcy, rehabilitation, composition, reorganization, conservation or other similar law in effect now or in the future.

**Section 7.07** Assumption of Obligations. In the event that the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender or their respective assignee or designee shall become the legal or beneficial owner of the Project by foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure, such party shall succeed to the rights and the obligations of the Borrower under this Project Loan Agreement, the Project Note, the Tax Regulatory Agreement, and any other Financing Documents to which the Borrower is a party or with respect to which it is a third-party beneficiary. Such assumption shall be effective from and after the effective date of such acquisition and shall be made with the benefit of the limitations of liability set forth therein and without any liability for the prior acts of the Borrower.

#### **ARTICLE VIII**

#### **MISCELLANEOUS**

#### Section 8.01 Notices.

(a) Whenever in this Project Loan Agreement the giving of notice by mail or otherwise is required, the giving of such notice may be waived in writing by the person entitled to receive such notice and in any such case the giving or receipt of such notice shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any action taken in reliance upon such waiver.

Any notice, request, complaint, demand, communication or other paper required or permitted to be delivered to the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative, the Borrower or the Servicer shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given (unless another form of notice shall be specifically set forth herein) on the Business Day following the date on which such notice or other communication shall have been delivered to a national overnight delivery service (receipt of which to be evidenced by a signed receipt from such overnight delivery service) addressed to the appropriate party at the addresses set forth in Section 11.04 of the Funding Loan Agreement or as required or permitted by this Project Loan Agreement by Electronic Notice. The Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative, the Borrower or the Servicer may, by notice given as provided in this paragraph, designate any further or different address to which subsequent notices or other communication shall be sent.

A duplicate copy of each notice or other communication given hereunder by any party to the Servicer shall also be given to the Funding Lender Representative and a duplicate copy of each notice or other communication given hereunder by any party to the Funding Lender Representative shall be given to the Servicer. Additionally, a duplicate copy of each notice or other communication given hereunder by any party to the Borrower shall also be given to the Investor Member.

The Fiscal Agent agrees to accept and act upon Electronic Notice of written instructions and/or directions pursuant to this Project Loan Agreement. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the Fiscal Agent shall have the right to accept and act upon instructions

involving funds transfer instructions ("Instructions") given pursuant to this Project Loan Agreement and related financing documents and delivered using Electronic Notice; provided, however, that the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable, shall provide to the Fiscal Agent an incumbency certificate listing its Authorized Officers with the authority to provide such Instructions and containing specimen signatures of such Authorized Officers, which incumbency certificate shall be amended by the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable, whenever a person is to be added or deleted from the listing. If the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable, elects to give the Fiscal Agent Instructions using Electronic Notice and the Fiscal Agent in its discretion elects to act upon such Instructions, the Fiscal Agent's understanding of such Instructions shall be deemed controlling. Governmental Lender and the Borrower understand and agree that the Fiscal Agent cannot determine the identity of the actual sender of such Instructions and that the Fiscal Agent shall conclusively presume that directions that purport to have been sent by an Authorized Officer listed on the incumbency certificate provided to the Fiscal Agent have been sent by such Authorized Officer. The Governmental Lender and the Borrower shall be responsible for ensuring that only Authorized Officers transmit such Instructions to the Fiscal Agent and that the Governmental Lender, the Borrower and all Authorized Officers are solely responsible to safeguard the use and confidentiality of applicable user and authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys upon receipt by the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable. The Fiscal Agent shall not be liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Fiscal Agent's reliance upon and compliance with such Instructions notwithstanding such directions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written instruction. The Governmental Lender and the Borrower agree: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of Electronic Notice to submit Instructions to the Fiscal Agent, including without limitation the risk of the Fiscal Agent acting on unauthorized Instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated with the various methods of transmitting Instructions to the Fiscal Agent and that there may be more secure methods of transmitting Instructions than the method(s) selected by the Governmental Lender and/or the Borrower, as applicable; (iii) that the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of Instructions provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and circumstances; and (iv) to notify the Fiscal Agent immediately upon learning of any compromise or unauthorized use of the security procedures.

(b) The Fiscal Agent shall provide to the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer (i) prompt notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default hereunder and (ii) any written information or other communication received by the Fiscal Agent hereunder within ten (10) Business Days of receiving a written request from the Funding Lender Representative for any such information or other communication.

**Section 8.02** *Concerning Successors and Assigns*. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made herein and in the certificates delivered pursuant hereto shall survive the financing herein contemplated and shall continue in full force and effect so long as the obligations hereunder are outstanding. Whenever in this Project Loan Agreement any of the parties hereto is referred to, such reference shall be deemed to include the successors and assigns of such party; and all covenants, promises and agreements by or on behalf of the Borrower which are contained in this Project Loan Agreement shall bind its successors and assigns and inure to

the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Servicer, the Funding Lender and the Funding Lender Representative, as applicable.

**Section 8.03** *Governing Law*. This Project Loan Agreement and the Exhibits attached hereto shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the internal laws of the State and, where applicable, the laws of the United States of America.

**Section 8.04** *Modifications in Writing*. Modification or the waiver of any provisions of this Project Loan Agreement or consent to any departure by the parties therefrom, shall in no event be effective unless the same shall be in writing approved by the parties hereto and shall require the prior written consent of the Funding Lender Representative and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given. No notice to or demand on the Borrower in any case shall entitle it to any other or further notice or demand in the same circumstances.

Section 8.05 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments. The Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Borrower agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements hereto and such further instruments as may reasonably be required (including such supplements or further instruments requested by the Funding Lender Representative) for correcting any inadequate or incorrect description of the performance of this Project Loan Agreement.

**Section 8.06** *Captions*. The section headings contained herein are for reference purposes only and shall not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Project Loan Agreement.

**Section 8.07** *Severability*. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Project Loan Agreement shall not affect the validity of any other provision, and all other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

**Section 8.08** *Counterparts*. This Project Loan Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.

Section 8.09 Amounts Remaining in Loan Payment Fund or Other Funds. It is agreed by the parties hereto that any amounts remaining in the Loan Payment Fund or other funds and accounts established under the Funding Loan Agreement upon expiration or sooner termination of the term hereof (and the repayment in full of the Project Loan and all other amounts owing under the Project Loan Documents), shall be paid in accordance with the Funding Loan Agreement.

**Section 8.10** *Effective Date and Term*. This Project Loan Agreement shall become effective upon its execution and delivery by the parties hereto, shall be effective and remain in full force from the date hereof, and, subject to the provisions hereof, shall expire on such date as the Funding Loan Agreement shall terminate.

**Section 8.11** *Cross References*. Any reference in this Project Loan Agreement to an "Exhibit," an "Article," a "Section," a "Subsection" or a "Paragraph" shall, unless otherwise explicitly provided, be construed as referring, respectively, to an exhibit attached to this Project Loan Agreement, an article of this Project Loan Agreement, a section of this Project Loan Agreement in which the reference appears and a paragraph of the subsection within this Project Loan Agreement in which the reference appears. All exhibits attached to or referred to in this Project Loan Agreement are incorporated by reference into this Project Loan Agreement.

Section 8.12 Funding Lender Representative and Servicer as Third-Party Beneficiaries. The parties hereto agree and acknowledge that the Funding Lender Representative and the Servicer are third party beneficiaries of this Project Loan Agreement.

**Section 8.13** Supplemental Loans. The Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent each acknowledges that, during the Permanent Phase, the Funding Lender or, if Freddie Mac is not the Funding Lender, Freddie Mac may make additional loans to the Borrower secured by additional mortgages on the Project ("Additional Loans") following the Conversion Date. The Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent each consents to the Additional Loans notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Project Loan Documents, provided that such loans are subordinate in all respects to the repayment of the Project Loan by the Borrower.

Section 8.14 Non-Liability of Governmental Lender. The Governmental Lender shall not be obligated to pay the principal (or Prepayment Premium) of or interest on the Funding Loan, except from Revenues and other money and assets received by the Fiscal Agent on behalf of the Governmental Lender pursuant to this Project Loan Agreement. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of Broward County, Florida, the State or any political subdivision thereof, nor the faith and credit of the Governmental Lender or any member, director, officer, agent or employee thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal (or Prepayment Premium) or interest on the Funding Loan. The Governmental Lender has no taxing power. The Governmental Lender shall not be liable for any costs, expenses, losses, damages, claims or actions, of any conceivable kind on any conceivable theory, under or by reason of or in connection with this Project Loan Agreement, the Funding Loan or the Funding Loan Agreement, except only to the extent amounts are received for the payment thereof from the Borrower under this Project Loan Agreement.

The Borrower hereby acknowledges that the Governmental Lender's sole source of money to repay the Funding Loan will be provided by the payments made by the Borrower pursuant to this Project Loan Agreement, together with investment income on certain funds and accounts held by the Fiscal Agent under the Funding Loan Agreement, and hereby agrees that if the payments to be made hereunder shall ever prove insufficient to pay all principal (or Prepayment Premium) and interest on the Funding Loan as the same shall become due (whether by maturity, prepayment, acceleration or otherwise), then upon notice from the Fiscal Agent, the Borrower shall pay such amounts as are required from time to time to prevent any deficiency or default in the payment of such principal (or Prepayment Premium) or interest, including, but not limited to, any deficiency caused by acts, omissions, nonfeasance or malfeasance on the part of the Fiscal Agent, the Borrower, the Governmental Lender or any third party, subject to any right

of reimbursement from the Fiscal Agent, the Governmental Lender or any such third party, as the case may be, therefor.

Section 8.15 No Liability of Officers. No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant, or agreement or in the Governmental Note, or under any judgment obtained against the Governmental Lender, or by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable proceeding by virtue of any constitution or statute or otherwise or under any circumstances, shall be had against any incorporator, member, director, commissioner, employee, agent or officer, as such, past, present, or future, of the Governmental Lender, either directly or through the Governmental Lender, or otherwise, for the payment for or to the Governmental Lender or any receiver thereof, or for or to the Funding Lender, of any sum that may be due and unpaid by the Governmental Lender upon the Funding Loan. Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at common law or in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, member, director, commissioner, employee, agent or officer, as such, to respond by reason of any act or omission on his or her part or otherwise, for the payment for or to the Governmental Lender or any receiver thereof, or for or to the Funding Lender, of any sum that may remain due and unpaid upon the Funding Loan, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of and consideration for the execution of this Project Loan Agreement and the issuance of the Governmental Note.

**Section 8.16** Capacity of the Fiscal Agent. The Fiscal Agent is entering into this Project Loan Agreement solely in its capacity as Fiscal Agent and shall be entitled to the rights, protections, limitations from liability and immunities afforded it as Fiscal Agent under the Funding Loan Agreement. The Fiscal Agent shall be responsible only for the duties of the Fiscal Agent expressly set forth herein and in the Funding Loan Agreement.

In connection with the making of the Loans, certain moneys may be deposited with the Fiscal Agent before the Delivery Date pursuant to one or more letters of instruction from the provider or providers of such moneys. Such moneys, if any, will be held by the Fiscal Agent subject to the terms and conditions of the Funding Loan Agreement and this Project Loan Agreement in addition to terms provided in such letter(s) of instruction. For such purpose the standards of care, provisions regarding responsibilities, and indemnification and other sections relating to the Fiscal Agent contained herein and in the Funding Loan Agreement (the "Effective Provisions") shall be effective as of the first date of receipt by the Fiscal Agent of such moneys. The Effective Provisions shall be deemed incorporated into such letter(s) of instructions.

Section 8.17 *Reliance*. The representations, covenants, agreements and warranties set forth in this Project Loan Agreement may be relied upon by the Governmental Lender, the Fiscal Agent, Bond Counsel, the Servicer, the Funding Lender and the Funding Lender Representative. In performing their duties and obligations under this Project Loan Agreement and under the Funding Loan Agreement, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent may rely upon statements and certificates of the Borrower, upon certificates of tenants believed to be genuine and to have been executed by the proper person or persons, and upon audits of the books and records of the Borrower pertaining to occupancy of the Project. In addition, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent may consult with counsel, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered by the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent under this Project Loan Agreement and under the

Funding Loan Agreement in good faith and in conformity with the opinion of such counsel. It is expressly understood and agreed by the parties to this Project Loan Agreement (other than the Governmental Lender) that:

- (a) the Governmental Lender may rely conclusively on the truth and accuracy of any certificate, opinion, notice or other instrument furnished to the Governmental Lender by the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender or the Borrower as to the existence of a fact or state of affairs required under this Project Loan Agreement to be noticed by the Governmental Lender;
- (b) the Governmental Lender shall not be under any obligation to perform any record keeping or to provide any legal service, it being understood that such services shall be performed or caused to be performed by the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender Representative, the Servicer or the Borrower, as applicable; and
- (c) none of the provisions of this Project Loan Agreement shall require the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent to expend or risk its own funds (apart from the proceeds of Funding Loan issued under the Funding Loan Agreement) or otherwise endure financial liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights under this Project Loan Agreement, unless it shall first have been adequately indemnified to its satisfaction against the costs, expenses and liabilities which may be incurred by taking any such action.

[COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Project Loan Agreement and the Governmental Lender has caused its corporate seal to be affixed hereto and to be attested, all as of the date first set forth above.

# HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

By:	
•	Daniel D. Reynolds, Chair
	•
Atte	st:
By:	
,	John G. Primeau, Secretary
	,
SEA	L

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

By _		
Name:		
Title:		

SP	<b>BROWARD</b>	LLC,	a	Florida	limited	liability
con	npany					

By:	SP Broward Manager LLC, a Florida limited
	liability company, its Manager
	By:
	J. David Page, its Manager

## **EXHIBIT "C"**

## FORM OF

## LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT

[ATTACHED]

THIS INSTRUMENT PREPARED BY AND RETURN TO:

Junious D. Brown III, Esq. Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. 1500 Mahan Drive, Suite 200 Tallahassee. Florida 32308 Draft #3 05/13/21 NGN File No.: 370.51

### **LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT**

Owner's SP BROWARD LLC Name and Address: 5403 W. Gray Street

Tampa, Florida 33609

<u>Location of Property</u>: [2201 North University Drive]

Pembroke Pines, Florida 33024

Name of Project: Pembroke Tower II

Issuer's Name

and Address: Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida

110 N.E. 3<sup>rd</sup> Street, Suite 300 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Owner, the fee simple owner of the Project (as such term is herein defined), intends to acquire and construct a multifamily residential rental project located within Broward County, Florida (the "County") to be occupied by Lower-Income Persons and Eligible Persons (as such terms are herein defined), all for the public purpose of assisting persons or families of low, moderate or middle income within the County to afford the costs of decent, safe and sanitary housing; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer has authorized the issuance and delivery of the Governmental Note in the original principal amount of \$14,000,000 pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement under which the Funding Lender will advance funds in the amount of \$14,000,000 to or for the account of the Issuer (the "Funding Loan"), who will use such Funding Loan proceeds in order to make a loan to the Owner (the "Project Loan" and, together with the Funding Loan, the "Loans") pursuant to a Project Loan Agreement dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ 1, 2021 (the "Project Loan Agreement"), by and between the Issuer and the Owner, to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project (as hereinafter defined) and certain costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Governmental Note, all under and in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Florida (the "State"); and

**WHEREAS**, the Funding Loan Agreement and the Project Loan Agreement require, as a condition of making the Loans, the execution and delivery of this Agreement; and

**WHEREAS**, in order to satisfy such requirement, the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the Owner have determined to enter into this Agreement to set forth certain terms and conditions relating to the operation of the Project, which is located on the real property in the County, as further described in Exhibit "A" hereto (the "Land"); and

**WHEREAS**, this Agreement shall be properly filed and recorded by the Owner within the official records of the County and shall constitute a restriction upon the use of the property subject to and in accordance with the terms contained herein.

**NOW THEREFORE**, in consideration of providing the financing by the Issuer to the Owner, acknowledging that compliance with this Agreement is necessary to preserve the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Governmental Note, the Owner covenants and agrees with the other parties hereto as follows:

### Section 1. Definitions and Interpretation.

(a) The following terms shall have the respective meanings set forth below (undefined terms shall be given the meanings set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement):

"Affiliated Party" of a person means a person such that (i) the relationship between such persons would result in a disallowance of losses under Section 267 or 707(b) of the Code, or (ii) such persons are members of the same controlled group of corporations as defined in Section 1563(a) of the Code, except that "more than 50 percent" shall be substituted for "at least 80"

percent" each place it appears therein or (iii) a related person within the meaning of Section 144(a) or 147(a) of the Code.

"Applicable Income Limit" means sixty percent (60%) of area median gross income (within the meaning of Section 142(d) of the Code) for Broward County, Florida, Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area, as determined by the Secretary of the United States Department of the Treasury in a manner consistent with determinations of lower income families and area median gross income under Section 8 of the Housing Act of 1937, as amended (or if such program is terminated, under such program as in effect immediately before such termination), including adjustments for family size.

"Bond Counsel" means any attorney at law or firm of attorneys of nationally recognized standing in matters pertaining to the exclusion from gross income of interest on bonds for federal income tax purposes issued by states and political subdivisions selected by the Issuer.

"Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance" means the certificate required to be delivered by the Owner to the Issuer pursuant to Section 4(e) of this Agreement.

"Closing Date" means the delivery date of the Governmental Note.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and except as otherwise provided herein or required by the context hereof, includes interpretations thereof contained or set forth in the applicable regulations of the Department of the Treasury (including applicable final regulations or temporary regulations), the applicable rulings of the Internal Revenue Service (including published Revenue Rulings and private letter rulings) and applicable court decisions.

"Compliance Agent" shall mean initially, the Issuer, and thereafter such other organization subsequently designated by the Issuer to serve as Compliance Agent for the Project.

"County" means Broward County, Florida.

"Current Annual Family Income" is determined in accordance with Section 8 of the Housing Act of 1937, as amended (or, if such program is terminated, under such program as in effect immediately before such termination), and includes wages and salaries, overtime pay, commissions, fees, tips and bonuses and other forms of compensation for personal services, net income from operation of a business or a profession, interest, dividends and other net income of any kind from real or personal property, periodic payments from Social Security, annuities, insurance policies, retirement funds, pensions, disability or death benefits or similar types of periodic receipts, payments in lieu of earnings, such as unemployment and disability compensation, worker's compensation and severance pay, welfare assistance, periodic and determinable allowances such as alimony and child support and regular pay, special pay and allowances of a member of the Armed Forces, and other forms of income described in the Income Certification (as promulgated by the Issuer from time to time in accordance with the Housing Act) but does not include earnings of children under 18, payments received for care of foster children or adults, lump sum insurance payments, inheritances, capital gains and

settlements for personal or property losses, amounts received specifically for, or in reimbursement of, the cost of medical expenses, income of a live-in aide, certain student financial assistance, special pay to a member of the Armed Forces who is exposed to hostile fire, amounts received under certain training programs and other social service programs, temporary, nonrecurring or sporadic income or other forms of income that the Income Certification specifies may be excluded.

"Elderly Persons" means persons 62 years of age or older; however, this definition does not prohibit housing from being deemed "housing for the elderly" as defined herein. "Housing for the elderly" means any nonprofit housing community that is financed by a mortgage loan made or insured by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") under s. 202, s. 202 with a s. 8 subsidy, s. 221(d)(3) or (4), or s. 236 of the National Housing Act, as amended, and that is subject to income limitations established by HUD, or any program funded by the Rural Development Agency of the United States Department of Agriculture ("USRDA") and subject to income limitations established by the USRDA. A project which qualifies for exemption under the Florida Fair Housing Act as "housing for older persons" as defined by Section 760.29(4), Florida Statutes, shall qualify as housing for the elderly for purposes of this Agreement.

"Eligible Persons" means one or more natural persons or a family, irrespective of race, creed, religion, color, national origin, familial status, mental or physical handicap or sex, who are either Lower-Income Persons or whose Current Annual Family Income does not exceed one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the area median gross income (within the meaning of Section 142(d) of the Code) for Broward County, Florida, Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area, subject to family size adjustment, as indicated in the latest published Decile Distributions of Family Income by Standard Metropolitan Statistical Areas and Non-Metropolitan Counties prepared and published from time to time by HUD, or such other reliable compilation of income statistics as the Issuer may determine to employ, as adjusted by the Issuer according to the most recent Consumer Price Index statistics; provided that persons of 65 years of age or older shall be defined as "Eligible Persons" regardless of their income.

"Funding Lender" means the owner of the Governmental Note, (i) initially STI INSTITUTIONAL & GOVERNMENT, INC., a Delaware corporation, (ii) on the Conversion Date, GRANDBRIDGE REAL ESTATE CAPITAL, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company, and (iii) on the Freddie Mac Purchase Date, Freddie Mac, and any successors or assigns thereof.

	"Funding	Loan	Agreement"	means	the	Funding	Loan	Agreement,	dated	as	of
	1, 20	)21, am	ong the Issue	r, the Fig	scal A	Agent and	the Fu	nding Lender	relating	to	the
issuanc	ce of the Go	overnm	ental Note, as	amende	d or s	supplemen	ted fro	m time to time	e.		

"Governmental Note" means the Issuer's \$14,000,000 Multifamily Housing Revenue Note, Series 2021 (Pembroke Tower II), dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021.

"HUD" means the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development or any successor agency.

"Income Certification" means the certification required to be obtained from each Lower-Income Tenant by the Owner pursuant to Section 4(a) hereof.

"Investor Member" means RJ MT SP Broward L.L.C., a Florida limited liability company, the investor member of the Owner and its permitted successors and assigns.

"Issuer's Compliance Fee" means a compliance monitoring fee in an annual amount (without proration for any partial year) equal to \$25.00 per rental unit in the Project (or such other amount as is implemented by the Issuer) to be paid by or on behalf of the Owner to the Issuer, if, but only if, at any time during the Qualified Project Period or for such longer period if the set-aside requirements required by the Code, Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida Statutes or other Issuer requirements remain in force, the Governmental Note is no longer outstanding. Such fee will be due in a lump sum payment on the date the Governmental Note is paid in full. The fee will be calculated for the period commencing on the date the Governmental Note is paid in full and ending on the last date of the Qualified Project Period, or such longer period if the set-aside required by the Code, Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida Statutes or other Issuer requirements remain in force after the Governmental Note is no longer outstanding.

"Land" shall have the meaning given that term in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"Loan Documents" means any and all documents executed in connection with the issuance of the Governmental Note and the making of the Project Loan to the Owner by the Issuer.

"Lower-Income Persons" means Eligible Persons whose Current Annual Family Income does not exceed the Applicable Income Limit; provided, however, that the occupants of a unit shall not be considered to be Lower-Income Persons if all of the occupants of such unit are students (as defined in Section 152(f)(2) of the Code), no one of whom is entitled to file a joint return under Section 6013 of the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a dwelling unit shall not fail to be treated as a dwelling unit that is occupied by Lower-Income Persons merely because such dwelling unit is occupied (a) by an individual who is a student and (i) receiving assistance under Title IV of the Social Security Act, (ii) was previously under the care and placement responsibility of the State agency program responsible for administering a plan under Part B or Part E of Title IV of the Social Security Act, or (iii) enrolled in a job training program receiving assistance under the Job Training Partnership Act or under other similar federal, State or local laws, or (b) entirely by full-time students if such students are (i) single parents and their children and such parents are not dependents of another individual and such children are not dependents of another individual other than a parent of such children, or (ii) married and file a joint return.

"Mortgage" means the first lien Mortgage, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing with respect to the Land and the Project, given by the Owner in favor of the Issuer and assigned by the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent, securing the repayment of the Project Note given in connection with the issuance and delivery of the Governmental Note, as such Mortgage may be amended from time to time.

"Project" means the acquisition and construction of a multifamily residential rental housing project known as Pembroke Tower II, located on the Land and financed with proceeds of the Project Loan pursuant to the Project Loan Agreement. The Project consists of 88 units and will be occupied by Elderly Persons.

"Project Loan" means the loan made by the Issuer to the Owner in connection with the issuance and delivery of the Governmental Note, as such Project Loan is evidenced by the Project Note and further described in the Project Loan Agreement.

"Project Loan Agreement" means that certain Project Loan Agreement entered into between the Owner and the Issuer dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_ 1, 2021, as amended or supplemented from time to time.

"Project Note" means the Promissory Note executed by the Owner in favor of the Issuer to evidence the Owner's obligation to repay the Project Loan.

"Qualified Project Period" means the period beginning on the first (1<sup>st</sup>) day on which ten percent (10%) of the residential units in the Project are first occupied or the delivery date of the Governmental Note, whichever is later, and ending on the latest of (a) the date that is fifteen (15) years after the date on which at least fifty percent (50%) of the units in the Project are first occupied, or (b) the first (1<sup>st</sup>) day on which no tax-exempt private activity bond (as that term is defined in Section 142(d)(2) of the Code) issued with respect to the Project is outstanding, or (c) the date on which any assistance provided with respect to the Project under Section 8 of the United States Housing Act of 1937, as amended, terminates.

"Regulations" means the Income Tax Regulations issued under the Code, as applicable (including applicable final regulations or temporary regulations).

"State" means the State of Florida.

- (b) Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, as used in this Agreement, words of the masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall be construed to include any other gender when appropriate and words of the singular number shall be construed to include the plural number, and vice versa, when appropriate. This Agreement and all the terms and provisions hereof shall be construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein and to sustain the validity hereof.
- (c) The titles and headings of the sections of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only, and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall not in any way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof or be considered or given any effect in construing this Agreement or any provisions hereof or in ascertaining intent, if any question of intent shall arise.
- Section 2. <u>Residential Rental Property</u>. The Owner hereby represents, covenants, warrants and agrees that:

- The Owner will acquire, construct, own and operate the Project for the purpose of (a) providing a "qualified residential rental project" as such phrase is used in Sections 142(a)(7) and 142(d)(1) of the Code, (2) the Owner shall own the entire Project for federal tax purposes, and (3) the Project shall be owned, managed and operated as multifamily residential rental property, comprised of a building or structure or several buildings or structures containing similarly constructed units, together with any functionally related and subordinate facilities and no other facilities, in accordance with Section 142(d) of the Code Sections 1.103-8(b)(4) and 1.103-8(a)(3) of the Regulations, and in accordance with such requirements as may be imposed thereby on the Project from time to time.
- (b) Each residential unit in the Project shall be contained in one or more buildings or structures located on the Land and shall be similarly designed, furnished and constructed (except as to number of bedrooms), each of which will contain separate and complete facilities for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation for an individual or a family, including a living area, a sleeping area, bathing and sanitation facilities and cooking facilities equipped with a cooking range or microwave oven, refrigerator and sink, all of which are separate and distinct from the other units.
- (c) None of the units in the Project will at any time be (1) utilized on a transient basis, (2) used as a hotel, motel, dormitory, fraternity or sorority house, rooming house, nursing home, hospital, sanitarium, rest home, trailer court or park, or (3) rented for initial lease periods of less than six (6) months. No part of the Project will, at any time, be owned or used by a cooperative housing corporation or converted to condominiums.
- (d) All of the units will be rented or available for rent on a continuous basis to members of the general public (other than units for a resident manager or maintenance personnel), and the Owner will not give preference to any particular class or group of persons in renting the units in the Project, except to the extent that units are required to be leased or rented to (1) Lower-Income Persons, (2) Eligible Persons, or (3) Elderly Persons. Lower-Income Persons, Eligible Persons and Elderly Persons who are residents of the Project will have equal access to and enjoyment of all common facilities of the Project at all times. The Owner will not discriminate against children of any age when renting the units in the Project.
- (e) The Land primarily consists of a parcel of real property or parcels of real property that are contiguous except for the interposition of a road, street, stream or similar property, and the Project primarily comprises buildings, structures and facilities that are geographically contiguous and functionally related. Any common facilities financed with proceeds of the Governmental Note (such as swimming pools, recreational facilities, parking areas and other facilities which are reasonably required for the Project, for example, heating and cooling equipment, trash disposal equipment or units for resident managers or maintenance or

security personnel) are functionally related and subordinate to the Project and are commensurate with its size and intended use.

- (f) The Owner or an Affiliated Party of the Owner shall not occupy any of the units in the Project; provided, however, that the Owner or an Affiliated Party of the Owner may occupy a unit in a building or structure in the Project that contains five or more units if the Owner or an Affiliated Party of the Owner is a resident manager or other necessary employee (e.g., maintenance and security personnel). No more than two units in the Project shall be occupied by resident managers or maintenance or security personnel.
- (g) None of the proceeds of the Governmental Note (including investment earnings) may be used to provide a skybox or any other private luxury box, an airplane, or a store the principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises or a facility used primarily for gambling.

The requirements of this Section 2 shall remain in effect during the term of this Agreement (as defined in Section 13 below).

Section 3. <u>Lower-Income Persons and Eligible Persons</u>. The Owner hereby represents, warrants and covenants as follows:

- (a) At all times during the Qualified Project Period, not less than forty percent (40%) of the residential units in the Project shall be occupied (or held available for occupancy) on a continuous basis by persons or families who at the time of their initial occupancy of such units are Lower-Income Persons. This occupancy requirement is referred to herein as the "Lower-Income Requirement."
- (b) At all times during the term of this Agreement (as defined in Section 13 below), at least sixty percent (60%) of the completed units in the Project shall be rented to or be available for rent by Eligible Persons.
- (c) For purposes of paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section 3, a unit occupied by an individual or family who at the commencement of the occupancy of such unit is a Lower-Income Person (or Eligible Person) shall be counted as occupied by a Lower-Income Person (or Eligible Person) during such individual's or family's tenancy in such unit, even though such individual or family ceases to be a Lower-Income Person (or Eligible Person). However, a Lower-Income Person whose income as of the most recent Income Certification (as described in Section 4(a) below) exceeds one hundred forty percent (140%) of the Applicable Income Limit shall not continue to be treated as a Lower-Income Person if after delivery of such Income Certification, but before the delivery of the next Income Certification, any residential unit in the Project of comparable or smaller size is occupied by a new resident who is not a Lower-Income Person. In addition, a unit that was occupied by a Lower-Income Person (or Eligible Person) shall be counted as occupied by a Lower-Income Person (or Eligible Person) until it is

reoccupied other than for a temporary period of not more than thirty-one (31) days, at which time the unit shall be considered to be occupied by a Lower-Income Person (or Eligible Person) only if the individual or family then occupying the unit satisfies the definition of a Lower-Income Person (or Eligible Person).

# Section 4. <u>Reporting Requirements; Payment of Issuer's Compliance Fee and Late</u> Reporting Fee; Maintenance.

- The Owner shall obtain and maintain on file an Income Certification from each (a) Lower-Income Person and Eligible Person dated immediately prior to the initial occupancy of such tenant in the Project in the form and containing such information as may be required by Section 142(d) of the Code, as the same may be from time to time amended by the Issuer on the advice of Bond Counsel in the exercise of its opinion that any such amendment is necessary, or in such other form and manner as may be required by applicable rules, rulings, procedures, official statements, regulations or policies now or hereafter promulgated or proposed by the Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service with respect to obligations issued under Section 142(d) of the Code. Photocopies of each such Income Certification and any verifications of such income, to the extent requested by the Issuer, shall be submitted to the Issuer (i) within 10 days following the end of the calendar month during which the tenant first occupies a unit in the Project, (ii) within 10 days following the end of the calendar month thereafter in which the lease is renewed or extended, and (iii) as reasonably requested by the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent, which may be as often as may be necessary, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, to comply with the provisions of Section 142(d) of the Code. To the extent permitted by the Issuer, such submissions may be made electronically.
- (b) The Owner shall file with the Issuer, on the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) business day of each month, copies of the Income Certifications specified in Section 4(a) hereof obtained by the Owner during the previous month.
- (c) At all times during the term of this Agreement, the Owner will obtain and maintain on file from each Lower-Income Person residing in the Project the information demonstrating each tenant's income eligibility.
- (d) The Owner shall maintain complete and accurate records pertaining to the incomes of (as of the date of initial occupancy of each tenant) and rentals charged to Lower-Income Persons and Eligible Persons residing in the Project, and shall permit, upon five (5) business days' notice to the Owner, any duly authorized representative of the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent to inspect the books and records of the Owner pertaining to the incomes of and rentals charged to all tenants residing in the Project.

- (e) The Owner shall prepare and submit at the beginning of the Qualified Project Period, and on the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) day of each month thereafter, to the Issuer, rent rolls and a Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance in the form and content approved by the Issuer, executed by the Owner stating (i) the percentage of residential units that were occupied by Lower-Income Persons and Eligible Persons as of the 20th day of the previous month, (ii) that at all times during the previous month 60% of the residential units, were occupied (or held available for occupancy) by Eligible Persons (as determined in accordance with Section 3 of this Agreement), (iii) that at all times during the previous month at least 40% of the residential units were occupied (or held available for occupancy) by Lower-Income Persons (as determined in accordance with Section 3 of this Agreement), and (iv) that no default has occurred under this Agreement or, if such a default has occurred, the nature of such default and the steps, if any, the Owner has taken or proposes to take to correct such default.
- (f) During the Qualified Project Period, the Owner shall submit to the Secretary of the Treasury (the "Secretary") (at such time and in such manner as the Secretary shall prescribe) an annual certification required by Section 142(d)(7) of the Code. As of the date of this Agreement, the Owner shall make such certification to the Secretary annually by completing and submitting IRS Form 8703 by March 31 after the close of the calendar year for which the certification is made. The Owner shall be responsible for making such certification at such other time or in such other manner as the Secretary may prescribe from time to time.
- (g) In the event the Issuer transfers responsibility for compliance monitoring to the Fiscal Agent or a newly designated Compliance Agent under Section 23 hereof, the Issuer may direct the Owner to provide and the Owner shall provide to the Fiscal Agent or the newly designated Compliance Agent copies of all of the reports, documents and certificates required under this Section. The Owner shall pay all reasonable fees and expenses of the Fiscal Agent or the newly designated Compliance Agent in connection with such responsibilities. Upon the designation of the Fiscal Agent or the Compliance Agent as the compliance monitor under this Agreement, all references herein to the Issuer as the recipient of reports and filings shall be deemed to be the Fiscal Agent and/or the Compliance Agent, as applicable.
- (h) The Owner shall immediately notify the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer of any change in the management of the Project.
- (i) If at any time during the term of this Agreement the Governmental Note is no longer outstanding (as provided in the Funding Loan Agreement), the Owner shall pay the Issuer's Compliance Fee.
- (j) The Owner will keep the buildings, parking areas, roads and walkways, recreational facilities, landscaping and all other improvements of any kind now or hereafter erected as part of the Project, in good condition and repair (normal wear

and tear excepted), will not commit or suffer any waste and will not do or suffer to be done anything which would or could increase the risk of fire or other hazard to the Project or any part thereof. In order to ensure the Owner's compliance with this covenant, the Issuer or its representatives are hereby authorized to enter upon and inspect the Project at any time during normal business hours upon reasonable notice and subject to the rights of tenants. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer has no affirmative duty to make such inspection.

- (k) The Owner will construct and operate the Project so that it conforms in all material respects with all applicable zoning, planning, building and environmental laws, ordinances and regulations of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project, including, but not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.
- (I) The Owner hereby agrees to pay a late fee in the amount of \$100 per day (including weekends) for each day that the Owner fails to timely submit (in the sole, reasonable opinion of the Issuer) any of the information, Income Certifications, rent rolls, Certificates of Continuing Program Compliance, reports, documents and/or certificates (collectively, the "Compliance Reporting Information") required by this Section 4, as may be amended from time to time (the "Late Reporting Fee"). The Owner acknowledges and hereby agrees that, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, a Late Reporting Fee shall apply to and be payable in connection with each separate instance in which any of the Compliance Reporting Information (including individual components thereof) is not timely submitted pursuant to this Section 4, as may be amended from time to time.

Section 5. Indemnification. The Owner hereby covenants and agrees that it shall indemnify and hold harmless the Issuer, the County and the Fiscal Agent and their respective officers, directors, officials, employees and agents from and against any and all claims by or on behalf of any person arising from any cause whatsoever in connection with this Agreement, the Funding Loan, the Project or the sale of the Governmental Note to finance the Funding Loan or the making of the Project Loan to finance the Project, any and all claims arising from any act or omission of the Owner or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees in connection with the Project or the sale of the Governmental Note to finance the Project, and all costs, reasonable counsel fees, expenses or liabilities incurred in connection with any such claim or proceeding brought thereon; except that the Owner shall not be required to indemnify any person for damages caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of such person or for losses relating to principal and interest. In the event that any action or proceeding is brought against the Issuer, the County the Fiscal Agent or any of their respective officers, directors, officials, employees or agents, with respect to which indemnity may be sought hereunder, the Owner, upon written notice from the indemnified party (which notice shall be given in a timely manner so as not to impair Owner's rights to defend), shall assume the investigation and defense thereof, including the employment of counsel reasonably acceptable to the indemnified party and the payment of all expenses. The indemnified party shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action or proceedings and to participate in the defense thereof, but, unless such separate counsel is employed with the approval and consent of the Owner, or because of a conflict of interest between the Owner and the indemnified party, the Owner shall not be required to pay the fees and expenses of such separate counsel. The Owner agrees to execute any additional documents deemed necessary by the Issuer, the County or the Fiscal Agent to evidence the indemnification provided for in this Section 5. At the request of the Issuer or County, Owner agrees, in addition to the above indemnification, to pay the reasonable costs and expenses of the County Attorney of Broward County in connection with the action or proceeding giving rise to the indemnification.

While the Owner has possession of the Project, the Owner also shall pay and discharge and shall indemnify and hold harmless the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent from (a) any lien or charge upon payments by the Owner to the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent hereunder, and (b) any taxes (including, without limitation, all ad valorem taxes and sales taxes), assessments, impositions and other charges other than income and other similar taxes in respect of any portion of the Project. If any such claim is asserted, or any such lien or charge upon payments, or any such taxes, assessments, impositions or other charges other than income and other similar taxes, are sought to be imposed, the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent shall give prompt notice to the Owner and the Owner shall have the sole right and duty to assume, and will assume, the defense thereof, with full power to litigate, compromise or settle the same in its sole discretion.

In addition thereto, the Owner will pay upon demand all of the reasonable fees and expenses paid or incurred by the Fiscal Agent and/or the Issuer in enforcing the provisions hereof.

Section 6. Reliance. The Issuer and the Owner hereby recognize and agree that the representations and covenants set forth herein may be relied upon by the owners from time to time of the Governmental Note, the County, Bond Counsel and the other parties to transactions involving the issuance, sale or remarketing of the Governmental Note and their respective counsel. In performing their duties and obligations hereunder, the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent may rely upon statements and certificates of the Owner, Lower-Income Persons and Eligible Persons reasonably believed by the Owner, its agents and employees to be genuine and to have been executed by the proper person or persons, and upon audits of the books and records of the Owner pertaining to occupancy of the Project. In addition, the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent may consult with counsel, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection with respect to any action taken or suffered by the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent hereunder in good faith and in conformity with the opinion of such counsel. In performing its duties and obligations hereunder, the Owner may rely upon certificates of Lower-Income Persons and Eligible Persons reasonably believed to be genuine and to have been executed by the proper person or persons.

#### Section 7. <u>Fair Housing Laws</u>.

The Owner will comply with all fair housing laws, rules, regulations or orders applicable to the Project and shall not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, sex, age or national origin in the lease, use or occupancy of the Project or in connection with the employment or application for employment of persons for the operation and management of the Project, except

as permitted herein with respect to occupancy by Elderly Persons. All advertising and promotional material used in connection with the Project shall contain the phrase "Equal Housing Opportunity."

Section 8. <u>Tenant Lists</u>. All tenants lists, applications, and waiting lists relating to the Project shall at all times be kept separate and identifiable from any other business of the Owner which is unrelated to the Project, and shall be maintained, as required by the Issuer or the Funding Lender from time to time, in a reasonable condition for proper audit and subject to examination during business hours by representatives of the Issuer, the Funding Lender or the Fiscal Agent. Failure to keep such lists and applications or to make them available to the Issuer, the Funding Lender or Fiscal Agent after written request therefor will be a default hereunder.

Section 9. <u>Tenant Lease Restrictions</u>. All tenant leases shall contain clauses, among others, wherein each individual lessee:

- (a) Certifies the accuracy of the statements made in the Income Certification;
- (b) Agrees that the family income, family composition and other eligibility requirements shall be deemed substantial and material obligations of such lessee's tenancy; that such lessee will comply promptly with all requests for information with respect thereto from the Owner, the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender or the Issuer, and that such lessee's failure to provide accurate information in the Income Certification or refusal to comply with a request for information with respect thereto shall be deemed a violation of a substantial obligation of such lessee's tenancy; and
- (c) Agrees not to sublease to any person or family who does not execute and deliver an Income Certification.

Sale, Assignment, Conveyance or other Disposition of Project or Interest Section 10. in Owner. Except with respect to transfer of interests within the Owner, as permitted under the terms and conditions of the Owner's Amended and Restated Operating Agreement, dated as of 1, 2021 (as may be further amended, the "Operating Agreement"), the Owner shall not sell, assign, convey or transfer any material portion of the Land, fixtures or improvements constituting a part of the Land or Project, or any material portion of the personal property constituting a portion of the Project during the term of this Agreement without (i) the prior written consent of the Issuer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, (ii) the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer having received an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that, in reliance upon such factual certificates as it deems appropriate and subject to such qualifications as may be generally acceptable in the industry, such sale, conveyance, transfer, or assignment will not result, under then-existing law, in interest on the Governmental Note, or any part thereof, becoming includable in the gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes, and (iii) upon receipt by the Issuer of a fee from the Owner upon transfer of ownership in excess of fifty percent (50%) interest in the Project or the Owner (which fee shall be refunded by the Issuer to the Owner in the event the Issuer does not approve the transfer of the Project to the proposed purchaser or assignee thereof, or in the event such transfer is not consummated) in the

amount of (a) ten percent (10%) of the amount of the Governmental Note outstanding on the date of the written transfer request if up to ten percent (10%) of the units in the Project are rented; (b) two percent (2%) of the amount of the Governmental Note outstanding on the date of the written transfer if eleven percent (11%) to sixty percent (60%) of the units in the Project are rented; (c) one percent (1%) of the amount of the Governmental Note outstanding on the date of the written transfer if over sixty percent (60%) of the units in the Project are rented; or (d) one-half percent (.05%) of the amount of the Governmental Note outstanding on the date of the written transfer after one (1) year from the date of completion of construction of the Project, regardless of occupancy (the "Transfer Fee"). Provided that the above conditions have been satisfied, the Issuer will provide to the Owner and the purchaser or transferee on request its written consent to any transfer in accordance with this Section an estoppel certificate. It is hereby expressly stipulated and agreed that any sale, transfer or other disposition of the Project in violation of this Section 10 shall be null, void and without effect, shall cause a reversion of title to the Owner, and shall be ineffective to relieve the Owner of its obligations under this Agreement. Nothing contained in this Section 10 shall affect any provision of the Mortgage or any other document or instrument to which the Owner is a party which requires the Owner to obtain the consent of the holder of the Project Note or any other person as a precondition to sale, transfer or other disposition of the Project. The Transfer Fee will apply if a material portion of the Project financed with proceeds from the Project Loan is sold during the term hereof and such material portion of such Project consisted of personal property or equipment, the proceeds from the sale thereof may be used by the Owner to purchase property of similar function to be used in connection with the Project, otherwise, the proceeds from such sale shall be applied in accordance with the Mortgage. If such material portion of such Project consists of real property and improvements, the purchaser thereof must execute and deliver to the Owner and the Fiscal Agent a document in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer and the Funding Lender pursuant to which such purchaser shall agree to operate such property in compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, ownership of the Project may be transferred in connection with a foreclosure thereof under the Mortgage, or the acceptance of the Project by the mortgagee or its designee in lieu of foreclosure under the Mortgage, without complying with this Section 10; provided, however, that this sentence shall cease to apply if, at any time during that part of the Qualified Project Period subsequent to such transfer, the Owner or an Affiliated Party with respect to any of such parties obtains an ownership interest in the Project for federal tax purposes.

Except as permitted under the terms and conditions of the Operating Agreement, the Owner shall not sell or otherwise transfer the Project in whole, nor shall there be substituted a new manager of the Owner or a change in the controlling ownership of the manager of the Owner, or other merger, transfer or consolidation of the Owner, unless (a) the Owner has received the prior written consent of the Issuer (which shall respond within a reasonable period of time and shall not unreasonably withhold such consent), (b) the fees and expenses of the Issuer and its professionals have been paid, including the Transfer Fee, (c) the Owner shall not be in default hereunder, (d) it is reasonably expected that continued operation of the Project will comply with the requirements of this Agreement, (e) the subsequent purchaser or assignee shall execute any document reasonably requested by the Issuer and, for so long as the Project Loan is outstanding, the Funding Lender, with respect to assuming the obligations of the Owner under this Agreement, (f) the Funding Lender, if the Project Loan is outstanding, and the Issuer shall

not have any reason to believe that the purchaser or assignee is incapable, financially or otherwise, of complying with or may be unwilling to comply with, the terms of all agreements binding on such purchaser or assignee relating to the Project, (g) the purchaser or assignee shall have satisfied such other conditions as may be reasonable under the circumstances, (h) the purchaser or assignee shall have first executed a document in recordable form addressed to the Issuer, the Funding Lender, if the Project Loan is outstanding, and the Fiscal Agent to the effect that such purchaser or assignee will comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (i) the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender, if the Project Loan is outstanding, and the Issuer shall receive an opinion of counsel reasonably acceptable to the Issuer to the effect that the purchaser's or assignee's obligations under this Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement and other Loan Documents relating to the Governmental Note are enforceable against such purchaser or assignee in accordance with their terms, and (i) the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender, if the Project Loan is outstanding, and the Issuer shall have received an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that, in reliance upon such factual certificates as it deems appropriate and subject to such qualifications as may be generally acceptable in the industry, such sale, transfer, disposition or assignment will not result, under then-existing law, in interest on the Governmental Note, or any part thereof, becoming includable in the gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes.

It is hereby expressly stipulated and agreed that any sale, transfer or other disposition of the Project in violation of this Section shall be ineffective to relieve the Owner of its obligations under this Agreement or the Project Loan Agreement. In the event that the purchaser or assignee shall assume the obligations of the Owner under the Project Loan, the Project Loan Agreement and this Agreement, the Owner shall be released from its obligations thereunder and hereunder, other than its obligations hereunder and under the Project Loan Agreement arising prior to such date of assumption (unless such obligations are assumed by the purchaser or transferee).

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 10 to the contrary, the restrictions set forth above on the sale, transfer or other disposition or encumbrance of the Project or any portion thereof shall not be applicable to any of the following: (i) leases of apartment units as contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) grants of utility related easements and service or concession related leases or easements, including, without limitation, coin-operated laundry service leases and/or television cable easements on the Project, providing same are granted in connection with the operation of the Project as contemplated by this Agreement, (iii) any sale or conveyance to a condemning governmental authority as a direct result of the condemnation or a governmental taking or a threat thereof, (iv) the placing of a subordinate mortgage lien, assignment of leases and/or rents or security interest on or pertaining to the Project which is made expressly subject and subordinate hereto and, to the extent still outstanding, to the Mortgage, or (v) subject to the provisions of the Mortgage, any transfer of membership interests in the Owner or in the entities which are members in the Owner.

Section 11. <u>Negative Covenants</u>. During the term of this Agreement, the Owner shall not:

(a) Except pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, or except upon a sale or transfer of the Project in

accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement and the Mortgage, encumber any of the mortgaged property, including the grant of commercial leases (other than for vending machines, coin operated laundry facilities and similar amenities functionally related and subordinate to the Project and granted in connection with the day to day operation of an apartment complex), or permit the conveyance, transfer or encumbrance of such property (except for such leases and for apartment leases) for the Qualified Project Period. Nothing in this paragraph shall prohibit the granting of easements for the purpose of providing utility services (including cable television or private satellite television) to the Project;

- (b) Demolish any part of the Project necessary for the operation thereof for its intended purposes or substantially subtract from any real or personal property of the Project; or
- (c) Permit the use of the dwelling accommodations of the Project for any purpose except rental residences in compliance with Section 142(d) of the Code.

Section 12. Covenants to Run with the Land. This Agreement and the covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth herein shall be deemed covenants running with the Land and, except as provided in Section 13 hereof, shall pass to and be binding upon the Owner's assigns and successors and all subsequent owners of the Land (whether fee simple or leasehold) or the Project or any interest therein; provided, however, that upon the termination of this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof said covenants, reservations and restrictions shall expire. Except as provided in Section 13 hereof, each and every contract, deed or other instrument hereafter executed covering or conveying the Land or the Project or any portion thereof or interest therein shall conclusively be held to have been executed, delivered and accepted subject to such covenants, reservations and restrictions, regardless of whether such covenants, reservations and restrictions are set forth in such contract, deed or other instruments. If a portion or portions of the Land or the Project are conveyed, all of such covenants, reservations and restrictions shall run to each portion of the Land or the Project.

Section 13. <u>Term.</u> This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the expiration of the Qualified Project Period; provided, however, that this Agreement shall automatically terminate in the event of involuntary noncompliance with the provisions of this Agreement caused by fire or other casualty, seizure, requisition, foreclosure or transfer by deed in lieu of foreclosure, change in a federal law or an action of a federal agency that prevents the Issuer from enforcing the provisions hereof, or condemnation or a similar event (as determined by Bond Counsel), but only if within a reasonable period thereafter (i) the Governmental Note is retired in full or (ii) the proceeds received as a result of such event are used to finance a project that complies with the provisions hereof and any other applicable requirements of the Code and the Regulations. In the case of foreclosure or transfer of title by deed in lieu of foreclosure or similar event (as determined by Bond Counsel), such termination will cease to be in effect if, at any time during the remainder of the Qualified Project Period following such event, the Owner or an Affiliated Party to the Owner, obtains an ownership interest in the Project for federal tax purposes.

Upon the termination of the Qualified Project Period, and the satisfaction by the Owner of all obligations under this Agreement, the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the Owner shall, upon the written request of the Owner, and at Owner's sole expense, execute and record a Notice of Termination of Land Use Restriction Agreement, the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B (the "Notice of Termination"). Pursuant to Resolution No. 2021-006, adopted by the Issuer on May 19, 2021, the Chair and Vice Chair of the Issuer have each been authorized to execute and deliver the Notice of Termination.

Correction of Noncompliance. The failure of the Owner to comply with Section 14. any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be deemed a default hereunder unless such failure has not been corrected within a period of 60 days following the date that the Owner, or with respect to the requirements of Sections 2 or 3 hereof, any of the parties hereto, learned of such failure or should have learned of such failure by the exercise of reasonable diligence (which 60-day period may be extended if (i) such failure cannot reasonably be corrected within such 60-day period, (ii) diligent action to correct such failure commences within such 60-day period, (iii) such action is diligently pursued until such failure is corrected, and (iv) with respect to a failure to comply with any of the requirements of Sections 2 or 3 hereof, the Owner delivers to the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such longer cure period will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Governmental Note from gross income for federal income tax purposes). After the Fiscal Agent learns of such failure, the Fiscal Agent shall attempt with reasonable diligence to notify the Owner and the Issuer of such failure by telephonic and written communication. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Investor Member shall have the right, but not the obligation, to cure a default hereunder within the applicable cure period.

Section 15. Modification of Tax Covenants. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 22(b) hereof, to the extent any amendments, modifications or changes to the Regulations or the Code shall, in the written opinion of Bond Counsel addressed to the Issuer, the Owner and the Fiscal Agent, impose requirements upon the ownership, occupancy or operation of the Project different than those imposed by the Regulations or the Code and stated herein, and the Owner's failure to comply with such different requirements would produce a material and substantial risk that interest on the Governmental Note will become subject to federal income taxation, then this Agreement shall be amended and modified in accordance with such requirements. The parties hereto agree to execute, deliver, and record, if applicable, any and all documents or instruments necessary in the opinion of and in the form approved by Bond Counsel to effectuate the intent of this Section 15.

Section 16. <u>Burden and Benefit</u>. The Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the Owner hereby declare their understanding and intent that the burden of the covenants set forth herein touch and concern the Land in that the Owner's legal interest in the Land and the Project is rendered less valuable thereby. The Fiscal Agent, the Issuer and the Owner hereby further declare their understanding and intent that the benefit of such covenants touch and concern the Land by enhancing and increasing the enjoyment and use of the Land and the Project by Lower-Income Persons and Eligible Persons, the intended beneficiaries of such covenants, reservations and restrictions, and by furthering the public purposes for which the Governmental Note was issued.

The Owner hereby expressly acknowledges that this Agreement is necessary to preserve the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Governmental Note issued by the Issuer to finance the Project Loan and covenants and agrees that in connection with the acquisition, construction, ownership and operation of the Project, it shall, and shall require any subsequent purchaser of the Project to, fully comply with all terms and conditions of this Agreement.

Section 17. <u>Uniformity; Common Plan</u>. The covenants, reservations and restrictions hereof shall apply uniformly to the entire Project.

Section 18. <u>Application of Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds</u>. Subject to the provisions of the Project Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, if during the Qualified Project Period, the Project is damaged or destroyed or if all or a portion of the Land or Project is taken through eminent domain proceedings, or under the threat thereof, proceeds from insurance on the Project or any condemnation awards pertaining to such eminent domain proceedings shall be applied as provided in the Mortgage.

Remedies; Enforceability. The benefits of this Agreement shall inure to, and may be enforced by, respectively, the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent and its successors, the holders of the Governmental Note and their successors and assigns to the extent permitted by the Funding Loan Agreement, and solely as to Sections 2, 3 and 7 of this Agreement, the Lower-Income Persons and Eligible Persons and their successors who shall reside or be eligible to reside in units set aside for their occupancy pursuant to Section 3 of this Agreement for the period set forth in Section 13 hereof, whether or not the Project Loan may be paid in full, and whether or not the Governmental Note is outstanding. If a material violation of any of the provisions hereof occurs and is not cured within the period provided by Section 14 hereof, any or all of such parties may institute and prosecute any proceeding at law or in equity to abate, prevent or enjoin any such violation or attempted violation, or to compel specific performance hereunder, it being recognized that the beneficiaries of the Owner's obligations hereunder cannot be adequately compensated by monetary damages in the event of the Owner's default. The remedies of the beneficiaries of this Agreement other than the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent shall be limited to those described in the preceding sentence. In addition to such other remedies as may be provided for herein, if a violation of any of the provisions hereof occurs which is not corrected during the period provided in Section 14 hereof, the Issuer shall have the right (but not the obligation), and is specifically authorized by the Owner, to terminate the manager and appoint a new manager of the Project to operate the Project in accordance with this Agreement and the Project Loan Agreement and take all actions necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Issuer, to cure any default by the Owner hereunder, and such new manager assuming such management hereunder shall be paid by or on behalf of the Owner, from the rents, revenues, profits and income from the Project, a management fee not to exceed the prevailing management fee paid to managers of similar housing projects in the area of Broward County, Florida. Subject to Section 13 hereof, the provisions hereof are imposed upon and made applicable to the Land and shall run with the Land and shall be enforceable against the Owner or any other person or entity that has or had an ownership interest in the Project at the time of such violation or attempted violation. No delay in enforcing the provisions hereof as to any breach or violation shall impair, damage or waive the right of any party entitled to enforce the provisions hereof or

to obtain relief against or recover for the continuation or repetition of such breach or violation or any similar breach or violation hereof at any later time or times. All rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative, non-exclusive and in addition to any and all rights and remedies that the parties and beneficiaries hereof may otherwise have.

The Owner hereby agrees that the appointment of a new manager may be necessary to serve the public purpose for which the Governmental Note was issued and to preserve the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Governmental Note following a violation of the provisions of this Agreement which is not cured within the period provided in Section 14 hereof. The Owner hereby expressly consents to, and agrees not to contest, the appointment of a new manager to operate the Project following a violation by the Owner of the provisions of this Agreement which is not cured as provided in Section 14 hereof and hereby waives any and all defenses and objections that might otherwise be raised to any such appointment of a new manager in accordance with the terms hereof. The Owner further agrees that the Issuer shall have the right to require the Owner to remove any manager or managing agent whose actions or inactions present a material risk of a breach of the agreements of the Owner herein, including, without limitation, a material risk of an adverse impact on the excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Governmental Note and which action or inaction is not being corrected as provided in Section 14 hereof, upon such manager or managing agent being given thirty (30) days' written notice of any violation hereof, and such right shall be expressly acknowledged in any contract between the Owner and any such manager or managing agent.

Section 20. <u>Filing</u>. Upon execution and delivery by the parties hereto, the Owner shall cause this Agreement and all amendments and supplements hereto to be recorded and filed in the official public deed records of Broward County, Florida, and in such manner and in such other places as the Issuer may reasonably request, and shall pay all fees and charges incurred in connection therewith.

Section 21. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State. The venue for any proceeding hereunder shall be a court of appropriate jurisdiction in Broward County, Florida.

### Section 22. Amendments.

- (a) The Owner shall not assign its interest hereunder, except by writing and in accordance with the provisions of Section 10 hereof.
- (b) This Agreement shall not be amended, revised, or terminated except by a written instrument, executed by the parties hereto (or their successors in title), and duly recorded in the official public records for Broward County, Florida. Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, the parties hereby agree to amend this Agreement to the extent required in the opinion of Bond Counsel, in order for interest on the Governmental Note to remain exempt from federal income taxation under Section 103 of the Code. The Owner agrees, from time to time, to take such other actions and steps necessary to comply, and to cause the Project to comply, with the

requirements of Section 142(d) of the Code and to enter into modifications and amendments to this Agreement to the extent required by federal law, by any amendment to the Code or by any Regulation promulgated thereunder, in each case so that interest on the Governmental Note remains exempt from federal income taxes. Any such amendment, revision or termination shall be effected only in accordance with the Funding Loan Agreement.

Section 23. Fiscal Agent or Compliance Agent to Monitor Compliance Upon Request of Issuer. If the Issuer requests in writing that the Fiscal Agent (and the Fiscal Agent agrees in writing to such request) or Compliance Agent assume the role of compliance monitoring, the Fiscal Agent or Compliance Agent, as the case may be, shall receive and examine all other reports, certifications and other documents required to be delivered to the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent or Compliance Agent hereunder and shall notify the Issuer promptly of non-compliance with this Agreement. In such event the Fiscal Agent or Compliance Agent shall include in its monthly statement described above a statement as to whether it has received the rent rolls and whether any of the information in any such documents received by the Fiscal Agent or Compliance Agent indicates the Owner has failed to comply with any of the requirements contained in this Agreement. The Fiscal Agent or Compliance Agent shall be authorized to charge reasonable fees and expenses to the Owner if it assumes such role.

Section 24. Notice. All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Agreement must be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) when delivered, if sent by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), (ii) when delivered, if delivered personally, (iii) when transmitted, if sent by facsimile if a confirmation of transmission is produced by the sending machine (and a copy of each facsimile promptly shall be sent by first class United States mail, postage fully prepaid), (iv) when delivered, if sent by overnight mail or overnight courier, or (v) on the date delivery is refused, as indicated on the return receipt or the delivery records of the delivery service, as applicable, in each case to the parties at the addresses listed in the first paragraph of this Agreement. A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate or other communication given hereunder by either the Issuer or the Owner to the others, shall also be given to the Fiscal Agent. Copies of all notices sent pursuant to this Agreement shall be sent in accordance with Section 11.04 of the Funding Loan Agreement and Section 11 of the Freddie Mac Rider attached as Exhibit "C" hereto and made a part hereof.

Section 25. <u>Severability</u>. If any provision hereof shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining portions hereof shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

Section 26. <u>Multiple Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in multiple counterparts, all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument, and each of which shall be deemed to be an original.

Section 27. Release of Fiscal Agent. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, on and after the date the Governmental Note is no longer outstanding under the Funding Loan Agreement, the Fiscal Agent shall be released as a party to this Agreement and discharged from any duties or obligations hereunder, and all provisions throughout this

Agreement related to the duties of, or notice to or from, the Fiscal Agent shall be of no further force and effect. If any approval or consent of the Fiscal Agent is required, such approval or consent shall be obtained from the Issuer; however, multiple notices need not be provided. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such references shall remain in effect when needed to construe land use restriction obligations under this Agreement or to provide definitions. The Fiscal Agent's rights to indemnification provided for in the Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement and this Agreement shall survive such release and discharge.

Section 28. <u>Freddie Mac Rider</u>. For so long as the Note (or any portion thereof) is outstanding, the provisions of this Agreement are subject to the provisions of the Freddie Mac Rider attached as Exhibit "C" hereto and made a part hereof.

[COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW]

# COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT

### (Pembroke Tower II)

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, and the Owner have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered on their behalf by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first set forth above.

	ISSUER:
[SEAL]	HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
ATTEST:	By: Daniel D. Reynolds, Chair
John G. Primeau, Secretary	
STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD	
online notarization, this and JOHN G. PRIMEAU, C AUTHORITY OF BROWAR	acknowledged before me by means of $\square$ physical presence or $\square$ day of, 2021, by DANIEL D. REYNOLDS Chair and Secretary, respectively, of the HOUSING FINANCE D COUNTY, FLORIDA, a public body corporate and politic, on y are (check one) $\square$ personally known to me or $\square$ have produced a fication.
[Notary Seal]	Signature of person taking acknowledgment Name (typed, printed or stamped): Title or Rank: Serial number (if any):

# COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT

## (Pembroke Tower II)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, and the Owner have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered on their behalf by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first set forth above.

	FISCAL AGENT:
WITNESSES:	THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Fiscal Agent
Print:	Name:
Print:	
	Address: 4655 Salisbury Road, Suite 300 Jacksonville, Florida 32256
STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF DUVAL	
online notarization, this day of BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON T	before me by means of $\square$ physical presence or $\square$ , 2021, and Trust Officer of THE TRUST COMPANY, N.A., this $\_\_$ day of aid bank. Said person is $(check\ one)$ $\square$ personally
known to me or □ has produced a valid drive	or's license as identification.
Name (t Title or	re of person taking acknowledgment yped, printed or stamped):  Rank:  umber (if any):

# COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT

### (Pembroke Tower II)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, and the Owner have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered on their behalf by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first set forth above.

	OWNER:
WITNESSES:	SP BROWARD LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Print:	By: SP Broward Manager LLC, a Florida limited liability company, its Manager
Print:	
	Address: 5403 W. Gray Street Tampa, Florida 33609
STATE OF WASHINGTON	
COUNTY OF PIERCE	
Manager of SP BROWARD MANAC	me on
	(Signature of Notary)
(Stamp)	Notary public in and for the State of Washington My commission expires . 20

#### EXHIBIT "A"

#### LEGAL DESCRIPTION

#### (Pembroke Tower II)

The land referred to herein below is situated in the County of Broward, State of Florida, and described as follows:

A PORTION OF A TRACT OF LAND KNOWN AS A PORTION OF TRACT 'A' OF PEMBROKE TOWER PLAT AS SHOWN IN PLAT BOOK 101, PAGE 50, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID TRACT 'A', PEMBROKE TOWER PLAT AND PROCEEDING THENCE N.89°54'11"W, 204.80 FEET TO A POINT, THENCE N.00°01'35"E, 330.53 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE S.89°53'33"E, 204.80 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE S.00°01'35"W, 330.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

TOGETHER WITH an easement for ingress and egress, as created and established by that certain deed recorded in Official Records Book 8111, Page 277 and the corrective deed relative thereto recorded in Official Records Book 8959, Page 586, of the Public Records of Broward County, Florida, over the following described:

The South 35 feet of Tract 23, Section 10, Township 51 South, Range 41 East, "A.J. BENDLE SUB." as recorded in Plat Book 1 at Page 27 of the Public Records of Dade County, Florida, less the East 527.14 feet thereof.

TOGETHER WITH PERPETUAL, NON-EXCLUSIVE BENEFICIAL EASEMENTS GRANTED BY SP TOWER LLC, A FLORIDA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, TO BE RECORDED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA.

NOTE: The Property is located entirely within Broward County, Florida. The reference to Dade County is the result of current-day Broward County being formed (circa 1915) from portions of Dade and Palm Beach Counties.

## EXHIBIT "B"

## FORM OF NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT

(Pembroke Tower II)

ABOVE SPACE RESERVED FOR RECORDING PURPOSES ONLY

This NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT (the "Termination") is executed as of, 20, with an effective date of, 20, by the HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD
COUNTY, FLORIDA (the "Authority"), THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., a national banking association, as fiscal agent (the "Fiscal Agent"), and, a Florida (the "Current Owner").
1. That certain Land Use Restriction Agreement dated as of
2. The Qualified Project Period, as defined in the Land Use Restriction Agreement, ended on, and the Authority has authorized the execution and delivery of this Termination.
3. By execution of this Termination, the Land Use Restriction Agreement will be terminated.
4. All payments of any amounts due under the Land Use Restriction Agreement are fully paid and all obligations thereunder have been met. There is currently no default under the Land Use Restriction Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority, the Fiscal Agent and the Current Owner hereby agree to terminate the Land Use Restriction Agreement.

[COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW]

## COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT

## (Pembroke Tower II)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Notice of Termination of Land Use Restriction Agreement to be executed in their respective names by their duly authorized representative as of the day and year first written above.

**CURRENT OWNER:** 

## WITNESSES: Print: \_\_\_\_ By: \_\_\_\_\_ Name: Print: Title: Address: STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF \_\_\_\_\_ The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_, by \_\_\_\_\_\_, as \_\_\_\_\_ of \_\_\_\_\_, a \_\_\_\_\_\_, on behalf of the \_\_\_\_\_\_. Said person is (check one) $\square$ personally known to me or $\square$ has produced a valid driver's license as identification. Signature of person taking acknowledgment [Notary Seal] Name (typed, printed or stamped): Title or Rank: \_\_\_\_\_ Serial number (if any):

# COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT

## (Pembroke Tower II)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Notice of Termination of Land Use Restriction Agreement to be executed in their respective names by their duly authorized representative as of the day and year first written above.

	THE AUTHORITY:
WITNESSES:	HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
Print:	
Print:	By: Chair
WITNESSES:	[SEAL]
Print:	
Print:	By: Secretary
STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD	
	ument was executed and acknowledged before me this day of 20, by and as Chair and Secretary, respectively, of the HOUSING FINANCE
	ARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, a public body corporate and politic, or
behalf of said Authority. The valid driver's license as iden	hey are $(check\ one)$ $\square$ personally known to me or $\square$ have produced a stification.
[Notary Seal]	Signature of person taking acknowledgment Name (typed, printed or stamped): Title or Rank: Serial number (if any):

# COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT

## (Pembroke Tower II)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Notice of Termination of Land Use Restriction Agreement to be executed in their respective names by their duly authorized representative as of the day and year first written above.

	FISCAL AGENT:
WITNESSES:	THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Fiscal Agent
Print:	
	By:
Print:	Name:
	Title:
	t was acknowledged before me by, as a HE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.
	, 20, on behalf of said bank. Said person is (check one)
•	☐ has produced a valid driver's license as identification.
[Notary Seal]	Signature of person taking acknowledgment
	Name (typed, printed or stamped):
	Title or Rank:
	Serial number (if any):

#### **EXHIBIT "C"**

#### FREDDIE MAC RIDER

1. Definitions. Terms used in this Rider as defined terms shall have the meanings given those terms in the Regulatory Agreement and the Funding Loan Agreement. In addition, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

**"Freddie Mac"** means the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, a shareholder-owned government-sponsored enterprise organized and existing under the laws of the United States.

"Funding Lender" means the holder of the Governmental Note, (i) initially STI INSTITUTIONAL & GOVERNMENT, INC., a Delaware corporation, (ii) on the Conversion Date, GRANDBRIDGE REAL ESTATE CAPITAL, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company, and (iii) on the Freddie Mac Purchase Date, Freddie Mac, and any successors or assigns thereof.

"Funding Loan Agreement" means the Funding Loan Agreement dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_1, 2021, by and among the Governmental Lender, the Initial Funding Lender set forth therein and the Fiscal Agent, as such Funding Loan Agreement may from time to time be amended or supplemented.

"Governmental Note" means that certain Multifamily Note designated as Multifamily Mortgage Revenue Note, Series 2021 (Pembroke Tower II), dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2021, delivered by the Governmental Lender pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement.

"Project Loan" means the loan to the Borrower pursuant to the Project Loan Documents, which Project Loan is to be assigned to the Fiscal Agent.

"Project Loan Agreement" means the Project Loan Agreement dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ 1, 2021, among the Borrower, the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent, as such Project Loan Agreement may from time to time be amended or supplemented.

"Project Loan Documents" means the Security Instrument, the Project Note, the Project Loan Agreement, the Regulatory Agreement, the Assignment, the Continuing Covenant Agreement, any Subordination Agreement(s) and any and all other instruments and other documents evidencing, securing, or otherwise relating to the Project Loan or any portion thereof.

"Project Note" means the [Promissory] Note, including applicable addenda, to be executed by the Borrower in favor of the Governmental Lender, evidencing the Borrower's financial obligations under the Project Loan, and to be endorsed by the Governmental Lender, without recourse, to the order of the Fiscal Agent, as the same may be amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time.

**"Security Instrument"** means the [Mortgage, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing], together with all riders thereto, securing the Project Note, to be executed by the Borrower with respect to the Project, as it may be amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time.

"Servicer" means (i) during the Construction Phase, STI INSTITUTIONAL & GOVERNMENT, INC., a Delaware corporation, and (ii) during the Permanent Phase, GRANDBRIDGE REAL ESTATE CAPITAL LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company, as the Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer, or any successor Servicer selected by Freddie Mac.

- 2. <u>Applicability</u>. The provisions of this Rider shall amend and supplement the provisions of, and in the event of a conflict shall supersede the conflicting provisions of, the Regulatory Agreement.
- 3. <u>Indemnification</u>. Inasmuch as the covenants, reservations and restrictions of the Regulatory Agreement run with the land, the indemnification obligations of the Borrower contained in the Regulatory Agreement will be deemed applicable to any successor in interest to the Borrower, but, it is acknowledged and agreed, notwithstanding any other provision of the Regulatory Agreement to the contrary, that neither the Funding Lender nor any successor in interest to the Funding Lender will assume or take subject to any liability for the indemnification obligations of the Borrower for acts or omissions of the Borrower prior to any transfer of title to Freddie Mac, whether by foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or comparable conversion of the Project Loan. The Borrower shall remain liable under the indemnification provisions for its acts and omissions prior to any transfer of title to the Funding Lender. The Funding Lender shall indemnify the Governmental Lender following acquisition of the Project by the Funding Lender, by foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or comparable conversion of the Project Loan, during, and only during, any ensuing period that the Funding Lender owns and operates the Project, provided that the Funding Lender's liability shall be strictly limited to acts and omissions of the Funding Lender occurring during the period of ownership and operation of the Project by the Funding Lender. The Funding Lender shall have no indemnification obligations with respect to the Governmental Note or the Project Loan Documents. The Borrower shall remain liable under the Regulatory Agreement for its actions and omissions prior to any transfer of title to the Funding Lender.
- 4. <u>Sale or Transfer</u>. Restrictions on sale or transfer of the Project or of any interest in the Borrower, Governmental Lender and/or Fiscal Agent consents, transferee agreements, transferee criteria and requirements, opinion requirements, assumption fees, transfer fees, penalties and the like shall not apply to any transfer of title to the Project to the Funding Lender or to a third party by foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or comparable conversion of the Project Loan or to any subsequent transfer by the Funding Lender following foreclosure, deed-

in-lieu of foreclosure or comparable conversion of the Project Loan. No transfer of the Project shall operate to release the Borrower from its obligations under the Regulatory Agreement. Nothing contained in the Regulatory Agreement shall affect any provision of the Security Instrument or any of the other Project Loan Documents that requires the Borrower to obtain the consent of the Funding Lender as a precondition to sale, transfer or other disposition of, or any direct or indirect interest in, the Project or of any direct or indirect interest in the Borrower, excluding transfers permitted by the Security Instrument. No covenant obligating the Borrower to obtain an agreement from any transferee to abide by all requirements and restrictions of the Regulatory Agreement shall have any applicability to a transfer to the Funding Lender upon foreclosure, deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or comparable conversion of the Project Loan by the Funding Lender, or to any subsequent transfer by the Funding Lender following foreclosure, deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or comparable conversion of the Project Loan.

- 5. <u>Enforcement</u>. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Regulatory Agreement to the contrary: (i) the occurrence of an event of default under the Regulatory Agreement shall not, under any circumstances whatsoever, be deemed or constitute a default under the Project Loan Documents, except as may be otherwise specified in the Project Loan Documents; and (ii) the occurrence of an event of default under the Regulatory Agreement shall not impair, defeat or render invalid the lien of the Security Instrument. No person other than the Funding Lender shall have the right to (a) declare the principal balance of the Project Note to be immediately due and payable or (b) commence foreclosure or other like action with respect to the Security Instrument. The Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent acknowledge and agree that the exercise of any rights and remedies under the Regulatory Agreement is subject to the provisions of the Project Loan Documents.
- 6. <u>Notice of Violations</u>. Promptly upon determining that a violation of the Regulatory Agreement has occurred, the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent shall, by notice in writing to the Borrower, the Servicer and the Funding Lender, inform the Borrower, the Servicer and the Funding Lender that such violation has occurred, the nature of the violation and that the violation has been cured or has not been cured, but is curable within a reasonable period of time, or is incurable; notwithstanding the occurrence of such violation, neither the Governmental Lender nor the Fiscal Agent shall have, and each of them acknowledge that they shall not have, any right to cause or direct acceleration of the Project Loan, to enforce the Project Note or to foreclose on the Security Instrument.
- 7. <u>Amendments</u>. The Regulatory Agreement shall not be amended without the prior written consent of the Funding Lender.
- 8. <u>Fees; Penalties</u>. The Funding Lender shall not be liable for the payment of any compensation or any accrued unpaid fees, costs, expenses or penalties otherwise owed by the Borrower or any subsequent owner of the Project prior to the date of acquisition of the Project by the Funding Lender, whether such acquisition is by foreclosure, deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or comparable conversion of the Project Loan.
- 9. <u>Subordination</u>. The terms, covenants and restrictions of the Regulatory Agreement, other than those set forth in Sections 2 and 3, are and shall at all times remain subject and subordinate, in all respects, to the liens, rights and interests created under the Project Loan Documents.

LURA

(Pembroke Tower II) C-3

- 10. Third-Party Beneficiary. The parties to the Regulatory Agreement recognize and agree that the terms of the Regulatory Agreement and the enforcement of those terms are essential to the security of the Funding Lender and are entered into for the benefit of various parties, including the Funding Lender. The Funding Lender shall accordingly have contractual rights in the Regulatory Agreement and shall be entitled (but not obligated) to enforce, separately or jointly with the Governmental Lender and/or the Fiscal Agent, or to cause the Governmental Lender or the Fiscal Agent to enforce, the terms of the Regulatory Agreement pursuant to the Governmental Lender's and the Fiscal Agent's rights (including permissive rights) and obligations under the Regulatory Agreement and subject to the Governmental Lender and the Fiscal Agent being indemnified to their satisfaction against the costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred by them in the compliance with such enforcement. In addition, the Funding Lender is intended to be and shall be a third-party beneficiary of the Regulatory Agreement.
- 11. <u>Notices</u>. Copies of all notices under the Regulatory Agreement shall be sent to the Servicer at the address set forth below or to such other address as the Servicer may from time to time designate:

STI Institutional & Government, Inc.

c/o Truist Bank

333 S. Garland Avenue, 16th Floor

Orlando, Florida 32801 Attention: Lesli Carroll Telephone: (352) 874-4375

Email: lesli.carroll@suntrust.com

with a copy to: Holland & Knight LLP

1180 West Peachtree Street NW, Suite 1800

Atlanta, Georgia 30309

Attention: Woodrow W. Vaughan III Email: Woody. Vaughan@hklaw.com

with a copy to: RJ MT SP Broward L.L.C.

c/o Raymond James Tax Credit Funds, Inc.

880 Carillon Parkway

St. Petersburg, Florida 33716

Email Address: Steve.Kropf@RaymondJames.com

Attention: Steven J. Kropf, President

with copies to: Nixon Peabody LLP

53 State Street Exchange Place

Boston, Massachusetts 02109 Attention: Nathan A. Bernard, Esq.

Telephone: (617) 345-1236

Email: nbernard@nixonpeabody.com

Funding Lender (from Conversion Date To Freddie Mac Purchase Date) and Servicer (as of Freddie Mac Purchase Date):

Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC 200 South College Street, Suite 2100 Charlotte, North Carolina 28202 Attention: Head of Loan Servicing

Any notice to be given to Freddie Mac shall be sent to Freddie Mac at the address set forth below or to such other address as Freddie Mac may from time to time designate:

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

8100 Jones Branch Drive, MS B4P

McLean, Virginia 22102

Attention: Multifamily Operations - Loan Accounting

Email: <u>mfla@freddiemac.com</u> Telephone: (703) 714-4177

with a copy to: Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

8200 Jones Branch Drive, MS 210

McLean, Virginia 22102

Attention: Managing Associate General Counsel --

Multifamily Legal Division

Telephone: (703) 903-2000

Email: guy\_nelson@freddiemac.com

## EXHIBIT "D"

## FORM OF

## ASSIGNMENT OF LOAN DOCUMENTS

[ATTACHED]

H&K Draft: 4/26/21

RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:

Holland & Knight LLP 1180 West Peachtree Street, NW Suite 1800 Atlanta, Georgia 30309 Attention: Drew Gandy

## ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE AND LOAN DOCUMENTS

#### KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, a public body corporate and politic created, organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida ("Assignor"), pursuant to that certain Funding Loan Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (the "Funding Loan Agreement"), among STI Institutional & Government, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Assignor, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association ("Assignee"), for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, does by these presents assign, without recourse or expressed or implied warranties, to Assignee all of Assignor's right, title and interest in and to, subject to the Unassigned Rights (as defined in the Funding Loan Agreement), the instruments ("Assigned Instruments") described on Schedule 1 attached hereto.

TOGETHER with the Promissory Note described in the Assigned Instruments, and the money due and to become due thereon, with the interest thereon, TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same unto the said Assignee forever, subject only to all the provisions contained therein and in this Assignment, AND the said Assignor hereby constitutes and appoints the Assignee as the Assignor's true and lawful attorney, irrevocable in law or in equity, in the Assignor's name, place and stead, but at Assignee's cost and expense, to have, use and take all lawful ways and means for the recovery of all of the said money and interest; and in case of payment, to discharge the same as fully as the Assignor might or could if these presents were not made.

### **Overriding Limitations**. Subject to the Unassigned Rights, in no event shall Assignor:

(i) prosecute its action to a lien on the Project, as defined in that certain Project Loan Agreement by and among Assignor, Assignee and **SP BROWARD LLC**, a Florida limited liability company ("**Borrower**") (the "**Project Loan Agreement**"); or

- (ii) take any action which may have the effect, directly or indirectly, of impairing the ability of Borrower to timely pay the principal of, interest on, or other amounts due under, the Project Loan or of causing Borrower to file a petition seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of or in respect of Borrower under any applicable liquidation, insolvency, bankruptcy, rehabilitation, composition, reorganization, conservation or other similar law in effect now or in the future; or
- (iii) interfere with the exercise by Assignee or Servicer of any of their rights under the Financing Documents upon the occurrence of an event of default by Borrower under the Financing Documents; or
- (iv) take any action to accelerate or otherwise enforce payment or seek other remedies with respect to the Project Loan.

<u>Definitions</u>. All capitalized terms that are used and are not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Funding Loan Agreement. In all references herein to any parties, persons, entities or corporations the use of any particular gender on the plural or singular number is intended to include the appropriate gender or number as the text of the within instrument may require.

Dated as of [July \_\_\_, 2021] (the foregoing date is for reference purposes only and this Assignment shall not be effective until the Delivery Date, as defined by the Funding Loan Agreement).

[signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has duly executed and delivered this Assignment of Mortgage and Loan Documents by its authorized representative as of the date first set forth above.

## **ASSIGNOR**:

# HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

	By:
	By: Daniel D. Reynolds, Chairman
	Attest:
	By:
	SEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA )	
STATE OF FLORIDA ) ss COUNTY OF )	
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged on the second of Broward County, Florida, a public body aws of the State of Florida, on behalf of the second of Broward County of Florida, on behalf of the second of the State of Florida, on behalf of the second of the State of Florida, on behalf of the second of the State of Florida, on behalf of the second	ged before me by means of [] physical presence of, 2021, by and etary, respectively, of the Housing Finance Authority corporate and politic organized and existing under the the corporation and as an act of the corporation, who] produced
as identification.	
	NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF FLORIDA
	(Name of Notary Public, Print, Stamp or Type as Commissioned)
	Personally known to me, or Produced Identification
	(Type of Identification Produced)

STING / Pembroke Towers II Assignment of Mortgage and Loan Documents 83883210

## SCHEDULE 1 TO ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE AND LOAN DOCUMENTS

### **ASSIGNEE**:

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Fiscal Agent 4655 Salisbury Road, Suite 300 Jacksonville, Florida 32256 Attention: Corporate Trust Department

### **ASSIGNED INSTRUMENTS:**

- 1. Promissory Note from Borrower to Assignor, dated [July \_\_\_, 2021], in the original principal amount of \$14,000,000.
- 2. Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of [July \_\_, 2021], executed by Borrower for the benefit of Assignor securing the principal amount of \$14,000,000, which is being recorded immediately prior hereto in the County Recorder's Office of Broward County, Florida, and encumbers the real property (and improvements thereon) that is more particularly described on **Exhibit A**.

## **EXHIBIT A**

## LEGAL DESCRIPTION

[To Be Inserted]

## EXHIBIT "E"

## FORM OF

## PLACEMENT AGENT AGREEMENT

[ATTACHED]

### PLACEMENT AGENT AGREEMENT

#### A. Background.

The Issuer proposes to issue its Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida Multifamily Housing Revenue Note, Series 2021 (Pembroke Tower II), in one or more series, in the aggregate principal amount of \$14,000,000 (the "Note") to provide financing to the Borrower for the acquisition, construction and equipping of a 88-unit multifamily residential rental development in Broward County, Florida (the "County") known as Pembroke Tower II (the "Development").

The Note will initially be acquired directly by STI Institutional & Government, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Funding Lender") pursuant to the requirements of the Issuer's administrative code and policies (herein, collectively the "Issuer's Requirements").

Upon satisfaction of certain conditions subsequent and in compliance with the Issuer's Requirements, future investment banking services may be required in connection with the Note (herein, the "Future Services").

### B. Role of Agents.

In connection with the initial issuance of the Note, the Agents have performed, at the request of and on behalf of the Issuer, the following services on or before the closing of the Note:

- 1. Assisted in the determination of the readiness to proceed of the Note issuance with regard to the granting of private activity allocation to the financing which is to be issued on a tax-exempt basis.
- 2. Created a distribution list for the financing participants and financing timetable and coordinated the processing of the transaction.
- 3. Continuously consulted with the financing participants to ensure that the timetable was being met, and scheduled and hosted conference calls.

4. Consulted with the Issuer's staff regarding policy issues that arose in connection with the financing.

On a limited basis, reviewed and commented on the financing documents to ensure that the Issuer's Requirements were reflected therein and to improve the structure of the transaction.

Assisted in the coordination of all aspects of the financing as it relates to the Issuer or the County.

The foregoing is hereby collectively referred to as the "Agents' Services".

C. <u>Limitations of Agents' Role; No Liability.</u> The Issuer and Borrower acknowledge and agree that: (i) the Agents' Services contemplated by this Agreement are an arm's length, commercial transaction between the Issuer and the Agents in which the Agents are not acting as a municipal advisor, financial advisor or fiduciary to the Borrower or Issuer; (ii) the Agents have not assumed any advisory or fiduciary responsibility to the Borrower or Issuer with respect to the services contemplated hereby and the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Agents have provided other services or are currently providing other services to the Borrower or Issuer on other matters); (iii) the only obligations the Agents have to the Issuer or Borrower with respect to the services contemplated hereby expressly are set forth in this Agreement; and (iv) the Issuer and Borrower have consulted their respective legal, accounting, tax, financial and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent it has deemed appropriate.

Notwithstanding the Agents' Services described above, the Agents have not done any of the following nor do they assume any responsibility or liability for such actions:

- 1. Advised the Funding Lender on the financial feasibility of the Development.
  - 2. Prepared or disseminated any offering materials.
- 3. Investigated or determined the credit worthiness or accreditation of the Funding Lender. In that regard the Issuer will receive an accredited investor letter.
- 4. Provided any advice regarding obtaining a rating or credit enhancement for the transaction.
- 5. Taken any action in connection with the issuance of the Note to effect a financial transaction as contemplated by the USA Patriot Act.

It should be noted that the Issuer has retained the services of a registered financial advisor in connection with the issuance of the Note. The Agents are not acting as a financial advisor for the Issuer or Borrower for purposes of Rule G-23 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, nor acting as a municipal advisor to either the Issuer or the Borrower.

Neither of the Agents shall be responsible or liable for any negligence or willful misconduct of the other Agent.

### D. Fees for Agents' Services.

Simultaneously with the closing of the Note, the Borrower will pay the Agents for the Agents' Services rendered a fee equal to \$[35,000], plus reasonable, documented out-of-pocket expenses.

### **E.** Future Services of Agents.

In the event the Borrower and the Issuer determine that there will be Future Services relating to the Note, the Agents will act, on behalf of the Issuer, as placement agent, remarketing agent or underwriter, as the structure so dictates. The fees and expenses associated with any future engagement will be (i) determined at such time that the details of such engagement and scope of service are identified, and (ii) subject to the approval of the Borrower, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

To the extent the Agents are (i) unable to perform any of the Future Services, or (ii) no longer on the Issuer's underwriting team, the Issuer may, in its sole discretion, and upon written notice to the Borrower and the Agents, assign Future Services to an entity on its then-current underwriting team.

## F. Governing Law; Multiple Counterparts.

This Agreement shall be governed by Florida Law and may be signed in multiple counterparts.

### G. Amendments; Modifications.

This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by written agreement signed by all parties hereto.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]

OF

**AUTHORITY** 

## SIGNATURE PAGE FOR PLACEMENT AGENT AGREEMENT

## (Pembroke Tower II)

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in their respective names by their duly authorized representatives as of the day and year first set forth above.

HOUSING

By:
Daniel D. Reynolds, Chair
RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
SP BROWARD LLC, a Florida limited liability company
By: SP Broward Manager LLC, a Florida limited liability company, its Manager
$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{v}}$ .

J. David Page, its Manager

**FINANCE** 

**BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA** 

## **EXHIBIT "F"**

## FORM OF

## FISCAL AGENT FEE AGREEMENT

## [ATTACHED]

### FISCAL AGENT FEE AGREEMENT

### Between

## HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

and

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

DATED AS OF \_\_\_\_\_\_1, 2021

### PROVIDING FOR

A FEE SCHEDULE FOR SERVICES RENDERED BY THE FISCAL AGENT FOR

\$14,000,000 HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE NOTE, SERIES 2021 (PEMBROKE TOWER II)

#### FISCAL AGENT FEE AGREEMENT

This FISCAL AGENT FEE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_1, 2021, by and between the HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA (the "Issuer"), a public body corporate and politic created under the laws of the State of Florida, and THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., a national banking association, having a corporate trust office in Jacksonville, Florida and duly qualified to exercise trust powers under the laws of the State of Florida, as fiscal agent (the "Fiscal Agent").

#### WITNESSETH:

In consideration of the mutual terms and conditions, promises, covenants and payments hereinafter set forth, the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent agree as follows:

## ARTICLE I PREAMBLE

- 1.1 The Fiscal Agent submitted certain proposals to serve as trustee or in a similar capacity for all financings of the Issuer during calendar year 2021, including the Issuer's \$14,000,000 Housing Finance Authority of Broward County, Florida Multifamily Housing Revenue Note, Series 2021 (Pembroke Tower II) (the "Note"). All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Funding Loan Agreement (as hereinafter defined).
- 1.2 Said proposals contain a description of the types of services to be provided, a schedule of fees for the various services to be provided and a brief discussion of the Fiscal Agent's corporate qualifications and capabilities.
- 1.3 The Fiscal Agent is willing to provide the services described in its proposals and in the loan documents pertaining to the Note at the rates set forth in said proposals, and the Issuer is willing to accept the services of the Fiscal Agent set forth in the Fiscal Agent's proposals at the rates provided therein. The Issuer and the Fiscal Agent desire to enter into this Agreement to establish the terms of said proposals for the services of the Fiscal Agent with respect to the Note.

## ARTICLE II SCOPE OF SERVICES AND FEES

The Fiscal Agent hereby accepts all of the duties, responsibilities and obligations imposed on it as Fiscal Agent under the terms of the Funding Loan Agreement dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_1, 2021, among the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and STI Institutional & Government, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Funding Loan Agreement") and hereby confirms the accuracy of all of the representations and warranties, if any, of the Fiscal Agent contained therein. The terms of this Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit "A" are accepted and adopted by reference by the parties to this Agreement. Such terms include the services to be provided by the Fiscal Agent and the fees and costs to be charged by the Fiscal Agent for such services. The fees and charges set forth in Exhibit "A" include all expenses incurred by the Fiscal Agent in connection with the execution and delivery and closing of the Note. Exhibit "A" comprises one (1) page.

## ARTICLE III OTHER PROVISIONS

This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect and be binding on both the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent for so long as the Funding Loan Agreement is in effect.

[COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW]

# COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO FISCAL AGENT FEE AGREEMENT

## (Pembroke Tower II)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into and executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

	ISSUER:	
	HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA	OF
	By:	<del>-</del>
ATTEST:		
By: John G. Primeau, Secretary		

# COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO FISCAL AGENT FEE AGREEMENT

## (Pembroke Tower II)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into and executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

## **FISCAL AGENT:**

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

By:		
Name:		
Title:		

#### **EXHIBIT "A"**

### **Services to be provided by Fiscal Agent:**

The Fiscal Agent shall provide all services required of the Fiscal Agent as set forth in (i) the Funding Loan Agreement, and (ii) all other documents executed in connection with the Note to which the Fiscal Agent is a party.

### **Fees and Expenses of Fiscal Agent:**

The fees and expenses of the Fiscal Agent shall be all such fees and expenses of the Fiscal Agent set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement and all other documents executed in connection with the Note, and shall be paid by the Borrower (as defined in the Funding Loan Agreement) at the times and in the manner set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement and the Project Loan Agreement (as defined in the Funding Loan Agreement).

**EXHIBIT "G"** 

**TERM SHEET** 

[ATTACHED]



**Truist Community Capital** 

Lesli Carroll, SVP 333 S. Garland Ave, Suite 1600 Mail Code: 886-73-16-40 Orlando, FL 32801

Tel (352) 874-4375 Email: <u>lesli.carroll@suntrust.com</u>

February 24, 2021

\*\*Confidential\*\*
Scott Seckinger
Pembroke Tower II
c/o Southport Development
5403 West Gray Street
Tampa, FL 33609

Re:

Proposed Tax-Exempt Construction Loan (the "Loan") to SP Broward, LLC ("Borrower") to finance the development of an 88 unit multifamily age restricted affordable housing development located North of Pasadena Blvd., 1,268 feet East of the intersection of Pasadena Blvd & S University Drive, Pembroke Pines, Broward County, Ft. Lauderdale MSA, Florida (the "Project")

Dear Mr. Seckinger,

**Truist Bank** ("<u>Bank</u>") is pleased to consider making the Loan to Borrower based substantially on the proposed summary of terms and conditions set forth on <u>Annex I</u> attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (<u>Annex I</u>, together with this letter, this "<u>Letter</u>").

This Letter is provided for discussion purposes as a non-binding term sheet by Bank in the proposed financing, does not contain all required terms and conditions and should not be construed to be, expressly or by implication, a commitment, an offer, an agreement in principle or an agreement by Bank to issue a commitment or to provide the proposed Loan. Proposed Loan terms are subject to standard credit underwriting and approval by Bank and approval by Bank of all diligence relating to the Project (including, without limitation, a FIRREA-compliant appraisal), none of which may be forthcoming. This Letter is (i) not assignable, (ii) not intended to benefit any third party (and no third party shall have any right of enforcement with respect to the terms of this Letter or the transactions contemplated hereby), (iii) subject to such other terms and conditions as may be reasonably required by Bank or its counsel, and (iv) for Borrower's confidential use only and sent to Borrower on the condition that neither its existence nor its contents will be disclosed publicly or privately to any person or entity, except to those of Borrower's officers, employees, agents, counsel or accountants directly involved with this proposed financing and then only on the basis that it not be further disclosed, by which conditions Borrower agrees to be bound upon acknowledgement of this letter. No third party (including, without limitation, the providers of any government-sponsored funding or tax credit programs) is entitled to enforce the terms hereof, and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended or shall confer upon any third party any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this letter, and no person or entity may rely for any reason on any statement made in this letter.

Nothing herein constitutes an offer or recommendation to enter into any "swap" or trading strategy involving a "swap" within the meaning of Section 1a(47) of the Commodity Exchange Act. Any such offer or recommendation, if any, will only occur after Bank has received appropriate documentation from you regarding whether you are qualified to enter into a swap under applicable law.

This Letter supersedes any prior written or oral communications or understandings and may be amended only by a writing signed by Bank. If Bank and Borrower enter into the proposed Loan, this Letter shall not survive closing of the Loan but shall be superseded by the documents evidencing the Loan. This Letter will be governed by the laws of the State of Florida and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, Borrower and Bank waive trial by jury, and further waive any right to special, expectation, incidental, consequential or punitive damages, in connection with any action arising under or related to this Letter.

The proposed Loan, if approved, would remain conditioned on, <u>inter alia</u>, Bank's receipt of all documentation and other matters as B ank may require, including without limitation the items set forth on <u>Exhibit "A"</u>, which must be satisfactory to Bank in its sole and absolute discretion and submitted to Bank so as to allow sufficient time for review. Neither Bank nor Borrower shall be deemed

to have entered into, signed or executed binding documents evidencing the Loan by virtue of this or any other communication at any time prior to Bank's express acceptance of Loan documents prepared by Bank or its counsel and bearing Borrower's duly authorized signature. This Letter is unconditionally cancellable by Bank at any time, either party may terminate negotiations at any time for any reason or no reason, and partial performance or efforts to carry out other acts in contemplation of consummating the proposed Loan shall not be deemed evidence of intent by either party to be bound by the terms of the proposed Loan. All costs incurred by Bank in connection with the proposed Loan, including but not limited to, Bank's legal fees and expenses, appraisal and environmental costs, title costs, survey, flood zone certification, insurance, property condition assessment, recording and the like (collectively "Costs"), shall be paid and/or reimbursed by Borrower, whether or not the proposed Loan is approved or closes, and your acknowledgement below authorizes Bank to order any required appraisal, environmental, engineering and similar reports, and to engage legal counsel, all at your expense and in reliance on this understanding, in advance of any such approval (which may not be forthcoming). Borrower shall be responsible for all fees and expenses including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses, incurred by Bank in enforcing its rights under this Letter. Borrower's obligation in respect of the costs and expenses referenced in this paragraph is in consideration, inter alia, for Bank's undertaking to underwrite the proposed Loan and incur such Costs and shall survive the cancellation or termination of this Letter.

Except as expressly set forth herein with regard to choice of law, waiver of jury trial and Borrower's obligation to pay Costs, this Letter is not intended to, and shall not, create a legally binding obligation on the part of Bank or Borrower, and your signature below confirms your understanding of this. Subject to the foregoing sentence, if you would like Bank to begin its underwriting and review process and to seek the appropriate credit approvals (which may not be forthcoming), please so advise by executing and returning a copy of this Letter, by March 15, 2021, and the transaction must close by September 30, 2021, or this Letter may be deemed withdrawn. If you have any questions in connection with this Letter, please contact me.

Yours sincerely,

Senior Vice President

The terms and conditions of this Letter, including without limitation those in the last paragraph hereof, are hereby acknowledged this 3 day of 12.

BORROWER:

Print Title: Vice Presider

#### EXHIBIT "A"

Please provide the following information at your earliest convenience, and in any event within 60 days of your execution of this Letter (all of the items to be in form and substance satisfactory to Bank). Where content requirements or required forms are indicated, they will be delivered under separate cover. Your execution of this Letter will signify your request for credit; failure to provide the below information will result in no further consideration being given to your credit request.

#### Borrower/Guarantor Documentation

Borrower and Guarantor(s) Financial Statements for prior three years (if available)
Borrower and Guarantor(s) Entity Organizational Documents (including Org Charts)
An explanation of economics among the ownership and a schedule of ownership interests in the Borrower

#### Project Documentation

Title Commitment, vesting deed(s) covering the Property and copies of excepted instruments
UCC, litigation and other searches against Borrower, Guarantor and such other parties as Bank requires
Survey of Property (as-built existing structures)
Evidence of Utilities, Current Status & Capacity
Evidence of Zoning
All existing Environmental Audits (e.g. existing Phase I, Phase II and other Reports)
Current Rent Roll and Lease Schedule, if any
Copies of Existing Tenant Leases, if any [plus such estoppels and SNDAs as Bank requires]
All insurance policies for each obligor and property as Bank requires
Settlement Statement, if already owned; or Purchase and Sale Agreement and all amendments, if under contract
Most Recent Real Estate Tax Bill

#### Construction Project

All Soils Reports
Plans and Specifications
All third party contracts related to design, engineering, development and construction of proposed Project, and payment/performance bonds
Proposed Budget/Sources and Uses of Funds

Note: After reviewing the above items, Bank may determine that other information or documentation is needed to process the Construction Loan application. Borrower agrees to provide any such additional information and documentation that Bank may reasonably require. Bank is hereby authorized to obtain information from creditors, credit bureaus and credit reporting agencies. Borrower certifies to Bank that all financial statements and other supporting documents submitted to Bank in connection with this Letter are true and correct in all material respects.

#### Annex I

THIS SUMMARY OF PROPOSED TERMS AND CONDITIONS IS ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THE PROPOSAL LETTER FROM BANK TO BORROWER AND IS NOT A STAND ALONE DOCUMENT. FURTHER IT IS FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT AN OFFER TO EXTEND CREDIT, A COMMITMENT TO LEND OR AN AGREEMENT TO ISSUE A COMMITMENT

Borrower/Applicant:

SP Broward, LLC ("Borrower")

Ownership Breakdown:

GP: SP Broward Manager, LLC (.01%)

ILP: Raymond James Tax Credit Funds (99.99%)

Developer:

Southport Development, Inc., a WA corporation doing business in FL as Southport Development

Services, Inc.

Property Manager:

Cambridge Management, Inc. a WA corporation doing business in FL as Cambridge Management

of Washington, Inc. (an affiliate of Southport Financial Services, Inc.)

**General Contractor:** 

Kaufman Lynn (www.kaufmanlynn.com)

Bond Issuer:

**Broward County HFA** 

**Bond Purchaser:** 

Truist Bank's affiliate: STI Institutional and Government, Inc.

Facility Type:

Non-Bank Qualified Loan in the form of a tax-exempt facility (the "Facility")

Guarantor:

1. David Page shall unconditionally provide a full payment and completion guaranty (together with all hedging obligations and bank product obligation of Borrower with Bank and its affiliates) and

an environmental indemnity,

Guarantor

Covenants:

The guarantor shall maintain \$2 million in unencumbered liquidity and a net worth of at least \$5 million. Guarantor shall submit annually, a compliance certificate together with acceptable

documentation that demonstrates compliance with the foregoing requirements.

Purpose:

The proceeds from the Loan will be used to provide tax-exempt financing for the development of the Pembroke Tower II an 88-unit, affordable multi-family complex with related site amenities located in the North of Pasadena Blvd., 1,268 feet East of the intersection of Pasadena Blvd & S University Drive, Pembroke Pines, Broward County, Ft. Lauderdale MSA, Florida

Construction

Loan:

A senior, secured tax-exempt Construction Loan that is subject to final underwriting and in an amount up to the volume cap amount to satisfy the 50% test and no greater than the amount set forth below:

- (i) \$14,000,000
- (ii) 80% "as stabilized" Loan to Value as determined by reference to an appraisal in form and substance satisfactory to Bank; Value will be inclusive of the real estate at the restricted rents plus the value of the Tax Credits
- (iii) 80% of the projected total costs for the Project set forth in the final budget containing hard and soft costs, as approved by Bank.

During the Construction Loan, the proceeds of the Loan shall be available to the Borrower pursuant to the Loan documents on a "draw down" basis upon written disbursement request from the Borrower and supporting documentation acceptable to Bank.

Required Equity:

This non-binding term sheet is contingent upon bank's review and credit approval of the equity

capital contribution schedule.

Required Construction Completion:

18 months from closing

Maturity Date:

Construction Loan: 24 months from the Loan closing date with one optional 6-month maturity date extension.

The optional 6-month maturity date extension is available if the following criteria are met:

- 100% construction completion
- .25% extension fee
- 1:1 minimum debt service ratio based on current available cash flow to service the required debt service of construction loan interest only payments
- 90% minimum occupancy for the most recent 30 day period prior to the extension
- Written confirmation that the agency forward commitment is still valid through the extension period.
- No Events of Default

Interest Rate:

Floating interest rate of ((One-month LIBOR Index plus a margin of 3.30%) divided by a tax factor of 1.266) which results in an **indicative rate as of today's date of 2.70%**. Interest only payments shall be due monthly on the fifth of each month.

Interest Rate Protection:

Borrower may enter into an interest rate hedge agreement (the "Hedge Agreement") acceptable to Bank, with counterparty acceptable to Bank, for 100% of the Perm Loan amount. The Bank can provide a Hedge Agreement but it is not a condition to the Loan that the Hedge Agreement is entered into with the Bank.

With respect to LIBOR unavailability, Bank's then-standard replacement rate language for bilateral loan transactions will be used. Such language will provide that, in the event of a benchmark transition event (which will include, without limitation, both (1) circumstances where there is a statement announcing that the public administrator of LIBOR will cease to provide LIBOR or that LIBOR is no longer a representative rate and (2) circumstances where Lender elects an early opt-in to a replacement index based on the use of the replacement index on at least 5 outstanding syndicated or bilateral loans), Bank will provide a notice to Borrower of Bank's selected alternate benchmark index rate (which may include, without limitation, Term SOFR or a rate established from a weighted average of rates over a particular time period), giving due consideration to regulatory recommendations or market conventions, together with applicable spread adjustments and other adjustments to be set forth in the definitive loan documentation. In the event that Borrower does not accept Lender's notice of such new rate and adjustments, Borrower will have a one-time right to object to such notice and trigger an amendment approach to document the new index rate and adjustments in a mutually acceptable manner (as more particularly set forth in the definitive documentation). In the event that Bank has extended a swap transaction to Borrower to hedge the interest rate on the Loan, the adjustment to the Loan index will match the index amendment on the Bank-provided swap.

Swap Disclaimer:

Nothing herein constitutes an offer or recommendation to enter into any "swap" or trading strategy involving a "swap" within the meaning of Section 1a(47) of the Commodity Exchange Act. Any such offer or recommendation, if any, will only occur after Bank has received appropriate documentation from you regarding whether you are qualified to enter into a swap under applicable law.

Bank does not currently execute transactions with "Special Entities" as defined under the Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act ("Dodd Frank") and implementing regulations thereunder. Prior to execution of an interest rate hedge, the counterparty must represent that they are not a Special Entity under Dodd Frank.

Special Entity is defined as (1) a Federal agency; (2) a State, a State agency, city, county, municipality, other political subdivision of a State; or any instrumentality, department, or a -5-

corporation of or established by a State or political subdivision of a State; (3) any employee benefit plan subject to Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"); (4) any governmental plan, as defined in Section 3 of ERISA; (5) any endowment, including an endowment that is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986; or (6) any employee benefit plan in Section 3 of ERISA, not otherwise defined as a Special Entity, that elects to be a Special Entity by notifying Bank of its election prior to entering into a swap.

## Change in Corporate Tax Rate:

The interest rates quoted herein assume a marginal maximum federal corporate tax rate of 21%. In the event of a decrease in the marginal maximum corporate tax rate, the Lender shall have the option to adjust the interest rate upwards in order to maintain the same after tax yield for the Lender.

#### Loan Fees:

\$140,000 (1% of Maximum Construction Loan amount payable at initial closing)

The origination fee shall be non-refundable and earned in full by the Bank upon the closing of the Facility

#### Repayment:

Interest only payable monthly. It is expected that a principal curtailment will occur on or around construction completion to pay the loan down to the agency permanent loan amount. In any event, the full outstanding principal balance shall be due on the Maturity Date.

#### Optional Prepayment:

Borrower may prepay the Loan in whole or in part at any time without premium or penalty. Amounts prepaid cannot be re-borrowed.

A prepayment of the Loan may result in an early termination of the Hedge Agreement which could result in either a net gain or loss to the Borrower, depending upon market conditions at the time.

#### Collateral:

The collateral for the Loan (together with all hedging obligations and Bank product obligations of Borrower with Bank and its affiliates) will include, without limitation, the following first priority, perfected security interests: (i) a first lien mortgage on the land located North of Pasadena Blvd., 1,268 feet East of the intersection of Pasadena Blvd & S University Drive, Pembroke Pines, Broward County, Ft. Lauderdale MSA, Florida ( the "Property") and improvements to be constructed thereon, to include an approximate 88-unit, multifamily apartment complex (the "Project"); (ii) an assignment of all leases, rents, income, licenses, permits and contracts relating to the Property (including, if applicable, all plans and specifications); (iii) a lien on all personal property owned by Borrower relating to the Property; (iv) a lien on all accounts required to be maintained pursuant to the terms hereof, as well as all other operating, reserve and other deposit accounts related to the Property ("Accounts"); and (v) an assignment of all interest rate hedge agreements (if any); (vi) assignment of interest in low income housing tax credit equity capital contributions and managing member's interest in LIHTC. The security will also include all other security and special documentation as may be determined necessary or advisable by Bank or Bank's counsel. The Collateral shall not be further encumbered during the life of the Loan.

#### Covenants:

- (1) <u>Deposit, Treasury & Payment Services</u>. Borrower shall maintain its primary operating account along with all related treasury and payment services with Bank for the life of the Loan.
- (2) Reporting Requirements. As a condition to closing, and throughout the term of the Loan, Borrower and Guarantors shall provide to Bank such financial statements and reports as required and in accordance with Bank's customary requirements. Including but not limited to:
  - a. Annual guarantor compliance certificate with supporting documentation
  - b. Post-construction, the Borrower shall deliver quarterly operating statements and rent rolls
  - c. Post-construction, the Borrower shall deliver the annual corporate tax return

(3) Other terms, conditions and documentation. Such other terms, conditions and documentation as are standard and customary for this type of transaction or otherwise deemed necessary or appropriate by the Bank. The terms herein are based on the credit conditions in the potential transaction as known by Bank. Should additional facts come to light that positively or negatively impact the situation, prices or other requirements quoted herein may be adjusted.

Must Close By:

Closing must occur by September 30, 2021 or this term sheet may expire.

## Closing Conditions:

The closing of the Loan shall be conditioned upon satisfaction (or valid waiver) of the conditions precedent usual and customary for transactions of this type, including, without limitation, the following conditions (all of the items to be delivered to be in form and substance satisfactory to Bank in its sole discretion):

- (1) Confirmation of a 24 month forward agency perm loan commitment (including an optional 6 month extension) from Grandbridge Real Estate Capital
- (2) Bank review/approval of the final interest reserve allocation in the development budget.
- (3) Receipt and review of all financial and other information required by Bank on Borrower, Guarantors and their constituent entities and other specified entities, i.e., general contractor, related companies/principals/equity providers, etc., including all due diligence materials necessary and relevant to verifying identity and background information for regulatory purposes under applicable "know your customer" and anti-money laundering laws, as deemed necessary by Bank in its sole and absolute discretion, all of which must be acceptable to Bank.
- (4) Receipt of an appraisal acceptable to Bank and conducted at Borrower's expense, which confirms a minimum value providing a Loan to Value of 80% or less "as stabilized" based on the real estate and tax credit values. The appraisal is subject to review and approval of Bank.
- (5) Definitive loan documentation and such other documents, instruments, agreements or information as are requested by Bank and acceptable to Bank, including, but not limited to, as applicable, environmental reports, legal documentation, title/survey, proposed standard lease form, management agreement and subordination, building/structural condition report and/or front-end cost and document review, budget, plans/specs and contracts (including without limitation a guaranteed maximum general construction contract and payment and performance bonds from a surety acceptable to Bank), condition of markets/submarkets, revenue/expense pro-formas, financial review of Borrower, Guarantor, and general contractor, flood determinations, soils reports, wetlands delineations, entitlements, zoning, utility availability, proof of any tax credit awards or tax exempt status, equity investor and pay-in schedule, attorney opinion letters for Borrower and each Guarantor. Depending on the results of these assessments, reserves may be required as additional collateral.
- (6) There shall not have occurred, in the opinion of Bank, any material adverse change in the business or financial condition of Borrower or any Guarantor or in any other state of facts submitted to Bank in connection with the Loan, from that which existed at the time Bank considered the proposed Loan.

#### Governing Law;

Waiver of Jury Trial, Jurisdiction and Venue:

State of Florida.

#### Municipal Advisor Rule Disclosure:

STI Institutional & Government, Inc. is an institutional buyer and makes direct purchase loans to municipal entities and obligated persons as defined under Section 975 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd Frank Act"), and in this term sheet is providing information regarding the terms under which it would make such a purchase for its own account. With respect to the foregoing,

- (a) Bank is not recommending an action to the Borrower, the Guarantor or the issuer of the debt;
- (b) Bank is not acting as an advisor to the Borrower, the Guarantor or the issuer of the debt and does not owe a fiduciary duty pursuant to Section 15B(c)(1) of the Dodd Frank Act (15 U.S.C. 78o-4(c)(1)) to the Borrower, the Guarantor or the issuer of the debt with respect to the information and material contained in this communication;
- (c) Bank is acting for its own interests; and
- (d) The Borrower, the Guarantor and the issuer of the debt should discuss any information and material contained in this

Exhibit 3
Page 217 of 233
Southport: Pembroke Tower II 2021 communication with any and all internal or external advisors and experts that the municipal entity or obligated person deems appropriate before acting on this information or material.



February 25, 2021

Scott Seckinger Pembroke Tower II c/o Southport Development 5403 West Gray Street Tampa, FL 33609

Re: Mortgage Loan Term Sheet (the "Term Sheet")

Pembroke Tower II, Pembroke Pines FL 33024

Mr. Seckinger,

Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC ("Lender"), as a lender under the Multifamily Programs (the "Programs") of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac"), is willing to consider a first mortgage loan to the Borrower identified below, subject to the terms, conditions and requirements set forth in this Term Sheet.

If approved by Lender and Freddie Mac, a first mortgage loan substantially in accordance with the terms set forth herein (the "Funding Loan") will be originated by Truist Bank (the "Construction Lender") to the governmental entity set forth in the Exhibits to the Commitment (the "Governmental Lender"). The proceeds of the Funding Loan will be used by the Governmental Lender to fund a mortgage loan with economic terms matching those of the Funding Loan (the "Project Loan"; the Funding Loan and Project Loan shall be collectively referred to as the "Loan") to Borrower to finance the construction of the Project to be located on the Property. The Construction Lender will be responsible for administering the Loan during the construction phase of the Project prior to Conversion (the "Construction Phase"). The Funding Loan will be a nonrecourse obligation of the Governmental Lender secured solely by receipts and revenues from the Project Loan and the collateral pledged therefor (including a first mortgage on the Property). The date on which the Construction Lender originates the Funding Loan is referred to as the "Origination Date". Upon the satisfaction of the conditions to conversion ("Conditions to Conversion") as determined by Lender and as set forth in a forward commitment (the "Commitment") to be issued by Lender to Borrower following Lender's approval of the proposed Loan and in the Construction Phase Financing Agreement to be executed as of the Origination Date (the "Construction Phase Financing Agreement") by and between Freddie Mac, Lender, the Construction Lender and Borrower, the Project Loan will convert (the "Conversion") to the permanent phase (the "Permanent Phase") and Lender will purchase the Funding Loan from the Construction Lender. The date on which the Conditions to Conversion are satisfied and Lender purchases the Funding Loan is referred to as the "Conversion Date". The date on which Freddie Mac purchases the Funding Loan is referred to as the "Freddie Mac Purchase Date". Lender's obligation to purchase the Funding Loan is subject

to Lender's determination that all of the Conditions to Conversion have been and remain satisfied.

- Borrower: SP Broward LLC ("Borrower"). The Guarantors will be David Page (jointly 1. and severally, "Guarantor"). The formation, structure and ownership of Borrower and Guarantor, if not individuals, shall be satisfactory to Lender and Freddie Mac and shall satisfy the requirements of the Programs. Unless specifically addressed in the Exhibits attached hereto, this Term Sheet is based on the assumption that Borrower does not intend to obtain or utilize preferred equity or mezzanine financing in its organizational or capital structure. Any use of Borrower of preferred equity or mezzanine financing in its organizational or capital structure must be specifically approved in writing by Lender and Freddie Mac prior to Rate Lock, and Borrower acknowledges that the requested use of any such preferred equity or mezzanine financing may result in modifications to the terms of the proposed loan, including without limitation an increase in the applicable interest rate. Except as has been disclosed in writing to and approved in writing by Lender and Freddie Mac prior to Rate Lock, no direct or indirect ownership (or other economic) interest of 25% or more in Borrower or any Borrower Principal has been marketed or sold to investors through any form of crowdfunding.
- 2. Loan Amount: \$9,250,000 (the "Loan Amount"), subject to (i) a maximum 90% loan-to-value ratio and a minimum 1.15 to 1.0 debt service coverage ratio at the interest rate for the Loan and (ii) the additional terms set forth in any Exhibits attached hereto.
- 3. Loan Term: The outstanding principal balance of the Loan, plus any accrued interest and other charges, will be due and payable at the end of fifteen (15) years.
- 4. Construction Phase: The earlier of Conversion or 30 months from the Origination Date. The Construction Phase may be extended for 6 months for a fee of 65 basis points of the Loan Amount.
- 5. Interest Rate: Lender anticipates that the interest rate for the primary term of the Loan will be based upon 260 basis points (2.60%) (the "Spread") added to the yield on the most current ten (10) year U.S. Treasury security issue (the "Applicable Index") at the time of Rate Lock; however, this is subject to change until the interest rate is locked. The proposed Spread set forth above assumes that the yield rate on the Applicable Index will not be less than 1.23% (the "Treasury Floor") at the time of Rate Lock (hereinafter defined). If at the time of Rate Lock the Applicable Index is less than the Treasury Floor, the Spread will be increased by a corresponding amount. Interest shall be calculated based on a 360 day year and the actual number of days.
- 6. Payments: Monthly installments of principal and interest shall be required based on the outstanding principal balance, the effective interest rate and a thirty-five (35) year amortization schedule.

7. Prepayment: 10-year lockout, followed by Yield Maintenance until 6 months prior to maturity. The loan is pre-payable at 1%, from months six to three before maturity. The loan is open at par for the last 90 days. If the Loan is placed into a Securitization within the first year of the Loan term, the Loan cannot thereafter be prepaid or defeased for two years following such placement of the Loan into a Securitization.

#### 8. Intentionally Omitted.

9, Property: The Loan shall be evidenced by the Freddie Mac Multifamily Note for the Programs (the "Note") and the Multifamily Loan and Security Agreement (the "Loan Agreement") and secured by a security interest, as evidenced by the Freddie Mac Multifamily Mortgage, Deed of Trust or Deed to Secure Debt for the Programs (the "Security Instrument"; the Note, Loan Agreement, Security Instrument and the other documents to be executed by Borrower and Guarantor to evidence and secure the Loan shall be collectively referred to as the "Loan Documents"), in the following real property, including all improvements, easements, rights and interests relating thereto, as well as an assignment of and security interest in all present and future rents, leases, income, contracts, licenses, agreements and personal property relating to the operation of the Security (the "Property"): A property upon which is to be constructed a 110 unit apartment complex (the construction of which shall be referred to as the "Project") located at Pasadena Blvd and S. University Drive, Pembroke Pines, FL and identified as Pembroke Tower II Apartments. All matters relating to the Property must be satisfactory to Lender. Borrower shall not be permitted to participate in home sharing activities (which are defined as short-term rentals of typically less than one month that are marketed through peer-to-peer online marketplace or home sharing platforms such as Airbnb, VRBO, and booking.com), or to enter into leases, including master leases, of residential, corporate or commercial units that Borrower knows or should know are intended to be used by the tenants for full or part-time home sharing activities.

#### 10. Intentionally Omitted.

11. Rate Lock: Lender shall be required to submit a full underwriting package to Freddie Mac. Lender anticipates that, following Freddie Mac's review of the full underwriting package submitted by Lender, Freddie Mac will issue a commitment to Lender (the "Freddie Mac Commitment") containing the terms and conditions under which Freddie Mac would purchase such Loan from Lender. Lender would then issue its commitment to Borrower (the "Commitment") for the Loan. Lender must accept the Freddie Mac Commitment within the time specified therein, and would do so only after Borrower's acceptance of the Commitment and payment to Lender of all amounts required to be paid by Borrower to Lender pursuant to the Commitment, including an amount an amount (the "Commitment Fee") equal to two percent (2%) of the Loan Amount. The Commitment Fee may be posted in the form of a letter of credit acceptable to Lender and Freddie Mac. The Freddie Mac Commitment would also specify the time within which the interest rate for the Loan may be fixed with Freddie Mac ("Rate Lock"). Upon Rate Lock, Lender will

be obligated to deliver the Loan to Freddic Mac by the date specified in the Commitment (the "Mandatory Delivery Date"). The closing of the Loan must be completed at least fifteen (15) days prior to the Mandatory Delivery Date. The Commitment Fee shall be refunded to Borrower following the Freddie Mac Purchase Date. The Commitment shall contain the provisions set forth in the Exhibits attached hereto relating to the Breakage Fee and the retention and application of the Commitment Fee to the Breakage Fee upon the occurrence of a Default (as such terms are defined in the Exhibits).

- 12. Intentionally Omitted.
- 13. Origination Fee: An Origination Fee 1.0% of the Loan Amount shall be paid by Borrower to Lender on the Origination Date.
- 14. Expense Deposit: A total of \$34,250 shall be due and payable to Lender upon Borrower's acceptance of this Term Sheet. This represents an Expense Deposit of \$25,000 and the Freddie Mac Application Fee equal to the greater of \$3,000 or 0.1% of the Loan Amount. The Expense Deposit will be applied towards the cost of the third party reports, legal fees and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Lender in connection with the Loan as well as Lender's \$1,500 Processing Fee. The Processing Fee and the Freddie Mac Application Fee shall be earned and non-refundable upon acceptance of this Term Sheet. Lender shall refund to Borrower any unused portion of the Expense Deposit.
- 15. Additional Fees: Borrower shall also pay to Lender for the benefit of Lender and/or Freddie Mac (i) a Standby Fee of 15 basis points (0.15%) of the Loan Amount per annum for each year (or partial year on a prorated basis) of the Construction Phase, (ii) a Construction Monitoring Fee per month of the Construction Phase to be paid out of construction draws, and (iii) a Conversion Fee of \$10,000 upon Conversion.
- 16. Liability: The Loan shall be non-recourse. However, Borrower and Guarantor shall be fully liable for the matters described in Section 9 of the Note and for any other matters which may be specifically required by Freddie Mac.
- 17. Third Party Reports: Lender shall obtain a full narrative appraisal report, a Phase I environmental report, an engineering report and a zoning report on the Security. Borrower shall cooperate with such third parties during the preparation of the reports. Lender makes no representations or warranties of any kind regarding such reports, and Borrower agrees to hold Lender harmless from any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any such report and to indemnify Lender from any claims or liability relating to any use by Borrower of such reports or any information contained in such reports.
- 18. Reserves and Escrows: Borrower shall deposit into a non-interest bearing reserve with Lender with each monthly payment during the term of the Loan an amount determined by

Lender and Freddie Mac based on the engineering report to be obtained by Lender for future repairs or replacements to the Security. Borrower shall deposit into a non-interest bearing reserve with Lender at closing an amount equal to 125% of the engineer's cost estimates for the immediate repairs and replacements to the Security identified in the engineering report referenced hereinabove. Borrower shall also establish with Lender non-interest bearing escrows for the payment of taxes and insurance premiums relating to the Security, and shall pay to Lender on a monthly basis additional sums for deposit into such escrows as may be required by Lender.

- 19. Loan Documents: The Loan shall be evidenced by the Loan Documents to be executed by Borrower and Guarantor and such other documents to be executed by Borrower and Guarantor as may be required by Londer and Freddie Mac pursuant to the Programs, subject to any modifications described in the Exhibits or as otherwise required by Freddie Mac. The forms of the Loan Documents for the Programs are available for review by Borrower at freddiemac.com.
- 20. Title Insurance: Prior to closing, Lender shall obtain a commitment for the issuance of a title insurance policy from a title insurance company acceptable to Lender, which title commitment is satisfactory in form, substance and amount to Lender. The title insurance policy shall insure the interests of Lender created by the Loan Documents as a lien on the Property, and shall contain such exceptions as may be approved and such endorsements as may be required by Lender.
- 21. Survey: Prior to closing, Borrower shall furnish an as-built survey of the Property prepared within ninety (90) days of closing by a licensed surveyor or engineer in accordance with Lender's survey requirements. All matters relating to the survey and to the boundaries, configuration and description of the Property shall be satisfactory to Lender.
- 22. Loan Sale and Securitization: This Loan will be closed and funded by Lender and sold by Lender to Freddie Mac pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Programs. Borrower acknowledges that Borrower will be obligated to satisfy the requirements set forth in the Commitment for the Loan to be closed and sold to Freddie Mac pursuant to the Programs. Borrower further acknowledges that Freddie Mac may place the Loan into a securitization (a "Securitization"), and Borrower agrees to take all actions as may be reasonably required by Lender and Freddie Mac to facilitate the placement of the Loan into a Securitization pursuant to the Programs.
- 23. Bearing of Costs: Borrower agrees to pay at or before closing all taxes and assessments on the Security due within thirty (30) days of the closing, and all recording fees, registration taxes, title insurance premiums, appraisal expenses, reasonable attorney fees, insurance review expenses, engineering and environmental report expenses, survey expenses, flood hazard determination expenses, tax service contract expenses and other expenses incurred by Lender in connection with the negotiation, preparation and closing

of the Loan and any subsequent disbursements, regardless of whether the proposed Loan closes. Borrower also agrees to pay all costs of collection or enforcement, including reasonable attorney fees, relating to Borrower's obligations under this Term Sheet or any amounts now or hereafter owed by Borrower.

- 24. Opinion of Borrower's Counsel: Borrower shall provide Lender with a written opinion of counsel for Borrower which is satisfactory to Lender.
- 25. Insurance: Borrower shall furnish and maintain policies of all risk fire and extended coverage hazard insurance covering the Property and the operation thereof. Such insurance shall be for 100% of replacement value, and shall include liability coverage, worker's compensation and employer's liability coverage, law and ordinance coverage, loss of rents coverage and other coverages in such forms and amounts and with such carriers as may be required at any time by Lender. Borrower shall also furnish and maintain flood insurance satisfactory to Lender for any structures at the Property which are determined to be in a special flood hazard area. Borrower shall also provide Lender with a termite inspection report or termite bond for the Property which is satisfactory to Lender.
- 26. Permits, Licenses and Approvals: Prior to closing, Borrower shall provide Lender with copies of all permits, licenses, certificates of occupancy, approvals, franchises and other rights or agreements necessary for the lawful occupancy and operation of the Property. The Property and its use shall comply fully with all applicable laws and requirements. Lender shall not be expected to make an independent investigation of such evidence, and approval shall not be deemed to imply that Lender has concurred in its accuracy. Lender shall also obtain a zoning report at Borrower's expense confirming that the current use of the Property is a legal usage as determined by such authorities and that Borrower would be permitted to repair and restore the Property following a casualty. All matters relating to the zoning of the Property shall be satisfactory to Lender.
- 27. Financial Certification: This Term Sheet is conditioned on the receipt and approval by Lender prior to closing of such financial statements and credit information on Borrower, Guarantors and their respective affiliates as Lender may require, which are to reflect no material adverse conditions. If Lender determines prior to closing that there has been a misrepresentation or omission in connection with such information or a material adverse change in the financial conditions of any such person or entity or in the circumstances which supported the underwriting of the Loan, then Lender shall have no obligation to close or fund the proposed Loan. Borrower shall deliver to Lender prior to closing and on a quarterly basis during the Loan term current certified rent rolls, operating statements and financial statements in form satisfactory to Lender, and Guarantors shall deliver to Lender prior to closing and on an annual basis during the Loan term current certified financial statements in form satisfactory to Lender.

- 28. Management Agreements: Borrower shall provide Lender with certified copies of any management and leasing agreements relating to the Property and shall also provide Lender with requested information on the management company and individuals responsible for the management of the Property. All matters relating to the management of the Property shall be satisfactory to Lender. All management and leasing agreements shall be subordinated to the Loan.
- 29. Pending or Threatened Litigation: Prior to closing, Borrower shall notify Lender in writing of any foreclosures, lawsuits or other legal actions filed or threatened against Borrower, Guarantors or any of their respective affiliates, or relating to the Property. Borrower agrees that all relevant information relating thereto shall be provided to Lender, and that Lender shall have no obligation to close the Loan if in Lender's opinion any material adverse legal matters exist.
- Environmental Matters: The Property shall be inspected by an independent engineer 30. selected and retained by Lender, who shall issue a report at Borrower's expense relating to the environmental condition of the Property. Lender's obligation to close and fund the Loan is conditioned on Lender's satisfaction with all matters relating to the environmental report and the environmental status of the Property, and may be further conditioned upon such additional requirements regarding environmental matters, including without limitation the performance at Borrower's expense of additional audits or tests, as Lender may require. If recommended by the environmental report, Borrower shall provide Lender at Borrower's expense with operations and maintenance plans regarding asbestos, lead-based paint and/or mold and moisture control (the "O&M Plans"). Borrower agrees to implement the O&M Plans within one month of closing and to abide by the O&M Plans during the Loan term. Borrower shall certify to Lender at closing that, subject to any matters reflected in the environmental report, the Property has not been affected by hazardous materials and is in compliance with all applicable environmental laws. Borrower and Guarantors shall indemnify, defend and hold Lender harmless from and against any and all claims, liabilities, damages and expenses relating to any and all such matters.
- 31. Transfers: Transfer of interests in Borrower or Guarantor, if not individuals, or the Property, and any proposed assumption of the Loan shall be governed by the provisions of the Loan Documents.
- 32. Additional Conditions: See Exhibits attached.
- 33. Miscellaneous: Borrower acknowledges that this Term Sheet reflects the terms and conditions under which Lender is willing to consider the proposed Loan described herein but that Lender shall have no obligation to close or fund the Loan unless and until Lender has completed its underwriting and due diligence review of the proposed Loan and has issued a Commitment for such Loan and Borrower has accepted such Commitment and complied with the terms and conditions thereof. Borrower further acknowledges and

> agrees that (i) the relationship between Borrower and Lender is that of a borrower and lender and that no other relationship exists between Lender and Borrower or its direct or indirect owners or affiliates, (ii) Lender is not and shall not become the agent or fiduciary of Borrower or its direct or indirect owners or affiliates, and (iii) nothing contained in this Term Sheet or in any commitment which may be issued by Lender for the proposed Loan or done in connection therewith shall constitute or be deemed to evidence any such agency or fiduciary relationship. Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Term Sheet or the proposed Loan, including without limitation reasonable attorney fees, brokerage fees incurred by Borrower, third party report expenses and closing costs. Borrower shall provide Lender with all information and documents required to underwrite this Loan request. Borrower and Guarantor authorize Lender to obtain any credit reports or any financial information which Lender deems necessary in connection with this Term Sheet. Borrower and Guarantor hereby grant Lender the exclusive right to provide financing for the Property for a period of 90 days from their acceptance of this Term Sheet. The parties hereto, on behalf of themselves and their respective affiliates and assigns, hereby waive any right to trial by jury with respect to any matters arising out of or in connection with this Term Sheet or the proposed Loan.

- 34. Right to Obtain Reasons for Denial of Credit: If your application for business credit is denied, you have the right to a written statement of the specific reasons for this denial. To obtain the statement, please contact the Grandbridge Compliance Department at Compliance@grandbridge.com within 60 days from the date you are notified of our decision. We will send you a written statement of reasons for the denial within 30 days of receiving your request for the statement. NOTICE: The federal Equal Credit Opportunity Act prohibits creditors from discriminating against credit applicants on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, age (provided the applicant has the capacity to enter into a binding contract); because all or part of the applicant's income derives from any public assistance program; or because the applicant has in good faith exercised any right under the Consumer Credit Protection Act. The federal agency that administers compliance with this law concerning this creditor is the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, 1700 G Street NW, Washington, DC 20006.
- 35. Customer Identification Program Notice/ Important Information about Procedures for Loan Origination: To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each entity originating a loan. What this means for you: When you submit an application for a loan, we will require the name of the borrowing entity, a physical address and taxpayer identification number. Prior to the loan closing, additional identifying documents (e.g., articles of incorporation, partnership or operating agreements, certificate of non-foreign status) will be required. OFAC's hotline number is 1-800-540-6322.

Acceptance: This Term Sheet shall become effective upon Lender's receipt of an 36. executed copy of this Term Sheet, the Expense Deposit and the Freddie Mac Application Fee by 3pm Eastern on March 4, 2021 and shall remain in effect until terminated in writing by Lender. If not received by such date, this Term Sheet shall become null and void.

# GRANDBRIDGE REAL ESTATE CAPITAL LLC

Justin Ginsberg Managing Director

The undersigned hereby accept this Term Sheet subject to the terms and conditions contained herein.

On Behalf of Borrower and Guarantor:

Vice President

Date: 3/3/21

### Wiring Instructions

Bank Name

Truist Bank

Formerly known as Branch Banking and Trust Company (BB&T)

ABA#

053101121

Account #

5296884563

Account Name

GBRE Third Party Escrow Account

Address

200 S. College Street, Suite 2100

Charlotte, NC 28202

Reference

Pembroke Tower II, Freddie Mac, Justin Ginsberg

Notify

GB-Treasury Ops (  $\underline{\text{GB-TreasuryOps}@grandbridge.com}$ 

or 704-332-4454)

Contact Manager: Robin Sikes @ 704-379-6985

#### Exhibit A

- 1. Minimum guarantor net worth and liquidity of \$5,000,000 and 10% of Loan Amount, respectively. Entity guarantor must have 2x the requirements if financial covenants and material adverse change clause is not included. The LIHTC investor's liquidity and net worth may be included with the guarantor's net worth and liquidity in determining financial strength.
- 2. Issuer and TEL related fees should be included in underwritten operating expenses.
- 3. Assumes no ground lease or tax abatement.
- 4. Subordinate debt must be soft and meet Freddie Mac requirements.

## Spread Adjustment

K-F000 Series Class A-2 Spread 0.18%

Publication Date 02/08/2021

If, at the time of Spread Lock, the spread for Freddie Mac's K-F000 Series 10-year Fixed Rate Class A-2 Certificates ("K-F000 Series Class A-2 Spread") published on the K-Series Spread Reference Page exceeds the K-F000 Series Class A-2 Spread stated above by more than 25 basis points (0.25%), Freddie Mac reserves the right to increase the Spread quoted above (the "Quoted Spread") by an amount to be determined by Freddie Mac in its sole discretion, but the Quoted Spread will not be increased by Freddie Mac under these provisions if, at the time of Spread Lock, the K-F000 Series Class A-2 Spread published on the K-Series Spread Reference Page exceeds the K-F000 Series Class A-2 Spread stated above by 25 basis points (0.25%) or less. The K-Series Spread Reference Page can be found at <a href="https://mf.Freddiemac.com/lenders/uw/">https://mf.Freddiemac.com/lenders/uw/</a> under the "Quick Links" header, and is designated for K-F000 Series Class A-2 Spread publication. These provisions will only apply prior to Spread Lock.

#### Exhibit B Breakage Fee Provisions

If the loan is approved by Lender, the following provisions will be included in the Commitment issued by Lender to Borrower:

1.	Breakage Fee
	Borrower and [Guarantors] [ ] (referred to herein as
	"Breakage Obligor") each acknowledges that Lender is executing this Commitment with
	Borrower ("Lender Commitment") in reliance on the agreement of the Federal Home
	Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") to lock the applicable Spread for the
	interest rate ("Interest Rate Lock") for the Mortgage and enter into a Commitment to purchase the Mortgage ("Freddie Mac Commitment").

Borrower and Breakage Obligor each further acknowledges:

- (a) In connection with the Interest Rate Lock, Freddie Mac will enter into one or more "hedge" transactions ("Hedge") in which it will incur trading costs ("Hedging Costs").
- (b) If Freddie Mac is forced to liquidate its Hedge and unwind the Interest Rate Lock because of a Default (as defined below), Freddie Mac could incur Hedge losses ("Hedging Losses"). The Hedging Costs and the Hedging Losses are referred to collectively as the "Breakage Fee"). In such event, Lender will be obligated to pay Freddie Mac the Breakage Fee determined as set forth in the Section entitled "Determination of Breakage Fee" below.
- (c) Upon a Default, Lender intends to pay to Freddie Mac any good faith deposit Lender has collected under this Lender Commitment ("GFD"). Any GFD collected by Lender is a deposit for, and not in full satisfaction of, the payment of the Breakage Fee, and the Breakage Fee may exceed the amount of the GFD.
- (d) Upon a Default, Lender also intends to assign to Freddie Mac the Borrower's and Breakage Obligor's obligation pursuant to this Lender Commitment to pay Lender the Breakage Fee ("Assignment"). Pursuant to the Assignment, Freddie Mac will be entitled to collect from Borrower and Breakage Obligor any portion of the Breakage Fee that exceeds the GFD.

## 2. <u>Default under Lender Commitment</u>

Borrower and Breakage Obligor each acknowledges that if after Interest Rate Lock any of the following occurs (each, a "Default"), Borrower and Breakage Obligor will be liable to Lender for the payment of the Breakage Fee.

- (a) Borrower fails to execute and return Exhibit A to this Lender Commitment by the date specified in the Lender Commitment.
- (b) Borrower breaches the terms of the Lender Commitment and as a result of such breach, Lender is in breach of its obligations under the Freddie Mac Commitment.
- 3. <u>Determination of Breakage Fee</u>

Notwithstanding anything in the Freddie Mac Guide to the contrary, the Breakage Fee will be the greater of (A) or (B) below, but will in no event exceed 3.0% of the Rate Locked Mortgage Amount:

- (A) 0.5% of the Rate Locked Mortgage Amount; or
- (B) the product obtained by multiplying:
  - (1) the Rate Locked Mortgage Amount

by

- (2) the value obtained by subtracting
  - a. the Monthly Yield Rate at Breakage less 1,1250 basis points

from

b. the Monthly Applicable Yield Rate at Rate Lock

by

(3) the Present Value Factor

For purposes of this Section the following definitions will apply:

**Breakage Date**: the earliest to occur of (i) the date the Borrower notifies Lender or Freddie Mac in writing that it will not or cannot originate the Mortgage, (ii) the date Lender notifies Freddie Mac in writing of its inability to deliver the Mortgage, or (iii) the Mandatory Delivery Date

**Rate Locked Mortgage Amount:** the amount of the Mortgage set forth in Exhibit A

Yield Rate at Breakage: As of the close of the trading session on the Breakage Date, the yield rate with a maturity equal to the term of the Index set forth in Exhibit A, found among the Daily Treasury Yield Curve Rates, commonly known

as the Constant Maturity Treasury (CMT) rates, as reported on the U.S. Department of the Treasury website.

The Yield Rate at Breakage will be expressed as a decimal to two digits.

If no published CMT maturity matches the term of the Index, Freddie Mac will interpolate as a decimal to two digits the yield rate between (i) the CMT with a maturity closest to, but shorter than, the term of the Index, and (ii) the CMT with a maturity closest to, but longer than, the term of the Index, as follows:

$$\left[\left(\frac{(B-A)}{(D-C)}\right)X (E-C)\right] + A$$

A = yield rate for the CMT with a maturity shorter than the term of the Index

B = yield rate for the CMT with a maturity longer than the term of the Index

C = number of months to maturity for the CMT maturity shorter than the term of the Index

D = number of months to maturity for the CMT maturity longer than the term of the Index

E = number of months in the term of the Index

In the event the U.S. Department of the Treasury ceases publication of the CMT rates, the Yield Rate at Breakage will equal the yield rate on the U.S Treasury security which is not callable or indexed to inflation and which has a maturity closest to (but not shorter than) the term of the Index.

The selection of an alternate security pursuant to this Section will be made in Freddie Mac's discretion.

Monthly Yield Rate at Breakage: the Yield Rate at Breakage divided by 12

Applicable Yield Rate at Rate Lock: the "Actual Index Rate at Rate Lock" set forth in Exhibit A.

Monthly Applicable Yield Rate at Rate Lock: the Applicable Yield Rate at Rate Lock divided by 12

**Present Value Factor:** the factor that discounts to present value the costs resulting to Freddie Mac from the difference in the Applicable Yield Rate at Rate Lock and the Yield Rate at Breakage calculated using the following formula:

$$\frac{1-(1+r)^{-1}}{(r)}$$

- r = Monthly Yield Rate at Breakage
- n = the number of months in the Mortgage term (set forth in Exhibit A)
- 4. Obligation to Pay Breakage Fee; Payment of GFD

If there is a Default, Lender will be liable to Freddie Mac, and Borrower and Breakage Obligor will be liable to Lender, for the Breakage Fee. The liability of each person and/or entity constituting Borrower and Breakage Obligor for the Breakage Fee will be joint and several. Upon a Default, Lender will pay the GFD to Freddie Mac, who will apply the GFD towards the Breakage Fee.

5. Assignment to Freddie Mac of Obligation to Pay Remaining Breakage Fee

Upon a Default, Lender will also effectuate the Assignment, pursuant to which Borrower and Breakage Obligor will be obligated to pay to Freddie Mac any portion of the Breakage Fee that exceeds the GFD. Borrower and Breakage Obligor each consents to the Assignment. Borrower and Breakage Obligor each acknowledges that the Assignment will in no way alter or diminish Borrower's or Breakage Obligor's other obligations to Lender under this Lender Commitment; provided, however, to the extent that Borrower and/or Breakage Obligor has paid the Breakage Fee to Freddie Mac directly, Lender will not be entitled to collect such fee. Borrower and Breakage Obligor each confirms and acknowledges that if the Breakage Fee becomes due, pursuant to the Assignment, Freddie Mac may demand that Borrower and Breakage Obligor pay the Breakage Fee directly to Freddie Mac and Freddie Mac will not be required to pursue its remedies first against Lender.

6. Waiver of Right to Assert Defenses

By execution of this Lender Commitment, Borrower and Breakage Obligor each waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the right to assert against Freddie Mac as assignee of Lender, any claim or defense to the claim assigned that arises out of transactions or relationships between Borrower and Lender and/or between Breakage Obligor and Lender, including claims or defenses for fraud or set-off. By execution of this Lender Commitment, Borrower and Breakage Obligor each acknowledges and agrees that this waiver is entered into knowingly and voluntarily with the benefit of competent legal counsel.

7. Waiver of Right to Contest Liquidated Damages

By execution of this Lender Commitment, Borrower and Breakage Obligor each waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any defense as to the validity of any liquidated damages set forth in this Lender Commitment on the grounds that such liquidated damages are void as penalties or are not reasonably related to the actual damages. By execution of this Lender Commitment, Borrower and Breakage Obligor

each acknowledges and agrees that this waiver is entered into knowingly and voluntarily with the benefit of competent legal counsel.